IAEA-TECDOC-667 V.3

Coolant technology of water cooled reactors

Volume 3: Activity transport mechanisms in water cooled reactors



INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY

October 1992

The IAEA does not normally maintain stocks of reports in this series. However, microfiche copies of these reports can be obtained from

> iNIS Clearinghouse International Atomic Energy Agency Wagramerstrasse 5 P.O. Box 100 A-1400 Vienna, Austria

Orders should be accompanied by prepayment of Austrian Schillings 100,in the form of a cheque or in the form of IAEA microfiche service coupons which may be ordered separately from the INIS Clearinghouse.

COOLANT TECHNOLOGY OF WATER COOLED REACTORS VOLUME 3: ACTIVITY TRANSPORT MECHANISMS IN WATER COOLED REACTORS IAEA, VIENNA, 1992 IAEA-TECDOC-667 ISSN 1011-4289

.

Printed by the IAEA in Austria October 1992 FOREWORD

More than 95% of the nuclear power in the world is derived from water cooled reactors. In nuclear power plants water is used in primary circuits, secondary circuits (PWRs and PHWRs) and in a number of auxiliary systems. Water is an aggressive medium at high temperature when in contact with structural materials. This means that the reliability of many nuclear power plant systems (fuel, steam generators, etc.) is dependent on the water chemistry during normal operations, startups, shutdowns and abnormal operations. Reliable water chemistry specifications have been developed for the existing water cooled reactors; however, there is still room for improvement. Water cooled power reactor experience shows that even under normal operating conditions some undesirable effects can occur: corrosion, erosion or deposition of corrosion products on heat transfer surfaces.

Moreover, beyond the adverse effect of corrosion on the mechanical properties of components and of corrosion product deposits on heat transfer, the migration and transfer of activated corrosion products lead to the formation of highly radioactive deposits on some out-of-core surfaces of the primary circuit. This is the main cause of radiation exposure during repair and maintenance, and could require decontamination of some equipment or of the primary circuit as a whole. This is of particular importance when the level of the maximum average permissible dose is under discussion and will probably be decreased to 20 mSv over a year.

The need to decrease radiation levels is now supported by greater management interest, and efforts are being made to improve, for instance, the understanding of fundamental processes and to develop the on-line monitoring technique. Understanding the chemistry is now a major task in the improvement of the operating performance especially with the increase in burnup levels, higher coolant temperatures and with the possibility of nucleate boiling in PWRs.

This report is a summary of the work performed within the framework of the Co-ordinated Research Programme on Investigations on Water Chemistry Control and Coolant Interaction with Fuel and Primary Circuit Materials in Water Cooled Power Reactors (WACOLIN) organized by the IAEA and carried cut from 1987 to 1991. It is the continuation of a programme entitled Reactor Water Chemistry Relevant to Coolant-Cladding Interaction (IAEA-TECDOC-429), which ran from 1981 to 1986. Subsequent meetings resulted in the title of the programme being changed to Coolant Technology of Water Cooled Reactors.

The results of this Co-ordinated Research Programme are published in four volumes with an overview in the Technical Reports Series.

The titles of the four volumes are as follows: Volume 1: Chemistry of Primary Coolant in Water Cooled Reactors Volume 2: Corrosion in the Primary Coolant Systems of Water Cooled Reactors Volume 3: Activity Transport Mechanisms in Water Cooled Reactors Volume 4: Decontamination of Water Cooled Reactors.

These publications should be of interest to experts in water chemistry at nuclear power plants, experts in engineering, fuel designers, R&D institutes active in the field and to consultants to these organizations.

EDITORIAL NOTE

In preparing this material for the press, staff of the International Atomic Energy Agency have mounted and paginated the original manuscripts as submitted by the authors and given some attention to the presentation.

The views expressed in the papers, the statements made and the general style adopted are the responsibility of the named authors. The views do not necessarily reflect those of the governments of the Member States or organizations under whose auspices the manuscripts were produced.

The use in this book of particular designations of countries or territories does not imply any judgement by the publisher, the IAEA, as to the legal status of such countries or territories, of their authorities and institutions or of the delimitation of their boundaries.

The mention of specific companies or of their products or brand names does not imply any endorsement or recommendation on the part of the IAEA.

Authors are themselves responsible for obtaining the necessary permission to reproduce copyright material from other sources.

This text was compiled before the recent changes in the former Union of Soviet Socialist Republics.

CONTENTS

.

OVERVIEW	
Activity transport mechanisms in water cooled reactors E.W. Thornton	9
NATIONAL CONTRIBUTIONS	
Czechoslovakia	
Comparison of standard and hydrazine water chemistry of VVER 440 units M. Burclova	55
France	
Observations on recent application of high coolant pH in French PWRs and optimization of chemistry during shutdown P. Beslu	61
Germany	
Lowering the corrosion rate to limit radioactive deposits	65
Behaviour of colloidal corrosion products F. Hüttner, R. Winkler	70
Hungary	
Correlation of out-core surface activities and primary water chemistry in VVER-440 reactors	73
Influence of the primary circuit water chemistry on out-core surface activities G.L. Horvåth, V. Civin, P. Ormai, T. Pintér	77
India	
Good practices of man-rem reduction in PHWRs	89
Korea, Republic of	
Assessment of failed fuel and tramp uranium based on the activity of fission products in the primary circuit	91
Switzerland	
Corrosion products, activity transport and deposition in boiling water reactor recirculation systems H.P. Alder, D. Buckley, R. Grauer, K.H. Wiedemann	98
Corrosion products, activity transport and deposition in boiling water reactor recirculation systems: Review of the state of the art, May 1990	124

Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

Main trends in investigations of corrosion products transfer processes in NPP circuits V.V. Versin, V.P. Brusakov, I.L. Rybalchenko, K.G. Kritskij, A.S. Korolev	132
corrosion product deposition on fuel elements	138
V.P. Brusakov, Yu. A. Khitrov, V.N. Feofanov, V.V. Versin	
Investigation on electromigration characteristics of corrosion products	144
V.M. Sedov, V.A.Dojlnitsyn, A.I. Ovsyannikov, D.S. Gasanov, S.A. Medvedev	
Technical-economic assessment of low cobalt content in structural materials	151
Yu.N. Aniskin, Yu.A. Khitrov	
Super-pure steel for nuclear power (Summary)	155
Yu. A. Khitrov	
USSR experience in decontamination and water chemistry of VVER type	
nuclear reactors	155
V.I. Pashevich	

United Kingdom

PWR activity transport with reference to soluble and particulate corrosion products:	
Chemical and radiochemical analysis of PWR particulate material	175
K.B. Butter	
Method for pH calculation	183
E.W. Thornton	

Participants in the Co-ordinate	I Research Programme		186
---------------------------------	----------------------	--	-----

ACTIVITY TRANSPORT MECHANISMS IN WATER COOLED REACTORS

E.W. THORNTON

Berkeley Nuclear Laboratories, Central Electricity Generating Board, Berkeley, Gloucestershire, United Kingdom

Abstract

This paper is concerned with the identification of the mechanisms by which radioactivity is generated and subsequently deposited in reactor components and with identifying methods of minimising the resultant radiation dose rates. Emphasis is largely placed on the Pressurised Water Reactor with some discussion of its heavy water variants. A smaller part of the paper is devoted to the Boiling Water Reactor.

(a) Pressurised Water Reactors

By far the major part of radiation dose rates is due to the activated corrosion or erosion products of the materials of construction of the main coolant circuit and of circuits which feed it. The corrosion of materials, movement of corrosion products and the magnitude of activity generation and deposition is the result of a very complex interaction between coolant chemistry and materials and is not understood well enough for predictive models to be reliable at present.

This document introduces the basic chemical concepts of solution and particulate chemistry and concludes that the role of particulate matter in activity transport is particularly poorly understood at this time.

The remainder of the document devoted to PWR investigates in detail the contributions of individual plant components to the formation of activated corrosion products and how these may be controlled by optimum selection of materials and coolant chemistry.

 $60_{\rm CO}$ is identified as the most important nuclide and an order of priority for reducing its precursor $59_{\rm CO}$ by selection of materials is established. Minimisation of activity generation and deposition is also discussed with respect to the types of surface finish and to the role of the preconditioning of surfaces before nuclear heat.

The chemistry of the coolant is primarily determined by the need to control corrosion and reactivity and these place the primary constraints on the composition of the coolant. The most significant parameter within the Chemist's day to day control is pH. The Document discusses in detail how pH varies with coolant composition and how it can affect the generation and deposition of activity through controlling crud solubility.

It is generally believed that the primary objective of pH control should be to select and maintain a pH which minimises deposition of corrosion products in the core. Theories are based on the need to select a pH at which the temperature coefficient of solubility of the nominal iron spinel is zero at the core inlet temperature and positive across the core so that dissolving conditions are created in the core. The paper discusses the basis for concluding that the optimum pH is about 7.4 at 300°C. For most of a fuel cycle in reactors employing lithium hydroxide as alkalising agent, this is higher than that achievable with the maximum concentration of alkalising agent currently allowed by fuel vendors to prevent undue corrosion of fuel element cladding and results in various compromise chemistry regimes being employed.

There is extensive discussion of the practical results in many countries of applying various chemistry regimes, particular mention being made of the difference in chemical control methods employed in reactors of Russian design and those of other countries. In general, the correlation between the radiation dose rates and the predictions of theory are not particularly clear showing that many other factors influence dose rates.

Further sections are devoted to producing elevated pH in coolant without compromising the integrity of the fuel cladding and to the complications of pH control that can arise if load following or extended cycle operation is desired.

A final section summarises the principal findings and recommendations on materials choice and chemical control. Experience shows that control of materials, especially of cobalt hard facings, is instrumental in producing low dose rated. Conversely, the definition of an optimum chemical regime is less clear although the broad principles are agreed.

(b) Boiling Water Reactors

60Co is identified as the most important contributor to radiation dose rates and, as in PWRs, cobalt hard facings are identified as the most probable major source of precursor cobalt.

The processes of activity buildup and the main chemical characteristics of the circulating and surface oxides are described. Most of the mass of crud is alpha Haematite althoug most activity appears to be associated with oxides having a Spinel structure.

Practical intervention to reduce activity generation is discussed primarily in terms of feedwater chemistry and feedwater material control. A list of other practical activity reduction measures is also given.

1. INTRODUCTION

This paper gives a summary of the current understanding of the mechanisms for corrosion product and radioactivity transport and deposition in the PWR primary circuit. The situation for the BWR system is to be found in the extensive reviews in the papers entitled "Corrosion products, activity transport and deposition in boiling water reactor recirculation systems" by H.P. Alder, D. Buckley, G. Grauer, K.H. Wiedemann and "Review of the state of the art", May 1990 by H.P. Alder. A summary of these papers will be given in



FIG. 1. PWR corrosion product formation, transport and deposition mechanisms [4]

the main text of this volume. Other contributions representing detailed current views of particular aspects of corrosion product generation and transport are given as further National contributions. In some cases, use has been made of the information given in these National contributions to supplement the main text of this report.

Most of the processes involved in the broad subjects of PWR and BWR corrosion product and activity transport modelling were reviewed recently as part of an IAEA coordinated research programme on "Investigation of Fuel Element Cladding Interaction with Water Coolant in Power Reactors" and the results published as an IAEA technical document [1].

The PWR primary circuit and the BWR recirculation system are constructed principally from alloys of the first row transition elements: Cr, Mn, Fe, Co and Ni. The fuel is clad in a zirconium alloy and other elements are used in small quantities. All of these alloys corrode to a greater or lesser extent, becoming covered with corrosion product films. The films are composed of oxides of the elements, and the elements themselves are released to the coolant and transported by it both as soluble ions or molecules and as particles in which they are incorporated or on which they are absorbed. Material may also find its way into the coolant via make-up flows.

2. CORROSION PRODUCT AND ACTIVITY TRANSPORT MECHANISMS - PWR

Figure 1 summarises PWR corrosion product formation, transport and deposition mechanisms.

2.1. Generation of Radioactivity

Material in the reactor core is neutron activated during power operation. There are two types of material in the core, the core components and corrosion products deposited temporarily in the core but released originally by corrosion of out-of-core components. Radioactive isotopes produced in both of these sources are available for release to the coolant, transport by it around the primary circuit and deposition in exactly the same manner as their non-radioactive counterparts.

For in-core materials, neutron activation in-situ leads to the release of radioactive corrosion product nuclides directly, whereas release from out-of-core materials must result in transport and deposition in-core before activation and re-release to the circuit can occur. This leads to a clear distinction regarding the relative importance of corrosion product scurces in-core compared with those out-of-core. While in-core sources may contribute only a small proportion of the total elemental input of corrosion products, they could prove to be the major source of radioactive nuclides. As will be discussed, this has proved to be the case in some plants.

The following data give a summary of typical quantities of radioactivity contained in PWR primary circuit deposits:

Best Estimate	Crud	Inventory	(TBq)
---------------	------	-----------	-------

Radioactive Species	60Co	60Co			
	4у	8у	40y	>1y	
Out-of-Core Deposit	25	45	65	50	
Core Crud	15	15	15	175	
Refuelling Shutdown Release	2	2	2	20	
Total	42	62	82	245	

and the contribution of various radioisotopes to the lifetime collective station dose of PWRs:

Origin	Contribution to Dose (%) [2]			
Neutrons + 16N Activated Core Fission Products		5) 5) 15 5)		
Activated Corrosion Products	60Co 58Co Other	60) 15) 85 10)		

The production rate of an isotope by a given reaction may be determined from a knowledge of the parent abundance in the target material, the cross-section for the reaction and the relevant neutron flux. The radioactive corrosion products dominating shut down radiation fields are generally 60 Co and 58 Co with lesser contributions from 59 Fe, 54 Mm, 51 Cr and others.

2.2. <u>Coolant Chemistry</u>

The FWR coolant contains boric acid, lithium or potassium hydroxide base and hydrogen dissolved in the water. The hydrogen may be dosed into the water directly or via the decomposition of ammonia. The most important solution parameter from the point of view of corrosion product transport is pH. This is the only parameter which can readily be altered since the hydrogen concentration which defines redox potential is specified within a fairly narrow band. pH is defined as $\sim \log_{10}(\text{proton molality})$ and is controlled by the concentrations of boric acid and base. Since pH is an important parameter and there are a number of different treatments in the literature the paper entitled "Corrosion products, activity transport and deposition in boiling water reactor recirculation systems" by H.P. Alder, D. Buckley, G. Grauer, K.H. Wiedemann gives an account of pH calculation and recommends a standard calculation method involving use of the Marshall and Franck [3] correlation for the ionisation constant of water (K_W). All pHs quoted in this Chapter use this correlation.

pH is sometimes used as a shorthand method of relating the behaviour of corrosion products in boric acid + lithium or potassium hydroxide solutions of different composition (but possessing the same proton concentration), for example oxide solubility or particle surface electrical potential. This is satisfactory for isothermal comparisons. However it must be remembered that:

- 1. The polymerisation of boric acid and the ionisation of both boric acid and water are temperature dependent. Consequently the pH of boric acid containing solutions is temperature dependent and pH at one temperature is not easily related to pH at another.
- 2. The variation of pH with temperature $(dpH/dT)_{B, Li}$ differs slightly for boric acid + base solutions of different composition but having identical pH_T. This is due to the temperature dependent boric acid polymerisation reactions. It is important when considering temperature coefficients of oxide solubility, see below.

Caution should always be exercised in using pH as a parameter when different studies (say of oxide solubility or plant data) are compared. The pH calculated is always sensitive to the value of the water ionisation constant used in the data analysis.

2.3. Corrosion Products

Corrosion products can conveniently be divided into soluble and particulate species. This section will discuss the natures of soluble and particulate species and their various transport mechanisms and interactions. A detailed discussion of the mechanisms is given by Rodliffe, Polley and Thornton [4].

2.3.1. Soluble species

The corrosion process releases dissolved metal cations to the roolant. Corrosion product oxides can also dissolve. The term "soluble species" refers to true dissolved molecular or ionic species. The usual practice of defining soluble species as that fraction passing through a 0.45 micron filter is quite arbitrary as it takes no account of colloidal material (see below).

In general, metal oxides dissolve to produce cations in solution and these will undergo hydrolysis thus:

 $M_X O_y + 2yH^+ = xM^{n+} + yH_2 O$ $M^{n+} + H_2 O = M(OH)^{(n-1)+} + H^+$ $M(OH)^{(n-1)+} + H_2 O = M(OH)_2 (n-2)+ + H^+$

etc. In this case, dissolution of $M_X O_y$ does not involve oxidation or reduction and y = nx/2.

These hydrolysis reactions cause oxide solubility to be dependent upon solution pH. Extensive solubility studies of oxides containing only one metal (magnetite and nickel oxide) have resulted in estimates of thermodynamic parameters for the iron and nickel cations and their hydrolysis products up to $300^{\circ}C$ without extrapolation. Data for all the other transition metals are sparse.

Two difficulties arise with data derived from oxide solubility studies intercomparison and extrapolation outside the temperature range over which data were acquired, particularly above 300°C:

- Before the results of different studies can be properly compared, it is essential that the data all be evaluated on exactly the same basis, using the same correlation for the ionisation constant for water. Nickel oxide and magnetite solubility data have been reanalysed by Thornton and Walker [5] resulting in a self-consistent set of parameters which can be extrapolated to above 300°C.
- 2. The temperature dependence of a thermodynamic equilibrium constant is most accurately accounted for when the heat capacity change for the reaction is small. However, the heat capacities of ionic solution species are large and strongly temperature dependent at high temperatures (above 250-300°C). This difficulty can be overcome by writing reactions in such a way that the net number of charged species in solution is conserved (an isoelectronic reaction):

$$NiO + OH^- + H_2O = Ni(OH)^-_3$$

instead of:
 $NiO + 2H_2O = Ni(OH)^-_3 + H^+_3$

Thermodynamic calculations (as opposed to experimental studies) of oxide solubility rely on estimated, extrapolated thermodynamic parameters for ionic species and should be treated with caution. Many of the early studies used a procedure for extrapolating the necessary thermodynamic functions (the Criss-Cobble theory) which is probably not valid for the species involved. The means of extrapolating high temperature thermodynamic data has recently been well summarised by Cobble et al. [6]. These authors give estimates of the hydrolysis constants of the divalent cations of manganese to copper at temperatures up to 300° C, together with the thermodynamic properties of Mn²⁺, Fe²⁺, Fe³⁺ and Ni²⁺. Thus there is still a lack of data for chromium and cobalt solution species at high temperature.

12

Experimental measurements have been made of the solubility of mixed metal oxides but in general the data are too sparse to allow good thermodynamic models to be fitted to the data. The results obtained by Westinghouse researchers on mixed spinel solubility have been summarised by Kunig and Sandler [7]. A correlation for iron solubility from some of the Westinghouse data over a limited range was made by Lindsay [8].

Oxide solubility depends upon solution chemistry and temperature. The important chemistry parameters are pH and redox potential (if dissolution involves reduction or oxidation). The latter is controlled in the PWR primary circuit by hydrogen addition. Two generalisations can be made:

- 1. At a given temperature, solubility has a minimum at some pH, with high solubility at the extremes of the pH scale.
- 2. The temperature coefficient of solubility can be positive, negative or zero depending upon temperature and solution chemistry.

These remarks apply both to the metals dissolved from "pure" oxides (i.e. containing a single metal) and to metals dissolved from mixed oxides such as corrosion product spinels.

Figure 2 shows Westinghouse results for Fe, Ni and Co equilibrium solubility from mixed spinels as a function of temperature and lithium hydroxide concentration in 650 ppm B boric acid. Iron and cobalt have clear negative temperature coefficients of solubility at a low lithium concentration (1.0 ppm Li), and positive temperature coefficients at a higher concentration (10 ppm Li). The results for Ni solubility are less clear cut. Fig.3 summarises temperature coefficients of solubility for iron dissolving from a nickel ferrite (x = 0.5). The solid line shows the coolant compositions at which the temperature coefficient of iron solubility from the nickel ferrite is zero at $300^{\circ}C$ (pH = approximately 7.4 at $300^{\circ}C$ but altering from 7.39 at 1100 ppm B to 7.45 at 100 ppm B).

Points above the zero temperature coefficient of solubility line have positive temperature coefficient of solubility. This has important implications for choice of coolant chemistry since the sign of the temperature coefficient of solubility governs the tendency of corrosion products to precipitate on or dissolve from heat transfer surfaces such as fuel elements or steam generator tubing, i.e. in-core or out-of-core. It can be seen that a coolant chemistry specified to give zero or positive temperature coefficient of iron solubility over some temperature range will not necessarily correspond to an exactly constant pH at any given temperature.



FIG. 2. Solubility of iron, nickel and cobalt from nickel-cobalt ferrites as a function of temperature and pH of 0.06 molal H_3BO_3 , 25 cm³· kg⁻¹ H₂ (redrawn from Ref [8]).

In summary, soluble species occur in the P4R primary coolant and are transported with it. Some of their thermodynamic properties are known but there are also gaps in these data. It is sufficient to note here that soluble species provide a pathway for corrosion product transport: following release by the corrosion reaction or dissolution from an oxide layer or particle, soluble species can participate in precipitation, dissolution and ion exchange with corrosion product oxides. After dealing with particulate material next we will return to soluble species to discuss their interactions with particles and oxide films via dissolution and precipitation.

2.3.2. Particulate material

Particles may be released from the precipitated outer layer of corrosion films by some process such as erosion and they may grow by heterogeneous nucleation in the bulk coolant to relieve supersaturation. It is possible that charging and make-up flows contain particulate impurity which could act as nucleation sites.



FIG. 3. Boundary between positive and negative coefficients of solubility for Ni_{0.5}Fe_{2.5}O₄, at 300°C and dissolved hydrogen concentration at 25 STP cm³/kg H₂O, compared with presently recommended Westinghouse control band for lithium boron co-ordination based on Fe₃O₄ (redrawn from Ref. [8]).

Particulate material can usefully be divided into colloidal (<1µm) and inertial (>1µm) components since their transport to and from surfaces and their interactions with surfaces are governed by distinctly different mechanisms. We should also remember that the arbitrary distinction imposed by the conventional use of 0.45 micron membrane filters, mentioned above, takes no account of colloidal particles. Table 1 summarises the important properties of inertial and colloidal particles.

Colloidal studies may provide the link between the soluble and particulate phases of corrosion products.

Surveys [10] of colloidal studies done by Clarkson and others showed that the role of small size (colloidal) particles in activity transport may be important, because the rate of cohalt incorporation into adherent oxide deposits is limited by kinetic rates of oxide formation rather than by absolute concentration levels of radionuclides. The most important factors influencing the above kinetic rates are the temperature and "oxidation potential". Small size colloidal particles have also an important role in oxide formation.

Importance of potentials (zeta potential) is also acknowledged by Westinghouse researchers [10] who consider the zeta potential as the most important single

3

TABLE 1. PROPERTIES OF COLLOIDAL AND INERTIAL PARTICLES [9]

	Colloidal Particles	Inertial Particles
Particle Diameter	<1 µm	>1 µm
Boundary layer mass transfer mechanism	 (i) Brownian diffusion (ii) Thermophoresis (0.1-1.0µm) at heat transfer surfaces 	 (i) Inertial projection (ii) Gravitational settling (>100 μm)
Dominant forces acting on particles	 (i) van der Waals (ii) Electrical double layer (iii) Magnetic (0,1-1.0 μm) if substrate is magnetisable 	 (i) van der Waals (ii) Electrical double layer (iii) Gravity (>100 μm) (iv) Hydrodynamic drag
Surface interaction parameter	Surface reaction rate constant	Sticking probability

property for characterizing the oxide/solution interface and associated phenomena such as adsorption and electrokinetics. Evaluating the results of colloidal science these scientists suggest an activity transport model based on zeta potential, which provides a crucial link between dissolved ions and suspended particles and allows both to be included into the same model describing chemical behaviour of solution, colloids and large particles simultaneously.

The transport of coiloidal particles between surfaces and the coolant bulk is described by well established empirical correlations. However the interactions of colloidal particles with surfaces cannot be said to be adequately understood. This is due to a lack of both plant and experimental data under the appropriate conditions and to inadequate understanding of electrical double layer forces. The latter has proven an intractable theoretical problem.

The transport of inertial particles between surfaces and the coolant bulk is well understood using correlations which have been validated for aerosol systems and are widely accepted. The interactions of inertial particles with surfaces during deposition or resuspension are largely understood.

Useful plant predictions have resulted from an understanding of the principles governing the behaviour of soluble species and the solubility measurements of synthetic corrosion product oxides (see 2.3.1. above). In contrast, lack of data has held up an understanding of the deposition and resuspension of particulate species [9][10] and consequently, reliable predictions concerning the impact of particulate species on radiation field build-up are really not possible at this time.

To summarise, inertial particles are found in PWR coolants and measurements can be made on reactor systems. Colloidal particles are difficult to measure at the concentrations involved in reactor circuits. There are some gaps in our knowledge of the details of particle interactions with surfaces or with each other; however these gaps are more pertinent to corrosion product modelling than to the present review where it is sufficient to note that inertial particles certainly participate to a limited degree in corrosion product transport while colloidal particles play a conjectural but possibly important role. The source of particles is not known at present and plant measurements are required to resolve this; the source of particles is an important factor in choosing the optimum coolant purification strategy.

2.3.3. Dissolution and Precipitation

When the bulk coolant concentration is less than saturation solubility, net corrosion product oxide dissolution occurs; supersaturation is relieved by precipitation.

There are basically only two processes which occur at the solid/liquid interface: cations dissolved in the coolant can adsorb onto the surface and cations at the surface can desorb into the coolant bulk. There is a constant exchange flux between corrosion product oxides and cations dissolved in the coolant. These exchange processes occur by mass transfer through the fluid boundary layer and reaction at the surface. The mass transfer process is well understood and adequately described by empirical correlations with little extrapolation [4]. However, only limited measurements of adsorption and desorption rates have been made. Some of the measurements indicate that adsorption and desorption are limited by surface reaction rates rather than by mass transfer in the fluid [11][12]. However, there is evidence for precipitation at rates close to mass transfer limited rates in some corrosion experiments [13]. There is clear need for further addition to the limited experimental data base here.

When adsorption and desorption occur at equal rates at the surface of a soluble corrosion product oxide, the bulk coolant is saturated with dissolved corrosion product cations. However the exchange fluxes still occur even though there is no net dissolution or precipitation of corrosion product oxides.

When adsorption of a cation occurs on the surface of an oxide which already contains a substantial fraction of the same cation (e.g. Fe^{2+} on a spinel) then it is not possible or necessary to distinguish between adsorption and oxide growth. Similarly, when a cation leaves such a surface the processes of desorption and dissolution are synonymous.

Even though the radiologically significant cobalt species are trace species their adsorption and desorption behaviour should be describable by mechanisms similar to those used to describe the major species.

The mechanism by which cations are taken up by the in- core Zircaloy oxide corrosion film is generally taken to be adsorption at the oxide/coolant interface. Few measurements are available on the kinetics of the adsorption and desorption steps at high temperature and none have been made under in-core conditions. Lister, Kushneriuk, and Campbell [14] fitted deposition and release coefficients to an adsorption model applied to the results of a rig experiment under CANDU chemistry conditions. They also obtained some limited evidence that a portion of the deposited 60CG had become incorporated in the oxide on the Zircaloy tubing in a bound form, which requires solid state diffusion for its removal.

The recognition of adsorption and the exchange fluxes on corrosion product oxides implies that adsorption of target nuclides (e.g. ^{59}Co) might occur on fuel pin Zircaloy oxide corrosion films even in the absence of any net deposition of corrosion product oxides on the fuel pins [15][14]. This pathway may limit the benefit to be gained from the use of coolant chemistry to control out-of-core radiation fields.

If a trace radioactive species adsorbs on a surface that is growing then it can be buried by further growth, in which case the term co-precipitation might be applied. Radioactive species can also diffuse into particles and oxide films subsequent to being adsorbed. The radioactive ion cannot now be released back to the coolant without first diffusing to the oxide/coolant interface. The mechanism by which radioactivity is incorporated into the inner corrosion layer on out-of-core surfaces is a contentious issue. in particular whether there is transport of metal ions in inner layer pores. Surprisingly, the mechanism of film growth is still not known with certainty. Camp ([16] measured cobalt profiles in pre-formed stainless steel oxide films on coupons exposed in a rig used to study Stellite corrosion. He found simple cobalt diffusion profiles with no evidence for enhanced incorporation deep in the oxide films, at the oxide/metal interface. Analysis of the diffusion profiles indicates that cobalt uptake was controlled by oxide grain boundary diffusion, with little or no contribution from bulk solid state diffusion or solution phase transport.

To summarise, the exchange fluxes provide a pathway for radioactive species to be transported around the circuit when net corrosion product movement is minimised and for the processes of activity and corrosion product transport to be decoupled. They provide a way for target nuclides such as 59 Co to be adsorbed on fuel elements even in a core which is free from deposited corrosion product particles.

2.4. Summary

We have seen that corrosion products are released from construction materials and transported around the PWR primary circuit as both soluble and particulate species. We have also noted that exchange fluxes occur between soluble species and corrosion product oxides. Radioactive species can be released from corrosion products deposited in-core or adsorbed on fuel pins and directly from the corrosion of in-core components.

Activity transport occurs when radioactive species move around the circuit, from the core, to deposit on out-of-core surfaces. To account for all of the mechanisms leading to the build-up of out-of-core radiation fields we must account for:

- 1. the sources of neutron activatable isotopes,
- 2. their transport to and deposition in-core,
- 3. release of radioactive isotopes from in-core (both from deposited corrosion products and directly from in-core components) and
- 4. their transport out-of-core and deposition on out-of-core surfaces.

There are thus a number of transport paths to which both soluble and particulate species can contribute. The predominance of either soluble or particulate species to a given pathway cannot be predicted reliably under all conditions of temperature and chemistry, especially when transients occur. Hence neither soluble or particulate species can be safely neglected.

It will be seen in the following that low pH operation is correlated with high out-of-core radiation fields [17] and it will also be established that Stellite is a major source of 59Co (and hence 60Co) in PWRs [18][19]. However these successes must not be taken as an indication that all of the mechanisms involved in corrosion product and activity transport are well understood and can be accounted for quantitatively. The state of understanding is that some mechanisms are established and plant data have confirmed qualitative trends or correlations.

The next section will give details of accepted approaches based on radiation field control in PWRs and indicate possible future approaches based on plausible transport mechanisms and sources of neutron activatable isotopes.

3. <u>SCOPE FOR CONTROL AND INTERVENTION - PWR</u>

3.1. Introduction

The purpose of this section is to consider options which are potentially available for control of the development of radiation fields in PWRs and the scope for intervention. The formulation of these options is based on data concerning the processes of corrosion product generation and transport, together with worldwide experience of reactor operation. The processes of generation and transport of corrosion products have been considered above. Reactor operating experience shows that the build up of radiation fields varies very markedly from plant to plant. Bergmann has attempted to place individual Westinghouse plants into one of three categories, according to the radiation fields observed, with a view to identifying the factors involved (Figs 4 and 5) [20, 21]; this confirms that operational factors other than operating time are important. The general pattern of development of radiation exposure also seems to differ from one utility to another, as can be seen from Figs 6 to 8, which cover a typical range of world experience. This topic will be considered in more detail later in this Chapter.

Approaches to the control of radiation fields include controlling the input of corrosion products to the system, controlling the transport of these corrosion products during operation, and removal of corrosion products from the system. As indicated above the active species principally responsible for the development of out-of-core radiation fields in western PWRs are 58 Co and 60 Co, resulting from the activation of nickel and cobalt respectively. In the first year or two of operation 58 Co is dominant, but through most of plant life 60 Co is the most important radionuclide, as shown in Fig. 9.

Corrosion products enter the system either from the corrosion of primary circuit materials or from the CVCS. Options for the control of input from either source include selection of materials to reduce the rate of corrosion release, modification of the composition of materials (for example replacement of high cobalt alloys, reduction of permitted cobalt impurity levels in steels



FIG. 4. Buildup of steam generator channel head dose rates (long term trends) (redrawn from Ref. [21]).

and Inconel), and modifications of the pre-treatment processes (including hot commissioning) to reduce corrosion release rates. Input from the CVCS might also be limited by some form of purification applied to the input system (for example high temperature ion exchange).

Control of the transport of inactive and activated corrosion products is an essential step in limiting the growth of radiation fields, and this control is exercised through the choice of coolant chemistry. Possible chemistry regimes which have been recommended include the adoption of a pH calculated to minimise iron solubility or the adoption of a pH to ensure a zero or positive temperature coefficient of solubility. The control of pH is complicated by the presence of boric acid in concentrations which vary according to the requirements for reactivity control. Since the chemistry regime must also be chosen to take account of its influence on corrosion release rates the selection of an appropriate alkaline solute and the choice of appropriate concentrations present a range of options. These include co-ordinated chemistry regimes and in particular the adoption of a higher pH regime. A



FIG. 5. Buildup of steam generator channel head dose rates (short term trends) (redrawn from Ref [21])

1.5

05

74 75

76

Man Rem /(MW yr)



FIG. 7. Average occupational radiation exposure for US nuclear plants [102].



FIG. 6. Occupational radiation exposure per unit of electricity generated by PWR plants (redrawn from Ref. (101]).



FIG. 8. Annual collective dose at French 900 MW PWRs (redrawn from Ref [2])



FIG. 9. Variation of Co-58/Co-60 ratio based on steam generator tube measurements [80].

higher pH regime can be achieved by using 7 LiOH, potassium hydroxide and the use of boron enriched in 10 B, which reduces the amount of boric acid required.

Removal of inactive and activated corrosion products from the coolant can be accomplished by a variety of purification processes which are effective for particulate and soluble species. However, the purification flow rates which are normally acceptable during operation have a very limited effect on the corrosion product inventory of the primary circuit. There may be more scope for removal during shut-down procedures when coolant corrosion product concentrations increase and higher purification flow rates can be achieved. Another approach to the removal of activated corrosion products is the application of decontamination to the primary circuit as a whole, or to individual components. Decontamination may be applied to control the build up of radiation fields generally or to reduce the fields locally in areas where access is required.

3.2. Control of Activity Transport Through Materials Choice

This section discusses evidence for the relative importance of different corrosion product sources in contributing to primary circuit activity, and the merits of various materials choice options for minimising activity levels. The predominant source(s) may vary from plant to plant, depending on details of their construction and operation. The intention here, therefore is to identify an order of priority for tackling the corrosion product sources which is likely to be most beneficial in producing low circuit activity levels.

3.2.1. Corresion product source term analyses

Several corrosion product source term analyses have been conducted. The analyses of Bergmann, Landerman, Lorentz and Whyte [22] for Westinghouse plants concluded that Inconel 600 steam generator tubing is the main contributor of cobalt to the primary circuit for cobalt impurity levels around 0.05%, and the contribution from stainless steel surfaces is small for typical cobalt impurity levels (around 0.07%). Similarly CORA code calculations have indicated that reducing cobalt input by reducing the cobalt impurity levels in the Inconel 600 steam generator tubes from 0.1% to 0.015% would considerably reduce steam generator channel head dose rates in Westinghouse plants, since cobalt input from the steam generators was the dominant factor [23].

While this could be true when other contributions to cobalt input to the primary circuit are small, the evidence from examination of steam generator tube corrosion films from Westinghouse plants [19][24] is that this is not the case, since far too much cobalt is present in the oxide films for it to have been derived solely from corrosion of this material. Other sources must dominate the cobalt input in the plants whose SG tube oxide films have been studied, and therefore in all probability the majority of Westinghouse plants, rather than the SG tubes as concluded by the analyses indicated above.

A more informative approach to analyses of the type indicated above is that of Pinacci and Sejvar [25] who recognise that input terms may be inherently rather variable, and performed a limited sensitivity analysis using the CORA-II code. This showed the importance of contributions from Inconel 713 and stainless steel in- core materials when Inconel 600 steam generator tube cobalt impurity levels are low (0.015%), and the potential importance of contributions from GVCS stainless steel pipework if corrosion rates are high in these lower temperature parts of the system. The analysis probably still under-estimates the importance of input from Stellites and the GVCS, given the observations of cobalt enhancement in the SG tube oxide mentioned previously, but Fig. 10 summarises their analysis of the various contributors to plant activity levels for the materials compositions indicated in Table 2. The contribution from stainless steel is indicated to be relatively small, and the GVGS pipework contribution is only significant when corrosion release rates are 20 times higher than those associated with the primary coolant circuit.

Calculations by Metge, Beslu and Lalet [26] have indicated that Inconel 600 steam generator tubes are the main contributor of cobalt in French PWRs, contributing up to 46% of the total, as shown in Tables 3, 4, 5. Plant evidence in favour of this assessment has also been presented [26][27] principally correlations between activity levels and steam generator tubing



FIG. 10. Material percent contribution to out-of-core Co-60 activity -- long term values (material parameters given in Table 2) [25].

TABLE 2. MATERIAL COBALT CONTENTS AND SURFACES USED IN CORA-II CALCULA-TIONS FOR THE PUN PLANT [25]

		Surface	Cobalt Weight %			
Material	Application	(m²)	Design Limit	Best E.	Opt.	
St. Steel	Fuel assembly	138	0.12	0.10	0.05	
	R.V. Internals (peripheral parts)	286	0.12	0.10	0.10	
	R.V. Internals (non per. parts)	648	0.20	0.10	0.10	
	Reactor coolant piping	130	0.05	0.05	0.05	
	Chemical and volume control system piping	66	0.20	0.13	0.13	
Inc. 600	Steam generator tubes	14553	0.015	0.015	0.015	
Inc. 718	Fuel grids	586	0.10	0.06	0.04	
Stellite	Valves, pumps, control rod drive	1	Surface (m ²)			
	mechanisms, internals		6.75	4.54	3.22	

cobalt contents. However, to obtain such correlations it was necessary to eliminate a number of plants (4 out of 12), whose 'cobalt input during hot functional tests may have been excessive (due to valve lapping and grinding)', or which 'suffered variable water chemistry'. Even then, the standard deviations for their correlations are relatively large.

TABLE 3. EDF REACTOR COOLANT SYSTEM CHARACTERISTICS FOR PACTOLE CALCULATIONS [26]

Material	Position	Surface Area m ²	Cobalt Content %
Zircaloy under neutron flux	Fuel cladding	5,530	0.002
Stainless steel under neutron flux		1,185	0.04-0.08
Inconel 718 with nickel plating under neutron flux	Grids	514	0.08
Stainless steel	Primary piping	2,372	0.08
	CVCS pipe	206	0.08-0.15
Inconel 600	Steam generator	13,600	0.05
Stellite	CVCS after resins	0.12	60

TABLE 4. CORROSION RELEASE CALCULATED BY PACTOLE CODE FOR FIVE CYCLES OF OPERATION (4.6 EFPY) [26]

Material	Position	Temperature	Release Rate mg dm ⁻² month ⁻¹	Release g m ⁻²
S .S.	CRP	320°C-280°C	0.14-0.44	0.71-2.4
\$.\$.	cvcs	279°C-45°C	0.16-24.4	0.9 -130
Incone 1 600	CRP	320*C-280*C	0.1-0.2	0.5 -1
Stellite	cvcs	45*C	0.28	1.5

Position/Component		Material	Total End First Cycle		Total End Fifth Cycle		Total End Tenth Cycle	
			g/yr	z	g/y1	X	g/yr	X
CDD and have	Grids	Incone1 718	1 30	35	0 70	42	0 55	45
neutron flux	Internals	SS	230	62	1 00	60	0 75	61
	Control rods	Stellite	1 60	43	1 45	87	1 45	11 7
CRP out of neutron flux	SG tubes	Inconel 600	17 20	464	695	41 6	4 85	39 3
	Primary piping	SS	5 90	15 9	2 50	15 0	1 75	14 2
cvcs	Piping Valves + charge pump	S S Stellite	8 60 0 15	23 2 0 4	4 00 0 10	24 0 0 6	2 90 0 10	23 5 0 8

 TABLE 5 CALCULATED COBALT CONTRIBUTION IN EDF PWRs USING THE PACTOLE

 CODE [26]

The qualifying remarks noted above suggest that it is relatively easy to input additional cobalt from other sources, which may outweigh the influence of the steam generators. In other plants with higher 60 Co radiation fields therefore, it could be concluded that Inconel 600 is not the main source of cobalt, as with Westinghouse plants.

3.2.2. Activity generated by in-core materials

There is good evidence from plant which demonstrates that wh ... cobalt impurity levels in the nickel plating used on Inconel 718 fuel grids are high, the fuel grids can become the dominant contributor to out-of-core radiation fields. The earliest evidence of this was given by Kockx and Olijve [28] who correlated the $60C_{\rm O}/58$ co ratio in sipping tests on spent fuel with the level of cobalt in the nickel plating of the Inconel 718 grids in the Borssele plant. These proved to be as high as 1%, and possibly higher still for some fuel, compared with <0.06% for the grid material itself. The high level of in-core cobalt in the nickel plating of the grids was considered to be the main reason for the continuously rising steam generator channel head dose rate, which was approaching 50 Rh⁻¹ after 8 cycles of operation. More recently Weitze et al. [29] have analysed the dose rate behaviour of the Goesgen and Neckarwestheim plants. They also concluded from the $60C_{\rm O}/58C_{\rm O}$ ratios found in spent fuel sipping cests that high cobalt levels in the nickel plating on the fuel grids was responsible for the continuing rise in radiation fields after 5 years operation at Goesgen. However, it was necessary to invoke water chemistry correction factors to obtain a satisfactory analysis of the difference in behaviour at the two plants, as well as differences in cobalt impurity levels in the grids (see Section 2.3.). Bergmann [20] has also indicated that Westinghouse plants operating with Inconel 718 grids have higher steam generator channel head dose rates than those operating with Zircaloy grids, or those which had changed to Zircaloy grids at some stage during their operation.

The analyses of Pinacci and Sejvar [25] indicate that the cobalt content of in-core stainless steel should be limited to around 0.05% to avoid this becoming a substantial contributor to out-of-core radiation fields, particularly in the case of fuel assembly components. Table 2 and Fig 10 indicate that an upper limit of Co concentration of 0.1% is necessary if this source is not to dominate 60 Co production. When the cobalt impurity level of in-core stainless steel and Inconel 718 is low, around 0.05%, the materials are predicted to contribute a relatively small proportion of the total 60 Co activity [25][26].

These studies indicate that Inconel 718 fuel grids, and in particular the Ni plating of them can be a major contributor to the out-of-core fields when the inherent cobalt impurity level in the material is not controlled to a very low value. At concentrations around 1% the plant measurements show it clearly to be the dominant source.

Olijve [30] has reported using Inconel 718 material with cobalt contents of 0.02%, and it seems desirable to adopt such low cobalt content materials if at all possible to conform to the ALARA principle.

Both Inconel and stainless steel corrosion films can take up cobalt from solution by adsorption so that their cobalt content is higher than would be expected from the base metal composition. Such a possibility has not received attention in any in-core activation analysis, but there seems no reason to assume that cobalt incorporation levels equivalent to those seen out-of-core could not occur on in-core surfaces as well. Effectively, this is equivalent to the in-core Inconel and stainless steel surfaces having a much higher cobalt concentration than the alloy itself would dictate. This would imply higher contributions to the 60 Co activity from in-core materials via this indirect route, and provides an incentive to remove in-core Inconel and stainless steel, even though its direct contribution to activity levels may be relatively small. However, this would only apply in the case where cobalt was available in solution from other sources. In this case, the first step would be to remove the primary source, and only if this proves impossible would it be necessary to consider removing in-core stainless and Inconel materials to avoid ctivation by this secondary route. As indicated previously, every effort should be made to reduce the cobalt content of these in-core materials as much as possible, and switching to Zircaloy grids would be a very effective means of pursuing this goal.

In the special case of pressure vessel heavy water reactors, because of the continuous refuelling strategy used, Stellite surfaces are present in the core. The contribution to radiation fields from 60 Co release after in situ activation has been estimated at Atucha I to be as high as 90% of the

long term out-of-core field. Urrutia et al [18] used an empirical model to make this estimate employing as parameters the specific release rates from Stellite and from other materials.

3.2.3. Cobalt input from Stellite and the CVCS

The high levels of cobalt observed in corrosion films formed on primary circuit surfaces in Westinghouse PWRs [24] can only be explained in one of two ways. Either the majority of cobalt observed is derived from Stellite surfaces within the primary circuit, or it enters the circuit from the CVCS or other auxiliary circuits. In the case of the CVCS and other auxiliary circuits, this could be during commissioning and start- up if measures are not taken to prevent cobalt input during that period. It is also true that if there is a substantial input from the CVCS and other auxiliary systems this could again be due to the use of high cobalt alloys (Stellites) in those circuits for valves and pumps. There is good reason to believe, therefore, that removing Stellited surfaces from PWR primary and auxiliary circuits will result in a marked reduction in cobalt input, and after ensuring minimum cobalt levels for all in-core materials, should be the next most effective method of ensuring low radiation fields out- of-core. Young et al [31] have concluded that Stellite hard facing surfaces are the main source of cobalt input in Combustion Engineering plants. Wear associated with the control element drive mechanisms was considered the most important process, contributing some 50 grams per year, just over 50% of the total. Other analyses have also indicated Stellite to be the main source of cobalt [32] but the detailed breakdowns of the Stellite surfaces responsible differ. Failure of a Stellited component can result in a massive injection of cobalt, giving rise to a large increase in radiation fields. as was seen during the third cycle of Biblis A [33]. Valve lapping during maintenance has also been considered to be a prime source of cobalt [34] but there is very limited direct evidence for this. Nevertheless, current evidence points strongly to Stellite surfaces being responsible for the major part of cobalt input. It is highly significant that Soviet reactors have extremely low 60Co radiation fields [35][36] presumably as a direct result of their avoidance of such high cobalt alloys. The oxide films on Loviisa 2 steam generator and cleanup circuit pipework have been examined by Pick [37]. Pick found that. in common with the oxide on stainless steel in Westinghouse PWRs, the corrosion films were enriched in nickel and chromium compared with the base metal and that the weight of metals in the oxide was very similar in the two reactor systems in comparable locations. However, there was no cobalt enrichment in the oxide on Loviisa 2 specimens compared with the base metal composition, which is in marked contrast to the cobalt enrichment factors of 4-30 found in Westinghouse PWRs. The 60Co levels on Loviisa 2 specimens were 60-100 times less than on Westinghouse specimens with similar EFPY. CANDU reactors also exhibit low radiation fields, which are at least partly the result of avoiding the use of high cobalt alloys in the primary circuits.

Replacement of Stellite by other hard facing alloys cannot be undertaken without demonstrating the reliability of a suitable alternative. There is a very strong incentive to replace high cobalt alloys in both the primary and auxiliary circuits as far as is practicable.

In the case of valves, Bergmann and Landerman [38] concluded that the pressurizer spray valve and flow control valves in the CVCS downstream of the

demineralisers were the most important candidates for Stellite replacement. Wrought stainless steels such as 17-4PH and 440C have been used for flow control valves in some US and European PWRs with apparent success (Airey, [39]. However, while cobalt release from Stellited flow control valves has proved significant in some cases, particularly due to erosion-corrosion damage, the importance of cobalt release from other components (including other types of valve) still needs to be addressed thoroughly.

There are two other possible sources of cobalt input from the CVCS. One is from the CVCS pipework, and in particular from the stainless steel surfaces operating at intermediate temperatures, where release rates are likely to be much higher than for the main primary circuit surfaces. This is most relevant to the CVCS regenerative heat exchanger, and the most effective approach to reducing cobalt input from this source is to minimise the cobalt content of the stainless steel used for the heater.

A further source of cobalt input from the CVCS system may be the boric acid storage tank solutions and similar make up fluids, which may contain higher levels of cobalt than those in the main CVCS recirculation flow (for whatever reason). Fe, Mn and Ni concentrations have been reported in studies at Trojan and Beaver Valley [40] well over 100 μ gkg⁻¹ on many occasions. Cobalt levels were not generally measured, but values up to 43 μ gkg⁻¹ were determined when measurements were made, with an average value of 26 μ gkg⁻¹ for the Beaver Valley plant. These high concentrations are not appropriate to the main CVCS injection flow to the reactor, but obviously some proportion of this material could enter the primary circuit via the CVCS.

The ultimate source of cobalt in these make up fluids is uncertain, but could be components such as the boron recycle evaporators which are typically fabricated from Incoloy 825, and which may have higher cobalt contents than is desirable, as well as Stellited valves. It appears pragmatic, therefore, to extend the policy of minimum cobalt content to most of the pipework and vessels associated with the CVCS, particularly those handling concentrated boric acid solutions.

Input of corrosion products from boric acid make-up solutions could be reduced by cation ion-exchange of the make-up solution prior to injection. This may be particularly effective during commissioning and initial operation and merits detailed consideration but such ion-exchange clean-up could be one of the most cost effective ways of reducing cobalt input to the plant. The CVCS as a whole is likely to provide an overall net input of corrosion products to the primary circuit unless measures are take to prevent this: a concentration of 0.1 μ gkg⁻¹ (100 ppt) cobalt in the CVCS injection flow would lead to the input of about 15 g of cobalt per year. This is not an inconsequential amount of material compared to the total cobalt inventory of primary circuit surfaces, and if concentrations of this order were to be demonstrated by plant measurements the incentive for further treatment of the CVCS injection flow would be considerably strengthened.

3.2.4. Reducing cobalt input from primary circuit surfaces

Reducing cobalt input from the main primary circuit surfaces, and the steam generator tubing in particular, is possible by reducing their cobalt content and/or reducing their inherent release rates. The data discussed previously indicate that such measures are only likely to be effective after measures have been taken to minimise 60 Co production by in-core sources, and cobalt input to the system from Stellites and more generally the CVCS system. Nevertheless, once these other measures have been pursued, reducing cobalt input from the main primary circuit surfaces becomes important. The lowest possible cobalt content is desirable if minimum cobalt input is to be achieved, and levels down to 0.015% can be obtained for steam generator tubing.

The stainless steel surfaces of the large diameter pipework in the primary circuit also contribute substantially to the total cobalt input. This seems likely to be due as much to the poorer surface finish of these components as an inherently higher corrosion release rate for stainless steel compared with Inconel. Improvements by obtaining as smooth a surface finish as possible for these components are therefore likely to be as effective as reducing their absolute cobalt contents. By comparison, production Inconel steam generator tube surfaces already give low release rates, although the reasons for this are not fully understood, apart from their relatively smooth surface.

Processes such as electropolishing of stainless steel may be expected to produce smoother surfaces with low corrosion rates, and are therefore worth considering as a means of reducing cobalt input from the main primary circuit st_inless surfaces and steam generator channel head. This would give a benefit additional to that obtained by minimising the absolute cobalt concentration in the material. Spalaris [41] has recently described the improvements in surface finish obtained by electropolishing steam generator channel heads.

Materials choice may influence out-of-core radiation fields by changing the ability of the material to take up active corrosion products. The capacity of corrosion films to take up activity is dependent on the corrosion film thickness. Thus reducing the material corrosion rate by improving the surface finish could have benefits in reducing out-of-core radiation fields as a result of reduced uptake of activity. This is likely to be particularly beneficial in the case of the primary circuit stainless steel surfaces, and provides a further incentive for applying polishing/electropolishing procedures to them.

It was mentioned above that Soviet designed VVERs do not contain high cobalt materials and this is believed to be responsible for their very low ^{60}Co radiation fields. The cobalt content in all structural materials at VVERs is also limited to $\langle 0.05\%$ but practice is usually lower than this specification.

3.2.5. Effect of surface finish

The surface finish of primary circuit components can affect the deposition and uptake of radionuclides and the release of activatable corrosion products to the coolant. If the effective surface area is reduced then the surface area of oxide into which soluble activity can be taken up is reduced. Smooth surfaces are also less liable to trap particulate material than rough ones Mechanical polishing results in abrasive scratches and the deeper the scratches the more likely it is that particulate material will accumulate [42]. In addition the force applied in abrasion causes surface damage. The most extensively damaged portion extends approximately to the depth of the cuts caused by abrasion [43] and this is effectively the layer that will be subject to corrosion over the reactor lifetime. The damaged layer, consisting of fractured grains and which can contain some phase transformed material, is more prone to corrosion than the underlying metal. There is thus an incentive to avoid coarse abrasives and to electropolish or chemically remove damaged material by pickling.

Honda et al [44] claim that electropolishing and a fine abrasive finish to the same roughness resulted in similar corrosion rate and 60 Co uptake (BWR conditions) and so fine abrasive may be a sufficient treatment to minimise metals release and activity uptake. This tends to be confirmed from experiments on Zircaloy fuel pins. These are already treated by belt grinding to a very fine finish. Electropolishing is possible although the roughness average (Ra) values achieved approximate to those achieved by belt grinding [45]. Tests of the two finishes in BWRs showed no discernible difference in crud pickup [45] so there is little incentive, in BWRs at least, to electropolish fuel pins. The nucleation of precipitates and the trapping of particulates on fuel surfaces may be governed by similar principles in both BWR and PWR and hence the conclusions could be tentatively transferred to the PWR case. KWU electropolish completed fuel rods as standard practice at little additional cost. This acts as a final proof cleaning process as well as providing excellent surface finish to the Zircaloy cladding [46].

During tests with SG channel heads Spalaris [46] found the effective surface area could be reduced by a factor of 20 by an initial mechanical polish of the rough strip cladding followed by electropolishing. The effective surface area of the initially smoother Inconel 600 divider plate could also be reduced by a factor of 4 by the same treatment. Electropolishing an be readily carried out prior to erection and Spalaris advocates a hand held electropolishing device with 15 minutes or less exposure. Presumably the area of this device can be made larger but he experimented satisfactorily with a 48 in² device. About 140 hours per steam generator would be needed for its dimensions but there is obvious scope for improvement. Several U.S. utilities are considering in-situ channel head electropolishing before start up of new PWRs [47].

Manway covers of various surface finish (as received, mechanically polished, electropolished and mechanically polished plus electropolished) have been exposed for up to 3 cycles in the French Chinon Bl plant [48]. Activity deposition improvement factors for 5^{8} Co and 6^{0} Co of 2 for mechanically polished and 3-5 for electropolished plus mechanically polished were observed and maintained for 3 cycles. The combination of electropolishing and mechanically polishing was found to be more efficient than electropolishing alone. The reduction factors of deposited activity were higher on the cold leg than on the hot one. The latter effect was also observed in a surface finish study, also on manway covers, in Tihange 1 ([49]. This study also examined surface finish and pretreatment effects of insert specimens placed in Doel 2 for 6 months. Electropolishing and passivation of stainless steel 304L improved dose rates by a factor about 2. Inconel 600 showed no increased benefit with passivation over electropolishing.

In addition to affecting activity uptake the surface finish also has an effect on metal release rates. It is usually taken that the metal release rate follows a relationship of the following type:-

 $R = At^{-n} + B$ A and B are constants, 0 < n < 1, t = time

Curves of total corrosion against time for Inconel 600 under laboratory PWR conditions tend to show the non- linear form indicated by the above equation. Non- linearity is especially pronounced for rough surfaces but where smoother surfaces are involved the curves tend to linearity. Metal release rates have been measured for both Inconel 600 and Inconel 690 under laboratory PWR conditions [50]. Up to 5000 hours the metal release rate was observed to be linear for both alloys although the release rate was greater for Inconel 600. Data from operating plant and from short term laboratory experiments on smooth or pickled surfaces show the marked non-linearity for the corrosion of rough surfaces in the first thousand hours or so tending to disappear.

From the evidence reviewed it therefore appears unlikely that a two month preconditioning of Inconel 600 or 690 would significantly reduce the total release of metals to the RCS in the first operating cycle.

Parallel evidence for stainless steel is much more limited. That from plant shows oxides growing on steel at an appreciably faster rate than on Inconel and this may be a function of the relative surface finish or perhaps of some other phenomenon. As surface finishes on some reactor stainless steel can be rough, non- linear corrosion on some components may be more marked than on Inconel. Although non-linear behaviour appears in laboratory experiments it is not yet possible to confirm this from sparse reactor data. The possibility remains that, like Inconel 600 and 690, growth may be linear with time, albeit at a faster rate. If non-linear metal release was apparent there would be a benefit from preconditioning especially as metal release rates from stainless steel in PWRs are believed to be much greater than those from Inconel 600 [19]. That there is uncertainty in the conclusions reached on metal release by direct observation of corrosion rates is evidenced by the fuel crud loading in cycle 1 which appears to be greater than that in subsequent cycles [19]. As plants will have undergone an appreciable period of preconditioning before fuel loading, the extra crud burden could come about as a result of further non-linear corrosion of alloys in the period after hot functional testing until the end of the first cycle Alternatively, or in addition, the extra crud could result from adventitious material not removed in the flushing procedures prior to core loading, in particular from systems outside the RCS which cannot be "hot" preconditioned.

3.2.6. Effect of preconditioning

Preconditioning can affect the release of activatable corrosion products to the coolant and the uptake of radionuclides from the coolant. Preconditioning techniques can be categorised into one of two areas:

- 1. preconditioning undertaken during the hot functional testing period using the normal PWR chemistry variables i.e. temperature, lithium, boron and hydrogen.
- 2. preoxidation or passivation techniques.

Evidence for the benefit of preconditioning on dose rates is mainly restricted to laboratory and loop studies although there are limited data from studies where coupons have been exposed in reactor circuits. Any benefit achieved by preconditioning must still be evident at the end of the reactors operational life. Preconditioning procedures vary from utility to utility but the procedures followed by KWU are fairly typical: preconditioning is performed during the first hot functional test period under the following water chemistry conditions:

Lithium	1-2 ppm (max 5ppm)
Oxygen	<10 ppb
Chloride	<0.2 ppm
Temperature	>260°C

Oxygen reduction is performed by degassification and by hydrazine addition if necessary. The preconditioning should last at least 50 hours and cannot be finished until the iron content of the primary coolant water is ≤ 0.1 ppm.

A study covering 12 US PWRs [51] could find no correlation between dose rates and preconditioning procedures or times but it has to be said that there was probably not much difference between the preoperational procedures of the plants examined. Other operational factors are more likely to have caused the differences noticed between subsequent operational dose rates.

The recontamination rate of replacement steam generators or freshly decontaminated surfaces have been found to be the same as that after initial plant start up. Since such replacement or decontaminated surfaces have effectively no pretreatment before being placed into service compared with the usual several hundred hours before initial start up, it can be concluded that the pretreatment did not affect eventual dose rates

The Loviisa and Ringhals 2 PWRs have exceptionally low dose rates. At Loviisa, preconditioning included 2 months hot functional testing in alkali and 2 months after fuel load but before full power operation in the presence boric acid. Ringhals 4 had a longer preconditioning than normal (the political situation in Sweden resulted in 2 hot functional testing periods).

However, in the case of Loviisa low dose rates are considered to be due to the absence of Stellite and consequently negligible 60 Co levels in the coolant while the low dose rates at Ringhals 4 are believed to be due to operation with particularly favourable and strictly controlled primary circuit chemistry (high pH) very soon after start up. The Ringhals 3 reactor also underwent extended preconditioning but its dose rates are at least double those at Ringhals 4 at the end of cycle 1 [52]. Thus, while it is not possible to be unequivocal, factors other than the length of the hot functional test are believed to be more likely to account for the low dose rates in Ringhals 4 and Loviisa

Decomposition of metal chelates in solution at high temperature to form protective oxide films has been routinely applied as a precondition technique in CANDUS [53] and has replaced the previous hot condition in alkali. However, this technique is geared to the particular needs perceived for CANDU, namely to rapidly protect coolant system carbon steel surfaces and to complex and remove impurity zinc whose activation to 65 Zn has proved to be one of the major activation nuclides in the Bruce CANDUS. In PWRs 65 Zn is not a significant contributor to dose (approximately 10% of 60 Co). The time for preconditioning CANDUS was reduced from 8 days to 3 days by the use of metal chelates. Both these times are very much shorter than have been applied to PWRs and it was apparently felt that the preconditioning of CANDU steam generator tubes (Inconel 1 600 or Monel 400) for prolonged periods was not necessary as a means of minimising dose rates. There was however no discernible difference in operational dose rates between CANDU plants preconditioned in alkali or those preconditioned with chelating agents present.

Loop experiments in the US [54] have examined the uptake of 60 Co into oxide films, produced by preconditioning and passivation techniques, over a 200 hour period under PWR conditions. The various techniques included electroless palladium, boric acid, EDTA and chromate treatments. The electroless palladium passivation treatment resulted in the least 60 Co activity pick-up.

Electropolished and electropolished plus passivated (by means of hot moist air at 250-315°C) stainless steel 304L and Inconel 600 coupons were exposed in the Doel 2 PWR for a total of 3800 hours [49]. The stainless steel 304L coupons which were electropolished and passivated showed a dose rate reduction of a factor of 2 compared with the electropolished only coupons. No increased benefit was observed for the Inconel 600 coupons passivated in addition to being electropolished.

Attempts to decompose chelates to form protective films on austenitic stainless steel by Carter et al [55] did not lead to a durable protective film. Winkler et al [56] have shown how compounds like TiFeO₄ may be produced on PWR surfaces from chelates. The key questions to be addressed in any proposal for chelate decomposition relate to:

- 1. the durability of the oxide films under variable reactor conditions of temperature and chemistry,
- 2. the long-term absorption of nuclides, and
- 3. the applicability to PWR materials.

2

The principle of seeking to produce a layer resistant to the flow of ions either from underlying metal or from the coolant is attractive provided the questions above can be answered satisfactorily. The uncertainties in metal release rates of both stainless steel and Inconel alloys, whether the release rates are linear or non-linear. coupled with the limited number of reactor studies makes it impossible to come to any firm conclusion on the benefit of increasing the preconditioning period during the hot functional test beyond the period necessary for engineering proving tests. On the balance of available evidence dose rates in early reactor life are not sensitive to the length of the preconditioning period. In current western PWRs 60Co gives an approximate 60 to 80% contribution to station lifetime collective occupational dose. Since Stellite is now believed to be the major source of the cobalt precursor to 60Co reconditioning the main circuit alloys will have little effect on the 59Co input rate. However, as most of the occupational dose is incurred from stainless steel components preconditioning should be largely directed to reducing ⁶⁰Co deposition on stainless steel. This emphasises the importance of the surface finish of stainless steel components considered in 3.2.5.

3.2.7. Summary

We may summarize the order of priorities for action relating to materials choice for minimising cobalt input to the primary circuit and therefore minimisation of radiation fields as follows:

1. Ensure absolute minimum cobalt content for all in-core materials.

Replacement of Inconel 718 by Zircaloy would be an effective way of doing so in the case of fuel grids, and this should be seriously considered. In addition to the obvious benefit of reducing direct release of 60 Co, replacing Inconel 718 grids with Zircaloy ones might reduce activation of cobalt from out-of-core sources by reducing the amount retained in in- core corrosion films. If this replacement is not possible, however, then all materials associated with the grids, and in particular the nickel plating and brazes should have the minimum cobalt level achievable.

2. Reduce to a minimum the use of high cobalt alloys (Stellites) in all areas of the primary circuit and the auxiliary systems.

These two measures are considered to be by far the most important materials choice options for minimising 60 Co activity, given relatively low (<0.1%) cobalt concentrations in other primary circuit materials. However, the options indicated below are considered to offer significant further benefit if the measures above are effectively implemented.

- 3. Ensure the smoothest possible surface finish for stainless steel components in the primary circuit to minimise the corrosion rates of these surfaces. This is also likely to offer further benefit in reducing out-of-core fields as a result of the reduced capacity of the corrosion film for active species.
- 4. Reduce the residual cobalt content of stainless steel and Inconel surfaces in the primary circuit to a minimum. A specification of <0.05% is readily achieved and <0.02% can be achieved for steam generator tubing.
- Specify low cobalt material for the CVCS regenerative heat exchanger, and CVCS pipework and vessels handling concentrated boric acid solutions.
- 6. Consider the further treatment of CVCS make-up water to the primary circuit to remove influent corrosion products, particularly from the bcric acid storage tank system. Simple low temperature cation exchange may be sufficient in the latter case.

Finally, it is most important that cobalt input to the primary circuit during commissioning and initial start-up is minimised, since its removal once it has entered the system is extremely difficult. All the measures indicated above could be negated if poor pre- operational practices lead to substantial input of cobalt (as little as about 20 grams in total). The clean-up of circuits and pre-operational fluids before normal operation is therefore essential.

3.3. Primary Circuit Coolant Chemistry Control During Normal Operation

3.3.1. Objectives of coolant chemistry control

The overriding requirement for the primary circuit coolant is that it should perform the function of heat transfer and contribute to core reactivity control without prejudice to the integrity of structural materials, components and fuel cladding.

For structural materials (stainless steel, Inconel) general corrosion is unlikely to be a significant issue, but environmentally assisted cracking of Inconel 600 steam generator tubes has been observed and would place some constraints on levels of deliberately added dosing agents and permissible impurity levels in the coolant for reactors employing this alloy.

For fuel cladding material, a chemistry regime which restricts general corrosion is required in order to prevent the formation of thick films of ZrO2, which would impair heat transfer to the coolant and lead eventually to fuel failure. In addition, the coolant chemistry conditions should ensure that deposition on fuel of corrosion product material released from structural materials is not excessive. Excessive deposition could again lead to impaired heat transfer which in turn would lead to accelerated clad corrosion and eventually to fuel failure. Thick deposits in-core have also in the past led to unacceptable pressure drop and reduced core reactivity. These more severe problems associated with excessive deposition on fuel would only be anticipated in the event of very poor chemistry control and are now rare. Under these circumstances the main issue relating to deposition in core is the generation of activated corrosion product species. The purpose of this section to identify an optimum coolant chemistry strategy during normal operation which will restrict the consequential out-of-core radiation fields and the levels of corrosion product radionuclides in the coolant.

3.3.2. Constraints on coolant composition

The various corrosion related issues tend to define a limited range of coolent redox potential, pH and impurity concentrations under which materials performance is acceptable.

Oxygen level (which determines redox potential) is controlled to very low levels (typically specified as $\langle 5 \text{ ppb} \rangle$; in practice, likely to be very much lower) for two reasons: its effect (in combination with Cl⁻) in promoting stress corrosion cracking in stainless steel (see Figure 11) and its effect on Zircaloy corrosion. Low levels of oxygen are ensured by dosing the primary system with hydrogen. The hydrogen may be dosed into the system directly or via the radiolytic decomposition of ammonia. The level of hydrogen is dictated by the need to suppress the formation in-core of the H02 radical in order to minimise Zircaloy corrosion. This leads to a reasonable working minimum for the hydrogen concentration of 25 cm³(NTP)kg⁻¹. The upper limit is restricted by operational requirements.

The control of coolant pH in PWR primary circuits is complicated by the presence of boric acid, which is present for core reactivity control. The concentration of boric acid varies during the normal reactor cycle from a



FIG. 11. Effects of oxygen and chloride on the SCC of austenitic stainless steels in high temperature water [103].

value of around 1200 ppm (as B) at the beginning, reducing with burn-up down to zero at the end of the cycle. For extended fuel cycles, using more highly enriched fuel, the initial value could be as high as 1800 ppm (although on physics grounds the preferred option for reactivity control would be the use of burnable poisons).

To restrict general corrosion of stainless steel and Inconel and to control the build-up of activated corrosion products, the pH of the coolant must be raised to some degree. At present ⁷LiOH is used to do this in western PWRs and KOH is used in Soviet designed VVERs. The chemical behaviour of corrosical

products which must be examined to determine the optimum lithium or potassium control strategy is discussed in detail below.

There are two major issues which restrict the level of lithium which might otherwise be thought desirable. The first relates to primary side cracking of steam generator tubes. There is some indication that high lithium concentrations may promote this, although the experimental evidence is ambiguous and further evidence is being actively sought in this area [57] second, and potentially very serious issue, is the possibility of enhanced Zircalov corrosion. High concentrations of lithium hydroxide have been observed to increase the corrosion rate of Zircalov dramatically and a detailed study has been undertaken by McDonald et al. [58] some results from this work are shown in Fig. 12. The lithium concentrations involved are very much higher than would be contemplated for use in PWR coolant, but the possibility of local concentration, particularly on cladding where some degree of boiling heat transfer is operative, must be considered. Lithium 'hide out' would also be favoured on fuel surfaces with significant levels of extraneous deposits. Work by Coriou et al. [59] shows that LiOH is considerably more aggressive than KOH, but the data refer only to the early stages of corrosion; extrapolation to the effect at longer exposure time is not straight-forward. Recent French work has indicated that the major area of concern is likely to be when conditions lead to a degree of local boiling in the coolant together with a significant degree of voidage [60]. The study employed an out-of-pile loop (CIRENE) and a significant enhancement of the Zircalov corrosion rate (up to a factor of about 5) due to increase of void fraction under sub-cooled nucleate boiling was observed, even under 'normal' pWR chemistry (2.2 ppm Li. 650-1000 ppm B, 25-55 cm³(NTP)kg⁻¹ H₂). An experiment with 10 ppm lithium and 1000 ppm boron, with average void fraction at outlet of 15%, led to a 35 um thick film after 51 days operation, when in the absence of any enhancement, only a 2 µm oxide thickness would have been expected. The results from the French study are disturbing; it is clear that enhanced Zircaloy corrosion is a major issue requiring further investigation.

Under conditions currently employed in operating PWRs corrosion experience has, in general, been good although variations between different fuel vendors and different batches of material have been noted. The almost universally adopted present maximum specification of 2.2 ppm Li may be unnecessarily restrictive (a level of 3.5 ppm has been employed at Ringhals without any apparent problem), and for the purpose of limiting activity transport there is good reason to raise it (see below). Nevertheless, any increase in the lithium concentration will require careful justification.

To help to ensure fuel cladding integrity, there are a number of impurities whose concentrations should be restricted to an achievable minimum. Fluoride, which enhances Zircaloy corrosion, is one. A second group, Ca, Mg, Al and SiO₂ (often referred to as Zeolite forming minerals), can lead to the formation of dense, tenacious, low thermal conductivity deposits on fuel surfaces. The consequent impairment of heat transfer and increase in clad surface temperature would lead to enhanced corrosion. The presence of these species in the coolant is therefore undesirable, and their levels should be restricted

The coolant particulate burden needs to be controlled in order to restrict fouling of fuel and build-up of radiation fields. Initial particulate burden can be significantly influenced by pre-operational practices, the

25



(b) Arrhenius Curve for Zircaloy Corrosion in LiOH Solutions

FIG. 12. Effect of lithium concentration on Zircaloy corrosion (redrawn from Ref. [58])

commissioning procedure should be designed to restrict the amount of residual material deposited around the circuit. During normal operation, care must be taken to restrict the particulate levels in make-up water and dosing agents; the prevailing primary circuit coolant particulate levels will then be determined largely by the operating pH.

3.3.3. Coolant corrosion product sampling

Sampling of the primary coolant of PWRs is necessary for reactivity control and chemical monitoring. Information will also be required on release of fission products into the primary coolant as a measure of fuel status, and on circulating levels of activation products. Existing sampling facilities installed in PWRs are adequate for the normal operational control and specification measurements such as lithium, boron, hydrogen, chloride and fluoride concentrations. They are also probably adequate for elements such as calcium, magnesium and silica, which are important to limit the formation of zeolites on fuel cladding. However, the veracity of the data for corrosion, activation and fission product species in the primary coolant of PWRs is dependent upon any effects which are introduced by the sampling system itself.

The potential problem in measuring corrosion, activation and fission product concentrations is that it is necessary to cool the sample from the normal operating temperature of 300° C to ambient temperature. Such a process, particularly in a stainless steel line, can introduce effects due either to deposition in the line or to dissolution of previous deposits and/or line components themselves.

The sampling system needs to provide representative samples of both dissolved and particulate species in the coolant. Consideration should be given during the design of sampling facilities to minimise particulate deposition in valves and fittings. Sampling systems are normally constructed of stainless steel which is generally satisfactory provided that it is noted that there may be a conditioning period of up to 3 months and even then there could be some deposition of radionuclides (e.g. 60 Co and 58 Co).

An adequate flow velocity in the sample lines is vital to minimise crud deposition. It is also necessary to minimise the release of chemical species from the walls of the sample lines and the deposition of dissolved and particulate species into the oxide layer. In addition, continuous flow is preferable for sample lines in that this avoids the inevitable disturbance when any line is brought into service. The coolant flow through conventional lOmm bore sample lines is too high for continuous operation. A capillary sample line can provide both isokinetic samples and a continuous flow without involving large quantities of sample flowing to waste. Capillary sampling also has the advantage that the narrow bore reduces pressure and sample flow without the need for pressure and flow control valves which are well known crud traps and sources of impurity ingress. The Winfrith SGHWR depends on continuous capillary sampling for all measurements of dissolved and particulate corrosion species [61] and capillary sampling systems have been developed, installed and operated on the PWRs at Doel with equal success [89].

3.3.4. The spinel solubility model as a basis for radiation field control

As indicated in the previous sections, the only significant parameter influencing corrosion product transport behaviour which can, to some degree, be varied by the plant chemist is the coolant pH (via the choice of lithium or potassium dosing level). Understanding of the detailed effects which pH has on the behaviour of corrosion products under PWR conditions has increased significantly since the early days of reactor operation. This has led to modification of the strategies adopted to combat build- up of radiation fields and plant corrosion product radionuclide inventories. This section describes the way in which current understanding has evolved and how it may be used to formulate a coolant pH control strategy. It expands on some aspects of the theoretical framework outlined above. Subsequent sections describe how coolant pH control has actually been implemented by different organisations on operating plant and correlations of radiation field behaviour with chemistry regime are discussed.

The detailed discussion in this section will avoid reference to the quantity 'coolant pH' and concentrate on the behaviour of iron solubility with respect to boron and lithium concentrations. The motivation for this is clear from the discussion in section 1, pH is itself a function of temperature; the absolute value calculated for a given temperature and composition depends on the choice of correlation for K_W which has been used in the calculation. Furthermore, the value of the temperature coefficient of solubility of iron at a given temperature and pH is, to some extent, dependent on how the pH has been achieved (the magnitude of the boron and lithium concentrations, not just their relative values). These points are illustrated in Figures 14 and 15. Figure 14 shows the calculated pH versus temperature for different Li, B combinations using two different correlations for Kw while Figure 3.15 shows the temperature coefficient of solubility of iron at 300°C versus pH for different boron concentrations.

Despite these potential ambiguities, pH is a useful and universally adopted shorthand for characterising coolant conditions. In subsequent discussion we follow current practice (see for example, [62]) and quote pHs at a reference temperature of 300/G, but we prefer values based on the Marshall and Franck [63] K_w correlation rather than the more often used Mesmer, Baes and Sweeton [63] correlation. At 300°C this leads to a difference in quoted pHs of about 0.15 units, with values based on Marshall and Franck being higher. See the paper entitled "Corrosion products, activity transport and deposition in boiling water reactor recirculation systems" by H.P. Alder, D. Buckley, G. Grauer, K.H. Wiedemann.

The development of coolant chemistry control as a means to restrict build-up of out-of-core radiation fields has been reviewed by Solomon [64]. This work has formed the basis of the Westinghouse recommendations for 'coordinated chemistry' control of coolant pH. The strategy focuses on build-up of corrosion products in-core using a relatively simple formulation of the form:

<u>dWa</u>

 $dt = k_{D}[Particles] + k_{S} - P[Fe_{S}(T_{1}) - Fe_{S}(T_{2})] - k_{e}[W_{a}]$

 W_{a} = Surface concentration of crud (gm⁻²)

 k_D = Deposition coefficient (ms⁻¹)

 $k_{S-P} = Dissolution or precipitation coefficient (ms⁻¹)$

Fe_S(T): Fe solubility at temperature T (gm⁻³) (T₁ = Bulk coolant temperature; T₂ = Fuel clad surface temperature)

 $k_e = Erosion \ coefficient \ (s^{-1})$

The level of in-core deposits is assumed to govern the extent of corrosion product activity generation. The model clearly represents a major simplification of the overall activity transport process.



FIG. 13. Typical axial power and temperature distribution in a PWR core [8].

Although it is recognised that the terms describing particulate behaviour $(k_D \text{ and } k_e)$ may be functions of chemistry, the basis of the control strategy focuses on the differential solubility term $[Fe_S(T_1) - Fe_S(T_2)]$. Attention is concentrated on iron behaviour as this is the major crud forming element for core deposits. As noted, the temperature coefficient of solubility, dFe/dT may be positive, negative or zero depending on the coolant composition (boron and lithium levels) and temperature. Thus for a given coolant composition, iron will exhibit a minimum in its solubility at a particular temperature and it is this which has formed the basis of the Westinghouse control philosophy. This condition may be expressed formally as:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \partial Fe \\ \partial T \end{pmatrix}$$
 B,Li, H₂ = 0

If the coolant composition (i.e. lithium level) is chosen to achieve this zero temperature coefficient of solubility at core inlet temperature then, if coolant iron concentrations are at equilibrium values, there will always be a driving force for dissolution at the fuel clad surface. Figure 13 shows a typical range of bulk coolant and fuel clad surface temperatures between core



FIG. 14. Temperature dependence of pH based on two different correlations for the ionic product of water (K_w).



FIG. 15. Temperature coefficient of iron solubility at 300°C for NiasFezsO4 [66].

inlet and outlet to illustrate this point. In the past, bulk coolant core inlet temperature has been taken to be 285°C, but a value of 290°C to 295°C would be more appropriate at some plant.

To determine the coolant composition required to achieve a zero temperature coefficient of solubility at a given temperature, good data on corrosion product oxide solubility behaviour are required, as discussed in detail above. Early recommendations were based on the magnetite data of Sweeton and Baes [65]. On the basis of these data, the lithium concentration required to give a zero temperature coefficient of iron solubility at 285°C may be determined. This leads to a maximum lithium level of 1.9 ppm required at start of cycle (1200 ppm B), and is consistent with the current maximum specification of 2.2 ppm.

It is now felt that the magnetite solubility data lead to underestimation of the lithium level required to achieve a zero or positive temperature coefficient of corrosion product solubility in the PWR core. Circulating and deposited crud is not magnetite, it is a substituted ferrite containing nickel, $Ni_xFe_{3-x}O_4$. Using the Kunig and Sandler [7] data for nickel ferrites Lindsay [66], determined the boundary for positive temperature coefficient for iron solubility. This boundary is shown in Fig. 3 and compared with the Westinghouse coordinated chemistry band (based on magnetite solubility). The levels of lithium implied are well above the limits set by most fuel vendors. These data are the reasons for the current trend in a number of organisations to consider operation with lithium levels somewhat higher than the usual 2.2 ppm maximum.

There are a number of shortcomings in the formulation of the strategy as described: the effect of any changes in hydrogen concentration has been neglected (although its effect over the restricted range encountered in PWR primary coolant is likely to be insignificant); only the behaviour of iron has been specifically addressed (the behaviour of nickel and cobalt is clearly important); and instantaneous achievement of equilibrium solubility conditions has been assumed (in practice this will not be the case and the direction of the driving force for dissolution/precipitation may not be the same as that indicated by predictions based on equilibrium conditions). The restriction of attention to iron behaviour is important; many authors have assumed that cobalt and nickel behaviour will follow that of iron. In general, this need not be the case and it is quite possible for the nickel (or cobalt) zero temperature coefficient of solubility to occur at distinctly different coolant composition from that for iron. However, it is well recognised that iron is the major constituent of in-core crud and the best solubility data are available for iron species so concentrating on iron behaviour is probably justified. In particular, adsorption of cobalt on crud could be important for activation and subsequent out-of-core deposition. In this case the solubility behaviour of iron dominates since it controls the mass of corrosion product deposit. The potential differences in behaviour for other in-core crud constituents should be borne in mind in any attempt to model more quantitatively corrosion product transport.

Despite some limitations, qualitative aspects of the iron solubility model have been useful in rationalising some aspects of the behaviour observed in operating plant, as discussed below.

3.3.5. Laboratory and loop studies

Data from operating plant are obviously essential in developing procedures for coolant chemistry control, but of necessity the range of conditions for which information is available is very narrow. There is thus an important role for laboratory studies and loop experiments to put theoretical understanding on a firmer footing and provide information which may help to establish more effective plant coolant chemistry control strategies.

Many laboratory studies have been devoted to solubility measurements on corrosion product oxide phases and much of this work has been critically reviewed by Thornton and Polley [67]. The most comprehensive study of phases directly relevant to PWR fuel crud has been attempted by Kunig and Sandler; this work is fully documented in an EPRI report [7]. The importance of solubility data has been referred to in previous sections: it forms the detailed basis for the formulation of the coolant pH control strategy.

Measurements on operating plant are broadly in line with predictions based on the solubility model but the range of measurements and conditions examined has been limited. Valuable additional information has come from carefully conducted, detailed experiments on in-reactor loops. Early Canadian work confirmed that low coolant pH operation was associated with heavy deposition on fuel [68]. This work has been significantly extended to cover a wide range of conditions relevant to PWR primary circuits in a recent programme using the DIDO Water Loop (DWL) [15][67].

The DWL studies have confirmed heavier fuel deposition and enhanced corrosion product mobility under low pH conditions. There was also some indication that higher boric acid concentrations might lead to increased deposits in-core for a given pH. In addition, a mechanism involving direct incorporation of corrosion product species into the zirconium oxide film formed on fuel clad was identified and inferred to be potentially significant for PWR operation under conditions where the well recognised spinel deposition process has been minimised. This proposal had been made previously by Lister, based on a series of loop experiments [14]. This mechanism has recently been considered by Van den Hoven [70], who concludes that it may be of major importance. These observations indicate that there may be some compromise necessary when optimising coolant chemistry to restrict activity transport. In order to restrict the ZrO_2 incorporation of corrosion product species it may be wise not to raise the pH significantly beyond the value required for zero temperature coefficient of spinel solubility.

A wide range of loop studies relating to corrosion and corrosion release behaviour have also been conducted; the most fully documented are those of Lister et al. [71][72][13]; in general terms, it lends support to operation at relatively high coolant pH and is not in conflict with pH values required on the basis of the spinel solubility model.

The potential role of colloidal particulate material in corrosion product activity transport mentioned above was first recognised by Maroto et al [73]. They showed that interactions between colloidal corrosion products and fuel element surfaces can be adequately described by classical DLVO theory, and pointed out that the extent of such interactions is governed by coolant pH. The possible impact of colloid chemistry in this area has been discussed by Smith-Magowan [10][74], who concluded that interfacial electrochemical forces

are significant in determining deposition behaviour and that these forces are very sensitive to minor changes in coolant chemistry. The most detailed work on materials of relevance to PWR activity transport has been performed by Matijevic and co-workers [75], although only at temperatures well below primary circuit operating conditions. Relevant work has also been carried out by Maroto and co-workers (Blesa et al, [76][77][78]), however, extrapolation to temperatures of interest is once again difficult. Some work at higher temperatures has been undertaken by Tewari and Lee [79].

At the present time our knowledge of colloidal behaviour under PWR primary circuit conditions is inadequate as the extrapolation of low temperature data cannot be regarded as reliable. It is possible that colloidal chemistry is important in determining the build-up of out-of-core radiation fields and that some impact can be made on colloid behaviour through coolant chemistry control. Indeed it is considerations of this sort which, in part, lead EPRI to prefer operation at constant pH rather than merely operation above a certain minimum pH with detailed control being regarded as unimportant [80]. However, at present there is no firm evidence, either from operating plant or from laboratory studies, to support this recommendation. Further work will be required before any change in coolant chemistry control strategy based on the behaviour of colloidal species can be considered. The issues involved in coolant chemistry control to minimise transport via colloidal material have been discussed in some detail by Ponting and Rodliffe [9]; the need for more reliable data under relevant conditions is clearly highlighted.

3.3.6. World experience and data from operating plant

In this section the build-up of out-of-core radiation fields and fuel crud deposition will be considered with respect to the influence of the operating coolant chemistry employed. The data reviewed will largely be categorised by country. The coverage is not comprehensive, but is intended to highlight cases in which relatively firm conclusions can be drawn. Attention is concentrated on more recent information.

3.3.6.1. American experience

The most extensive experience in operating PWRs is to be found in the USA and careful examination of available data is useful in shedding some light on the role played by coolant chemistry in determining radiation field build-up. The most comprehensive studies are, in general, documented in reports produced by the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) and these will frequently be referred to in this section.

In considering US plants it should be borne in mind that early plant chemistry data were usually reported only as monthly averages of boron and lithium concentrations (although measurements would have been made more frequently), so that fluctuations in pH may have been much wider than is apparent from the reported data. More recent data, especially from France and Sweden, are usually recorded at least three times weekly (and at least at Ringhals daily) so that any fluctuations are obvious. This makes it difficult to provide reliable comparisons.

The wide variation in behaviour which is observed between different reactors has already been highlighted (Figs 3 and 4) and it has become clear that this

reflects the large number of factors which are involved in determining out-of-core radiation fields. In an attempt to home in on the specific influence of coolant pH, EPRI sponsored a detailed comparison between two Westinghouse designed reactors (Trojan and Beaver Valley). The results from this work have been reported in detail by Bergmann and Roesmer [40], and summaries of the work are also available [8][81]. The experiment covered 3 cycles of reactor operation for Trojan, but detailed measurements were only made for the first cycle at Beaver Valley. Trojan was deliberately operated throughout its first cycle at low pH, before switching at cycle 2 to Westinghouse coordinated chemistry. Beaver Valley was nominally operated with coordinated coolant chemistry throughout. The coolant histories for the two reactors are shown in Figs 16 and 17.

During reactor operation, radiation field measurements were made on cross-over pipework and around steam generators at comparable locations on each plant. During cycle 1 coolant samples were taken at regular intervals from both plants for chemical and radiochemical analysis. At the first refuelling shutdowns core crud samples were collected, radiation fields in the channel heads were measured and gamma spectrometry measurements of the activity deposited on the inside of the coolant piping in each plant were made.



FIG 16 Boron versus lithium concentrations in the Trojan reactor coolant during cycles 1, 2 and 3 [8]



FIG 17 Boron versus lithium concentrations in the Beaver Valley unit 1 reactor coolant during cycles 1 and 2 [8]

Information on in-core deposits for the two reactors is summarised in Tables 6 and 7 and Fig. 18, core regions are identified in Table 8. Fig. 18 illustrates the crud build-up on Trojan fuel assemblies over 3 cycles. The conclusions regarding core crud build-up are clear: operating at a consistently low coolant pH leads to very much heavier deposition than operating with reasonably high pH (ca. 6.9) coordinated coolant chemistry. Switching to coordinated chemistry very much reduces deposition on fresh fuel but does not effect the removal of previously laid down deposits (if anything, deposition appears to beget deposition: crud levels may be higher on crudded fuel after cycle 2 compared with cycle 1).

The position with regard to build-up of out-of-core radiation fields is far less clear cut. These are shown for cross-over pipework in Fig. 19 and for steam generators (external and internal) in Fig. 20. There is some indication of significantly lower fields on cross-over piping at Beaver Valley, particularly for survey points expected to be influenced by crud-traps. Furthermore, switchover to coordinated chemistry at Trojan appears to be correlated with some decrease in cross-over piping dose rates. However, for steam generator dose rates there is little to choose between the two plants. Again Bergmann et al [8] suggest that some benefit from the switchover to coordinated chemistry can be discerned at Trojan, but the effect is not dramatic.

An example of the benefits to be gained by improving coolant chemistry control and implementing a coordinated chemistry regime is provided by Indian Point 2 (a Westinghouse 4 loop PWR), as discussed by Gaynor et al. [82]. Although

1 ABLE 6 AVERAGE SURFACE CONCENTRATIONS OF DEPOSITS ON THE BEAVER VALLEY CYCLE 1 CORE

Region	Surface Concentrations (mg/dm ²) ^a				
	Span 7	Span 6	Span 4		
A	32 ± 17	39 ± 10	15 ± 8		
В	35 ± 30	28 ± 9	10 ± 6		
С	36 ± 21	24 ± 12	9 ± 3		

TABLE 7 AVERAGE SURFACE CONCENTRATIONS OF DEPOSITS ON THE TROJAN CYCLE 1, 2 AND 3 CORES

Cycle Re;	Region	Surface concentrations (mg/dm ²)a,b				
		Span 7	Span 6	Span 4		
1 1 1	A B C	156 ± 88 195 ± 87 106 ± 58	361 ± 275 83 ± 78 not det'd	48 ± 48 69 ± 64 73 ± 60		
2 2 2	B C D	$ \begin{array}{r} 350 \pm 244 \\ 147 \pm 94 \\ 3 \pm 3 \end{array} $	152 ± 169 86 ± 52 5 ± 3	9 ± 8 24 ± 18 4 ± 3		
3 3 3 3	B C D E	$ 341 106 \pm 36 4 3 \pm 0 2 2 2 $	65 82 ± 499 6 2	$ \begin{array}{r} 3 \\ 60 \pm 53 \\ 4 \\ 2 \end{array} $		

^a Error indicators are standard deviations

^b Entries without error indicators are single measurements

Cycle	Core Region				
	Centre	Intermediate	Periphery		
1	A	В	с		
2	В	c	D		
3	c l	D	E		
4	D	E	F		
5	E	F	G		
5	E	F	G		



FIG. 18a. Crud buildup on span 7 of cycle 1, Trojan and Beaver Valley fuel assemblies.



FIG. 18b. Crud buildup on span 7 of Trojan cycle 1, 2 and 3 fuel assemblies.

not described in detail, the coolant chemistry control during the first five cycles of operation did not adhere to the coordinated chemistry philosophy and included significant periods of operation at low pH. During cycle 6 attempts were made to implement coordinated chemistry control, but some problems were encountered. Reasonable coordinated control at pH ca. 6.9 was achieved after about two months of cycle 7. The steam generator channel head dose rate history is shown in Figure 21 and the fall at the end of cycle 7 is considered to be a consequence of the move to higher pH, coordinated chemistry. In addition to lower primary system radiation fields, the filterable crud levels in reactor coolant were also very much lower leading to less contamination of primary system filters. The authors concluded that the changes during a single cycle cannot be regarded as conclusive but that the results are highly encouraging.

Other attempts to demonstrate the connection between coolant chemistry and dose rate build-up have concentrated on evaluation of operating coolant chemistry and dose rate data from a wide range of plants. Early attempts were pioneered by Solomon and Roesmer [83].

w



FIG. 19. Exposure rate buildup on the crossover piping in the Beaver Valley unit 1 and Trojan plants [8].

More recently, a number of attempts have been made to put this connection on a more quantitative footing. The various approaches adopted by Westinghouse workers are described in detail by Bergmann et al. [8].

The simplest approach adopted was to use a parameter, the coolant chemistry quality factor (QF), against which to correlate SG channel head dose rate. QF was originally defined as the ratio of the number of lithium-boron measurements below the boundary for zero temperature coefficient of magnetite solubility at 285°C to the total number of lithium-boron measurements for a given cycle. Although a number of refinements to this parameter were attempted correlations obtained were relatively weak; an example is shown in Fig. 22 for dose rates at the end of the first cycle for 12 reactors.





FIG 20 Exposure rate buildup on the inside and outside of steam generators in the Beaver Valley unit 1 and Trojan plants [8]

Another correlation evaluated was the effect of a change in quality of coolant chemistry on channel head dose rates. The change in quality factor, $\Delta QF(=(QF_2)-(QF_1))$, between cycles 1 and 2 and the corresponding change in dose rate ΔD were calculated and the correlation shown in Fig. 23 was obtained. The correlation is weak but may be taken to indicate that 'improving' the operating chemistry of plant is likely to lead to benefits in restricting out-of-core radiation fields.

A somewhat more elaborate approach to data correlation for Westinghouse plant has been developed. It is based on the use of the CRUDSIM [66] solubility model for activity transport. CRUDSIM represents a reactor as two tanks - hot and cold. Activation of corrosion products takes place in the hot tank and transport between the two tanks is governed by the behaviour of soluble species, in a manner determined by the Kunig and Sandler solubility data and the operating history of the plant (coolant chemistry and power levels). The programme calculates a relative out-of-core activity inventory. Table 9 lists the results of calculations for eleven first cycle plants and includes not only the relative activity value for the actual operating chemistry but the



FIG 21 Steam generator channel head dose rates at Indian Point 2 (redrawn from Ref [82])

relative activity if the plant had been operated with coordinated chemistry (the ratio of the two is the CRUDSIM chemistry factor). Fig. 24 shows the correlation of observed SG channel head dose rates with CRUDSIM predicted relative activity and with CRUDSIM chemistry factor. The good correlation obtained in the latter case highlights the importance of coolant chemistry during the first cycle operation.

Polley [17] has considered data from nine Westinghouse plants in some detail to establish possible correlations between SG channel head dose rates and operating coolant chemistry. The fundamental coolant chemistry parameter was judged to be the pH at 300°C, based on arguments relating to the temperature coefficient of solubility of fuel crud. Three approaches to deriving correlations based on coolant chemistry history for individual plants were attempted. The three parameters, all based on expressions involving coolant pH, were



 Δt_i : the time spent at a coolant pH_T below a nominal value pH_T at which the temperature coefficient of (iron) solubility is zero.



FIG 22 Channel head exposure rate versus quality factor for 13 Westinghouse reactors after one cycle of operation [8]

TABLE 9	CRUDSIM	CHEMISTRY	FACTOR	VALUES AND	STEAM	GENERATOR
EXPOSUR	E RATES A	T THE END	OF THE F	IRST CYCLE		

Plant	Relative	Activity	Chemistry Factor	S/G Exposure Rate (R/hr)	
	Actual Chemistry	Coordinated Chemistry	(ratio actual to coordinated)		
R	418	269	1 55	16	
C	446	295	1 51	12 4*	
l s	329	315	1 03	7	
T	309	281	1 10	10	
U	159	163	0 98	6 9*	
Р	315	290	1 09	7	
v	356	365	0 98	6	
lu	188	219	0 86	39	
C	444	376	1 18	5	
x	228	255	0 89	9	
Y	275	278	0 99	55	
1	1 1				

* Exposure rate adjusted for decay based on actual gamma spectroscopy measurements



It should be noted that the pH (300°C) values used in Polley's work are based on the Mesmer, Baes and Sweeton [63] K_w correlation; we will use the Marshall and Franck correlation here. Two values for pH_T were tried; 6.7 and 6.9., 6.7 had the merit that there was a reasonable certainty, from available solubility data, that precipitation would be favoured for pH_T values below it; 6.9 was of interest since it is approximately the value recommended for plant operation by Westinghouse.



FIG 23 Change of channel head exposure rate (cycle 2-cycle 1) versus change in quality factor for 7 Westinghouse reactors [8]



FIG. 24. Relationship between CRUDSIM chemistry factor and steam generator exposure rates at end of first cycle (redrawn from Ref. [21]).

It is clear that P is a more sophisticated parameter than B, wince it takes into account the extent as well as the duration of any negative excursions in pH, while both parameters rely on the assumption that positive deviations are not effective in modifying dose rates. pH_{300} on the other hand weighs positive and negative deviations equally. All three parameters showed correlations with SG channel head dose rates (Table 10). A typical example is given in Figure 25. For the cycle 1 data and cycle 2 minus cycle 1 data. All the correlations were found to lie between the classifications 'significant' and 'probably significant' (Table 10). Correlations for longer term data were found to be weaker, possibly because of the effects ci refuelling and long 60_{C0} half life. Although Polley suggests the results be treated with some caution because of the relatively small data base, his work clearly indicates that operation at low pH_T is to be avoided.

On the basis of data from operating American PWRs, other worldwide reactor experience, and laboratory and loop studies EPRI have formulated guidelines for coolant chemistry conditions during normal operation [80]. Their present recommendation is based on Figure 26, in which three regions on the plot of lithium concentration against boron concentration are defined. Region A, corresponding to low pH, is to be strenuously avoided. Region B, 'coordinated' lithium-boron, constant pH (ca. 6.9) is the preferred approach but plant experience suggests that operation in Region C ('elevated lithium') is an acceptable way to manage lithium and boron.

An example of good experience from operation in region 'C' is provided by the Combustion Engineering Calvert Cliffs plant, described by Barshey et al [84]. The Combustion Engineering lithium specification is 1.0-2.0 ppm and thus differs from the Westinghouse coordinated chemistry specification. Some C-E plants have adhered rigidly to the 1.0-2.0 ppm specifications, others have



FIG. 25. Dose rate versus average pH value, pH (300°C), cycle 1 (Note: pH (300°C) based on MF K_w [17].



FIG. 26. Various lithium-boron modes of operation identified in EPRI primary water chemistry guidelines [80].

Cycle	e No	Type of	PH ₇	Number of		Slope ^a	Correlation	Probability		
For Chemistry Data	For Dose Rate Data	Chemistry Parameter	Chemistry Parameter	Chemistry Parameter	Value	Stations Correlated	Intercept ^a (R h ¹)	(R h ['] per) Unit Chemistry Parameter)	Coefficient	of Positive Correlation (%)
1	1	P P XP <u>XP</u> PH ₃₀₀	66 68 66 68	8 8 8 8 8	$\begin{array}{c} 3 8 \pm 2 & 6 \\ 0 & 7 \pm 4 & 4 \\ 1 & 2 \pm 4 & 7 \\ 7 & \pm & 11 \\ 230 & \pm & 50 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	0 77 0 77 0 73 0 72 0 86	99 99 98 98 98 99 7		
2 minus l	2 minus 1	P P XP <u>XP</u> PH _{\$00}	66 68 66 68	8 8 8 8	$1 4 \pm 1 61 9 \pm 1 82 1 \pm 1 92 7 \pm 2 52 4 \pm 2 1$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0 78 0 75 0 72 0 63 -0 70	99 98 97 95 98		
Mean over 1,2,3	Mean over 1,2,3	P P XP <u>XP</u> PH ₃₀₀	66 68 66 68	6 6 6 6	$\begin{array}{c} 6 & 8 \pm 3 & 6 \\ 6 & 4 \pm 3 & 9 \\ 6 & 8 \pm 4 & 0 \\ 5 & 3 \pm 5 & 2 \\ 80 \pm 110 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0 53 0 56 0 49 0 59 0 57	86 87 84 89 89		
Mean over 1,2,3,4 5	Mean over 4 5,6 ^b	P P XP <u>XP</u> P ^H 300	66 68 66 68	6 6 6 6 6	$\begin{array}{c} 4 & 6 & \pm & 6 & 7 \\ 4 & 9 & \pm & 9 & 3 \\ 5 & 3 & \pm & 9 & 1 \\ & 7 & \pm & 16 \\ 150 & \pm & 370 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	0 69 0 54 0 52 0 22 0 36	93 86 86 66 76		

TABLE 10 RESULTS OF CORRELATIONS BEFWFFN COOLANT CHEMISTRY (pHr) AND SGU DOSE RATES

a ± values are 90% confidence values

^b Some plants did not measure dose rates after all three cycles

pH_T based on MBS K_w correlation

followed a coordinated chemistry regime and some have followed a hybrid of the two schemes (staying above the coordinated chemistry lower limit curve and below an upper limit of 2.2 ppm) corresponding to operation in Region 'C' of the EPRI Guidelines diagram (Figure 26). The Calvert Cliffs reactors have followed this last approach and have channel head dose rates in the range 4-6 Rh^{-1} after 6 and 7 cycles of operation.

3.3.6.2. European experience

In general, ORE figures on EdF plant have been good, as shown by Figure 6. It should be noted that the anticipated accumulated annual average for total dose received by operating personnel is 2.85 man Sv [2].

Menet et al [88] have summarised EdF data on operational chemistry. The EdF specification for lithium-boron coordination is shown in Figure 27. It can

been seen that it involves coordination at a pH of 6.9-7.0 until close to the end of the cycle when a sharp rise to a pH of 7.4 occurs (pH values based on MF K_w).

EdF use an 'activity index' to quantify the extent of build-up of out-of-core radiation fields. The value of this index is the arithmetic mean of the radiation fields measured at a number of specified locations. Attempts have been made to correlate the values observed for this index on a number of plants with the coolant chemistry history of those plants. The correlations are made against a parameter representing the deviations in actual pH from the specified optimum pH; the approach bears some resemblance to that adopted by Polley described above. The strongest correlations are obtained for first cycle data against acidic pH deviations.

Menet concludes that acidic deviations are clearly unfavourable, but that no conclusion about the optimum operation pH can be drawn and that there is no

ß



FIG 27 EdF lithium-boron co ordinated chemistry and calculated pH (300°C) (Note pH (300°C) values calculated using MF K_w) (redrawn from Ref [2])

evidence of a specific influence of the chemistry quality at the end of the cycle (boron concentrations less that 270 ppm). He also finds no significant correlation between coolant chemistry and activity index for fuel cycles beyond the first. He cites two points to be considered:

- 1. After the first fuel cycle all EdF units have a good and similar chemistry quality.
- 2. 'Memory Effects' of chemistry and activities from one cycle to the next have not been computed.

Menet stresses that good chemistry control is important; a control band of 0.08 pH units is adopted by EdF.

Further information is given in the paper entitled "Observations on recent application of high coolant pH in French PWRs and optimization of chemistry during shutdown" by P. Beslu to show that operation, of 6 EdF plants at a pH of 7.2 has led to a stabilisation or even a reduction in out-of- core dose rates.

Radiation field build-up and its relationship to primary coolant chemistry control has been followed in some detail on the three Ringhals PWR stations (reactors 2 - 4) with particular emphasis on Ringhals 4. This work has been reviewed by Gott et al [52]. The variation of SG channel head dose rate with time at which high 'constant pH' chemistry was introduced is shown in Figure 28. The coolant chemistry regimes for the three reactors between 1983 and 1986 are shown in Figure 29. The specified coolant chemistry for the Ringhals reactors was increased to 3.5 ppm Li at start of cycle, maintained at this value until the gradual decrease in boron concentration lead to a pH ($300^{\circ}C$) of 7.4. thereafter Li and B were coordinated to give a constant pH of 7.4 until the end of the cycle. The restriction of the Li level to 3.5 ppm reflects concern about enhanced Zircaloy corrosion. So far no detrimental effects have been observed; the maximum oxide thickness measured on clad has been 40 µm for fuel with a burn-up cf 32 MWD/kgU, but it was not known to what extent, if any, this fuel operated with boiling heat transfer [86].

Ringhals 2 has operated for much longer than the other two reactors. Early operation at low pH led to heavy crud deposition during cycle 1; out-of-core radiation fields at this stage were ca 8 Rh^{-1} . The sudden increase in build-up of SG dose rates (at a rate apparently greater than the 60 Co decay rate). The reduction in dose rate appears to reflect both the move to high pH coolant chemistry and the removal of in-core cobalt sources.

Ringhals 3 and 4 have both been operated with relatively 'good' coolant chemistry from cycle 1, with the change to high pH chemistry taking place after 1.25 EFPY and 0.5 EFPY respectively. The behaviour of the two reactors is significantly different, with Ringhals 4 showing a particularly low build-up of out-of-core radiation fields. Detailed dose rate and gamma spectrometry measurements have been made on Ringhals 4 and to a lesser extent



FIG 28 Evolution of steam generator channel head dose rates in the Ringhals reactors (redrawn from Ref [52])



FIG 29 Recent coolant chemistry regimes for the Ringhals reactors (schematic) (redrawn from Ref [52]).

on the other reactors. Although a clear cut rationalisation of all these data is difficult, the differences in radiation field development between Ringhals 3 and 4 appear to be associated more with 60 Co than with 58 Co. Gott et al [52] suggest that this is likely to be due to high cobalt concentrations in constructional materials in Ringhals 3 and seem to suggest that the different levels in SG tubes (0.06% and 0.05% respectively) may be responsible.

The detailed control of coolant chemistry at Ringhals may also be significant in achieving the very good dose rate experience. Lithium concentrations are measured daily (compared with 3 times per week on many PWRs) and a very tight control band is achieved.

On balance, the Ringhals experience demonstrates the benefits of high pH coolant chemistry and tight chemistry control in restricting out-of-core radiation field levels; the Ringhals 4 experience is particularly encouraging. There is, however, a need to obtain information on oxide thickness measurement, particularly for the most highly rated fuel.

KWU, in collaboration with reactor operators, have considered in detail the comparative build-up of SG channel head dose rates in two reactors

3

(Goesgen-Daeniken in Switzerland and Neckarwestheim in Germany). This work has been described by Weitze et al [29] and Greger et al [87] and has been discussed with reference to in-core cobalt sources in Section 2.2. Both reactors are 3 loop plants with similar power outputs but Neckarwestheim showed dose rates about half those experienced at Goesgen. The SG channel head dose rates (hot leg side) are shown in Figure 30. The Goesgen dose rates are quite high compared with recent world experience (about 22 Rh^{-1} after 4 years of operation and extrapolated to rise to 50 Rh^{-1} within 15 years if no ameliorating action is taken).

In order to rationalise the observed dose rates, 60Co to 58Co ratios were measured as a function of the fuel charge by a wet sipping technique applied to the fuel elements after discharge. The important conclusion from this work was that some fuel could be associated with high levels of cobalt contamination in the fuel element grid material (Inconel 718). The data were used to define a 'Fuel Element Influence Factor' (FEI) for each cycle of operation at each plant. FEIs were, in general, much larger for Goesgen than for Neckarwestheim. Although a correlation of observed dose rates with FEI could be discerned, the correlations showed some anomalies. Very much better correlations were achieved when coolant chemistry histories for the two plants
were taken into account. The coolant chemistries were examined to derive a 'potential crud mobility' term for each cycle, based on the Kunig and Sandler nickel ferrite solubility data [88] and the temperatures around the primary circuit. These results were corroborated by examining other PWRs also. Approximately 45 cycles of 10 PWRs have been examined for correlation between potential crud mobility and radiation field build-up. The results confirm that the higher the chemistry influence factor to crud mobility the faster the build-up of dose rate.

As far as coolant chemistry control is concerned, the authors draw the conclusion that this is a very important parameter in determining radiation field build-up; Riess [62] on the basis of this work and other worldwide experience has advocated a coolant chemistry control strategy similar to that currently adopted by Ringhals: operate at the highest constant lithium level compatible with avoiding enhanced Zircaloy corrosion until reaching a pH $(300^{\circ}C)$ of ca. 7.4 then follow lithium-boron coordination at that pH. The conclusion with regard to contaminated grid material is also clear and has been made in 3.2.2: there are severe penalties on out-of-core dose rates from operating with cobalt-contaminated grids.

For several years a collaborative programme of measurement of coolant corrosion product burdens and activities has been undertaken by the United



FIG. 30. Dose rate buildup in the SG primary channel head at the divider plate, hot leg side for the Geosgen and Neckarwestheim plants (redrawn from Bef. [87]).

TABLE 11. CHANNEL HEAD DOSE RATES FOR DOEL 3 AND 4

	Dose Rate (R.hi ⁻¹)*					
Year	Doe	1 3	Doel 4			
	Cold leg	Hot leg	Cold leg	Hot leg		
1983 1984 1985 1986 1987	6.7 8.0 7.6 6.8 7.0	7.5 10.0 7.6 8.8 9.0	- 3.2 3.7	- - 4.2 4.5		

*Corresponding levels for Doel 1 and 2 are 8-15 R.hr⁻¹ but the data are not reliable,

Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority and Laborelec on the Doel and Tihange reactors. These measurements have employed isokinetic sampling lines (introduced into the existing sample lines and not into the primary circuit), and a large body of data accumulated.

Doel 1 and 2 adopted the Westinghouse coordinated chemistry regime in the late 1970s and SG channel head dose-rates have been reported between 10 and 15 $\rm Rh^{-1}$. Doel 3 adopted the coordinated chemistry regime in its first cycle but was late in establishing the initial lithium concentration, the highest lithium level recorded being 1.7 ppm. At Doel 4 during the first cycle the lithium levels were above the Westinghouse coordination envelope throughout the cycle, being established very early at 2.5 ppm and in general maintaining values between 1.5 and 2.0 ppm until late in the cycle (<200 ppm boron) [89]. The dose rates at Doel 3 and 4 (Table 11) are lower than those for Doel 1 and 2, and it is noticeable that the dose rates for Doel 4 are very low and did not increase significantly from cycle 1 to cycle 2.

3.3.6.3. Japanese and Korean experience

The dose rate build-up and ORE experienced on Japanese plant has been quite good compared with general world experience (Figure 6). As with other operators, the Japanese consider pH control to be the overriding issue for operational coolant chemistry. Again the control philosophy is based on the spinel solubility model and, recognising the fact that the relevant solid phase is a nickel ferrite, measurements of corrosion product solubility have been made using the hot and cold leg sample lines of the primary circuit of the Tsuruga-2 plant [90]. Minimum iron and nickel solubility were found between pH 7.0 and 7.5 at 285° C. Plans for laboratory experiments to measure the temperature coefficient of corrosion product solubility have been reported by Kasahara et at [91].

Yamada and Ojima [92] have reported the results of a back to back plant comparison exercise covering the first four cycles of operation of two similar PWR plants. One plant operated with steadily improving pH control over the four cycles starting off with <50% time averaged operation in the range 6.8<pH(7.1 and ending up with >90% operation in that range while the second plant had relatively poor chemistry control throughout. Introducing this improved chemistry control resulted in a decrease in the surface concentration of fuel deposits. Plant (steam generator channel head) radiation fields in the two plants were virtually identical at the end of the first cycle (around 5 Rh^{-1}) but at the end of the fourth cycle the radiation field of the well controlled plant was 85% of that of the plant which had not introduced good control.

Lee [93] has described the chemistry surveillance program operating during commissioning of Korean PWRs. He advocates a minimum passivation time of 300 hours at 160° C in deoxygenated (by degassing and hydrazine addition) water containing 0.7 to 2.2 ppm Li. Korean PWRS operate with a conventional Westinghouse coordinated chemistry.

3.3.6.4. Experience with Soviet-designed VVER stations

The coolant chemistry regime adopted on VVER stations is significantly different from that adopted for Western designed PWRs: although boric acid is employed as a chemical shim for core reactivity control, potassium rather than lithium is used as the pH raising agent and ammonia (which generates hydrogen through radiolysis in the core) rather than direct hydrogen injection is used to suppress the radiolytic formation of oxidising species. However, when evaluating dose- rate build-up experience it must be borne in mind that there are a number of very significant design and operation differences which may be more crucial than the coolant chemistry in determining behaviour: VVERs have horizontally configured, stainless steel tubed steam generators, are operated at lower temperature and at lower rating than Western PWRs and, probably most significant, avoid the use of cobalt-based hard facing alloys.

VVERs for which information is most readily available are the Loviisa reactors in Finland, the Paks Nuclear Power Plant in Hungary and Czechoslovakian PWRs. In general, ORE has been relatively low in these plants, with the dose rate experienced being less influenced by 60 Co than by other nuclides, using $110m_{Ag}$ [94] and 124 Sb, than in Western PWRs. The strategy for coolant chemistry control at the Loviisa VVER-440 has been outlined by Järnström [35]. The control of potassium dosing is complicated by the production of lithium associated with the burn-out of 10 B and by the presence of ammonia (which affects the potassium level through its influence on the cation exchange bed); nevertheless, tight control of coolant chemistry can be fairly readily achieved. The specification for total equivalent potassium concentration in the VVER-440 (based on potassium, lithium and sodium concentrations) is related to the boric acid concentration and is given by the expression:

$$[K_{tot}^{\dagger}](ppm) = 4 + \frac{4}{3}$$
 $[H_3BO_3](gkg^{-1}) \pm 2$

In terms of primary coolant pH this is quite similar to a lithium-boron coordinated chemistry with lithium in the range 0.7-2.3 ppm.

ŝ

A detailed evaluation of the resulting pH is given in the paper entitled "Method for pH calculation" by E.W. Thornton. Also included in a pH evaluation for the VVER 1000 reactor type which has a different specification for K^+ .

In general, deposited activities and the resulting dose rates are lower in VVER reactors than in most other PWRs (Fig. 31). Since cobalt hard facings are absent, the residual impurities in the alloys of construction determines the 60 Co generation. The effect can be clearly seen in Fig. 32 which compares dose rates in steam generators of Russian and Czechoslavakian manufacture respectively. The differences are artributed to the different impurity levels, those of Czechoslovakian manufacture having very low levels indeed (about 0.02%) compared to the specification of 0.05%). Very high 58 Co/ 60 Co ratios in Czechoslovakian stations with Czechoslovakian steam generators testify to the importance of 58 Co as the main cause of dose rate in these plants (Fig. 33). The relatively short half life (71d) of 58 Co means that generation and transport in the latter part of the fuel cycle largely determines the dose rates at the main outage. The control strategy for pH is therefore based on the requirement to minimise 58 Co production.



FIG. 31. Buildup of steam generator channel head dose rates.



FIG. 32. Steam generator channel head dose rates — buildup in VVER 440 with steam generators manufactured in the USSR and Czechoslovakia.

Plant measurements (Fig. 34) show that an average pH_{300} of about 7.2 minimises dose rates. Since this value is required in approximately the last one third of the fuel cycle, a period corresponding to low concentrations of boric acid, alkali metal concentrations are at levels low enough not to cause concern about the integrity of fuel cladding or steam generation tubing.

110mAg is often a characteristic of the nuclides generated in VVER reactors. Its contribution (in Gzechoslovakian PWRs) is less than 10% of the total dose rate but it is colloidal in nature, not readily ion exchangeable or filterable and the principal hazard is from airborne contamination although in practice, dose from internal contamination are less than 1% of total doses. Stainless steel is a source of the parent silver but also boric acid and ammonia.

Further recent evidence from the USSR (paper entitled "USSR experience in decontamination and water chemistry of VVER type nuclear reactors" by V.I. Pashevich) provides confirmation of the continuing advantages of the



FIG. 33. 58Co-60Co surface activity ratio.

hydrazine regime. Fig. 35 shows the dose rate situation in the Kolskava unit 3 steam generators. Dose rate measurements are shown for 4 successive years of this unit which started its commercial operation with the hydrazine regime. Maximum dose rate does not exceed 1 r h⁻¹. The relation of dose rates in this plant with those of two others is shown in Fig. 36. The Novovoronejskaya plants have never operated the hydrazine regime while the Rovenskaya plant changed to hydrazine after an initial period of ammonia operation. Dose rates from the Novovoronejskaya plants continue to increase while those from the Rovenskaya plant dropped dramatically after hydrazine introduction showing not only a reduction in activity generation but a positive decontamination of long lived nuclides from out of core surfaces. Fig. 37 shows the distribution of dose rate in the Revenskaya steam generator clearly showing the reduction of activity over much of the steam generator collector chamber. In general, the ammonia regime has given rise to dose rates in the collectors of 4-8r h⁻¹ for VVER 440 reactors and 3-10r h⁻¹ for the VVER 1000 type. The hydrazine regime results in a range from 0.2-1.25 rh^{-1} .



FIG. 34. Influence of pH (300°C) during last three months of a fuel cycle (cycles 1–5) on SG dose rates for VVER 440 plants (6 units) with steam generators manufactured in Czechoslovakia (redrawn from Ref. [106].

The explanation offered in the paper entitled "USSR experience in decontamination and water chemistry of VVER type nuclear reactors" by V.I. Pashevich is as follows:

The principal oxide on alloy surfaces is $FeC_{\Gamma}O_4$, nickel exists mainly in the metallic state since the redox potential of Ni/Ni²⁺ is low enough in 'standard' chemistry. Under these conditions nickel ions are not produced in quantity and play little part in corrosion product transport or activation. When redox potential is lowered further by addition of hydrazine, cobalt is also predominantly in metallic form and virtually immobilised. Transport to core regions is much reduced and subsequent activation much lower.

This simple explanation may not be sufficient in itself since one of the observations on addition of hydrazine was a decontamination of surfaces, that



FIG. 35. Dose rates in Kolskaya unit 3 steam generator, 1984–1987 (source: V.I. Pashevich, "USSR experience in decontamination and water chemistry of VVER type nuclear reactors" (these proceedings)).



FIG. 36. Effect of hydrazine on dose rates in the steam generators of VVER type reactors (source: VI Pashevich, "USSR experience in decontamination and water chemistry of VVER type nuclear reactors" (these proceedings))

is, a mobilisation of cobalt ions which are subsequently removed in the cleanup circuit. Furthermore, nickel is still mobile, presumably as ion, since 58 Co is still produced in large quantities in 'standard' chemistry.Nevertheless, while the detailed chemistry is not yet clear, the results are very encouraging and extension to other types of PWR could be profitably investigated.

4



FIG 37. Dose rates as a function of time in the Rovenskaya nuclear power station (source VI Pashevich, "USSR experience in decontamination and water chemistry of VVER type nuclear reactors" (these proceedings))

Some preliminary work on hydrazine chemistry was commenced outside the USSR in Germany [104] at the Rheinsberg VVER. An initial trial over a period one month before shutdown established the feasibility of hydrazine dosing. As subsequent trial over a complete cycle showed the following: (Table 13)

- 1. Circulating activity was reduced in the hydrazine regime.
- 2. dose rates were marginally reduced.
- 3. loose contamination was reduced
- 4. corrosion and corrosion release had reduced.

While the experiments are incomplete due to the closure of the Rheinsberg reactor the observations in the USSR are qualitatively supported.

The deposition of activity and the corrosion of metals in the primary circuit of some Soviet VVERs are claimed to have been substantially reduced by the continuous dosing of hydrazine instead of ammonia into the circuit [39][95]. A permanent reduction in does rates and in the quantity of activity produced in normal transients has resulted.

3.3.6.5. Experience with CANDU reactors

Although different in many respects from conventional PWRs, some observations from operating CANDU plant are relevant to the present discussion. Radiation fields around CANDUs are, in general, low and strongly dominated by 60 Co (with little contribution from 58 Co) [96]. Although direct comparison with conventional PWRs is difficult because of the different plant configurations,

TABLE 12 LITHIUM LEVELS REQUIRED TO ACHIEVE CERTAIN pH VALUES FOR DIFFERENT BORIC ACID CONCENTRATIONS

рН	Lithium Concent a Boron Concent 1200	ration (ppm) for ration (ppm) of 1800
69	2 0	3 2
70	2 5	4.0
74	6 0	10

TABLE 13. CHANGE IN CORROSION PRODUCT BEHAVIOUR AFTER THE APPLICATION OF HYDRAZINE FOR ONE CYCLE IN THE RHEINSBERG VVER [104]

	Standard ammonia chemistry	Hydrazine chemistry
Circulating ⁵⁸ Co, ⁶⁰ Co, ⁵⁴ Mn 59 _{Fe}	1	0.75-0.9
Corrosion release	1	0.9
Total surface oxide	1	0.9
Corrosion rate	1	09
⁶⁰ co/Fe	1	0 6-0.8
Optical impression	dull black	bright black
Loose contamination	high	low

CANDUS do not use boric acid dosing of the coolant, thus simplifying chemistry control. With modest dosing levels of lithium (up to 2 ppm), pH 300° C is maintained in the range 7.4-7.8.

The deposition of crud on CANDU fuel is extremely low [97], reflecting the high pH (positive temperature coefficient of solubility) coolant regime; this is probably a major factor contributing to the low radiation fields experienced around CANDU plant.

3.3.7. Possible approaches to elevated pH operation

The solubility data on nickel ferrite, loop studies and the worldwide operating experience reviewed in the previous sections indicate that operation at a coolant pH $(300^{\circ}C)$ of 7.4 is desirable. As more plants move towards higher lithium operation, it may be anticipated that the benefits on out-of core radiation fields will become clearly established.

To achieve a high pH at the beginning of a cycle requires a lithium level well in excess of the current maximum allowed by most fuel vendors. The problem would become more severe for an extended fuel cycle if the approach to reactivity control were to increase start of cycle boron level to 1800 ppm. The lithium levels required to achieve a given pH $(300^{\circ}C)$ for different boron levels are summarised in Table 12.

The major concern over high lithium levels is that Zircaloy corrosion may be enhanced to an unacceptable degree. This problem has been considered in 2.3.2., where it was noted that French data indicated particular problems when high lithium conditions and significant voidage in the coolant occurred simultaneously.

The lithium levels required for high pH operation are a direct consequence of the high boric acid levels which need to be used for core reactivity control. Reactivity control exploits the 10B (n, α) reaction. Since 10B is only about 20% abundant in natural boron, the use of born enriched in 10B is an approach to reducing the required boric acid concentration in the primary coolant. In principle, a factor of 5 reduction is possible: this would eliminate the need for lithium levels above about 3 ppm, even for extended cycle operation. Purely from the point of view of corrosion product activity transport control, this is a highly desirable approach. However, there is obviously a significant cost penalty (efficient boron recovery would be essential) and logistical problems - to eliminate any possibility of using boric acid of the wrong isotopic composition it is likely that all systems on the plant containing boric acid would need to use enriched material. An initial appraisal of the use of 10B has been reported by Roesmer [98].

A second approach to reducing the boric acid required in the coolant would be to use burnable poisons either in the fuel itself or in separate inserts (as in the first cycle). It is recognised that this involves issues of reactivity control, particularly in terms of hot to cold reactivity changes, but again this approach is worth evaluating.

A third approach to achieving high coolant pH is to use KOH as the pH raising agent. Potassium is known to be less aggressive in enhancing the early stages of Zircaloy corrosion [59] and thus, in principle, operation at the required pH through potassium dosing should not pose too many difficulties. However, the longer term enhancement of Zircaloy corrosion by potassium hydroxide requires examination. Solomon (1984) has suggested that under these circumstances the lithium generated through the $10B(n, \alpha)$ reaction would need to be continuously removed in order to insure against lithium induced enhanced corrosion. It is not clear whether this is true: there has been no work on Zircaloy corrosion enhancement in mixed alkalis. Solomon [99] has also suggested that potassium would be more aggressive than lithium in inducing crevice corrosion in core structural materials. These points need

4

careful consideration before operation with potassium dosing to achieve high coolant pH could be recommended. In addition any radiological hazard deriving from the generation of 40 K would need to be assessed.

3.3.8. Coolant chemistry and load following operation.

It is important to recognise that there are coolant chemistry control implications should it be decided that load following operation is required.

Until quite recently it has been general policy worldwide to use nuclear power plant for base load operation whenever possible, for obvious economic reasons. Experience with PWR load following operation is thus limited. However, since 1984 French PWRs have been used increasingly for load-follow operation. This experience has been reviewed by Bertron [100].

Various different requirements are covered by the general term 'load-follow', including, for example, diurnal load following (response to the daily cyclical variations in demand placed on the grid) and participation in the 'spinning reserve'. The different requirements lead to different demands on the reactor power control system (eg, depth of power modulation, rate of change of power). These demands may be met by a combination of control rod movements and variation in reactor coolant boron concentration; the details are complicated by the need to take account of the effect of xenon variation on core reactivity. EdF have modified their reactors for 'gray mode' operation using special, less absorbent (gray) control rod assemblies to expedite control.

The main issue for coolant chemistry control relates to the variations in boric acid concentration which may be required. It should be pointed out that the absence of a Boron Thermal Regeneration System makes the problem of boron variation more difficult and generally reduces the operational flexibility of the plant. Variation in the RCS boric acid concentration is effected using the Boron Control System. The RCS boron concentration is changed by modulating relevant valves in the BRS-CVCS to inject either boric acid solution (7000 ppm B) or water (B <10 ppm) depending on whether a boration or dilution effect is required. In the absence of an accompanying injection of lithium hydroxide, both these operations will inevitably lead to a decrease in reactor coolant pH which is undesirable from the activity transport point of view.

The extent of such negative pH deviations will be determined by the extent of boration or dilution required. This change implies a need for regular (at least daily) corrections to be made to the RCS lithium concentration. Ideally the boration and dilution operations would be performed with solutions containing the appropriate level of lithium hydroxide; this approach has been adopted on some French reactions (Menet et al.) [85].

Control of reactivity by 'gray' control rod operation offers the advantage that boration and dilution can be avoided or minimised, and the consequent difficulty in maintaining constant pH does not arise. However, control rod movements are likely to lead to the release of particulate corrosion products to the coolant, particularly from wear of latch tips; this release is undesirable. Nevertheless, since the method involves control rod movements as In summary, there is little evidence from operating plant on the impact load following has on the build-up of out-of-core radiation fields. World experience in this area should be carefully monitored, with p_{d} rticular attention being paid to French plant. In order to keep negative pH deviations to a minimum any load following operations will require a detailed lithium surveillance and correction programme.

3.3.9. <u>Summary</u>

The present philosophy of coolant chemistry control, which underlies the various coordinated chemistry regimes, is based on a model of in-core corrosion product deposition in which deposition is favoured when the solubility of iron in the boundary layer near the surface is lower than that in the bulk coolant. For the fuel pin surfaces this will be the case when the temperature coefficient of solubility is negative. The original Westinghouse coordinated chemistry regime was based on solubility data for magnetite; data for nickel-iron spinel sugge's that the appropriate pH (and lithium concentration) to ensure that the temperature coefficient is not negative may be underestimated, and coordination at a higher pH would be desirable.

There are abundant reactor and experimental data which demonstrate that operation at pH values below that of the Westinghous coordinated regime leads to increased in-core deposition and increased out-of-core radiation fields during shut-down periods. The Westinghouse coordination regime defines the minimum acceptable operational band. Experimental data and limited plant data suggest that an optimum pH would be 7.4 (MF K_w); further plant data are accumulating and require continuous monitoring to confirm this view.

There is evidence of enhanced Zircaloy corrosion at higher lithium concentrations under nucleate boiling conditions with some degree of voldage, and there is uncertainty on the susceptibility of Inconel to stress corrosion cracking in high lithium concentrations. Reactor trials and loop experiments with increased lithium levels are in progress. These may well serve to validate an increase in the permitted lithium level; indeed Ringhals has operated with up to 3.5 ppm Li without any apparent adverse effect.

Under these circumstances the best operating regime would appear to be that which adopts the highest substantiated lithium level until the reduction in boron concentration leads to a pH of 7.4, followed by coordination at this pH. pH values below 6.9 are to be strenuously avoided. It is also desirable that fluctuations in pH should be minimised.

The limitations posed by restriction of lithium concentration could be avoided by the use of boron enriched in ${}^{10}\text{B}$ or by the use of burnable poisons. One or other of these approaches would appear to be necessary if extended fuel cycle operation with more highly enriched fuel is to be undertaken. Load following requires movements of control rods or changes in boric acid concentration or both. In particular diurnal load following would involve cyclic variation of the boric acid concentration unless 'gray' control rods were to be employed. While any control rod movements can lead to the input of particulate material, cyclic variations of boric acid level impose severe problems of lithium control, and introduction of lithium hydroxide into the make-up water and the boric acid solution would be necessary.

The other important coolant chemistry parameter which can be varied is the hydrogen concentration. The present specification is widely agreed, but in view of some concerns with regard to the effect of hydrogen on cracking of steam generator tubes, operation at the lower end of the permitted band seems advisable.

It is important that the levels of dissolved and particulate corrosion product species in the coolant should be monitored, and in particular there is a need for information on the contribution made by the CVCS and auxiliary systems.

4. OVERALL SUMMARY - PWR

4.1. Materials Choice

The order of priorities for action relating to materials choice for minimising cobalt input to the primary circuit and therefore minimisation of radiation fields are as follows:

1. Ensure absolute minimum cobalt content for all in-core materials.

Replacement of Nickel plated inconel support grids by Zircaloy would be an effective way of doing so in the case of fuel grids. In addition to the obvious benefit of reducing direct release of 60Co, replacing Inconel 718 grids with Zircaloy ones might reduce activation of cobalt from out-of-core sources by reducing the amount retained in in-core corrosion films. If this replacement is not possible, then all materials associated with the grids, and in particular the nickel plating and brazes should have the minimum cobalt level achievable.

2. Reduce to a minimum the use of high cobalt alloys (Stellites) in all areas of the primary circuit and the auxiliary systems.

These two measures are by far the most important materials choice options for minimising 60 Co activity, given relatively low (<0.1%) cobalt concentrations in other primary circuit materials. However, the options indicated below may offer significant further benefit if the measures above are effectively implemented.

- 3. Ensure the smoothest possible surface finish for stainless steel components in the primary circuit to minimise the corrosion rates of these surfaces. This is also likely to offer further benefit in reducing out-of-core fields as a result of the reduced capacity of the corrosion film for active species.
- Reduce the residual cobalt content of stainless steel and Inconel surfaces in the primary circuit to a minimum. A specification of <0.05% is readily achieved and <0.02% can be achieved for steam generator tubing.

\$

- 5. Specify low cobalt material for the CVCS regenerative heat exchanger, and CVCS pipework and vessels handling concentrated boric acid solutions.
- 6. Consider the further treatment of CVCS make-up water to the primary circuit to remove influent corrosion products, particularly from the boric acid storage tank system. Simple low temperature cation exchange may be sufficient in the latter case.

Finally, it is most important that cobalt input to the primary circuit during commissioning and initial start-up is minimised, since its removal once it has entered the system is extremely difficult. All the measures indicated above could be negated if poor pre-operational practices lead to substantial input of cobalt (as little as about 20 grams in total). The clean-up of circuits and pre-operational fluids before normal operation is therefore essential.

4.2. <u>Coolant Chemistry</u>

£

The philosophy of coolant chemistry control, which underlies the various coordinated chemistry regimes, is based on a model of in-core corrosion product deposition in which deposition is favoured when the solubility of iron in the boundary layer near the surface is lower than that in the bulk coolant. For fuel pin surfaces this will be the case when the temperature coefficient of solubility is negative.

- 1. The Westinghouse coordinated chemistry regime was based on solubility data for magnetite. Data for nickel-iron spinel suggest that the pH required to ensure that the temperature coefficient of solubility is not negative based on magnetite data may be underestimated, and coordination at a higher pH would be desirable.
- 2. There are abundant reactor and experimental data which demonstrate that operation at pH values below that of the Westinghouse coordinated regime leads to increased in- core deposition and increased out-of-core radiation fields during shut-down periods. The Westinghouse coordination regime defines the minimum acceptable operational band.
- 3. Experimental data and limited plant data suggest that an optimum pH would be 7.4 (MF K_w); further plant data are accumulating and require continuous monitoring to confirm this view.
- 4. There is evidence of enhanced Zircaloy corrosion at higher lithium concentrations under nucleate boiling conditions with some degree of voidage, and there is uncertainty on the susceptibility of Inconel to stress corrosion cracking in high lithium concentrations. Reactor trials and loop experiments with increased lithium levels are in progress. These may well serve to validate an increase in the permitted lithium level; indeed Ringhals is operating with up to 3.5 ppm Li without any apparent adverse effect.

Under these circumstances the best operating regime would appear to be that which adopts the highest substantiated lithium level until the reduction in boron concentration leads to a pH of 7.4, followed by coordination at this pH. pH values below 6.9 are to be strenuously avoided. It is also desirable that fluctuations in pH should be minimised.

- 5. The limitations posed by restriction of lithium concentration could be avoided by the use of boron enriched in 10 B or by the use of burnable poisons. One or other of these approaches would appear to be necessary if extended fuel cycle operation with more highly enriched fuel is to be undertaken.
- 6. Load following requires movements of control rods or changes in boric acid concentration or both. In particular diurnal load following would involve cyclic variation of the boric acid concentration unless 'gray' control rods were to be employed. While any control rod movements can be lead to the input of particulate material, cyclic variations of boric acid level impose severe problems of lithium control, and introduction of lithium hydroxide into the make-up water and the boric acid solution would be necessary.
- 7. The only other important coolant chemistry parameter which can be varied is the hydrogen on cracking of steam generator tubes, operation at the lower end of the permitted band seems advisable.
- 8. It is important that the levels of dissolved and particulate corrosion product species in the coolant should be monitored, and in particular there is a need for information on the contribution made by the CVCS and auxiliary systems.

5. OVERALL SUMMARY OF POSITION FOR BWRs

This section is almost entirely a summary of the information presented in the papers entitled "Corrosion products, activity transport and deposition in boiling water reactor recirculation systems" by H.P. Alder, D. Buckley, G. Grauer, K.H. Wiedemann and "Review of the state of the art", May 1990 by H.P. Alder. 58Co and 60Co constitute 80-90% of dose rate and dose rate reduction measures will be primarily directed at these nuclides. 60Co is the more important.

5.1. Activity build up processes

Deposition onto fuel may be via colloidal sized and crud particles. The deposition is promoted by the heat flux and by bubble evaporation . Large particles in the range of 1 to 10 μ m adhere less well. Their residence time ranges from some days to weeks. Activity transport from the fuel element to the recirculation loops is carried out by large particles or in ionic form. It is not clear which process dominates. The oxide film on austenites have a limited capacity for cobalt adsorption at some concentration and incorporation of cobalt becomes proportional to the rate of oxide growth.

Cobalt is incorporated into the oxide lattice as it is produced and subsequent ion exchange processes play only a small part in activity uptake. Since While α -Fe₂O₃ is the major constituent of loose fuel crud, circulating particulate and loosely adherent deposited material in out-of-core regions, the cobalt content of fuel crud is significantly higher for reasons which are not understood.

5.2. <u>Water chemistry</u>

46

Correct control of water chemistry will limit damage to structural alloys but will also control the transport, activation and redeposition of activated corrosion products.

Considerable reductions in the amounts of corrosion products transferred to the recirculation system from the feedwater system can be achieved by addition of 20-60 ppb of oxygen to the feedwater before the condensate polishing plant. It is also essential to achieve very low conductivity in feed water. Conductivities close to that for pure water can be achieved - perhaps the most efficient method being deep bed demineralisation for good ion removal preceded by a powdered resin filter as a particulate filter. Ultimate conductivity will also depend on whether drains are pumped forward to a feedwater tank, so that more than one third of the recirculating medium is not purified by the condensate polishing system or CASCADED with full flow condensate polishing. By recycling feedwater drains, very low crud levels can be achieved (~ 1 ppb). The water quality in the recirculation system itself depends on the fraction treated in the clean-up loop. Plant designs can differ by an order of magnitude in this respect.

Experience in Japan and Sweden [110] has shown the Ni/Fe ratios in feedwater are important as well as absolute levels. Too low a ratio causes increases of activity generation, especially 58 Co. The production of less stable oxides on fuel is proposed as a reason. While absolute quantities of iron remain low, it has been deliberately added at some plants to optimise the Ni/Fe ratio. The Ni/Fe ratio should be below 0.5, a recommended value is 0.2.

In contrast to the need to add oxygen to feedwater to suppress corrosion in the feedtrain, experience has shown that in order to stop intergranular stress corrosion cracking in sensitised, stressed recirculation piping (austenitic), radiolytic oxygen must be suppressed by additions of hydrogen (so called hydrogen water chemistry, HWG). Ideally redox potential should be below -230 mV(SHE), corresponding to 2 ppb residual oxygen. In practice, reduction of oxygen to 20 ppb achieves significant improvement. Conductivity should be $< 0.2 \mu \text{S/cm}$. Crack growth is observed to cease on commencement of HWC. The wide variations in the amount of hydrogen to suppress oxygen in different plants is not understood. An adverse observation associated with HWC is an increase in N-16 volatility by conversion of dissolved nitrate to gaseous Ammonia and an increase in the turbine radiation field.

Besides the transition metals there are other impurities in water whose role in activity production is not understood. Two examples are silicate and organic carbon and these may be involved in complex formation. Older data from US reactors indicate 700 to 900 ppb dissolved organic carbon (DOC). Recent measurements in Swedish and Swiss reactors showed only a few prb during steady state operation. $\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!\!$

5.3. Crud characteristics

Both particulate and soluble concentrations increase considerably in transients, especially in cold shutdown. The proportions of corrosion products either in steady operation or in transients, that exist between particles, colloids and ions is unknown. It is common practice to simply refer to everything passing a 0.45 μ m filter as 'soluble' but this is an arbitrary definition.

Out-of-core oxides exist in two layers, one adherent to base metal and a loose overlay of particles. The latter is predominantly α -Fe₂O₃ while the former is a mixed spinel whose limiting formula may be

If the final spinel saturates with cobalt to the level shown then activity uptake will only increase on a surface if total oxide increases.

Circulating crud is predominantly \propto -Fe₂O₃ although it is noted that, in Swedish reactors, iron is only a relatively small fraction (.~20%) of total circulating transition metals. In feedwater in contrast, iron is predominant (50%) and \propto -Fe₂O₃ generated here may persist in the recirculation system. Some 10 kg per year may be transferred to the recirculation system.

Fuel crud may also be described in terms of loose and adherent. The mass and composition varies considerably from plant to plant. The thickest oxides occur where there is nucleate boiling.

Fuel crud residence times vary from relatively short periods to several hundred days. The reasons are not well understood. In general one may expect the release rates of active atoms to be relatively insensitive to residence time since low residence times infer high release rates of low specific activity material while long residence times conversely imply low release rates of high specific activity material. Since fuel is withdrawn after some 3 years very long residence times could be advantageous.

Fuel crud is predominantly \propto -Fe₂O₃ although it is important to note that in reality fuel crud is very inhomogeneous. The ⁶⁰Co activity is almost entirely associated with a very small number of particles rich in transition metals other than iron, possibly the particles tending to the spinel form. [110].

5.4. Cobalt sources

Cobalt levels in adherent oxides on out-of-core piping are higher than base metal and suggest an external source of cobalt. Stellite hard facing erosion

^{*} H. Loner, H.P. Alder, E. Schenker, B. Covelli "The Behaviour of Dissolved Organic Carbon in BWR's 59", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Fukui City, Japan, April 22 - 25, 1991

or corrosion is an obvious candidate. The effect of water chemistry on Stellite losses is not clear. Feedwater appears to be a minor contribution of cobalt most originally within the recirculation system.

5.5. Modelling of transport processes

Many attempts have been made to construct models with a predictive ability. They all remain semi- empirical due to a lack of fundamental understanding of the processes involved. It follows from this that their predictive abilities are at present questionable. Fundamental understanding is missing in the following areas:

- 1. deposition mechanisms on fuel
- 2. characteristics of ions, colloids and particles under operating conditions
- 3. amounts and form of cobalt releases from cobalt alloys and other surfaces
- 4. effect of radiation
- 5. influence of coolant chemistry including the influence of impurities.

5.6. Scope for control

Accumulation of data by EPRI from many different plants led to little increase in understanding of the underlying mechanisms of activity production and deposition but there is nevertheless much that can be done to reduce activity by exploitation of semi-empirical observations. No single method of dose rate reduction has proved to be sufficient on its own and several approaches are best tried simultaneously. However, areas for consideration can perhaps be divided for convenience into two:

- a) reduction of circulating activity
- b) control of deposition.

Reduction measures applied in practice, not necessarily all on the same plant, are as follows:

- 1. reduction of circulating activity
 - a) 02 injection into feedwater before condensate polishing plant
 - b) Use of optimum layup procedures and chemistries in plant commissioning and in cold shutdowns.
 - c) Select cobalt free hard facings, eg 440C wrought steel for flow control valves. Many other alternatives to Stellite are being proposed.

- d) Increase crud removal efficiency in recirculation system clean-up. High temperature filters are proposed to reduce power losses.
- e) Reduce impurity levels in feedwater by a powdered resin filter and a deep bed demineralizer with full flow condensate polishing.
- f) Select low corrosion materials in feedwater system; low cobalt austenites and in-core materials.
- g) Control Ni/Fe ratio such that spinel formation is encouraged rather than oxides of cobalt or nickel. The former are much less mobile than the latter.
- 2. Control of deposition

Activity deposition has been controlled by:

- a) Electropolishing and Prefilming (by steam/air, oxygen saturated water or alkaline treatment, incorporation of Al³⁺ ions), reduces the cobalt deposition. This technique has been widely applied to replacement recirculation sytem piping.
- b) Inhibition of deposition by $2n^{2+}$ addition to recirculation system water.
- 6. <u>CONCLUSIONS</u>
- 1. The interactions between coolant circuit materials and coolant chemistry which govern the production and movement of radioactivity are very complex and are not well understood. There is, however, a large body of experimental and theoretical work which suggests the ways in which activity production and deposition can be minimised.
- 2. Co⁶⁰ is identified as the principal contributor to high dose rates in PWR and BWR and its reduction depends on selecting materials of low cobalt impurity and avoiding cobalt hard facings. Experience suggests an order of priority for selection of materials of low cobalt content.
- 3. In PWR, chemistry control is aimed at establishing the pH at which the temperature coefficient of solubility of the iron spinel crud is a minimum at core inlet temperature and positive across the core so as to promote conditions for crud to dissolve in the core region. For most of the fuel cycle this pH is above the realisable with the maximum permitted concentration of alkali presently allowed by fuel vendors and results in various compromise pH regimes being employed by different Utilities. There is as yet no clear relationship between coolant chemistry and the resulting radiation dose rates but it is apparent that low pH operation should be avoided.

In BWR, chemistry control for restriction of radiation dose rates is aimed largely at reduction of oxygen in feed water to reduce corrosion and crud transport in the feed train and at establishing an optimum ratio of iron to nickel injected into the core region to minimise production of Co^{60} .

4

REFERENCES

- IAEA, 1987, 'Reactor Water Chemistry Relevant to Coolant- Cladding Interaction, IAEA-TECDOC-429, IAEA, Vienna.
- [2] Berthet, J.P., 1985, Report from EdF plants; Paper 20 presented at KWU Seminar on man-rem reduction, Darmstadt, April 1985.
- [3] Marshall, W.L. and Franck, E.U., 1981, Ion product of water substance, 0-1000°C, 1-10000 bars, new international formulation and its background; J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, 10, 295.
- [4] Rodliffe, R.S., Polley, M.V. and Thornton, E.W., 1987, Modelling the behaviour of corrosion products in the primary heat transfer circuits of pressurised water reactors - a review of principles; Appendix 1 in IAEA-TECDOC-429, IAEA, vienna.
- [5] Thornton, E.W. and Walker, S.M., 1987, Reanalysis of solubility data: results for nickel oxide and magnetite; CEGB Report TPRD/B/1011/R87.
- [6] Cobble, J.W., Murray, R.C., Turner, P.J. and Chen, K., 1982, High-temperature thermodynamic data for species in aqueous solution; EPRI NP-2400.
- [7] Kunig, R.H. and Sandler, Y.1., 1986, the soluility of simulated primary circuit corrosion products; EPRI Np-4248.
- [8] Bergmann, C.A., Durkosh, D.E., Lindsay, W.T. and Roesmer, J., 1985, The role of coolant chemistry in PWR radiation field buildup; EPRI NP-4247.
- [9] Ponting, A.C. and Rodliffe, R.S., 1983, Intrinsic filtration and retarded deposition for the control of colloidal corrosion product deposition on PWR fuel; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 3'; BNES, London, 1983, p43.
- [10] Smith-Magowan, D., 1985, The impact of colloidal chemistry on radioactivity transport in nuclear power plants; EPRI NP- 4032.
- Balakrishnan, P.V., 1977, A radiochemical technique for the study of dissolution of corrosion products in high-temperature water; Canad. J. Chem. Eng., 55, 357.
- [12] Thornton, E.W., 1988, Corrosion product solubility in PWR primary coolant; Proc 1988 JAIF Int. Conf. on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, p 750.
- [13] Lister, D.H., McAlpine, E., Tapping, R.L. and Hocking, W.H., 1986, corrosion product release in LWRs: 1984-1985 progress report; EPRI NP-4741.
- [14] Lister, D.H., Kushneriuk, S.A. and Campbell, R.H., 1983, The transport of radioactive corrosion products in high-temperature water - III. The interaction of dissolved cobalt with heated surfaces; Nucl. Sci. Technol., 85,.221.

- [15] Large, N.R., Woodwark, D.R., Kitt, G.P., Nichols, J.L., Flynn, G., Brown, J. and Haynes, J., 1986, Studies of activity transport in the DIDO water loop; BNES Conference on "Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 4", BNES, London, 1986, 1, p 153.
- [16] Camp. J.J., 1983, Study of cobalt release of Stellites into the primary water of pressurised water reactors. Test on the BECO loop; EdF Report HT/PV D 549 MAT/T 42.
- [17] Polley, M.V., 1985, A correlation between operation of primary coolants at low p^h with steam generator channel head dose rates in Westinghouse pressurised water reactors; Nuclear Technology, 71, 557.
- [18] Urrutia, G.A., Maroto, A.J.G., Fernandez-Prini, R., and Blesa, M.A., 1984, An empirical model for ⁶⁰Co generation in pressurised water reactors with continuous refuelling, Nucl. Technol., 64, 107.
- Polley, M.V. and Pick, M.E., 1986, Iron, nichkel and chromium mass balances in Westinghouse PWR primary circuits; BNES Conference on "Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems - 4", BNES, London, 1986, 1, p 63.
- [20] Bergmann, C.A., 1986a, Effect of coolant chemistry and other parameters on exposure rates and doses in Westinghouse-designed nuclear plants; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 4', BNES, London, 1986, Paper 2, p7.
- [21] Bergmann, C.A., 1986b, Trends of plant radiation fields in Westinghouse designed plants; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Water Chemistry and Radiation Field Control', Berkeley, California, March 19-21, 1986, Paper 2.
- [22] Bergmann, C.A., Landerman, E.I., Lorentz, D.R. and Whyte, D.D., 1982, Evaluation of cobalt sources in Westinghouse-designed three and four-loop plants; EPRI NP-2681.
- [23] Kang, S. and Sejvar, J., .1985m The CORA-II model of PWR corrosion-product transport; EPRI NP-4246.
- [24] Bergmann, C.A., Roesmer, J. and Perone, D.W., 1983, Primary-side deposits on PWR steam generator tubes; EPRI NP-2968.
- [25] Pinacci, P. and Sejvar, J., 1986, Impact of cobalt sources on radiation fields in the Italian PWR using the CORA corrosion product transport model; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Eactor Systems, 4', BNES, London, 1986, Paper 24, p77.
- [26] Metge, M., Beslu, P. and Lalet, A., 1986, Cobalt sources in PWR primary systems - PACTOLE predictions; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Eactor Systems, 4', BNES, London, 1986, Paper 22, p71.
- [27] Anthoni, S., Beslu, P., Beuken, G. and Brissaud, A., 1986, Evolution of PWR contamination relative to design and operating conditions; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 4', BNES, London, 1986, Paper 5.

- [28] Kkockx, J.H. and Olijve, J.G., 1983, In-core Co-59 and raidation levels in the Lorssele Nuclear Power Station; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 3', BNES, London, 1983, pl63.
- [29] Weitze, H., Braun, D., Odar, S., Greger, G.U., Walter, K.H. and Weber, K.G., 1986, Dose rate build-up investigations and modelling for Goesgen and Neckarwestheim; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 4', BNES, London, 1986, Paper 4.
- [30] Olijve, J.G., 1986, Reducing in-core cobalt-59 at the Borssele nuclear power station; Paper presented at the EPRI Seminar on 'Reducing Cobalt in Nuclear Materials to Control Radiation Fields', Seattle, 13-14 May, 1986.
- [31] Young, T.R., LaDuca, J.T., Quattrochi, T.E. and Wiatrowski, M., 1982, Cobalt source identification program; EPRI NP-2685.
- [32] Ocken, H., 1986, 60Co inventories from wear and corrosion; EPRI seminar on 'Reducing Cobalt In Nuclear Plant Materials to Control Radiation Fields', Seattle, 13-14 May 1986.
- [33] Paffrath, G. and ambros, R., 1980, Activation products and dose rate, using Unit A of the Biblis Nuclear Power Station as an example; VGB Kraftwerktechnik, 60 (2), 111.
- [34] Heard, D.B. and Freeman, R.J., 1983, Cobalt contamination resulting from valve maintenance; EPRI NP-3220.
- [35] Jarnstrom, R.T., 1980, Experience of primary circuit water chemistry in Loviisa 1 NPP; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2', BNES London, 1980.
- [36] Pashevich, V.I., 1985, The effect of water chemistry conditions on radiation contamination of the equipment of power generating reactors of water-moderated water cooled (VVER) type; Thermal Engineering, 32 (1), 27.
- [37] Pick, M.E., 1987, Analysis of oxides on a steam generator tube and clean-up circuit pipe from Loviisa- 2 and the impact on assessment of cobalt sources, CEGB Report No TPRD/B/0902/R87.
- [38] Bergmann, C.A. and Landerman, E.I., 1984, Cobalt release from PWR valves; EPRI NP-3455.
- [39] Airey, G.P., 1987, Qualification of alternate alloys to cobalt base materials for PWR valve applications; Paper presented at 'Third International Symposium on Environmental Degradation of Materials in Nuclear Power Systems - Water Reactors'.
- [40] Bergmann, C.A. and Roesmer, J., 1984, Coolant chemistry effects on radioactivity at two PWR plants; EPRI NP-3463.
- [41] Spalaris, C. N., 1986, Evaluation of surface modification techniques fpr PWR steamgenerator channel heads; EPRI-NP-4614.

- [42] Allen, R.P., Clark, R.L. and Reece, W.D., 1984, Steam Generator Group Report Task 6 - Channel Head Decontamination; NUREG/CR-3841.
- [43] Samuels L.E., 1978, "Metallic Polishing by Mechanical Methods", Pitmans.
- [44] Honda, T., Ohashi, K., Furutani, Y., Sato, Y. and Mochizuki, H., 1986, The Suppressing Effect of surface Treatment on Radiation Build-up in a BWR; BNES Conf. on 'Water Chemistry on Nuclear Reactor Systems 4', BNES, London, 1986, paper 45.
- [45] ASEA-ATOM, 1984, Interim Report 'Precharacterisation of Different Cladding Tubes'; RP 1250-06.
- [46] Stehle, H., 1971, Progress in zircaloy canning technolgy; 4th U.N. Int. Conf. on the Peaceful Usews of Atomic Energy, Geneva, 6-16 Sept. 1971.
- [47] Shaw, R.A., Ocken, H. and Wood, C.J., 1986, Recent Progress in LWR Radiation Field Control; BNES Conf on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 4', BNES, London, 1986, paper 18.
- [48] Brissaud, A., Lantes, B., Saurin, P. and Beslu, P., 1988, Influence of Electropolising on Corrosion Product Deposition; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Primary Water Chemistry and Radiation Field Control', Berkeley, California, March 16-18, 1988.
- [49] Asay, R.H. and Roofthooft, R., 1988 Pretreatment of Primary System Components Using Preoxidation; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Primary Water Chemistry and Radiation Field Control', Berkeley, California, March 16-18, 1988.
- [50] Beslu, P., Jadot, F., Noe, M., Brissaud, A., Favennec, J. and Metge, M., 1986, Elemental Release Rate Measurement of Inconel 600 and Inconel 690 in PWR Primary Coolant; BNES Conf on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 4', BNES, London, 1986, paper 20.
- [51] Lechnik, W. and Greenaway, W.R., 1977, "Study of Pre- operational Practices in Nuclear Power Plants EPRI NP 333.
- [52] Gott, K., Andersson, P.-). and Svenson, J., 1986, The build-up of radioactive corrosion products in Ringhals 4 and its relationship to primary system coolant chemistry; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 4', BNES, London, Paper 6, pl5.
- [53] Vekris, S.L., 1983, The EDTA Hot Conditioning Process for Reactor Heat Transport Systems; Ontario Hydro Research Division, Report No. 83-117-K.
- [54] Ocken, H. and Wood, C.J., 1988, Preconditioning and Passivation of Reactor Materials to Reduce Radiation field Build-up; JAIF Int. Conf. on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, Vol 2, p549.
- [55] Carter, J.H., Gay, B.P. and Riviere, J.C., 1982, Oxide Films Produced by EDTA Treatment of Chromium Containing Alloys and the Potential of this Process for Preconditioning Primary Circuits; IAEA SM-264/24, Conf. on 'Water Chemistry and Corrosion Products in Nuclear Power Plants', IAEA, Vienna, November 1982.

\$

- [56] Winkler, R., Sommer, B. and Zeuner, R., 1986, The preforming of anti-corrosive layers as a method of reducing radioactive deposits in primary circuits of water cooled reactors; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 4, BNES, London, 1986, Paper 25.
 - [57] EPRI, 1989, 'Radiation Control News, No 2, July 1989, EPRI, Palo Alto, California.
 - [58] McDonald, S.G., Sabol, G.P. and Sheppard, K.D., 1982, Effect of lithium hydroxide on the corrosion behaviour of Zircaloy-4; Zirconium in the Nuclear Industry, 6th Int. Symp., ASTM 519.
 - [59] Coriou, H., Grall. L., Meunier, J., Pelras, M. and Willermoz, H., 1962, Corrosion of Zircaloy in various alkaline media at high temperature; Corrosion of Materials II, Proc. IAEA Conf., Europahaus, Salzberg, Austria, P193
 - [60] Billot, Ph., Noe, M., Beslu, P. and Thomazet, I., 1986, Study of waterside corrosion of Zircaloy-4 in PWR conditions; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 4', BNES, London, 1986, Paper 33, p97.
 - [61] Comley, G.C.W. and Ferrett, D.J., 1981, Nuclear Energy, 20, 391.
 - [62] Riess, R., 1986, current status of PWR primary coolant chemistry; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 4'; BNES, London, 1986, Paper 1, pl.
 - [63] Mesmer, R.E., Baes, C.F. and Seeton, F.H., 1971, Boric acid euilibria and pH in PWR coolants; Proc. 32nd Int. Conf. on Water Chem., Pittsburg, Nov 1971, p55.
 - [64] Solomon, Y., 1978, An overview of water chemistry for pressurised water nuclear reactors; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems', BNES, London, 1978, Paper 11, p101.
 - [65] Sweeton, F.H. and Baes, C.F., 1970, The solubility of magnetite and hydrolysis of ferrous iron in aqueous solutions at elevated temperatures; J. Chem. Thermodynamics, 2, pp479-500.
 - [66] Lindsay, W,T, (Jr.), 1985, Appendix A (development of correlating equations for solubility of iron from nickel-cobalt ferites in high temperature water); in EPRI NP-4247 (Bergmann et al., 1985).
 - [67] Thornton, E.W. and Polley, M.V., 1986, A review of pH calculation and corrosion product solubilities under PWR primary coolant chemistry conditions; CEGB Report TPRD/B/0878/R86.
 - [68] Burrill, K.A. and Shaddick, A., 1980, Water chemistry and the deposition of corrosion products on nuclear reactor fuel: A summary of experimental results; AECL Report AECL-6952.
 - [69] Brown, D.J., Flynn, G., Haynes, J.W., Kitt, G.P., Large, N.R., Lawson, D., Mead, A.P., Nichols, J.L. and Woodwark, D.R., 1986, Effect of coolant chemistry on PWR radiation transport processes. Progress report on reactor loop studies; EPRI NP-4583.

- [70] Van den Hoven, A.F., 1986, Possibilities of radiation dose-rate reduction in pressurised water reactors based on an adsorption model; Kema Scientific and Technical Reports, 4, p45.
- [71] Lister, D.H., McAlpine, E. and Hocking, W.H.. 1984, Corrosion product release in light water reactors; EPRI NP-3460.
- [72] Lister, D.H., McAlpine, E., Hocking, W.H. and Tapping, R.L., 1985, Corrosion product release in LWRs: 1983 Progress Report; EPRI NP-3888.
- [73] Maroto, A.J.G., Blesa, M.A., Passaggio, S.I. and Regazzoni, A.E., 1980, BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 2', BNES, London.
- [74] Smith-Magowan, D., 1984, Evaluation of the applicability of colloid studies to cobalt-60 deposition in LWRs; EPRI Np-3773.
- [75] Matijevic, E., 1986, Properties of colloidal corrosion products and their effects on nuclear plants; EPRI NP- 4817 and references therein.
- [76] Blesa, M.A., Figliolia, N.M., Maroto, A.J.G. and Regazzoni, A.E., 1984a, J. Colloid Interface Sci., 101, 410.
- [77] Blesa, M.A., Larotonda, R.M., Maroto, A.J.G. and Regazzoni, A.E., 1982, Colloids and Surfaces, 5, 197.
- [78] Blesa, M.A., Maroto, A.J.G. and Regazzoni, A.E., 1984b, J. Colloid Interface Sci., 99, 32.
- [79] Tewari, P.H. and Lee, W., 1975, Adsorption of Co(II) at the oxide-water interface; J. Colloid and Interface Sci., 52, 77.
- [80] Shaw, R.A. (Chairman), 1986, PWR primary chemistry guidelines; EPRI NP-4762-SR.
- [81] Roesmer, J., 1983, Minimizing core deposits and radiation fields in PWRs by coordinated Li/B chemistry; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, 3', BNES, London, 1983, p29.
- [82] Gaynor, D., Higgins, J. and Homyk, A., 1986, Indian Point No. 2 primary system chemistry and radiation levels: Recent experience; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Chemistry and Radiation Field Control', Berkeley, California, March 19-21, 1986.
- [83] Solomon, Y. and Roesmer, J., 1978, Some observations on the possible relationship of reactor coolant chemistry and radiation level build-up; Westinghouse Repert WCAP-9407.
- [84] Barshey, S.S., Beineke, T.A. and Crinigan, P.T., 1986, Radiation field data and correlation with chemistry in CE plants; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Primary Water Chemistry and Radiation Field Control', Berkeley, California, March 19-21, 1986, Paper 3.
- [85] Menet, O., Blain, M. and Naudin, O., 1986, EdF experience with primary chemistry; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Chemistry and Radiation field Control', Berkeley, California, March 19-21, 1986, Paper 6.

S

- [86] Egnér, K., 1988, Ringhals Experience with high pH chemistry; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Chemistry and Radiation Field Control', 1988.
- [87] Gregoer, G.U., Ordar, S., Weitze, H., Braun, D., Walter, K.H. and Weber, K.G., 1986, A new concept for a correlation of operational data and dose-rate: A comparison of the Goesgen and Neckarwestheim plants; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Water Chemistry and Radiation Field Control' Berekely, California, March 19-21, 1986, Paper 14.
- [88] Sandler, Y.L. and Kunig, R.H., 1981, The solubility of nickel ferrite in aqueous boric acid soluations; Nuclear Sci. and Eng., 77, 218.
- [89] Comley, G.C.W., Campion, P., DeRanter, K. and Roofthooft, R., 1988, Coolant chemistry studies in the Belgian PWRs; Proc. 1988 JAIF Int. Conf. on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, p661.
- [90] Takiguchi, H., Morishita, S., Sakai, K., Meguro, Y., Kasahara, K. and Fukuda, F., 1988, Radiation build-up control by high pH chemistry in the Tsuruga-2 primary coolant system - temperature and pH dependency of corrosion product solubility; Proc 1988 JAIF Int. Conf. on water chemistry in nuclear power plants, p 168.
- [91] Kasahara, K.M., Nishizawa, S. and Oshima, S., 1988, A plan for investigating the temperature coefficient of solubility of corrosion products; Proc 1988 JAIF Int. Conf. on water chemistry in nuclear power plants, p 499.
- [92] Yamada, M. and Ojima, Z., 1988, Correlation between fuel deposition, pH control and radiation field trend; Proc 1988 JAIF Int. Conf. on water chemistry in nuclear power plants, p 162.
- [93] Lee, B-O, 1988, Ulchin 1 and 2 PWRs chemistry surveillance program during commissioning phases; Proc 1988 JAIF Int. Conf. on water chemistry in nuclear power plants, p 81.
- [94] Burclova, J., Blazek, J., Kapisovsky, V., Bena, J., Duris, J., Kysela, K., Barta, O. and Jindrich, K., 1986, Behaviour of silver in the primary circuit of 440 MWe PWR; BNES Conf on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 4', BNES, London, 1986, paper 28.
- [95] Pashevich, V.I., 1984, Thermal Engineering, 31(11), 595.
- [96] Neil, B.J.C., 1978, Radioactivity build-up in Pickering Nuclear Generating Station heat transport system; BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems', BNES,' London, Paper 26, p235.
- [97] Urbanic, V.F., Gray, R. and Lister, D.H., 1979, Review of in-reactor zircaloy corrosion and crud deposition experience at AECL; EPRI Np-1254.
- [98] Roesmer, J., 1986, The use of boric acid, highly enriched in ¹⁰B, as chemical shim in PWRs; EPRI Project RP2614-4.
- [99] Solomon, Y., 1984, Discussion on session 2: PWR coolants; in BNES Conference on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 3', BNES, London, 1984, 1, p49.

- [100] Bertron, L., 1986, Load following experience with French PWRs; Nuclear Europe, 10, p12.
- [101] Wood, C.J., 1986a, Overview of EPRI radiation control program; EPRI Seminar on 'PWR Water Chemistry and Radiation Field Control', Berkeley, California, March 19-21, 1986, Paper 1.
- [102] Wood, C.J., 1986b, Manual of recent techniques for radiation field control; EPRI NP-4505 SR.
- [103] Gordon, B.M., 1980, The effect of chloride and oxygen on the stress corrosion cracking of stainless steels: Review of literature; Materials Performance, 19 (4), p29.
- [104] Communication from Herold and Oertel (Rheinsberg PWR) to Dr D Lister AECL, Chalk River, 25 Sept 1990.
- [105] Riess R. 1988., Information presented to IAEA meeting 'Water Chemistry Control and coolant interaction with Fuel and Primary Circuit Materials in water cooled power reactors' Heidelberg, May 31 - June 3, 1988.
- [106] Burclova J 1989., 'Water Chemistry of nuclear reactor systems 5, Bournemouth UK, Oct 23-28, 1989.
- [107] Pinter P, Ormai P 1988., Paks NPS report p41.
- [108] Wahlstrom B 1983. Eurat/om report Eur 9173 EN.
- [109] Beskrestnov NV, Vasilyev E.S., Kozlov V.F., Paschevich V.I., Romanov V.P. 1984 Radiation Safety and Protection in Nuclear Power Plants (In Russian) Energoatomizdat - No.8.
- [110] Lundgren K, Elkert J; 1991 Nuclear Engineering International pp 23-24 Feb 1991.

NATIONAL CONTRIBUTIONS

.

53/54

COMPARISON OF STANDARD AND HYDRAZINE WATER CHEMISTRY OF VVER 440 UNITS

J. BURCLOVA

Nuclear Power Plants Research Institute, Trnava, Czechoslovakia

Abstract

The comparison of primary coolant circiut surface activities, dose rates and occupational radiation exposures is done for PWR and VVER 440 units. The detailed description of VVER 440 units using standard and hydrazine water chemistry including corrosion products coolant activities and occupational radiation exposures for works at various parts of primary circuit is presented.

Introduction

The radiation field in the primary system of VVERs during shut-down periods is essentially generated by activated corrosion products. The origin of radiation fields is linked firmly to the chemical composition of water circuit construction materials and to the control of primary circuit water chemistry. For a given reactor design, only the water chemistry may be changed to influence the level of dose rate build-up. Although the design of all VVER-440 units is principally the same, the dose rate build-up and occupational radiation exposure (ORE) vary considerably from plant to plant. The different levels of: -robotics

-job management

-cobalt impurities in in-core and out-of-core materials -chemistry control

may explain these facts.

The first two items influence the ORE itself, but have no effect on dose rate build-up, whereas optimization of primary coolant chemistry and decreasing of cobalt impurities affect directly the out-of-core surface activities.

Standard and hydrazine water chemistry of VVER 440

32 units of VVER 440 were in operation, now Armenia and Greifswald units are out of operation. At most of them, standard primary circuit water chemistry is used, whereas Kola 3,4 and Rovno 1,2 (1-4) are operated in hydrazine water chemistry (Tab.1). Tab.1 VVER 440 Units Data

Country Unit	Start	SG Material Origin Water Country/ Co Content % Chemistry
BG Kozloduy 1,2	74/75	USSR standard
Kozloduy 5,4	80/82	USSR standard
CZ Bohunice 1,?	78/80	USSP '0.03-0.04 standard
Bohunice 3,4	84/85	CZ/0.015-0.02 standard
Dukovany 1,2	85/86	C2/0.015-0.02 standard
Dukovany 3,4	86/87	CZ/0.015-0.02 standard
		USSR (3 SGs)
GDR Greifswald1,2	73/74	USSR standard
Greifswald3,4	77/79	USSR standard
HU Paks 1,2	82/84	USSR/0.04-0.06(11) standard
Paks 3,4	86/87	USSR/0.04-0.06(11) standard
SF Loviisa 1,2	77/80	USSR standard
USSR Novovoronezh		
3,4	71/72	USSR standard
Kola 1,2	73/74	USSR partialy hydrazine
Armenia 1,2	76/80	USSR partialy hydrazine
Rovno 1,2	80/81	USSR hydrazine from 1985
Kola 3,4	81/84	USSR hydrazine

Co content in Soviet stainless steel OCH18N10T (18%Cr,10%Ni) is given by Ampelogova (5) as 0.02-0.35% with the average value of 0.075%. The standard water chemistry is similar to the water chemistry used for western PWRs (Tab.2), potassium-boron mode is the same for all VVER 440 units (Fig.1).

Tab.2 Primary Coolant Chemistry Guidelines

		EPRI(6)	VVER440(6) VVER44 Standard Hydraz	0(1) ine
Hyd <i>r</i> ogen	cc(STP)/kg	25-50	30-60 73*	
Chlorides	mg/kg	<0.15	<0.1 <0.1	
Fluorides	mg/kg	<0.15	<0.1 <0.1	
Oxygen	mg/kg	<0.01	<0.005 <0.005	
Ammonia	mg/kg	· _	>5 64*	
Hydrazine	mg/kg	-	- 0.089*	

* data from Armenia plant experiment (1)

Data Basis for VVER 440 Units

The data for water chemistry, surface activities, coolant activities, dose rates and occupational radiation exposures were collected and evaluated under an agreement among Czechoslovakia (8), GDR (9), USSR (10) and Hungary (11).



Fig.l Various Lithium-Boron Modes for done pH /300°C/ /6/

Potassium-Boron Mode of Operation for VVER 440

Surface Activity Build-up

The main radioactive corrosion products (the source of dose rates) are cobalt isotopes created by the reaction (7) 58Ni (n,p) 58Co $\sigma = 0.1$ barn 59Co (n,gamma) 60Co $\sigma = 18$ barn 60Ni (n,p) 60Co $\sigma = 0.005$ barn The theoretical ratios of surface activities (SA) for Inconel 600 (nickel content 75%) and stainless steel (nickel content 10%) used for steam generator (SG) tubes are: for 58Co SA (PWR) / SA (VVER) = 7.5 for 60Co, cobalt content 0.05% SA (PWR) / SA (VVER) = 1.4cobalt content 0.02% SA (PWR) / SA (VVER) = 1.9These values were obtained by calculations under the

conditions of equal transport of cobalt and nickel in primary circuits, of the average ratios of epithermal and thermal neutrons of 7 for VVER 440 and 5 for PWR, and of approximately the same neutron densities, corrosion rates and total areas of SGs tubes. The measured values of surface activities are given in Tab.3.

Tab.3 SG and MCP Surface Activities (kBq/cm²)

H-Hot	Surf	face	C-Cold	Surface	e MCI	P-Main	Circ.1	Pump
Unit Cy	cle	600	20	58Co	54Mn	Place	Ref	•
EdF	3	37	0	700	60	SGH	12	
	3	63(0	1200	52	SGC	12	
Fessenheim 1	4	550	0	890	75	SGH	12	
	4	70	D	1260	100	SGC	12	
Ringhals 2		152	2	68	7	SG	5	
Indian Point		74-3	145		4-11	L SG		5
Novovoronezh	4	10-2	100		SC	3	13	
	6	80			SC	5	13	
Kola 1,2	5	13		42	35	SGH	5	
	5	7		11	15	SGC	5	
	6	11		34	10	SGH	5	
	6	5		10	10	SGC	5	
Bohunice 1	8	50		60	12	SGH		
	8	18		26	11	SGC		
Bohunice 3	5	5		20	17	SGH		
	5	5		15	7	SGC		
Dukovany 1	5	2		16	2	SGH		
	5	3		15	5	SGC		
Kola 3	5	12		6	7	SGH	10	
	5	9		7	5	SGC	10	
Kola 1,2	5	23		70	47	MCP	5	
Bohunice 1	5	26		52	28	MCP		
Paks 2	2	15		55	10	MCP	11	
Bohunice 3	5	9		48	32	MCP		
Bohunice 4	4	4		30-70	2-10) MCI	?	
Kola 3	6	20-60		20-80	30	MCP	10	
	7	10-70) .	20-100	8-60) MCI	,	10

From the point of view of both cobalt isotopes, surface activity values at VVER 440 units are considerably lower than at western PWRs using stellite and high nickel content alloys. The difference among various VVER 440 units is only in 60Co activity (higher level for older units with higher content of cobalt impurities). The units using hydrazine water chemistry reach lower level of 58Co on SG surfaces, the other values are comparable for both types of





units with standardard and hydrazine water chemistry (see Tab.3, Fig.2-3).

Corrosion Products (CP) Coolant Activity

The solubility of corrosion products in the coolant and the amount of insoluble corrosion products released from the outer layer determine the level of CP activity in the coolant. Pashevitch (3) describes a considerable decrease of CP deposition constant for units using hydrazine water chemistry. The deposition constant for USSR units under standard water chemistry is (1-5) E-4 sec⁻¹ (3), for Czechoslovak units were measured the values (1-10) E-4 sec⁻¹ (14). Using hydrazine, the deposition constant decreases to (1-5) E-5 sec⁻¹ (3). The consequences of this fact are higher activity of CP in coolant and higher removal of CP from coolant by CVCS. The changes of coolant activity of Kola 3 and Bohunice 3 (during standard water chemistry and during a short hydrazine experiment 4 months in the middle of a fuel cycle 2) are given in Fig.4. Under standard water chemistry, CP coolant steady-state activity is lower then under hydrazine water chemistry with the exception of 54Mn. Other CP coolant activity of the units using hydrazine water chemistry rises immediately after start-up for several weeks and then decreases to the level of the units using standard water chemistry.





Dose Rates Build-up

SG channel head dose rates (for PWRs with vertical SG) and dose rates in the primary tubesheet manifold of horizontal SGs (VVER) in the depth of 2-2.5 m (the place of maximum dose rate value for central point of tube bundle) are compared in Fig.5, as well as the values for older and newer VVER 440 units (Fig.6) with standard and hydrazine water chemistry (Fig.7). The SG dose rates for VVER 440 are in general lower than or comparable with the dose rates for western PWRs. The SG dose rates for VVER 440 vary from higher values for older units to lower values for newer ones with lower cobalt content, and for units using hydrazine water chemistry. There is no significant difference in SG dose rates for Bohunice 3,4, Dukovany 1-4 and Kola 3,4 (Fig.7) as well as there was no considerable change in SG dose rates after the hydrazine experiment in Bohunice 3. The explanation of the very significant change in SG dose rates for the units Rovno 1,2 (see Fig.6) as the result of the aplication of hydrazine water chemistry (2,3) is in contradiction to (4), where SG dose rates at central point of tube bundle for the last year before the dosing of hydrazine are much lower and there are comparable with the value at the same place after 3 years of hydrazine water chemistry. Extremely high value of SG dose rate was measured at the upper part of the tubesheet primary manifold





Fig.5 PwRs Steam Generator Dose Rates







The reason of such high dose rate probably was not mainly the activity of corrosion products.

Occupational Radiation Exposure

The ORE during shut down periods depends very considerably on the range of works done, robotics and job management, so it is very problematic to evaluate the influence of different type of water chemistry to the ORE. The ORE for the latest western PWRs is comparable with the ORE for older VVER 440 units and the latest Soviet VVER 440 units (17). The lowest levels of the ORE were reached in Bohunice 3,4, Paks 2 and Dukovany 1-4.

The total ORE and the ORE for works at steam generator, main circulation pump and CVCS are given in Fig.8 for Kola 3 (9,10), Bohunice 3,4 and Dukovany 1-4 (8). Only the values for the ORE at steam generator are comparable for both water chemistries, other OREs are considerably higher for the Kola 3 unit.



Fig.8 The ORE for the newest VVER 440 with Standard and Hydrazine Water Chemistry

<u>Conclusions</u>

Hydrazine water chemistry slightly influences the level of 58Co activity on steam generator tube surfaces, so the short hydrazine Bohunice 3 experiment (finished in second third of the cycle 2) could not lead to successful results.

The level of 60Co activity depends on the level of cobalt impurities in in-core and steam generator materials.

There is no significant difference between new VVER units using hydrazine water chemistry and new VVER units working under standard water chemistry conditions.

References

- 1. PASCHEVITCH, V.I.: Teploenergetika 31, (11), 13-17, (1984)
- 2. PASCHEVITCH, V.I.: Teploenergetika 32.(1),44-49,(1985)
- 3. PASCHEVITCH, V.I. et al: Hydrazine Regime for Primary Circuit of VVER 440 and VVER 1000 Reactor NPPS, IAEA Meeting Vienna 6.-9.5.1991
- PASCHEVITCH, V.I:USSR Experience in the Fields of Decontamination and Water Chemistry Regimees in the Operation of Nuclear Reactor of Type VVER, IAEA Meeting Vienna 6.-9.5.1991
- 5. AMPELOGOVA N.I.: Cobalt behaviour in the PWR coolant, No 89-05351/1230,(1989)
- 6. Coolant Technology of Water Reactors, IAEA Doc.0846j, 11 March 1991
- 7. ALIJEV A.I. et al.: Jadernofizitcheskie konstanty dlja nejtronnogo aktivacionnogo analiza, Atomizdat Moskva 1969
- 8. BURCLOVA J. : Data for Bohunice and Dukovany units
- 9. KUNZE E., HILDEBRANDT N.: Data for Greifswald units
- 10. BELIAEV V.M., JURMANOV V.A.: Data for Kola 3 unit
- 11. HORVATH G.L., BOGANC J.: Data for Paks units
- 12. POLLEY M.V.: Nucl. Technol. 71, 557-567, (1985)
- 13. HORVATH G.L., ORMAI P., PINTER T., SZABO I.C.: Kernenergie 30,1,38-43, (1987)
- 14. BURCLOVA J. et al.: Jaderna energie 2,34,41-45,(1988)
- 15. YOSHIAKI HIRAI: Water Chemistry 91, Fukui April 22-25, (1991)
- 16. WOOD Ch.: Nuclear Eng. Int. 35, 427, 27-30, Feb. (1990)
- 17. AMEY M.D.H., JOHNSON P.A.V.: Nuclear Europe Worldscan 5-6,(1990)

OBSERVATIONS ON RECENT APPLICATION OF HIGH COOLANT pH IN FRENCH PWRs AND OPTIMIZATION OF CHEMISTRY DURING SHUTDOWN

P. BESLU

Centre d'études nucléaires de Cadarache, Commissariat à l'énergie atomique, Saint-Paul-lez-Durance, France

Abstract

٠

In this paper several results of PWR chemistry in French reactors are presented. It shows that excessive crud build-up in the core can usually be avoided with a well adapted, carefully operated coolant chemistry. Optimization of the lithium/pH/hydrogen treatment combines the objectives of reducing the sources of radiation fields and crud buid-up. Optimization of chemistry in order to avoid excessive contamination during steady state and shutdown is described.

Chemistry during the power operation

These requirements can be served together (since crud deposition in the core and its activation is the cause of out of core dose rate) by maintaining the pH in a desired range to maintain a positive temperature coefficient of solubility for nickel ferrite in the core and at the same time by maintaining a zeta potential which prevents attractive effects of colloid species on the cladding surface. It was demonstrated and "onfirmed by the observations on French reactors that a pH₃₀₀ above 6.8 is sufficient to avoid the presence of a thick deposit in the hot part of the fuel.

A low pH in circumstances where lithium concentrations are low (below 0.2 ppm when boron is below 10 ppm) is responsible of the formation of thick in-core deposits. The same effect may be observed with hydrogen concentration below the limit required to suppress radiolysis, or more generally, with the presence of oxygen in the primary coolant. One of these conditions is sufficient to produce undesirable effects due to the presence of the heavy deposits on the fuel rods which can be summarized as follows:

- An increase in pressure drop leading to reduced flow of the primary coolant.
- A thermal barrier between the water and the cladding increasing the temperature of the cladding and subsequently the temperature of the uranium dioxide with a change of the power coefficient (Doppler effect).
 - Variations of coolant local density leading to reactivity effects.

The EdF/FRA chemical specification was established on the basis of PACTOLE code calculations and has been applied to EdF/SPT units since 1981.



FIG 1 EDF lithium-boron co-ordinated chemistry and calculated pH (300°C)

It consists of maintaining a pH higher than 6.9 throughout the duration of a cycle (see figure 1).

Radiation fields around the circuits (table 1) and resulting collective doses are moderate where this specification is applied. The thickness of deposits observed on fuel element is generally negligible (< 1 μ m). This situation would indicate that our conservative approach is correct. However, minimum solubility measurements as a function of the temperature observed under normal operating conditions by Westinghouse has persuaded the international community to recommend high pH_T operation (7.4 at 300^{oC}). For its part, the CEA has carried out a critical study of all the data in this field and undertaken similar measurements to those of Westinghouse, though coming to different conclusions. Nevertheless, the synthesis carried out on laws of solubility forecasts a slight reduction in contamination by maintaining a pH of 7.2 at 300^{oC} throughout the cycle and limiting the lithium content at the start of the cycle to 2.2 ppm. (All pH values quoted in the present paper are calculated using the ionisation constant of water proposed by Marshall and Franck).

In addition, several other observations indicate that pH_{300} higher than 7.2 are not necessary to reduce the activity contamination. As an example, the corrosion release measurements from the CEA CORELE loop show clearly that there is a very weak dependence of corrosion release rate or pH between 7.2 and 7.5 whatever the material. That point can be seen from figure 2 for Inconel 600 thermal treated material. The trend is similar for the mill-annealed Alloy 600 or TT Alloy 690. The presence of a minimum around 7.2 is not certain due to the range of the measurement. Nevertheless, it is interesting to note that CORELE loop is designed (once through coolant) to produce a release rate proportional to the solubility.

TABLE 1 AVERAGE DOSE RATES IN THREE GENERATIONS OF FRENCH PWRs

AVE	RAGE DOSE RATE			
	in french P.W.R	1		
((dose rate index)			
		mSv h		
900 MWe reactors 3 loops	first generation in operation before 1980	1		
,	2 generation	O.6		

On these predictions, the EdF/SPT decided to apply this pH to six of its units and to compare the results obtained with other reactors and with observations made during previous cycles. One or two years later, the first results are encouraging. Stabilization in dose rate and decrease in corrosion product contamination has been observed on units in which the new conditioning was introduced during the 4th cycle is a good example: the dose rate index and the mean dose rate in the channel head both decreased by 30% between the end of the 3rd and the 4th cycle. The development of deposited activity confirms this tendency, as can be seen in Figures 3, 4 and 5.

We may conclude:

- that any pH₃₀₀ >6.9 is sufficient for avoiding the problem of deposit on the fuel.
- from the contamination point of view, a consensus seems to exist in France and elsewhere (e.g. Ringhals, Millstone 3) concerning higher values of the (coolant) pH e.g. pH₃₀₀: 7.2. However, some plant operators are reluctant to proceed with high pH due to the potential effect of high lithium concentration on Zircaloy oxidation and Inconel Stress Corrosion Cracking. So the decision of the extension of this pH regime to all French plants has been postponed and the experience of the 6 units will be continued for one year more.



cobalt release rate vs pH (300°C) from CEA CORELE loop.



FIG. 3. CRUAS 1 - activity across the loop.

Behaviour of corrosion product during shutdown procedure

Changes in the physical characteristics of the primary coolant during cold shutdown for refuelling cause a considerable increase (between 2 and 3 orders of magnitude) in the water activity of corrosion products. The liberated activity reaches or even exceeds the total activity deposited on the out-of-core walls of the primary circuit. One kg (or more) of nickel are often dissolved.



FIG. 4. Dose rate in the SG channel head centre.



FIG. 5. Dose rate across the loop.

- Facilitate fuel handling operations while maintaining water transparency and reducing the surface dose rate of the refuelling pool;
- Reduce primary water activity as quickly as possible (58 Co < 2 GBq/t) and generally facilitate operations designed to reduce the time between reactor shutdown and opening of the vessel head;
- Minimise release or dissolution of corrosion products when they do not constitute a real or efficient reduction of out-of-vessel contamination;
- Dissolve the (nickel) deposits on the cladding which may increase the temperature of the fuel;
- Avoid the contamination of the primary circuit surfaces.

Measurement carried out by CEA on the EdF reactors allowed us to understand the behaviour of the corrosion product during the shutdown and to propose a procedure able to fulfill the previous goals.

This important phases can be distinguished:

- A cooling phase including boration of the primary water when the temperature is below 150°C and in reducing conditions;
- The oxygenation phase which occurs either after the deliberate injection of hydrogen peroxide or after part of the circuit has been opened to the air.

For the first phase ($T < 150^{\circ}C$ and reducing condition) the activity and element released come from the corrosion release of the structural (austenitic) material (grids, baffle, etc.) under neutron flux. The elements are soluble. That means that the large activity trapped on the mixed-bed resins during this phase does not correspond to a dissolution of oxides and is undesirable.

The procedure should aim to reduce the duration of this period and avoid any precipitation which could lead to a contamination of the circuit. Therefore we must avoid circumstances leading to increases in temperature, in hydrogen content, or in lithium content.

For the second phase, aeration or oxygenation, there is a sudden increase of stable cobalt activity and Ni content in the water. It corresponds to a dissolution of a pure nickel deposit on the fuel cladding.

Elimination of this nickel has no effect on the contamination of the out-of-vessel circuit but nevertheless reduces the activity for the subsequent period or fuel cycle. To avoid any contamination of the circuit during this phase, it is absolutely vital to oxygenate at a temperature below 100° C, whatever the mode of oxygenation (H₂O₂ or air).

As for the previous phase, changes in temperature, redox potential or pH are also undesirable.

We may note that the presence of oxygen in the primary circuit:

- Dissolves only a limited amount of nickel deposited on the fuel cladding (1 kg)
- Suppresses the release rate of the base metal which existed in the initial reducing and low pH and temperature conditions. It is therefore possible to reduce the activity of the water by ion exchange and filtration.

To sum up, the best procedure for the shutdown seems to be

- cool down the circuit quickly when the temperature is below 150°C and;
- introduce oxygen in the primary coolant when the temperature is below (~ 100° C).

<u>Conclusion</u>

The efforts made in France during the 70's in the field of circuit contamination have now borne fruit. Radiation fields around EdF PWR primary circuits are always moderate and often compare favourably with the best non-French results, as Figures 4 and 5 show.

This is the case even though the planned improvements have not yet all been introduced throughout France. It is hoped that improvements resulting in a few tens of percent reduction in the radiation field can still be achieved by:

- Gradually replacing all standard fuel grids with Zircaloy grids like Fragema AFA fuel
- Replacing alloy 600 with alloy 690 in new steam generators and reducing their cobalt content
- Polishing channel head surfaces
- Introducing chemical control at pH 7.2 in all reactors
- Refining cold shutdown procedures

As well as the foregoing, particular attention will also be paid to factors likely to mar these expected improvements, both as concerns contamination (ageing of equipment etc.) and exposure of personnel during regular or exceptional maintenance operations such as steam generator replacement like at Dampierre in 1990(1). The know-how and computer tools developed when the EdF PWRs were first put into service are proving extremely valuable in good maintenance management for the future. Computer tools like PACTOLE and PROFIP for forecasting, EMECC for measuring and the TIGRE data base can be used to predict radiation fields in various situations encountered during maintenance operations.

The considerable effort expended by EdF and CEA in utilizing Research and Development to produce prediction computer tools is a mark of the importance attached in France to Radiation Protection.

LOWERING THE CORROSION RATE TO LIMIT RADIOACTIVE DEPOSITS

R. WINKLER Institut für Energietechnik, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

Abstract

Conditioning methods for corrosion protective layers on steel surfaces in LWR reactor plants can contribute in suppressing activity build-up. The main theoretical foundation of such procedures is to influence the porosity of the covering. Porosity comes from a dissolution/precipitation process in the course of corrosion and film generation and can considered to be connected with the appearance of corrosion product colloids in the cooling water. Some problems in investigating oxide-covered metal specimens are discussed and new methods are suggested.

1 INTRODUCTION

Inspection and maintenance work in the region of the primary system cause financial expenditures for radiation protection. According to american authors 1...2 million dollars per unit and year have to be spent for shielding, decontamination, personal training, accomodation for additional manpower etc.

Over a period of 30 years some hundred papers were published on activity build-up in nuclear reactor units. But the process has not been understood sufficiently and only partial success was achieved in suppressing it. It turned out that numerous processes are interlinked in an intricate mode.

In the past the main effort in limiting radioactive deposits was directed to

- Selection of corrosion resistant materials with low cobalt content

- Improvement of primary water cleaning
- Optimizing the pH regime
- Decontamination
- Improvement of the maintainability of components
- Maintenance planning

In doing so the increasing trends of collective dose rates in NPPs could be stopped in the early 80,s

During the last years more attention has been drawn to the properties of corroding steel surfaces.

Proceeding from updated models of activity build-up, the direct connection between corrosion rate, corrosion product release and contaminat on level seems to be clear Without penetration of the corrosion protection layer by metal compounds no corrosive action can occur

Aimed at lowering the corrosion rate electropolishing of the steam generator tubes has been introduced Another way is the preforming of high quality corrosion protection layers. There are proposals for treating the virgin metal surface with steam, steam-air-mixtures or oxygen containing water. Referring to all of these procedures it is presupposed that the corrosion protection layer becomes more compact and less porous. Some explanations on structure and behaviour of corrosion protection layers seem to be necessary here

2 INVESTIGATIONS ON CORROSION PROTECTIVE LAYERS

Passivity break-down

Metallic materials in reactor coolant circuits passivate themselves under atmospheric conditions. Therefore, the surfaces are passive previous to the first start-up of the plant Here is meant passivity in the classic sense of electrochemistry. The thickness of the oxide layers is in the range of only a few nanometers the amorphous and non-porous structure of these lavers cause excellent protection against uniform corrosion attack.Unfortunately, the passivating layer cannot be preserved under operational conditions. They will get destroyedor altered in hot water within a few hours when a temperature of about 180 °C is exceeded. In a phase of initially accelerated corrosion a crystalline oxide layer begins to grow. Only after the new layer has reached a thicknesswithin the micrometer range after a time of bout thousend hours corrosion rate has decreased to an almost constant value of 0 5 to 1 mg/(m² h) Then, the surface looks pale-black due to octahedral oxide crystals with diameters in the range of mainly 0 1 to 1 µm

Structure and composition of the oxide layer

In the depth profile of the surface layer alloy elements deviate from the alloy composition Chromium enrichment is marked in the metal vicinity, whereas chromium depletion is observed in the vicinity of water A number of authors postulates the existence of chromiumiron-spinel FeCr $_{20}$ in the internal layer and that of nickel-iron-spinel NiFe $_{20}$ in the external layer Structure and composition of such oxide layers are in no case of scientific importance, exclusively They can give indications to the growing of the layer and its susceptibility towards an increased corrosion protective value But there are serious problems to get relevant information on this

In some cases a look into the layer is possible after preparing transverse sections or brittle ruptures. But nowadays sputtering by ion beam in combination with physical surface analysis is especially promising Recently published depth profiles /1/ were obtained by using those methods However, they do not correspond with earlier results. Most confusing is the appearance of uncharged atoms of nickel, iron and chromium within the oxide layer We found out that sputtering vertical to the surface leads to some serious disadvantages:

 Chemical modifications occure by energy exchange of the target with the high energy ions. Under the conditions ofhigh vacuum metal oxides can be reduced. That means uncharged metal atoms result from ion beam sputtering.

Element-dependent differences of sputter rates as well as pores in the oxide layer promote the occurence of a cleft surface during bombardment by ions.

- The roughness of the metal surface influences the depth profile of alloying elements in the oxide layer. On approaching the phase boundary metal/oxide it is marked in particular. Here we observe a superposition of signals from metal and its oxides.

The disadvantages of even general sputtering will be farly eliminated by an ion beam slope cutting method This method was developed at the Dresden University of Technology /2/ and we are going to adapt it to oxide layers. Thereby the sample is bombarded with rare gas ions at certain angles to the surface over the edge of a shield difficult to atomize Fig.1 illustrates the principle, figures 2 and 3 show SEM photographs of slopes in oxide layers of different structure. To ascertain depth profiles of element distribution following the slope AUGER-microprobe or electron-microprobe can be suitable.

Electrochemical measurement techniques

Electrochemical measurements can be used to investigate the corrosion behaviour of metals exposed to electrolyte solutions. Here these methods are intended to estimate corrosion protective values of oxide films on steel surfaces. One of the most serious problems thereby is that the corrosion of somehow covered metal surfaces is not activation controlled. In so far the well known TAFEL-equation and STERN-GEARY-equation are not qualified for calculating corrosion rates. But as descriped earlier /3/ the comparision of samples with reference specimer. Using polari sation resistance seems to be possible. Another problem is to concludefrom cold measurements to the probable corrosion behaviour of the oxide covered metals in hot.

66



Fig.1. Principle of ion beam slope cutting (IBSC)

18	Ion beam	В	Slope	
BL	Shield	Ρ	Specimen	
OF	Surface	A	Surface after	sputtering



Fig.2. SEM photograph of an IBSC-produced cut into an oxide layer on 12CrMoV4.3 after exposure to superheated steam



Fig.3. SEM photograph of an IBSC-produced cut into the oxide layer on 12CrMoV4.3 after exposure to hot water

water. For self-passivating metals as e.g. high-alloy steels this task cannot be solved. That is why there is no marked difference in the electrochemical behaviour between samples passivated in the classical sense and samples covered with a crystaline oxide layer after exposing to hot water. Investigating the latter samples by cold electrochemical measurements you will find the metal at the bottom of the pores within the oxide layer passive. In contrast to this, in hot water with a temperature beyond 200 °C active metal dissolution at the pore bottom occurs.

Lately, we have been carrying out measurements even at temperatures up to 250 °C. Aspecially made autoclave of 1 liter capacity serves as an electrochemical measurement cell (fig.4). Its closure head contains three electrical penetrations sealed and electrically insulated by PTFE. The autoclave is not completely filled. Beyond the water line the electrodes are clamped and contacted. In oxygen-free electrolytes a platinum wire can serve as reference electrode. But an external silverchloride electrode will be put in operation soon.



- Fig.4. Measurement cell for electrochemical testing at temperatures up to 250°C
 - 1 Working electrode 6 Autoclave cap 2 Reference electrode 7 Pressure vessel

 - 3 Counter electrode 8 Electrical heating 4 Instrument well 9 Thermal insulation

 - 5 Manometer

Fig.5 shows current/voltage curves of chromiumnickel steels with different surface films. Active-passive transitions prove the existence of pores reaching the metal. The above mentioned problems of computing corrosion rates have been existing further. Our ideas how to resolve this task in future are based upon measurements of polarization resistance R at different temperatures. Here shall be given a brief explanation only.

The ARRHENIUS-equation for the temperature dependence of the reaction rate can be adapted to corrosive action as follows:

The constant C characterizes the reacting system. Among other things it should depend on the degree of coverage



- Fig.5. Current/voltage curves at 230 °C of CrNisteel specimens with different protective layer quality
 - 1 Oxidized in hot water with Fe/EDTA addition
 - 2 Oxidized in hot water with Zr/EDTA addition

of the surface. The activation energy E is determined by the passage of metal ions at the pore bottom and the diffusion of reactants through pores. The equation can be applied if the logarithm of the corrosion current depends linearly on T^{-1} . We proved this experii. i depends linearly on []. We proved this experi-mentally and determined activation energies for the corrosion of steels as well.

Further investigation showed that the linear relationship will preserved if by means of the STERN-GEARY-equation

$$i_{korr} = \frac{B}{R_p}$$

the corrosion current is substituted by polarization resistance R_. Consequently, factor B must be independent of the temperature. If it were also independent of thickness and other characteristic attributes of the surface layer the corrosion rate could be calculated from measured R values. A precise numerical value for B has still to be detected on the basis of gravimetrically determined losses of metal.

3. GROWTH MECHANISM OF CORROSION PROTECTIVE LAYERS

The duplex layer on steel after exposure to hot water suggested the idea of two different growth mechanisms. The inner layer is supposed to grow into the metal in a solide state reaction. This is indicated by the classical term "topotaxial layer" Simultaneously dissolved metal compounds are assumed to be responsible for epitaxial growth of the outer layer. Porosity on the base of interstices between the oxide crystals could be detected both in the outer and the inner oxide layer Referring the inner layer the crystal size amounts to 0.1 µm and is thus significantly below that of the underlaying metal For these facts the above mentioned model of layer growth does not offer any plausible explanation. Furthermore, the conclusion drawn from the model that metal oxidation bases on two energetically different reactions can hardly be accepted. One of them would be the direct oxide formation and the other one the passage of metal ions into the water

The questions discussed suggested to study temperature and time dependence of corrosion once more profoundly In detail theseproblems are referred to in /4/. The corrosion rates obtained were too high by some orders of magnitude as to be related to lattice diffusion. From activation energies estimated as some 10 kJ/mol a domination of diffusion of reactants not through oxide lattice but through water-filled pores should be deduced.

For the corrosion of steels in hot water we would like the following model to be discussed:

At corrosion-prone sites of the metal surface dissolution takes place. The deposition c. oxides out of the solution follows. Thereby preferred are oxides with high enthaloy of formation and low solubility. This is chromium-iron-spinel on steels rich in chromium. Growth of the laver restricts metal dissolution to the pore bottom Corrosion becomes increasingly a function of diffusion currents through pores. But now it must be explained why regardless of the pore diffusion the growth of the layers continues. Obviously we have to assume the continuance of a dissolution/precipitation process at the phase boundary metal/oxide. About this important detail further investigation is needed. Generally spoken we are sure that the overall layer grows following a mechanism of dissolution and precipitation. Thus, crystal size and porosity of the oxide layer close to the metal can easily be explained.

4. METHODS FOR IMPROVING CORROSION PROTECTIVE LAYERS

When we started our work in the early 80's the first idea was to modify the oxide composition. The oxide lattice should be a stronger hindrance to electron and ion transfer. For this purpose complex compounds of titarium and zirconium were decomposed in the corrosive medium to deposit hydroxides of these metals on the corroding surface. Growing mixed spinels were thought



Fig.6. Single crystals of Magnetite generated by chemical transport

to fulfill the above mentioned tasks. But the theoretical foundation which we worked out later did not fit this undertaking. Investigations on single crystals of magnetite (fig.6) and mixed spinels proved to be helpful when we rejected the mechanism of lattice diffusion. Incidently, we could demonstrate that zirconium cannot get together with iron oxides in mixed spinels. But nevertheless both titanium and zirconium improved the quality of corrosion protective layers on unalloyed steel. The reason for this should be diminished porosity of the covering. Therefore it does not matter that zirconium does not build mixed spinels.

In the time being we try to prove the usefulness of our preforming methods by using the above mentioned new methods of investigation. As for the application of zirconium we think a lowering of the corrosion rate by more then 50% is possible. A task in the future is to optimize the process and to carry out experiments in a technological scale.

REFERENCES

/1/ SCHUSTER,E., NEEB, K.H., AHLFANGER, W , HENKELMANN, R., JARNSTROM, R.T , Analyse primarseitiger Oxidschichten von Dampferzeuger-Heizrohren aus DWR-Anlagen und radiochemische Aussagen zur Primarkreiskontamination, VGB Kraftwerkstechnik 68 4 (1988) 441

- /2/ HAUFFE, W , Proceedings on "9 Tagung Elektronenmikroskopie der Physikalischen Gesellschaft der DDR", Dresden (1978) 84
 - /3/ WINKLER, R , LEHMANN, H , Zur Qualitatsbewertung oxidischer Korrosionsschutzschichten, VGB Kraftwerks technik 65 4 (1985) 421
 - /4/ MICHEL, F , WINKLER, R , Ein neuer Weg zur Verbesserung der Korrosionsschutzschichten auf Stahl in Heißwasser, Werkstoffe und Korrosion 39 (1988) 412

BEHAVIOUR OF COLLOIDAL CORROSION PRODUCTS

F. HUTTNER, R. WINKLER Institut für Energietechnik, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

Abstract

The limited effect of elevated pH values in the cooling water of PWRs on activity build-up suggests to consider not only the genuine dissolved fraction of corrosion products but the colloidal fraction, too. Refering to relevant publications sources of colloids in the coolant and their contribution to corrosion product transport are discussed.

Reactor circuit material corrosion products can be found as ions or molecules and particles in the coolant Thermodynamic conditions for existence of the latter mentioned will be given when the concentration of corrosion products exceeds solubility. Solubility depends on the nature of the material dissolved, on temperature and chemical composition of the solvent. The fraction of solids is subdivided qualitatively into colloids and coarse disperse material.

Both surface forces and mass forces may play a role for the behaviour of solid particles in the coolant It will be decisive which forces prevail under the given hydrodynamic and chemical conditions. Among the forces proportional to the surface size of a particle are forces of viscosity and such forces resulting from interactions with electric surface charge However, forces of gravity and inertia are proportional to the mass of a particle and thus (at constant density) proportional to their volume.

The behaviour of a solid particle will essentially depend on its size. If the existence of spherical particles is assumed for reasons of simplification, the particle surface increases with the square of radius, whereas the particle volume increases with its third power Consequently, with increasing particle size the influence of the mass forces will grow more rapidely than that of the surface forces /9/. Thus, there is a certain particle size from which forces of the mass will prevail Corrosion product particles in the coolant, where surface forces are prevailing compared to mass forces, are referred to as colloids. Starting from this definition the upper limit of colloidal range of size will not be

70

regarded as a constant value but as dependent on the nature of corrosion products and hydrodynamic conditions The transition is rather to be considered fluid

The subdivision of corrosion products into genuinely dissolved, colloidal and coarse disperse material as often done for practical purposes is of actually arbitrary character taking into account qualitative differences only relatively. Thus, it is suitable for the investigation of mechanisms of activity build-up to a limited extent only Here even substantially improved coolant sampling and sample treatment will be required

In general corrosion products not retained by a filter of 0.45 μm are regarded as genuinely dissolved. Investigations by LISTER /1/ demonstrate how arbitrary such an approach is. There reactor coolant samples were filtered through filters with pore widths of 0.45 and 0.2 μm and the activity of the filtrate was determined. There was no significant variation stated between untreated samples and the filtrate of the 0.45 μm test. However, the activity at the 0.2 μm filter test was only half as high. This esult emphasizes the importance of colloidal particles of small particle sizes for processes of activity build-up, this share will not be regarded as a colloidal fraction by conventional experiments.

If a solid sample is dipped into an aqueous solution an electric charge will be generated on its surface due to interactions with this medium. This process is described in detail in /2/. The quantitative expression of this surface charge is the zeta potential, which depends above all on the nature of the surface and the pH value of the solution. The surface charge of a particle yields an interaction with other electrically charged surfaces. this concerns both further particles and larger surfaces (tube walls etc.). The interactions are of electrostatic or electrodynamic nature Phenomena such as electrostatic force of attraction (or repulsion) between surfaces play a role as well as electrophoresis or electromigration. The pecularity of colloids to other dispersed particles consists in the fact that such interactions caused by the surface are absolutely prevailing in comparision to other interactions. Hence, a colloidal solution is stab le up to a certain critical particle size due to repulsion between surfaces of the same charge.

According to /3/ the colloidal fraction amounts roughly to 90% of the total mass of corrosion products in the primary coolant of PWRs. Thus, these corrosion products provide a relatively large total surface in the circuit, which greatly favours adsorption processes. With a negative zeta potential of colloidal particles the adsorption of positively charged cobalt ions will be promoted. Therefore, colloids are perfectly suitable to exert a carrier function for ions relevant for activity build-up. Sources for colloids in the primary coolant circuit of PWRs are basically the direct liberation of corrosion products of material surfaces as well as the dissolution of oxide layers. There are indications that the colloidal fraction mainly consists of "fresh" corrosion products/4/

During growth and ageing of particles the scope of colloidal size is exceeded /5/. With the interaction of colloids large-sized agglomerates emerge This process is subdivided into two phases: The transport of particles to collision and their subsequent interaction resulting in the formation of bigger particles /6/ Flow effects oppose particle growth such that a maximum stable agglomerate size is obtained.

Sinks for colloidal fractions can be primary water purification, deposition on surfaces, ageing (exceeding of the scopeof colloidal size by particle growth) and dissolution due to changes in existence conditions of colloids

For mathematical modelling of colloidal corrosion product behaviour, especially relevant for predictions of deposition on fuel elements and other surfaces within the circuit there are various theoretical approaches known. RODLIFFE et al. /6/ base on the fact that colloidal particle transport through the hydrodynamic boundary layer towards the wall is mainly effected by BROWNian diffusion. If a temperature gradient is present thermophoresis influences bigger colloidal particles. Both transport mechanisms are combined as a simple superposition. Thermophoresis is opposed to the temperature gradient, thus deposition will bereduced on heating surfaces and promoted on cooling surfaces by this effect.

BRUSAKOV et al. /7/ however assume thermodynamics of irreversible processes in order to describe material transport through the hydrodynamic boundary layer. Thereby, a gradient of the electric potential is generated through the boundary layer by the temperature gradient when a heat flow is present /8/. The electric field generated in this way is considered the main cause of material transport in the vincinity of the wall and woreover to exert an essential influence on electrochemical processes Other influences on material transport, such as zeta potentials, electrostatic interactions, thermodiffusion and BROWNian diffusion of particles are not considered in this model. The PELTIER-effect as a probable initiator of material transport in the boundary layer is seen as an absolute cause. According to the model by BRUSAKOV it depends on the type of potential forming ions whether particle deposition on heating surfaces is promoted or inhibited

Doubtlessly it is of high importance to apply the thermodynamics of irreversible processes to physicochemical relations in the phase boundary layer However, It should also be noted that for many processes the distance from thermodynamic equilibrium can be sufficiently wide to act clearly in the nonlinear scope of irreversible thermodynamics. This also includes the variant of the formation of dissipative structures due to the impact of irreversible processes proceeding in the boundary layer.

Considerations on the effect of electric conductivity of the coolant, temperature and flow rate to the expansion of the electric field generated by the surface charge and thus on material transport of colloidal particles are descriped by GASPARINI et al. /9/.

A fundamental paper on the formation of electrochemical surface forces and on the possible effect on material transport processes was published by SMITH-MAGOWAN /2/. There the zeta potential of the surface plays an essential role. The direct relationship between this parameter and the streaming potential experimentally accessible relatively simply is indicated. Probably, the lack of experimental data on colloidal behaviour under high temperature conditions may be overcome by utilizing this relationship.

For experimental investigations the generation of artificial colloidal corrosion products is important A paper by MATIJEVIC /10/ deals with this problem as well as with the possible influence of colloids in nuclear power stations.

REFERENCES

- /1/ LISTER, D.H., The Transport of Radioactive Corrosion Products in High Temperature Water - I. Recirculating Loop experiments, Nuclear Sci. Eng. 58 (1975) 239
- /2/ SMITH-MAGOWAN, D , The Impact of Colloidal Chemistry on Radioactivity Transport in Nuclear Power Plants, Rep. EPRI/NP-4032, (1985)
- /3/ WINKLER, R., MITTAG. I., SACHSE, G., Korrosions~ produkte im Primarkreislauf von Druckwasserreaktoren, Kernenergie 12 11 (1969) 347
- /4/ VENZ, H., Korrosionsprodukte im Primarkreislauf des WWER-440, Kerenergie 301 (1987) 33
- /5/ HERMANNSON, H.-P., FALK, I., The Electrokinetic Nature of Colloidal Corrosion Products in LWRs, BNES Conference on "Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems", London, 1 (1986) 91
- /6/ RODLIFFE, R.S., POLLEY, M.V , THORNTON, E.W., Modelling the Behaviour of Corrosion Products in the Primary Heat Transfer Circuits of Pressurized Water Reactors - A Review of Principles, IAEA-TECDOC-429 (1987) 105

- /7/ BRUSAKOV, V.P., et al , Mechanisms Governing the Physico-chemical Processes of Transfer in NPP Circuits, IAEA Specialist's Meeting on "Influence of Water Chemistry on Fuel Element Cladding Behaviour in Water Cooled Power Reactors, Leningrad, (1983) 35
- /8/ BRUSAKOV, V.P., Rules of the Release of Substances from Heat Transfer Surfaces under the Influence of Thermoelectric Effects, Atomnaja Energija 1 (1971) 10
- /9/ GASPARINI, R., DELLA ROCCA, C., IOANILLI, E., A new Approach to Study and Prevention of Deposits in modern Power Stations, Combustion 11 (1969) 12
- /10/ MATIJEVIC, E., Properties of Colloidal Corrosion Products an their Effects on Nuclear Plants, Rep. EPRI/NP-4817 (1986)

12

CORRELATION OF OUT-CORE SURFACE ACTIVITIES AND PRIMARY WATER CHEMISTRY IN VVER-440 REACTORS

G.L. HORVÅTH Institute for Electrical Power Research (VEIKI), Budapest, Hungary

Abstract

3

A systematic data collection programme lounched at PAKS Nuclear Power Plant (NPP), gave a unique possibility to prove the correlation between the out-core sorface radioactivities and primary water chemistry conditions. Analysis showed that out-core corrosion product surface activities (Co-60) are decreasing with increasing cycle average pH(T=270°C) values in the range of pH(T=270°C) = 6,7 - 7,0.

1. INTRODUCTION

Theoretical studies [1-5] and plant experience [6] of the past vears indicated that increasing alkality (pH) in the primary circuit may reduce out-core surface corrosion product radioactivities. Results of these corrosion product transport studies have been applied to the case of VVER-440 type of reactors [1,2,5], and a computer code RADTRAN has been elaborated [1]. Calculations by the code mentionned gave similar results. Figure 1 gives an example of effect of increasing alkality. Curves given are relative to the "zero gradient case", when there is no concentration gradient of corrosion product Iron between the fuel cladding surface and the bulk of the coolant. This case has been taken as 100%. Increasing alkality increases the gradient mentioned, in this way enhancing the removal of deposited to the fuel cladding particulate corrosion products by dissolution and reducing their activation. It can be seen on Fig.1 that if alkality increases to the conditions where $pH(T=25^{\circ}C \text{ without } H3BO3) = 10.2$, than a 6 - 7 fold decrease of out-core surface activities can be expected.

A systematic data collection programme lounched at PAKS Nuclear Power Plant (NPP), gave a unique possibility to prove the above mentioned trend. Surface activity sampling programme is described in [10]. Surface activities (Co-60) has been correlated with operational water chemistry data $pH(T=270^{\circ}C)$ of the plant.

2. EVALUATION OF HIGH TEMPERATURE pH CALCULATIONS

In most of the cases primary water chemistry conditions are characterised by the high temperature pH. Calculational methods





give diversing results first all due to differences in ion product (Kw) of water [7]. pH calculational method [10] used in this study (based on [8,9]) has been compared to other methods available (Fig.2). Our method is using Kw according to Marchall-Franck [11], and it is close to the majority of curves, especially to those using activity coefficients. Differences in the range of high boric acid concentrations may be due to different boric acid dissociation correlations.

3. MEASUREMENTS AT PAKS NUCLEAR POWER PLANT

Primary water chemistry measurement data (K, Na, Li, H3BO3) has been used to calculate the time average value of pH(T=270 °C) for the first cycles of four units of PAKS NPP. Value of 270 °C is the core inlet temperature. Samples of radioactivity has been collected by electrochemical dissolution of oxide layer, with a subsequent measurement of the sample by High Purity Germanium



FIG. 2. Comparison of pH calculations (Westinghouse vs VEIKI).







(HpGe) detectors and multichannel analyzer. Activity data on figures are from electrochemical sampling if not indicated otherwisely. In case of main circulation pipeline contact measurements by HpGe detector were also done, with a subsequent calibration procedure moving a known source on the perimeter of a piece of reserve primary pipeline. Some of the decontamination data of main coolant pumps were also used to derive specific surface activities.

Cycle averages of pH(T=270 °C) have been correlated to the activities measured on the same surfaces of different units (fig.3 - 9). A linear regression line was fitted to each set of data.

Most of the surfaces (except pump housings) showed a decreasing trend of Co-60 activity versus increasing pH(T=270 °C). In case of pump housings only a considerable scatter of data can be noticed. This is in agreement with the theoretical conclusions and other measurements.

74



FIG. 5. SG manhole cover (primary), coldleg (first cycles).



FIG. 6. SG headers (hotleg and coldleg) (first cycles).







FIG. 8. Main pump rotor (first cycles).


Coldleg & Hotleg

FIG. 9. Main primary pipeline (HpGe measur) (first cycles).

4. CONCLUSIONS

- (a) Analysis of surface activity and primary water chemistry data showed that out-core corrosion product surface radioactivities (Co-60) are decreasing with increasing cycle average pH(T=270 °C) values in the range of pH(T=270 °C) = 6,7 - 7,0.
- (b) A relatively small data base and a considerable scatter of activity measurements make it necessary to involve data of other VVER-440 units operating.

REFERENCES

- HORVÅTH L.G.: Fizikai-kémiai alapokon nyugvó felaktiválódás számitások a RADTRAN programmal. VEIKI Kutatási Jelentés, 1981, 93.90.015-2/2
- 2. HORVÁTH L.G.: A technológiai rendszer felaktiválódását nagymértékben csokkentő nagyhômérsékletű szűrés lehetőségeinek vizsgálata VVER atom- erômúben. VEIKI Kutatási Jelentés, 1982. junius.

- HORVÁTH L.G.:et al: A Paksi Atomerômů 1. és 2. blokk vegyi es dozimetriai méréseinek értékelése a felaktiválódott korroziotermekek szempontjábol. VEIKI Kutatási Jelentes, 1985. december 0312/3.62/3.6
- HORVÅTH L.G.: Az aktív zónán kívůli feluletaktivitások és a primérkori vízuzem ósszefuggése. VEIKI Kutatási Jelentes, 93.92-4022, < 1987.szept.
- 5. HORVÅTH L.G.: Primérkori korroziótermek aktivitás és a vízuzem osszefuggésének vizgálata. VEIKI Kutatasi Jelentés, 93.92-416-2,∢ 1988. dec.
- 6. HORVÅTH L.G.: VVER atomerômůvek vizuzenmi és aktivitás adatainak osszehasonlító elemzése. VEIKI Kutatási Jelentés, 93.92-320-2,∢ 1988 dec.
- 7. Thornton, E.W. Walker, S.M.: Reanalysis of oxide solubilities data. CEGB, TORD/B/1011/R8J PWR/CWG/P(88)539, 1987
- 8. CIVIN,V.: A pH jelentôsége és számításainak lehetôségei bóros szabályozású VVER-440 atomerôművi blokkok primérkorében. VEIKI KUTATÁSI JELENTÉS, 21.90-139/2/1, Vegyészeti Fôosztály, 1980.
- 9. CIVIN, V.: A primerkori hôhordozó nagyhômérsékeletű pH-jának szabályozása az ioncserélő kezelők figyelembevételével. VEIKI KUTATÁSI JELENTÉS, 22.92-404-2, Vegyészeti Fôosztály, 1987.
- 10. HORVÅTH L.G., CIVIN, V,. ORMAI, P., PINTÉR,T. : Influence of the primary circuit water chemistry on out-core susface activities. IAEA WACOLIN, CRP, 30 May-3 June, 1988, Heildelberg, FRG
- 11. MARSHALL, W.L., FRANCK, E.V.: Ion product of water substance, 0-1000 °C, 1-10000 bars, new international formulation and its background, J.Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, 10,295
- 12. MESMER,R.E., BAES,C.F., SWEETON,F.H.: Boric acid equilibria and pH in PWR coolants. Proc. 32nd Int. Conf. on Water Chem. Pittsburg, Nov., 1971, p.55

INFLUENCE OF THE PRIMARY CIRCUIT WATER CHEMISTRY ON OUT-CORE SURFACE ACTIVITIES

G L. HORVÅTH, V CIVIN Institute for Electrical Power Research, Budapest

P. ORMAI, T PINTÉR Nuclear Power Plant Paks, Paks

Hungary

Abstract

In this paper is recalled the importance of water chemistry on solubility of corrosion products in the primary circuit of water cooled reactors

Methods of pH calculation at high temperature are given and discussed Radioactivity measurements on Hungarian reactors PAKS are then given showing that application of high pH coordinated chemistry is favorable

1. INTRODUCTION

3

In the present generation of nuclear power plants the majority of the operational personal doses are created by maintenance work as a result of activated corrosion products mostly during shut-downs.

Limited access to major primary circuit components reduces plant availability, involves economic aspects and may influence plant safety. In this way it is obvious that a reduction of corrosion product activities on out-core surfaces is desirable.

Activated corrosion product transport research in Hungary started several years before the first operation of Paks units and a considerable thoretical and calculational work was done, including transport codes /RADTRAN, fig./ Theoretical studies gave the scientific basis for the understanding of the most important physico-chemical processes in the corrosion product activation, but needed experimental and operational support. One of the major findings of the theoretical works were the type of influence of primary water chemistry to activity build-up [16]. As an obvious continuation, an attempt to verify these findings followed, in operational conditions. Therefore the main research objective of the coming years is to correlate out-core corrosion product



Code system for corrosion product transport modelling and the decision making process [16].

surface activities with water chemistry of the primary circuit of real power plant units. In the framework of this objective the following tasks were formed:

- developing a method for the evaluation of the primary water chemistry,
- evaluating the operational data of VVERs using the above method,
- systematic collection of surface activity data from VVER-440s,
- correlating surface activity data with the primary circuit water chemistry to find ontimal conditions for the minimal out-core corrosion product activities.

In the present report the progress in the first three tasks is reported, in the framework IAEA coordinated Research Progamme "Influence of Primary Water Chemistry on Fuel Cladding Reliability" /WACOLIN/, to fulfil the IAEA Research Agreement N⁰4742/CF for 198.

2 IMPORTANCE OF PRIMARY COOLANT CHEMISTRY

It is widely covered in the literature, that corrosion product /Fe,...etc./ concentrations on primary circuit surfaces /at the boundary layer bottom/ are in equilibrium with oxide layer, i.e. in saturation state. If the corrosion product concentrations in the bulk of coolant are higher than, that on the surfaces, than soluble corrosion products transported to the surface by brownian or turbulent diffusion are crystallysed on the surface.

If this happens on fuel cladding surface, than corrosion products are activated and due to subsecuent release contaminate the out-core surfaces.

The above mentioned situation may be encountered if corrosion product solubility decreases with increasing temperautre i.e. in case of negative solubility vs. temperature gradient. Therefore in most of the reactors, in the whole primary circuit temperature range, a positive solubility gradient is kept during operation.

The sign of temperature gradient of solubility /at given temperature/ depends first of all on high temperature pH /pHT/ of coolant. There is a certain value of pHT=PHT, O at which the gradient is zero. In the region above this point, the gradient is positive and under it, it is negative.

The mentioned $pH_{T,O}$ is mostly defined as the pH_T value where

$$k = \frac{dC_s}{dT} \quad \frac{1}{C_s} = 0$$

where:

C_s - corrosion product /Fe/ solubility at T temperature, in equilibrium with corrosion product oxides /magnetite/.

There are very limited data for $pH_{T,O}$. Some calculations were published in [1] using classical Sweeton & Baes data as source /fig.l/. This figure shows that $pH_{T,O}$ increases with dereasing temperature. Additional available data on $pH_{T,O}$ were summarised in table 1. Early calculations by McDonald et al. [2] are obviously overestimating the $pH_{T,O}$ because these are not considering the temperature dependence of dissolution constants of LiOH. The other sources show that a range of

$$^{\text{DH}}_{270}$$
, $^{\circ}_{\text{C},0} = 6, 8 - 1, 14$

may be expected. Temperaturs in table 1 have been choosen to be typical for VVER-440s

270 ^OC - bulk coolant temperature at core inlet,

300 ^OC - bulk coolant temperature at core outlet

There is considerable evidence about the crystallization due to negative value of k. Some cases were reported in [5-8], when the application of NH₃ alone as an alkalising agent caused severe depositions on fuel, while using strong bases /LiOH or KOH/ eliminated these problems. Similar observations were reported in [3] and [9].

The value of $pH_{T,O}$ determines the place of crystallization in the primary circuit. In case of

$$pH_{T} = pH_{T,O'}$$

this means, that crystallysation will take place at places with temperature lower than T. /This happens because pH_T decreases and $pH_T,0$ increases with decreasing temperature in the operating temperature range of the primary circuit/. If there is no such temperature in the core, than crystallization will take place outside the core.



22

Table 1 Comparison of different sources for $pH_{T,O}$, $(pH_{T,O})$ is the value of pH_{T} where $k = \frac{dCs}{\alpha\Gamma} \cdot \frac{1}{Cs} = 0$ is valued.

SOURCE	^{рН} т,О	
	T=270 ⁰ C	$T = 300^{\circ}C$
D.D. McDonalds et al. [2]	7,38 [×]	7,12 [*]
Bosselman et al. [1]	6,81	6,61
Sweeton Baes [3]	7,14	6,8
Lambert Sandler	n.a.	/ ¹ ×
Barge et al. [4]	n.a.	0,0

*/ ph_T value at which Cs=f/pH_T/= min, which is very close to conditions for k=0 according to [1] /see Fig.1/.

In operating reactors fuel cladding surface temperatures are always higher than core inlet bulk temperatures. For the case of VVER-440 type reactors this is 270°C and if:

^{pH}270 ≥ ^{pH}270,0

than corrosion product solubilities on fuel cladding surfaces are higher, than that in the bulk of coolant. This means the cladding has self-cleaning properties.

The slightly positive value of "k" is ensured by the primary coolant quality specifications.

3. PRIMARY COOLANT QUALITY SPECIFICATIONS

There are certain differences in the design of different reactors in

- temperature *

5

- pressure of boric acid,
- alkalising agent /LiOH or KOH+NH3/,

×	Temperature /OC/			
	core inlet	core outlet		
VVER-440	270	300		
CANDU	266	310		
PWR 900 MW /France/	284	321		
PWR 1300 MW / " /	292	329		
Atucha-1	262	2		

Equivalent Potassium (my/kg)



Figure 2. Comparison of different primary coolant specifications independent of boron concentrations. (Li and boron concentrations have been converted to equivalent potassium and boric acid.)

therefore these specifications may be different. Fig 2 summarizes the specifications for the case when alkalising agent concentration is independent of boric acid content. Fig. 3 gives the cases where the coordinated water regime is applied. Coordinated coolant specifications are mostly a narrow range of the boron-independent specifications, and are similar against the differences in the reactor design. They are expected to ensure a slightly positive value of "k" at the coldest place in the primary circuit. PRIMARY COOLANT SPECIFICATIONS VVER-440 (5mg NH3/kg) Ranges Dependent on Boron E d F. 1982 RWE (Biolis) CANDU 1972

Equivalent Potassium (mg/kg)

Boric Acid Concentration (g/kg)

Figure 3. Comparison of boron correlated primary coolant specifications. (Li and boron concentrations have been converted to equivalent potassium and boric acid.)

4. EVALUATION METHODS OF THE PRIMARY COOLANT CHEMISTRY

Primary water chemistry is mostly evaluated in

$$Base /L_1, K = f /Boric acid$$

or

$$pH_m = f / Boric acid,$$

terms and compared to minimal base concentration or minimal pH_T needed for positive magnetite solubility coefficient [3], [8]. A detailed analyses based mostly on the last method has been reported in [10] accounting **a**lso the time spent while values of pH_T higher than certain critical levels, were valued.

For the evaluation of primary coolant chemistry the pH_T method was selected, because $pH_{T,O}$ is independent of the boric acid con-

centration and different base /Li, K, Na, NH₄OH/ concentrations can easily be taken into account.

In VVER-440 type reactors in normal power operation the boric acid concentration is below 6,5-7 g/kg, therefore cases higher than that should not be considered.

As a respective temperature for pH_T calculation the liquid bulk temperature at core inlet $/ \stackrel{\scriptstyle \scriptstyle =}{=} 270^{\circ}\text{C}/$ has been selected. Only those chemical data were analysed where all base /K,Li,Na/ data were available.

To calculate the high temperature pH a method described in [11] and [12] has been used /App.A/. Method described in [11] is based mostly on early data [13], which considerably overestimates the pH_T in comparison with Mesmer data [12,14]. Overestimation reaches 0.6 pH units in the range of higher /6 g/kg/ boric acid concentrations and 0.15 pH units without boric acid. In case of [11] only two dissoliation species of H3BO3 in treated, but in [12] number of these species reaches three. Comparison to other calculations [1,15] gave similar results, although the differences were smaller. Figure 4 showes the differences in pH2700C calculated by the two methods mentioned.





Figure 4. High temperature pH calculated for PAKS Nuclear Power Plant Unit III cycle 1 using early [11] and developed ([12],Mesmer) data.

Some of the preliminary evaluation have been done using the early data /Fig. 5. and 6 /, but for further work the pHT calculation method based on Mesmer data has been selected.

5. SURFACE ACTIVITY DATA COLLECTION AT PAKS NUCLEAR POWER PLANT UNITS

An intensive survey and sampling programme has been initiated at Paks Nuclear Power Plant since the start of the first unit. The surface activities of the primary circuit components were determined by:

- electrochemical dissolution of the oxide laver fig.7. and measuring the active a.d inactive constituents by HpGe detector and CANBERRA-80 analyzator and atomic adsorption device resp.,
- measuring the gamma flux outside the main primary circuit ripeline by a collimated HpGe detector and calculating the surface activities by computer codes and by using calibration data*/ /in-line measurements/.

After the first few trials mostly electro-chemical dissolution of the oxide layer was used /duration of sampling is 1 minute/, because the black oxide layer grown on high temperature surface turned to be very dense and adhesive, not suitable for mechanical sample taking. Typ cal sampling places are the followings:

- reactor cap /Fig.8/,
- steam generator primary header walls and cover /fig.9/,
- main primary circulating pump's wheel and housing /fig.l0/,
- control rod drives,
- steam senerator tubing... etc.

"In-line measurement" places on the main circulating pipeline /4 places on each loop/ core given on fig.ll.

First experience shows that in the primary circuit the Co-58, Co-60 isotores dominate /fig.l2/. Abbreviations used for different primary circuit parts in fig.l2:

- R.Cap reactor cap /cover/
- CRD control rod drives
- H.Head hot header of steam generator /cover/,
- H.leg hot leg biping
- SG tubes steam generator heat exchange tubes,
- C.Head cold header of steam generator /cover/,

PRIMARY COOLANT CHEMISTRY HISTORY PAKS-I and II units, cycle-1, 1983-84



Figure 5. Comparison of pH(T=270 C) calculated using Meek [11] data for the first cycles of PAKS-I and II units versus time.



Figure 6. Comparison of pH(T=270 C) calculated using Meek [11] data for the first cycles of PAKS-I and II units versus boric acid

^{*/} Measurements were calibrated on a reserve 2m long piece of primary pipeline by moving a source of known activity along the internal perimeter of the tube [17].



- Figure 7. Devices used for sample-taking of oxide layer from internal surfaces of the primary circuit equipment.
 - a./ mechanical sampling device
 - b./ electrochemical sampling device



Figure 8. Typical sample-taking places at the reactor cap of VVER-440 reactors.

P Pump housing] - main primary pump housing, C.leg - cold leg piping, P.Pump] - cold leg piping at the main primary C.leg] - cold leg piping at the main primary pumps, P.Pump] - bladed wheel of the main primary wheel] pumps.

Share of fission products and non-stainless steel activated products in doses are not very significant except Ag-110 m /see fig.13/.

Results of surface activity data collection of unit-1 of Paks plant are given in fig. 14-18. Abbreviations and legend on these figures is given as:

PAKS-1 measurements:

- a cold leg main primary pipeline,
- hot leg main primary pipeline,
- SG tubes,
- reactor cover,
- - neutron detector casing
- I cold leg range including main primary pumps cold leg piping, SG header covers,

OTHER DATA:

- data of other PWR nuclear power plans including different surfaces:
 - Rheinsberg /GDR/,
 - Armjanskoe-1 /SU/,
 - Kola-1 /SU/,
 - Novovororesh /SU/,
 - R-900 /France/,
 - Plant A, B /USA/,

....- average data of other VVER-440 reactors,

--- - early model's calculated equilibrium.

Figures 14-18 high/light that the Co-58 and Co-60 activities of PAKS-1 unit are considerable lower than those of other /first of all western/ nuclear power plants, which could be attributed to absence of cobalt containing alloys in the primary circuit of VVERs.

The greatest activities in the primary circuit in PAKS-1 were near the main primary pumps. Even though a great scatter of data is observed, it is remarkable that the surface activity of steam generator heat exchange tubes is lower than that of the rest of surfaces.



Figure 9. Typical sample-taking places at the steam generator primary header and its cover.



Figure 10. Typical sample-taking places at the housing of main primary circulating pumps.



Figure 11. Places for "in-line" measurements on the main circulating pipelines of VVER-440 reactors. (Measuring the gamma radiation flux by collimated HpGe detector outside the tube to determine surface activities on inside walls.







Figure 13. Proportions of stainless steel and non-stainless steel originated activated corrosion products in the primary circuit of unit-1 of PAKS Nuclear Power Plant after the 2nd cycle (1.68 eff.f.p.years).



Figure 14. Mn-54 surface activities of different parts of the primary circuit at Unit-1 of PAKS Nuclear Power Plant after the first and second cycles compared to surface activities of other PWR and VVER type rectors. Legend See p 82



Figure 15. Fe-59 surface activities of different parts of the primary circuit at Unit-1 of PAKS Nuclear Power Plant after the first and second cycles compared to surface activities of other PWR and VVER type rectors. Legend See p 82



Figure 16. Co-58 surface activities of different parts of the primary circuit at Unit-1 of PAKS Nuclear Power Plant after the first and second cycles compared to surface activities of other PWR and VVER type rectors. Legend: See p. 82.



Figure 17. Co-60 surface activities of different parts of the primary circuit at Unit-1 of PAKS Nuclear Power Plant after the first and second cycles compared to surface activities of other PWR and VVER type rectors. Legend: See p 82



Figure 18. Correlation between the out-core surface activities and mean pH(T=270 C) during the first cycles of PAKS-1,2 and 3 units. pH(T=270 C) values are based on early Meek data and are therefore overestimated.

6. CORRELATION OF SURFACE ACTIVITIES WITH PRIMARY COOLANT CHEMISTRY

As it was mentioned in ch. 2-4, dependence of surface activities on primary coolant chemistry parameters is expected. The first preliminary analysis was done using the old /Meek, [11] / data for pH_T calculations therefore pH_T values on fig. 18 are overestimated by 0,3-0,5 pH units. Apart from the overestimation fig.18 reflexts the main trend showing a serious decrease of surface activities with increasing pH_T. It should be noted, that the data base for final conclusions is at present limited /only reactor cover data of first cycles of PAKS-1, 2 and 3 units were analysed/, therefore these data should be treated with some care. The evaluation of activities of other surfaces and 2nd cycles of Paks units is at present under preparation. The water-chemistry will be evaluated by the Mesmer based pH_T calculations.

7. CONCLUSIONS

- Primary coolant chemistry has a decesive role on corrosion product activity build-up on out-core primary circuit surfaces.
- Most of the present primary coolant quality specifications apply the Base ≅ f /Boric acid/ type "correlated" water chemistry.
- Systematic data collection of Paks Nuclear Power Plant units proved that a correlation between high temperature pH and out-core corrosion product activities may exist.

CALCULATION OF HIGH TEMPERATURE PH VALUES BY VISICALC CODE

The calculational algorithm in this appendix is given for the Mesmer method [12]. The early calculational method /Meek [11] / is obtained if $K_2 = 0$ is choosen.

columns lines	A	В	с	D	E
1 2 3 4 5 5 7 8 9			$C6 = \lambda$ $C9 = D$ $C10= E$ $C11= a$		E6 = K E7 = KK E8 = KN E9 = K1 E10 = K2 E11 = K2
Where:	$K_W = 1$ on product of $K_K = dissotiation con- K_N = "K_1 = first dissotiat K_2 = second "K_3 = third "$	f water onstant of KOF " of NH tion constant " "	d of H ₃ B0 ₃ "	A = 61,8 D = 0,00 E = 0,00 $a = 2.K_2$	1.6.K ₃ 1.K _N /17 1.K _K /39,1 / (3.K ₃)

CONTENT OF CELLS:

A/2

Content of columns for calculation of primary coolant data pH_T . Each line represents one set of primary coolant data. /X- means the index of lines/

Column	Mathematical form	VisiCalc form
A	Year,Month	A _x /plant data/
В	Day.hour	B _x /plant data/
С	Calendar time since the beginning of each month $/h/$	24 $\times (INT(B_{\chi}) - 1) + (B_{\chi} - INT(B_{\chi})) \times 100$
D	Calendar time since the previous data line /h/	c _x - c _{x-1}
E	Calendar time since the start of cycle /h/	$E_{x-1} + D_x$
F	Boricacid concentration /0 _B , g/kg/	F _x /plant data/
G	Sodium concentration /mg/kg/	G_/ " /
Н	Potassium "/mg/kg/	H _x / " /
I	Lithium "/mg/kg/	I_x / " /
J	Equivalent potassium concentration /0 _K , mg/kg/	39,1* (G _x /23 + H _y /39,1 + I _y /6,94)
к	NH ₃ concentration /Q _N , mg/kg/	K /plant data/

Column	n Mathematical form	VisiCalc form
2	<pre>[H[*]] -hydrogen ion concentration before the next iteration</pre>	Before the first calculation: $10^{-7/}$ at further calculations: 10^{-7}
0	$[HB1] = \frac{a^3}{27} - a \cdot \left(\frac{[H^{\dagger}] + K_1}{18 \cdot K_3}\right) - \frac{Q_B [H^{\dagger}]}{61, 81.6 \cdot K_3}$	\$C\$ 11 ³ /27-\$C\$11*(N _x -\$E\$9) / (18*\$E\$11) -F _x *N _x /\$C\$6
Þ	$[HB^{2}] = \left[\left(\frac{[H^{\dagger}] + K_{1}}{9.K_{3}} - \frac{a^{2}}{9} \right)^{3} + [HB^{1}]^{2} \right]^{1/2}$	@SORT(((N _x +\$E\$9)/\$E\$11-\$C\$11 ²) ³ /729+ 0 _x ²)
Q	$[HB] = (-[HB1] + [HB2])^{1/3} + (-[HB1] - [HB2])^{1/3} - a$	/3 /-0 _x +P _x / [^] /1/3/ +{ -0 _x +P _x } [^] (1/3) -\$C\$11/3

.

A/4

Content of columns for calculation of primary coolant data $/pH_{\rm T/}$

Column	Mathematical form	VisiCals form
R	${}^{\text{pH}_{T}^{\text{next}}} = -\frac{1}{2} \log_{10} \frac{K_{V} + K_{1} [\text{HB}] + K_{2} [\text{HB}]^{2} + K_{3} [\text{HB}]^{3}}{1 + \frac{K_{N} \frac{0.001}{17} Q_{N}}{(K_{N} [\text{H}'] + K_{V})} + \frac{K_{K} \frac{0.001}{39.1} Q_{K}}{(K_{K} [\text{H}'] + K_{V})}$	
S	pH ^{next} - pHt	$R_{x} + LGT(N_{x})$
T	pH ^{next} .∆t	$R_{x} \approx (D_{x}/2 + D_{x} + 1/2)$

87

REFERENCES

- BOSSELMANN, W , KITTEL, H., SCHOEDER,H.J.: Die Abhangigkeit zwischen pH-Wert, Lithiumhydroxidund Borsaure-konzentration. VGB KRAFTWERKSTECHNIK 60, Heft 12, Dez.1980, p. 995-999
- 2 McDONALDS,D.D., SHIERMANN, G.R , BUTTLER, P. The Thermodynamics of Metal Water Systems at Elevated Temperatures. Part 2, ALCL-4137, 1972.
- 3 LIPPENS, M., et al.: Fuel Rod Failure Induced by Waterside Corrosion in Reactor BR-3: Failure Description and Water Chemistry Analysis. IAEA Specialist's Meeting "Influence of Power Reactor Water Chemistry on Fuel Cladding Reliability" SAN MINIATO /ITALY/, 12-16 Oct.1981.
- 4 BERGE, Ph., et al.: Experience francaise seer le controle chimique de l'ean at le controle des produits de corrosion des reacteur a ean sous pression. IALA-SM-264/7, Int.Conf. 1982. Vienna, Austria
- 5 BARTON, J.W., ARCLES, F.: Experience with Ferritic and Austenitic Steel PWR Circuits. IAEA-5M-264/10
- 6 MARGULOVA, T.H., RASSZOHIN, N.G.: O nogeznosti amjachnogo rezima dlja pervih konturov jagernih reaktorov CMEA Conference, GERA /GDR/ 10-16 Nov.1968.
- 7 THOMLINSON, L. et al.: Deposition of Magnetite from Solution onto steam Generator Tube Surfaces and Corrosion of the Underlying Steel. Water Chemistry II., BNES, 1980, Paper 5.
- 8 THOMASET, J. et al.: Power Reactor Experience and Experimental Program to Control Crud Build-up on Fuel Assemblies in French PWRs. See [3]
- 9 BALNPLAN, P., BAIROT, H.: Investigation of Fuel Element Cladding Interaction Water Coolant in Power Reactors. IALA, CRP Meeting June 4-8, 1985, Budapest /Hungary/
- 10 Means, F A , Radliffe, R S., Harding, K An investigation of particulate corrosion product tansients in the primary coolant of the Winfrith Steam Generating Heavig Water Reactor, Nuclear Technology vol 47, March, 1980 pp 385-396
- 11 CIVIN, V.. A pH jelentősége es számításának lehetőségei boros szabalyozasu VVER-440 atomerőmuvi blokkok primérkorében VEIKI Report, VF-21.90-139-2/1, 1980.

- 12 CIVIN, V A primerkori hóhordozo nagyhómersekletű pH-janak szabalyozasa az ioncserelő kezelők figyelembevetelevel VEIKI, Budapest, 22 92-404-2
- 13 COHEN, P Water Coolant Technology of Power Reactors, American Nuclear Society, 1980, ISN -0-89448-020-0
- 14 MESMFR, R.E., BAES, C.F., SWELTON, F.H.: Inorgamic Chemistry 11 (3) 537 /1972/ and Proc.of 32nd Int.Conf. on Water, Pittoburg, USA p.55-63 /1973/
- 15 SEJNIN, R.A., et.al.: Nomogrammi VII glja raschota pH teplonositelja pervogo Kontura VVER. TEPLOENERGETIKA 1981, No 8., p.72-74.
- 16 HORVÁTH,L.G.: Activation of Corrosion Products in VVER-440 Reactors. Thesis, VEIKI, H-1055, Budapest, P.O.B. 233
- 17 ORMAI, P., PINTÉR, T., et al.: In-situ measurements of corrosion deposits on the primary system at Paks Nuclear Power Plant. Int. Conf. "Tater Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems IV." BNES, London, 1986.

GOOD PRACTICES OF MAN-REM REDUCTION IN PHWRs

K S VENKATESWARLU, P K MATHUR, S.V. NARASIMHAN, G VENKATESWARAN Water Chemistry Division, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Bombay, India

Abstract

Good practices for man-rem reduction in PHWRs are described based on the effective control of both source and 'receipient'terms Various important steps viz, proper structural materials selection, preconditioning, maintenance of low dissolved O2 and high narrow range pH control for the primary coolant, increased rate of collant purification and frequent chemical decontamination for control of rediation field build-up on out-of-core surfaces have been discussed Quick detection of failed fuel and its removal are described for minimising the levels of fission products

1 Introduction

The contribution to plant radiation levels depends on the deposition of radioactivity onto the surfaces of components in the heat transport circuits and depends on two major terms They are

1 Source term - the concentration of ^{60}Co (in the coolant) flowing over the surface

2 Recipient term - the ability of the surface to take up radioactivity

Good practices for man-rem reduction in PHWRs are based on the control of the above mentioned terms with the help of the following parameters

- 1 Chemistry
- 2 Material of Construction
- 3 Location of failed fuel and removal
- 4 Decontamination

2 Source of radiation fields

The major cause of radiation fields in PHWRs is the radionuclide ⁶⁰Co, though fission product nuclides and ⁶⁵Zn have been dominating in some specific reactors due to variety of other reasons like the presence of failed fuel and loose Zinc The primary system structural alloys (steels and high Ni slloys) corrode rather slowly in the primary coolent and are transported as both soluble and insoluble matter (crud). The corrosion products that are deposited on fuel surfaces, during their residence time, become radioactive due to n irradiation.

еg

50Co (n.r) 80Co

Source of 50Co

- 1 trace Co impurity in structural alloys
- 11 high cobalt hard facing alloys used in valves

The radioactive corrosion products are released from the fuel surface and get deposited on out-of-core surfaces after transportation by the coolant

Carbon steel, being the major out-of-core constructional material of a PHWR, produces two-layer oxide in a chemically reducing environment. The inner layer contains crystals of precipitated magnetite. The radioactive corrosion products arriving at the out-of-core surfaces diffuse down the pores of the inner layer and are incorporated firmly. Coprecipitation along with the inactive corrosion products and surface crud deposition tend to build up radioactivity in the outer layers.

Material of construction currently used in PHT system of PHWRs

1	Piping (Feeders, headers etc)	Carbon steel
2	Core components (fuel clad,	Zircaloy - 2
	coolant tube etc.)	Zircaloy - 4
		Zr-2 5 Nb alloy
3	SG tube material	Honel - 400
		Inconel - 600
		Incoloy - 800

Presently practised coolant chemistry with reducing environment

pH 10 3 - 10 7 (with Li 0 35 - 1 4 mg/kg of D₂O) Diss H₂ 3 - 10 cc/kg (D 0 removal)

3 Material selection

The source term can be effectively controlled by a suitable material selection and by lowering the content of cobalt (59Co)

1	Carbon steel	0 015% reduced to 0 006%
2	Nı alloys	0 15% reduced to 0 005%
3	Stellite- 6	repace with Colmonoy - 4
		Colmonoy - 5
		Colmonoy - 440 C
		Deloro - 50

Increased coolant purification

Another mode of source term control is by increased coolant purification. The general reduction in the inventory of dissolved corrosion product and crud occurs due to increased PHT purification circuit flow. While this factor assists in reducing the radiation fields by minimising the basic inventory of metals in the coolant it does not eleminate the generation of metals in coolant. Hot filtration using magnetic and graphite filters are only different technologies employed besides the conventional. Ion exchange filteration

Dependance on Chemistry

In the temperature range $250 - 315^{\circ}$ C and pHzs region 10 3 - 10 7, the solubility of magnetite shows a strong positive temperature coefficient Hence the core resident time of the crud is minimised by reducing the fuel deposit thickness to a region of 10 - 40 mg/m² Hence, pH control over this narrow range is mandatory. The importance of pH control from the point of view of general corrosion and release of corrosion product is only of secondary nature. However, the high pH excursion is deleterious to the zirconium oxide film and also causes radiolysis due to oxidising radicals Hence pH > 10 7 should be avoided

Diss Oz effects

The oxygen excursion has a direct influence on

- a) CS pitting, corrosion
- b) Attack of Monel tubes of boilers
- c) SCC of austenitic alloys
- d) Zirconium alloy corrosion

Its effect will only be in the form of increase in circulating crud concentration leading to an addition of source term. Hence, dissolved oxygen must be restricted to 5 µg 02/kgD20 by H2 injaction

The recipient term and source term are interlinked and is dictated by the water chemistry. The interdependancy is system specific and may also be a function of features like preconditioning, demontamination and chemistry excursion in a single system.

4 Preconditioning

Hot conditioning has been one of the regular excercises to build up oxide layers on CS surfaces without the incorporation of radioactive atoms prior to startup. This reduces the radiation build up during actual operation. An improvement in the quality of magnetite layer by carrying out hot conditioning under controlled chemistry conditions. Introduction of EDTA hotconditioning and/or Zine injection passivation (ZIP) could provide a solution for reduction of radioactivity on out-of-core surfaces. A conditioning step may also become mandatory subsequent to each decontamination before going to power

5 Decontamination

Annual decontamination removes the deposited radioactive corrosion products from out of core surfaces enabling

- 1 Low radiation penalty to personnel to carry out maintenance activities
- 11 Reduced radiation exposure to O/M personnel during subsequent regular plant operations
- 111 As a result of increase in the efficiency of preventive maintenance of critical components, plant life extension is achieved
- 1v In systems where fuel failures have been dominating the radiation levels, decontamination is the only solution

The effects of nuclear radiations, principally neutrons and gamma photons on corrosion products, water and water additives has to be assessed so that the chosen water chemistry and materials of construction result in a system which the corrosion of materials and the activated corrosion product are both minimised

6 Failed fuel detection and removal

PHWR design feature allows on-line refueling It has facility for failed fuel detection and removal of fuel bundles as soon as the clad leak occurs Since there are technical specification limits on radiation levels on systems with failed fuel (< 100μ Ci ¹³¹-I/kg D₂O), the contribution to man-rem problem due to failed fuel is not anticipated as against in BWR In fact with a sheath failure rate per fuel bundle of about 0 1%, the contribution to manrem problem from fission products radiation will only be marginal

However, if some minor leaky pins have been left in core due to some other limitations, it could lead to high levels of fission products (⁹⁵Zr-⁹⁵Nb etc.) overshadowing the contribution from ⁸⁰Co. Implementation of effective fuel failure detection methods and removal of failed fuel are the only answers. Should such a contamination occur in a system, increased purification and decontamination are suggested for system cleaning and reduction of radiation levels.

7 Conclusion

Thus, sequentially the following steps should ensure good practices for man-rem reduction in PHWR s

- 1 Select materials with low Co content
- 2 Allow proper preconditioning of metal surfaces prior to nuclear run
- 3 Ensure reliable operating chemistry
- 4 Employ good filter purification circuit
- 5 Execute planned biennial or triennial decontamination followed by conditioning, if any

90

References

- 1 D Lister, 1988 JAIF Int Conf on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power plants Vol 2, 341-360 (1988), Japan
- 2 D Barber and J P Van Berlo, 1bid, Vol 1, 183-188 (1988)
- 3 C S Lacy and B MontFord, 1bid, Vol 2, 436 (1988)

ASSESSMENT OF FAILED FUEL AND TRAMP URANIUM BASED ON THE ACTIVITY OF FISSION PRODUCTS IN THE PRIMARY CIRCUIT

Jae-Choon YANG Department of Physics, Chungnam National University, Taejon, Republic of Korea

Abstract

We have proposed a model for the nuclear fuel state of the operating power reactor from the physical characteristics of nuclear fission products which have been produced by nuclear reaction between neutron and uranium-235

The model equation for nuclear fission products release has been split into six independent steps 1) calculation of the fission products generation inside the solide nuclear fuel, 2) release from the fuel to the fuel surface in three different ways, 3) release between the fuel surface and gap 4) release from the defective nuclear fuel to the reactor coolant, 5) mass balance in the coolant taking into account the purification rate 6) separation of fission products sources with two parts i e fuel and tramp uranium

We have solved the equation of the model calculated the activity of fission products released from the defected fuel to coolant and put the experimental activity data of the nuclear fission products in the primary coolant to determine the number of defective fuel and amount of tramp uranium by using the computer

The measurement and analysis of nuclear fission products in the primary coolant of nuclear power reactors have been carried out at the pressurized water reactor, Korea Nuclear Unit 2, 7 and 8 We have used the iodine isotopes among the nuclides of fission products

The analysis results have been well agreed with the results of diffusion model and of kinetics model

1 Introduction

Considerable effort has been directed toward understanding fission products release from defected fuel element Physical release processes for defective fuel have generally been deduced from analysis of coolant activity measurements in nuclear power plants and of model equation calculation The fission products release model have been proposed by many researchers The release of fission products within the fuel pellet and at the its sur face may occur in the three different ways recoil, knockout and diffusion in

the interspace fuel pellet and cladding, the kinetic model^[1] had been proposed by Beraha etal. The diffusion model^[2] had also been proposed by Morrison etal.

The comparison of diffusion model with kinetic model^[3] had been performed by Lewis etal T. Aoki had proposed the graphical method^[4] which had analyzed the number of defected fuel and the amount of tramp uranium

We have set up new model which has calculated the generation of fission products in the solid fuel, the release from the fuel to the gap, and the release of fission products into the reactor coolant

The measurement and analysis of fission products in the primary coolant of nuclear power reactor have been carried out at the full power operating condition. We have analyzed the defected fuel and tramp uranium by comparison of the measured activity with calculated activity.

Among the fission products we have mainly focused to the iodine isotopes. We have analyzed the radioactivity of fission products with continuous time intervals to obtain the optimum cooling time of the samples

The study has been carried out at the pressurized water reactor. Korea Nuclear Unit 2, 7 and 8

2 Model Equation

The model equation for fission products release have been split into six independent stepts

1) calculation of the fission products source term on the fuel

- release from the fuel to the gap in three different ways, such as migration, recoil and knockout
- 3) release between the fuel surface and gap
- 4) release from the defective nuclear fuel to the reactor coolant
- 5) mass balance in the coolant taking into acount the purification rate
- 6) separate the fission products with two parts, the one is the release from the fuel and the other is from the tramp uranium

2.1 Source Term Calculation

The rate at which the amount of nuclide i changes as a function of time $(= dB_1/dt)$ is described by a non homogeneous first-order ordinary differential equation as follows^[5]

$$\frac{dB_{i}}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} l_{i,j} \lambda_{j} B_{j} + \phi \sum_{k=1}^{N} f_{i,k} \sigma_{k} B_{k} = (\lambda_{i} + \phi \sigma_{i} + r_{i}) B_{i} + F_{i}$$
(1)
1, 2, 3, N

where

- B₁ atom density of nuclei i
- N number of nuclides
- lij fraction of radioactive disintegration by other nuclides, which leads to formation of species i
- λ_{j} radioactive decay constant
- position and energy averaged neutron flux
- fik fraction of neutron absorption by other nuclides which lead to
 formation of species i
- ok spectrum-averaged neutron absorption cross section of nuclide k
- ri continuous removal rate of nuclide i from the system
- Fi continuous feed rate of nuclide i

Since N nuclides are being considered, there are N equations of the same general form one for each nuclide. This equation is solved by employing the matrix exponential method. In the homogeneous case the system of equations that is being solved can be denoted by

B =	AB	(2)
-	-	(=)

where

- \underline{B} time derivative of nuclide concentrations(a column vector)
- A transition matrix containing the transformation rates
- B nuclide concentrations(a column vector)

This equation has the solution

 $\underline{B}(t) = \exp(At)B(0)$ (3)

where

 $\underline{B}(t)$: concentration of each nuclide at time t

 $\underline{B}(0)$: vector of initial nuclide concentrations

t : time at end of time step

2.2. Release in the Fuel

2.2.1. Kinetics Model

The release of fission products from fuel may occur in three different ways.

2.2.1.1. Recoil

For fission occuring at a distance from the fuel surface of less than the average length of the fission fragment in UO_2 , fission products may be released directly from the fuel.

The number of nuclide i per second by recoil is[4]

$$N_{Ri} \approx B_i \cdot \frac{R}{d} \cdot \frac{h}{R_S} \left(2 - \frac{h}{R_S} \right)$$
(4)

where

d : diameter of pellet

h : gap between the pellet and clad

R : recoil length in the UO₂ fuel

Rs: recoil length in the gap

If cladding material is defective and fuel material is exposed to the water, this equation is

$$N_{Ri} = B_i \cdot \frac{R}{d}$$
 (5)

2.2.1.2, Knockout

A fission fragment that passes through the fuel surface ejects an elementary volume and fission products are included in this volume. The number of nuclide i by knockout is given by

$$N_{ki} = \frac{4}{\pi} \cdot \frac{R}{d^3 l_0} V_m \cdot B_i \frac{\lambda_i F_0 P}{(\lambda_i + \nu_{1i})}$$
(6)

- lo : length of fuel rod
- V_m : ejection volume
- Fo : fission/MWt.s
- P ∶ power(MWt)
- ν_{II} : release constant in the fuel

2.2.1.3. Migration

In accordance with the work of Bayer and $Hahn^{[6]}$ of stable gases, we assume only the fraction f_m of the nuclide quantity in the fuel participates in migration: f_m depends only on the species in the fuel is given by

$$\frac{dN_{m}}{dt} = f_{mi}B_{i} - (\lambda_{i} + \nu_{1i})N_{mi}$$
(7)

The rate of release for this migrating fraction is assumed to be proportional to the concentration in the fuel, such that

$$N_{Di} = \nu_{1i} N_{mi} \tag{8}$$

2.2.2. Diffusion Model

The number of nuclides which have been released from nuclear fuel by diffusion are

$$N_{fi} = 3\left(\frac{D'}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} H_i B_i \tag{9}$$

where D' is an empirical diffusion coefficient and H_i is the correction factor.

93

2.3 Release in the Gap and in the Coolant

2 3 1 Kinetics Model

The mass balance in the gap is given by[1]

$$\frac{dN_{g_1}}{dt} = (N_{R_1} + N_{k_1} + N_{D_1}) - (\nu_{Z_1} + \lambda_1 + \sigma_1 \phi) N_{g_1}$$
(10)

where ν_{21} is release constant in the gap^[4]

For a failed element the release rate of the nuclide through the failure is proportional to the concentration in the gap

$$N_{G_1} = \nu_{2_1} N_{g_1}$$
(11)

The concentration of fission products in the reactor coolant is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}N_{\mathrm{C}1}}{\mathrm{d}t} = N_{\mathrm{C}1} - (\lambda_1 + \beta_1 + \sigma_1 \phi) N_{\mathrm{C}1}$$
(12)

where β_1 is the total purification rate

2 3 2 Diffusion Model

The diffusion equation of the fission products in the fuel-to sheath gap is

$$\frac{\partial N_{g_1}}{\partial t} = D \nabla^2 N_{g_1} - \lambda_1 N_{g_1} + N_{f_1}$$
(13)

where D is the diffusion coefficient in the fuel to sheath gap

The rate of release N_{G_1} of fission products into coolant is given by the surface integral of the flux, which has reached the defect according to Fick's law of diffusion

$$N_{Gi} - D \int_{S} \vec{v} N_{gi} d\vec{A}$$
(14)

 $d\vec{A}$ - $\overset{A}{n}dS,$ and $\overset{A}{n}$ is the unit normal into the defect face from surface element dS

2.4 Tramp Uranium

There are two kinds of fission products source in the primary coolant of the nuclear power reactor. The one is the fission products from defected fuel element, the other is the fission products from tramp uranium in the reactor core.

So we can consider separately the fission products from defected fuel and from tramp uranium.

$$q_1 = \frac{N_{C_1} \lambda_1}{W_p}$$
(15)

$$P_{i} = \left(\frac{\lambda_{i}}{\lambda_{i} + \beta}\right) \frac{N_{R_{i}}}{W_{p}}$$
(16)

$$\mathbf{m}_{i} = \mathbf{q}_{i}\mathbf{D} + \mathbf{P}_{i}\boldsymbol{\partial} \tag{17}$$

where

- W_P mass of primary coolant
- m₁ measured activity of nuclide i
- D number of defected fuel
- θ mass of tramp uranium

3 Result

3.1 Calculation of Fission Products

The generation of fission products in the solid nuclear fuel have been calculated by equation (1) The solution method of this equation is the matrix exponential technique. The half-life, the cross section and the decay chain data of the fission products to be used in the calculation have been extracted from the ENDF/B-V. Fission Product Library — The decay chain data of the fission products are shown in the Table I and Fig 1 The calculated results have been shown in the Tables II and II

r - 1. f	т	N	D-+-	1	:	4 h.u.	Calculation
lable	1.	Nuclear	Data	tsea	1 n	the	carculation

lsotope	Half-life (s)	Independent fractional yield(%)	Daughter	Branching ratio
131SP	1.380×10 ³	1.59×10°	131Tem 131Te	0.150
131Tem	1.080×10 ⁵	1.90×10 ⁻¹	131[131Te	0,800
131Te	1,500×10 ³	1.19×10-1	131	1,000
1311	6,947×10 ⁵	4.15×10 ⁻³	131χem 131χe	0,008 0,992
133Sb	1.440×10 ²	2.08×10°	133Tem 133Te	0,720
133Tem	3.324×10 ²	2.88×100	1331	0,870
1337e 1331	7.470×10 ³ 7.488×104	1.32×10 ⁰ 1.65×10 ⁻¹	133] 133Xem 133Xe	1,000 0,024 0,976

Table II. The Calculated Radioactivity of Iodine Isotopes in the Reactor Fuel of KNU2. (µCi/g)

Irradiation time Isotopes	32, 3d	77, 6d	150, 0d	300, 0d	397. Od
31	8.558×10 ⁵	9.401×10 ⁵	9,571×105	9.709×10 ⁵	9.793×10 ⁵
32	1.377×10 ⁵	1.401×10 ⁶	1.411×106	1.415×10 ⁵	1.423×10 ⁶
33	2.118×10 ⁶	2.122×10 ⁶	2,109×106	2.027×10 ⁶	2.057×10 ⁶
34	2.382×10 ⁶	2.376×10 ⁶	2.349×106	2.291×10 ⁶	2.267×10 ⁶
35	1.972×10 ⁶	1.974×10 ⁶	1.960×106	1.926×10 ⁶	1.914×10 ⁶

Table II. The Calculated Radioactivity of lodine Isotopes in the Reactor Fuel of KNU7, 8, (μ Ci/g)

Irradiation time Isotopes	27, 5d	63, 2d	128. 0d	255, 9d	359, 5d
i 3 i [9.231×10 ⁵	1.037×10 ⁶	1,059×10 ⁶	1.075×10 ⁶	1.085×106
i 3 2]	1.518×10 ⁶	1.550×10 ⁶	1,562×10 ⁶	1.567×10 ⁶	1.575×106
i 3 3 [2.337×10 ⁶	2.334×10 ⁶	2,329×10 ⁶	2.289×10 ⁶	2.272×106
i 3 4 [2.628×10 ⁶	2.624×10 ⁶	2,593×10 ⁶	2.529×10 ⁶	2.502×106
i 3 5]	2.176×10 ⁶	2.180×10 ⁶	2,165×10 ⁶	2.127×10 ⁶	2.114×106

From these calculated values, the release of fission products to the fuel surface have been calculated.

3.2. Release in the Fuel

The fission products which are released from the fuel to the fuel surface have been calculated by recoil, knockout, migration and diffusion. The results are shown in Table \mathbb{N} .

3.3. Release in the Gap and in the Coolant

The fission products which transport in the fuel-to-sheath gap have been calculated, and the fission products which release from the defective nuclear fuel to the coolant have been calculated by our model and by the diffusion model. The results are shown in Table V. The concentrations of fission products in the reactor coolant have been calculated by taking into account the purification rate. This results are shown in Table VI.





* Mass 133



S

Site	Isotope	Recoil	knockout	Migration
KNU2	131	1 849×10 ⁶	2 449×10 ⁵	4 456×10 ⁶
	133	4 075×10 ⁶	5 463×10 ⁵	1 071×10 ⁶
	135	3 787×10 ⁶	5 083×10 ⁵	3 210×10 ⁵
KNU7 8	3	1 959×10 ⁶	4 204×10 ⁵	4 520×10 ⁶
	3 3]	4 308×10 ⁶	9 352×10 ⁵	1 084×10 ⁶
	3 5]	4 005×10 ⁶	8 707×10 ⁵	3 250×10 ⁵

Table V	Calcu	lated	Activity	۱n	the	Fuel	to	cladding	Gap	(µCi/rod	i)
---------	-------	-------	----------	----	-----	------	----	----------	-----	----------	----

Site	1:	311	13	13 [
	Our model	Diffusion model	Our model	Diffusion model
KNU2 KNU7 8	6 263×10 ⁶ 6 718×10 ⁶	6 747×10 ⁶ 7 160×10 ⁶	3 292×10 ⁶ 4 106×10 ⁶	1 761×10 ⁶ 1 867×10 ⁶

Table VI Calculated Activity in the Primary Coolant (μ Ci/lrod cc)

Isotopes Site	131]	133]	1351
KNU2	2 671×10 ³	1 121×10 ²	8 750×10 ³
KNU7 8	1 490×10 ³	5 775×10 ³	4 537×10 ³

3 4 Measurement and Analysis of Fission Products

The measurement and analysis of fission products in the primary coolant of nuclear power reactor have been carried out at the KNU 2 7 and 8. The se lected results of the measured activity have been shown in Table VI. The detector has been used the $Ge(L_1)$ semiconductor detector and gamma supectrum has been analyzed with computerized multichannel analyzer.

We have analyzed the radioactivities of iodine isotopes depend on cooling time to obtaine the optimum cooling time of the primary coolant samples of operating reactor core. This results have been shown in Table VI

Site	Measured Act	ivity(µCi/cc)	Number of	Weight of
	131[1331	Failed Fuel	Tramp Uranium(Kg)
KNU2	1 75×10 4	1 22×10 3	0 0	0 0
	$7 39 \times 10^{-4}$ 2 87×10 3	$2 39 \times 10^{-3}$	10	00
	$1 39 \times 10^{2}$ 6 86 × 10^{3}	$2 09 \times 10^{2}$ 6 79 × 10^{3}	30	3 95
KA 117	2 78×10 2	3 63×10 2	58	8 30

0 0

0 0

0 0

00

0 0

0 0

38

10

00

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

00

00

00

00

00

00

4 5

00

00

00

0 0

00

00

4 56×10 ³

5 11×10 ³

6 40×10 ³

6 66×10 ³

3 90×10 3

3 10×10 3

7 55×10 3

4 66×10 ³

4 34×10 ³

5 40×10 ³

5 32×10 ³

5 50×10 ³

5 20×10³

Table VI Analysis Results of Defected Fuel and Tramp Uranium of KNU2 7 and 8

Table VI	Dependence	of	the	Measured	Radioactivity	of	Iodine	Isotopes	on	Cooling
	Time(µCi/cc)									

Cooling time Isotopes	2 Ohrs	6 Ohrs	22 5hrs	46 3hrs
131 132 133 134 135	$\begin{array}{ccccccc} (2 & 27 \pm 0 & 156) \times 10 & ^2\\ (6 & 33 \pm 0 & 073) \times 10 & ^1\\ (3 & 52 \pm 0 & 046) \times 10 & ^1\\ (1 & 10 \pm 0 & 017) \times 10^0\\ (7 & 26 \pm 0 & 015) \times 10 & ^1\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$(2 78\pm0 088)\times10^{2}$ (3 63±0 047)×10 ¹ (6 59±0 367)×10 ¹	$(2 \ 90 \pm 0 \ 082) \times 10^{2}$ $(3 \ 53 \pm 0 \ 062) \times 10^{1}$

3.5 Analysis of Defected Fuel and Tramp Uranium

3 19×10 4

3 55×10 4

3 57×10 4

3 53×10 4

5 60×10 4

5 70×10 4

9 37×10 3

1 32×10 ³

8 63×10 4

8 57×10 4 8 18×10 4

7 70×10 4

7 70×10 4

KNU8

The analysis results of the defected fuel and the tramp uranium deduced from comparison of the calculated activity with measured activity have been shown in Table VI

3.6 The activity change during the fuel failure are shown in Fig 2



Fig. 2. Activity Change During Fuel Failure.

4. Conclusion

and knockout.

A model describing the fission products release from fuel pellet to reactor coolant has been presented.

We have analyzed the defected fuel and the tramp uranium from comparison of calculated activity by above model equation with the measured activity. The analysis results have been well agreed with the results of the kinetics model and of the diffusion model.

We conclude that the 1-131 activity is order of $10^{-3}\mu$ Ci/cc for one rod failure. It is well agreement with the results of P. Beslu etal^[7]. The I-131/I-133 ratio has its value between 0.6 and 1.0 in case of fuel failure.

The physical model used for the calculation show that long-lived nuclides with half lives of several days are released by temperature-dependent phenomena; i.e. migration and that short-lived fission products are released mainly by recoil We have analyzed the radioactivity of the primary coolant by various cooling time to evaluate the experimental error and the optimum cooling time. We can conclude that optimum cooling time for fission products and Co-58 are from 2 hours to 6 hours as shown in the Table VI.

References

- [1] R. Beraha etal, Nucl. Tech. 49, 426 (1980).
- [2] D. L. Morrison etal, An Evaluation of the Applicability of Existing Data of the Analytical Description of Nuclear-Raactor Accident, BMI-1856, Barttelle Memorial Institute (1969).
- [3] B. J. Lewis, Nucl. Tech. 73, 72 (1986).
- [4] T. Aoki, J. Japan Nucl. Soc. (Japanese), 25(2), 103 (1983).
- [5] Jae-Choon Yang, etal, New Physics (Kurean Physical Society) <u>25</u>(4), 401 (1985)
- [6] L. E. Beyer and C. R. Hahn, Prediction of Fission Gas Release from UO₂ Fuel, BNWL-1875, Battelle Pacific North West Laboratories (1974).
- [7] P. Beslu etal, Description of a Method to Determine the Characteristics of Defected Fuels from #ater Activity Measurement, IAEA Specialist's Meeting, Chalk River, Canada, Sep., 1979.

CORROSION PRODUCTS, ACTIVITY TRANSPORT AND DEPOSITION IN BOILING WATER REACTOR RECIRCULATION SYSTEMS

H.P. ALDER, D. BUCKLEY, R. GRAUER, K.H. WIEDEMANN Paul Scherrer Institute, Würenlingen, Switzerland

Abstract

86

The deposition of activated corrosion products in the recirculation loops of Boiling Water Reactors produces increased radiation levels which lead to a corresponding increase in personnel radiation dose during shut down and maintenance. The major part of this dose rate is due to cobalt-60.

Based on a comprehensive literature study concerning this theme, it has been attempted to identify the individual stages of the activity build-up and to classify their importance. The following areas are discussed in detail:

- the origins of the corrosion products and of cobalt-59 in the reactor feedwaters
- the consolidation of the cobalt in the fuel pins deposits (activitation)
- the release and transport of cobalt-60
- the build-up of cobalt-60 in the corrosion products in the recirculation loops.

Existing models of the build-up of circuit radioactivity are discussed and the operating experiences from selected reactors are summarised.

The state of the art of knowledge concerning the different stages in the development of the activity build-up is depicted here. This highlights the existing gaps in knowledge and thus identifies areas for possible research and development activities. Corrosion chemistry aspects of the cobalt build-up in the primary circuit have already been studied on a broad basis and are continuing to be researched in a number of centers. The crystal chemistry of chromium-nickel steel corrosion products poses a number of yet unanswered questions.

There are major loopholes associated with the understanding of activation processes of cobalt deposited on the fuel pins and in the mass transfer of cobalt-60. For these processes, the most important influence stems from factors associated with colloid chemistry.

Accumulation of data from different BWRs contributes little to the understanding of the activity build-up. However, there are examples that the problem of activity build-up can be kept under control. Although many details for a quantitative understanding are still missing, the most important correlations are visible. The activity build-up in the BWR recirculation systems cannot be kept low by a single measure. Rather a whole series of measures is necessary, which influences not only cobalt-60 deposition but also plant and operation costs.

1. INTRODUCTION

In most boiling water reactors (BWR), the water is recirculated in an external loop system. During operation, activated corrosion products are deposited in the recirculation loops. This may lead to

the build- up of a considerable radiation field and associated dose rate to which the service personnel may be exposed. During normal operation the deposited activity mainly consists of those indicated in Table 1.1. Depending upon the plant, the nuclides cobalt-60 and cobalt-58 contribute between 80 and 90% of the total dose rate. Therefore, the activity build-up problem is primarily one of cobalt, whereby the influence of cobalt-60 is predominant (see Table 1.2).

<u>Table 1.1:</u> The Most Important γ -Emitters in Reactor Water, Generated by Activation of Corrosion Products /1/.

Radio-	Parent	Isotopes	Half-Life	Formation	γ -Radiation
Nuclide	Nuclide	Abundance		Process	Energy
		%			MeV
Cr-51	Cr-50	4,3	28 d	п,γ	0,3
Fe-59	Fe-58	0,33	45 d	n,γ	1,1; 1,3
Co-58	Ni-58	68	71 d	n,p	0,8
Zn-65	Zn-64	49	244 d	Π,γ	1,1
Mn-54	Fe-54	5,8	313 d	n,p	0,8
Co-60	Co-59	100	5,28 a	n,γ	1,2; 1,3

Table 1.2: Nuclides Deposited in the Recirculation Loops of Different Nuclear Power Plants /5, App.C/.

Power Plant		Contribution to γ -Radiation, %								
(Operation Time, h)	Co-60	Co-58	Mn-54	Fe-59	Zn-65	Zr-95	Ru-103			
Tsuruga	82.0	5.8	7.7	2.3	-	0.1	2.1			
(50057) Nine Mile Point-1 (50096)	93.7	2.8	2.2	1.3	-	-	-			
Monticello (38598)	85.4	2.5	· 1.8	1.5	2.7	2.2	4.0			
Millstone-1 (30144)	77.3	5.4	7.1	2.5	-	2.2	5.5			
Quad Cities-1 (35571)	91.0	1.7	2.0	0.4	-	2.7	2.3			
Shimane (8000)	68.0	13.3	12.8	5.8	-					
Oskarshamn-1 (27600)	75.9	11.0	+	-	13.1	-	-			

•

An introductory overview of the distribution of corrosion products and of the cobalt in a reactor is given in Figure 1.1

****	CRYSTAL	ELEMEP	TAL CO	MPOSIT	10N (3)	PARTICLE	FILM	Ca-60 CONCENTRATION	1975 ISOTOPIC RATIOS C+60/C+58 C+60/M+54	
PECIES	STRUCTURE	Fø.	¢	2	G	(سبر)	Ime/dm ² I	IN IN LAVERS		
FUEL	-	-	•	-	-	-	-	-		
De de la constance de la const	•f+703	95	08	2	0,2	-01	775		86	36
	•F•203 -	95 -	2 -	2	01	-			5.5° 2.5	2 0 50
OUTOFCORE OF CONSTS OF CON	#f*703	95	2	3	01	0160	50	17	13 3	1.3
POLICIES 1	NF+204	63	1	15	05	0103	36	22	,,	35
SPECIES 2	N Fe2O4	70	•	20	06	0143	13	16	38	90
PAOTECTIVE FILM	AMORPHOUS				-		120A3		-	
STAINLESS	-	74	18	•	01	-				-

a) Reactor vistor data taken in 1974

build up of activity

Fig 11 Distribution and Composition of the Corrosion Products in the Nine Mile Point Reactor /6/

The components made of austenitic chromium nickel steel become covered with a fine grained, tightly adhering mixed oxide layer spinel, generated by corrosion. In general there are two different spinel phases, differing from each other by their chromium content. Typically the spinel layer has a higher cobalt content than the bulk material, indicating that the layer has taken up cobalt from the reactor water. This is plausible from chemical structure, like nickel which is chemically very similar, cobalt (II) can replace iron (II) in the spinel structure.

On the spinel layer there is another layer of loosely packed haematite $(\alpha - Fe_2O_3)$, consisting of corrosion products (crud), and partly of transformation products of the spinel layer. Since divalent metal ions can hardly be built in the haematite structure, the cobalt content in these deposits is relatively small. Part of the cobalt is probably adsorbed. The composition of the suspended particles in the water is similar to that of the haematite layer, with a typical concentration in the order of a few $\mu g/kg$ (ppb). The deposits upon the oxide layer of zirconium, the fuel pin cladding material, is also mainly haematite with a small proportion of spinel. Compared with steel surfaces, the haematite on fuel pins typically has a higher cobalt content which is of importance to the

The input of corrosion products into the reactor water is in the order of $10 \text{ kg} \cdot \text{yr}^{-1}$ Most of this is deposited upon the fuel element's cladding and upon other reactor components. The corrosion product removal through the reactor water clean up system is small

The literature dealing with the build up of activity in BWRs is very extensive. The importance of the corrosion products upon activity distribution in water cooled reactors is described in two reviews containing comprehensive bibliographies /1, 2/. Two extensive publications deal with the water chemistry of nuclear power plants /3, 4/, therefore this subject will neither be treated in full nor detail here. However fundamental mechanisms concerning activity build up will be indicated in order to identify any gaps in knowledge, possible themes for research and development and possible measures for reactor operation.

2. SUMMARY MODEL OF ACTIVITY BUILD-UP

To understand activity build up, the different steps will be discussed firstly in a summary with the aid of Figure 2.1. The dissolved, as well as the suspended corrosion products are brought into the reactor water with the feedwater, and to a much lesser extent by corrosion of reactor components. The extent of corrosion product input by the feedwater is primarily influenced by the efficiency of the condensate clean-up system and the oxygen content, which controls the corrosion rate. There are considerable differences between power plants with and without recirculation of the high pressure condensates into the condenser.

In practice the corrosion behaviour of the reactor components can be controlled only by the conductivity of the water and redox conditions. In addition to operating at steady state conditions, the outage periods have an important influence upon the total input of corrosion products.



Fig 2.1 Schematic Transport Model of the Activity Build-Up /7/

The source of the activation products cobalt 58 and 60 is the release of material from alloys containing both nickel and cobalt which become exposed to the reactor's neutron flux. However this material has to remain 'in core' for a period of time, in the order of days to weeks, where it becomes activated on the fuel pins. This occurs by the mechanism of adsorption of the suspended solids (crud) onto the fuel pin's surface. The deposition and release of crud within the core is controlled by colloid chemical reactions, of which very little is as yet understood.

The residence time of cobalt 59 on the fuel pins is a critical factor for the build up of activity. The activity is at a minimum when the residence time is either very short, or very long such that the activated cobalt is removed together with the fuel elements when refueling.

The activation products released from the fuel pins as dissolved ions are built into the corrosion products on the austenitic recirculation loops directly from the reactor water. This occurs for the most part during the build up of the corrosion product layer, and only for a small part by ion exchange in the existing spinel layer. Thus the corrosion rate of the recirculation system is another important factor. At a given temperature the corrosion rate depends mainly on the ionic conductivity of the water and upon the thickness of the existing spinel layer.

Also the activated crud, loosened from the fuel elements, is in part deposited on the recirculating loops contributing to the dose rate. Here too colloid chemical processes participate in the mechanism. The activated crud has a higher cobalt content than the corrosion products brought in with the feedwater. During the residence time of the crud in the recirculation loop this excess cobalt content is reduced. Thus the activated crud is also a source of ionic cobalt.

3. WATER CHEMISTRY

3.1 GENERAL

The importance of cleanliness of the feed water and reactor water, both for materials damages and for activity build up has been recognised. The chemical environment determines the corrosion behaviour of the structural materials. Release of corrosion products in the feed system is greatly reduced by the presence of dissolved oxygen in the low conductivity feed water. Oxygen addition has proven to be a powerful method for maintaining sub-ppm concentrations of corrosion products in the feed.

Boiling water reactors are fed with neutral feedwater. Theoretically, the ionic conductivity of pure water at 25 °C is 0.055 μ S • cm⁻¹. In the reactor water of some power plants this value is roughly achieved (Olkiluoto 0.06 μ S • cm⁻¹ /10/), and in many reactors the conductivity of the water is

less than $0 \ 1 \ \mu$ S • cm⁻¹ during steady state operating conditions. The water quality depends upon the kind of condensate cleaning system and above all on whether the high pressure condensates are cascaded back, or fed in directly. To clean the condensates two systems are used, deep bed demineralisers and Powdex filters. Deep bed demineralisers eliminate dissolved ions more efficiently than Powdex filters. Suspended corrosion products are however retained with particularly high efficiency by this latter system (Table 3.1).

Condensate	Corrosion Product Content, ppb				
Cleanup System	with	without			
	High Pressure Condensate Recircu				
Deep Bed Demineralizer	10	14 17			
Deep Bed Demineralizer	6	10 13			
with Ultrasonic Cleaning					
Powdex Filter	3	7 10			
Powdex Filter and	0,5	47			
Deep Bed Demineralizer					

<u>Table 3.1</u> Typical Concentrations of Corrosion Products in the Feedwater of Boiling Water Reactors with Different Cleanup Systems /1/

In addition, the quality of the reactor water depends upon the throughput of the reactor water clean-up system (RWCU), which varies considerably from plant to plant (e g 0.7% Muhleberg, 7% Shimane of the feed water). The total metallic impurities in the feedwater are in the order of magnitude of 1 μ g • kg⁻¹ (ppb), (Table 3.2) while the metallic impurities in the reactor water are in the order of 10 ppb (Table 3.3).

The classification of the impurities into soluble and insoluble is arbitrary because of the $0.45 \,\mu m$ filters used, therefore materials passing through are taken as soluble species. Presently it is not possible to estimate the proportions of particles, colloids and ions

Table 3.2 Corrosion Products in the Feedwater of Swedish Nuclear Power Plants (Av erage Values in ppb) /12/

Power	Fe	Cr	N	Cu	70	Icros
Plant	10			Cu	Z .11	iotai
Oskarshamn 1	0,6	0,08	0,08	0,7	0,27	1,7
Oskarshamn 2	0,8	0,08	0,07	0,09	0,09	1,1
Ringhals 1	0,3	0,02	0,16	0,6	0,12	1,2
Barsebeck 1	0,6	0,06	0,16	0,10	0,04	1,0
Barsebeck 2	0,5	0,07	0,15	0,12	0,04	0,9

Table 3.3: Corrosion Products in the Reactor Water of Swedish Nuclear Power Plants (Average Values in ppb) /12/.

Power Plant	Fe	Cr	Ni	Cu	Zn	total
Oskarshamn 1	1,4	2,7	0,3	18,0	6,6	29,0
Oskarshamn 2	1,5	2,3	0,6	0,8	1,3	7,0
Ringhals 1	2,9	0,9	0,3	3,7	1,3	9,0
Barsebeck 1	1,4	2,3	0,4	0,6	0,3	5,0
Barsebeck 2	1,3	4,7	0,5	0,8	0,3	8,0

Table 3.4: Typical Activation Product Contents in the Reactor Water of Boiling Water Reactors /3/.

Radio-	Parent	Half-Life	Cor	ntent, µCi/k	g
Isotope	Nuclide		soluble	insoluble	total
Mn-56	Mn-55	2,6 h	11,0	11,0	22,0
Cu-64	Cu-63	12,7 h	30,0	2,7	33,0
Na-24	Na-23	15,0 h	2,7	0	2,7
Cr-51	Cr-50	27,7 d	1,6	0,23	1,8
Fe-59	Fe-58	44,6 d	0,006	0,17	0,18
Sb-124	Sb-123	60,2 d	0	0,02	0,02
Co-58	Ni-58	71,3 d	0,10	0,044	0,14
Zn-65	Zn-64	244,0 d	0,085	0,052	0,14
Mn-54	Fe-54	313,0 d	0,031	0,18	0,21
Co-60	Co-59	5,27 a	0,17	0,24	0,41

A considerable proportion of the particles are smaller than 0.45 μ m. The different elements are disproportionately distributed over the particle size fractions, this may be different in each reactor /5, App.B; 13/. The typical contents of reactor water activation products for BWRs is given in Table 3.4.

The values of the metal contents as well as the conductivity of the water are much higher at the start up, shut down and during power transients than during steady state operation (Fig. 3.1). Though the periods of contamination are relatively short they have a large effect upon the activity mobilisation, transport and deposition. During these times the corrosion rate of the structural materials is increased, and a redistribution of the crud takes place.

The redox conditions of BWRs reactor water is given by the radiolysis of the water. The oxygen content is recorded to be within the range 165 to 400 ppb /10;14/. According to systematic investigations at 8 reactors the oxygen/hydrogen (O_2/H_2) ratios in the recirculation loops are in the range between 14.3 and 55 /14/. For unknown reasons the O_2/H_2 ratios are significantly higher than the stoichiometric ratio of 8.



Fig. 3.1: Conductivity of the Reactor Water versus Time in the Shimane Nuclear Power Plant /5, App.E/.

3.2 HYDROGEN WATER CHEMISTRY (HWC)

In the recirculation loops of BWRs the oxygen content of the reactor water is in the order of 200 to 400 ppb at full power operation, and this oxygen concentration is sufficient to cause intergranular stress corrosion cracking (IGSCC) in sensitised stainless steel subject to tensile s*ress. It has been demonstrated in reactor tests that the injection of hydrogen into the feed water will reduce the concentration of dissolved oxygen, and as a consequence of this the IGSCC susceptability of sensitized stainless steels was supressed /15; 16; 17; 18; 19/. The IGSCC is supressed if the electrochemical potential (ECP) is reduced to below -230 mV (the supression potential) compared to the standard hydrogen electrode (SHE), by approximately 50-100 mV, and the conductivity is maintained at a level below $0.3 \,\mu$ S \cdot cm⁻¹. The -230 mV supression potential has been found to be associated with an oxygen concentration of approximately 2 ppb /19; 21/. Although laboratory tests indicate that oxygen is the key parameter for IGSCC, plant tests show that other species also play a rôle in establishing the ECP under hydrogen addition conditions /19/.

Crack propogation ceases almost immediately after the start of oxygen reduction by hydrogen injection. No crack growth was measured as long as hydrogen water chemistry was maintained, but restarted when this treatment was ceased (Fig. 3.2) /18/.



Fig. 3.2: Crack growth versus Time during Hydrogen Water Chemistry Treatment (HWC) /18/.

Very slow to no crack growth was observed at oxygen levels as low as 20 ppb in the reactor water, much before the ECP monitoring indicated immunity to IGSCC /18/. This experience shows, at the supression potential, a wide plant to plant variation in required hydrogen, main steam line radiation increase and dissolved oxygen in recirculation system. The cause of large variations among BWRs in the hydrogen addition, to establish a HWC, is poorly understood. One explanation which has been suggested is that impurities in the reactor water may interfere with the recombination process (Fig. 3.3) /19; 20/.

In Fugen Nuclear Power Plant, Japan, the oxygen concentration in the condensate has been reduced by hydrogen addition from between 10-20 ppb to less than 1 ppb. No symptoms of IGSCC crack growth on type 304 stainless steel has been observed, but the low oxygen concentration has caused an increase in the soluble iron concentration in the condensate from between 2 - 5 ppb to 6 - 10 ppb, and in addition there is an increase in the cobalt-60 concentration in the reactor coolant, and as a consequence accelerated cobalt build-up on the pipe surface /22/.

3.3 SILICATE AND ORGANIC CARBON

Besides the discussed corrosion products there are other impurities in the water, such as silicate (SiO_2) and organic compounds. Their possible rôle in the activity build-up has scarcely been investigated. These substances are able to form complexes with dissolved metals or to modify the chemical properties of the colloidal material by adsorption /23/.



Fig. 3.3: Relationship between Recirculation Oxygen Concentration and Feedwater H_2 Addition Rate /19/.

There are two possible sources for the silicate in the reactor water, namely the silicon content in the metallic components, and the feedwater. The silicate content of the reactor water is specified by the plant manufacturers to between 1 and 4 ppm SiO_2 ; during operation, these concentrations are significantly lower /4/. The silicate content of the water is mostly between 100 and 300 ppb, this is significantly higher than the metal content /2; 4; 5; 24; 25/. The concentration of silicate depends upon the age of the filters in the reactor water clean-up system /24; 25/.

There is little information concerning the content of organic carbon impurities in reactor water. In one cited instance the organic carbon content was between 700 and 900 ppb /26,9-5/. These concentrations are also higher than those of the corrosion products. It is not clear whether the organic substanses are thermal or radiolytic degradation products from the ion exchange resins /27/, or whether they are brought in with the addition of feedwater /28; 29/.

4. THE INPUT OF CORROSION PRODUCTS INTO REACTOR WATER

In most reactors the largest part of corrosion products brought into the water originate in the feedwater. For example at Mühleberg approximately 10 kg of crud are deposited per year. In the same plant, however about 130 g \cdot yr⁻¹ of cobalt is found in the reactor water, of which 60 % originated from reactor components (Table 4.2), the remaining coming from feedwater. The amount of dissolved and suspended metals is in the order of 1 g \cdot yr⁻¹, added to which there is approximately 25 g \cdot yr⁻¹ of silicate.

	Mu	ehleberg	Sh	imane
	Input	Removed	Input	Removed
	g/yr	g/yr (%)	g/yr	g/ут (%)
Iron $< 0,45 \ \mu m$	1500	25 (17)	2050	246 (12)
Iron > 0,45 μ m	1500	15 (1,0)		
Copper	2100	100 (4,8)		
Chromium	2600	350 (13,5)		
Nickel	1000	10 (1,0)		
Cobalt	50	5 (10)	48 (?)	11 (23)
total	8750	505 (5,8)		

<u>Table 4.1</u> Yearly Feedwater Input of Corrosion Products in the Nuclear Power Plants Muchleberg /5, App B/ and Shimane /5, App E/

Table 4.2. Yearly Cobalt Input from the Feedwater and Reactor Components in Muehle berg Nuclear Power Plant /5, App B/

	Cobalt	Input
	g/yr	%
Feedwater	49,4	38
Reactor Components		
Cr-N1 Steel	9,1	7
Inconel	16,9	13
Stellite	54,6	42
total	130,0	100

Only a small proportion of the crud brought in is removed by the reactor water clean up system, the larger portion is deposited within the reactor. The variation in crud deposition from reactor to reactor can be remarkably different, and depends upon the different throughput in the ion exchange systems /2, 7/, for example Muhleberg and Shimane, Table 4 1

In addition to the total input of corrosion products the origin of the different elements is also a matter of concern In a detailed analysis of the Brunswick 2 power plant it was found that 99 % of the total iron in the reactor water originated in the feedwater system, whereas 35 % of the cobalt is released from reactor components /30, 32, chapter 16/ A second source of cobalt, other than that of cobalt alloys is from nickel alloys, the cobalt content of which may be 1 to 2 % of the nickel content. In Muhleberg about 40 % of the cobalt originate from reactor components made from stellite, which represents only a small part of the surface but with a high corrosion rate

In spite of the above mentioned example, Stellite is not necesserally the direct influence upon the cobalt 60 deposition in recirculation loops, in Shimane, containing Stellite, a low dose rate has been measured on the recirculation loops /5/

5. CRUD INVESTIGATIONS

51 CRUD IN RECIRCULATION LOOPS

The deposition and corrosion products on chromium nickel steel components of the reciculation system have been investigated in different reactors /6,33,34,35/ Figure 1 1 gives a view of the distribution and composition of the deposits and corrosion products

The layers consist of loose deposits having a haematite structure, and a tight, partially porous spinel layer (Table 5 1) There are no clear indications from X ray analysis that the spinel can be subdivided As to its composition, the chromium depleated first component, corresponds approximately to the corrosion products of austenitic steel in oxygen containing water Whereas the chromium rich second component corresponds to corrosion products in oxygen free high temperature water

The spinel layer in contact with the water consists of particles of about $0.1 - 0.3 \ \mu\text{m}$ in diameter Thin layers have trench like depressions along the grain boundary /6, 33/, in which fine grained haematite may settle In general the cobalt content of the spinel layer is significantly higher than that of the metal, which is about 0.1 - 0.2 %, unfortunately this is rarely given for the steels that have been investigated Secondary ion mass spectrometric analysis (SIMS) of removed oxide layers shows that the nickel to cobalt ratio remains constant, irrespective of the profile over the entire layer. From this it is concluded that only a limited number of nickel ions can be replaced by cobalt in the spinel /33, 36/. From References 33 and 37 can be derived the following possible limiting formula

$$(N_{105} Co_{001} Fe_{05}^{II})(Fe_{11}^{II}, Cr)_{20} O_{20}$$

It follows that the incorporation of cobalt, into the spinel layer, is controlled by the corrosion rate of the steel and not by the cobalt concentration in the water. The condition being that the cobalt concentration is sufficient to saturate the spinel /33, 36/

There is one element of caution to be taken from Table 5.1 the nickel to cobalt ratio in haematite is not significantly different from those in the spinel layer. This can only be understood if the haematite is the α metathesis product of the spinel. However this is not absolutely sure, at least part of the haematite comes from the feedwater /23/

Table 5.1: Corrosion Products on Austeninic C	Components of Boiling Water Reactors,	/ 39/.
---	---------------------------------------	---------------

	Structure	Co	mpo	sition	, %	Mass	Ratio	Deposition	Cc-60	µCi(Co-60)	μCi(Co-60)	<u>Co-60</u>
									Percentage	μg Co	mg Fe	Co-58
		Fe	Cr	Ni	Co	Ni/Co	Fe/Ni	mg/dm ²	%			
NMP Clean-Up Duct			-									
Loose Layer	a-Fe ₂ O ₃	95	2	3	0,1	30	32	50	12	2,6	3	13
Adherent Layer												
Component 1	NiFe ₂ O ₄	83	1	15	0,5	30	5,5	36	72	4,9	27	8
Component 2	NiFe ₂ O ₄	70	9	20	0,6	33	3,5	13	16	2,3	20	16
Quad Cities Bypass Duct		1				1						
Loose Layer	a-Fe2O3	90	5	5	0,2	25	18	12	9	1,3	3,6	-
Adherent Layer	_											
Component I	NiFc ₂ O ₄	88	1	10	0,4	25	8,8	56	79	1,4	6,7	-
Component 2		68	18	14	0,5	28	4,9	17	12	0.6	4,2	-
Millstone Bypass Duct	1	1									l i	
Loose Layer	a-Fe ₂ O ₃	86	7	5	0,1	50	17	14	7	2,7	2,6	9
Adherent Layer	-											
Component 1	NiFe ₂ O ₄	87	2	9	0,2	45	9,7	53	92	5,9	12,4	6
Component 2	NiFe ₂ O ₄	78	15	6	0,1	60	13	2	1	2,3	3,8	19
Millstone Recirculation					}	}		}		ł	1	
Flange		((
Loose Laver	a-Fe203	82	10	8	0,1	80	10	13	2	0,7	1.2	18
Adherent Layer										-		
Component 1	NiFc ₂ O ₄	82	3	15	0,3	50	5,5	38	90	4,3	18,3	6
Component 2	a-Fe ₂ O ₃	89	5	6	0,1	60	15	21	8	1,4	2,6	15



Fig. 5.2: Crud Distribution on a Fuel Rod in Winfrith Nuclear Power Plant /3/.

5.2 DEPOSITS ON FUEL PINS

The investigation of fuel element crud is problematic in so far as alterations during shut down of the reactor and during the decay phase, cannot be excluded. Often the deposits are distinguished by their solubility, or their adhesion: loose portion being removed by brushing; tight adherent portion by scraping.

As well as the deposited quantities, the crud composition shows considerable differences between different power plants. In general the crud deposits preferentially in the zone where nucleate boiling begins (Fig. 5.2) (Table 5.2.).

The fuel element crud has predominently a haematite structure /5, App. D; 38; 39/ though in individual plants, it may contain considerable portions of different metals besides iron. In comparison with the suspended crud, increased cobalt content is typical for fuel element crud and is of importance to the build up of activity /39/.

Fuel elements from plants with slightly contaminated recirculation loops have little cru4 deposit with a small proportion of loosely bound material. The residence time of cobalt on the fuel elements can be estimated from the specific activity. In several plants the residence time is as long Table 5.2: Composition of Crud on Fuel Rods (Expressed as Percentage)

Element	OSK-1+2	Brunswick-2	Mon	ticello	Nine Mile Point	Effect of	Conden-
					(Atom-%)	sate Clear	1up /38/
	/12/	/39/	1	39/	131	Deep Bed	Powdex
Fe	50-80	93,2	62	80	85-95	94	65
Cu	1-20	0,7	20	7	2-4	1	4
Ni	7-20	2,5	5	4	3-8	3	6
Zn	5-15	1,1	5	3	1	0,3	14
Cr	1-8	1,2	1	0,7	1		
Mn	2-4	2,1	6	4	3		
Co	0,1-0,4	0,1-0,6	0,6	0,4	0,3	0,1	0,4
Other						2	10

as 5 - 6 years, and hence the cobalt-60 is mainly removed together with the replaced fuel elements /5, App. A; 40; 41; 42/. The residence time of loose crud is significantly shorter and comparable with that of deposited crud on the recirculation loops, for example 50 and 230 days respectively are quoted in Reference 43.

6. THE PROCESSES OF ACTIVITY BUILD-UP.

According to Fig. 2.1 the essential steps of the activity build-up are:

- cobalt input into the reactor water
- activation of cobalt-59 in the neutron flux
- build up of cooalt-60 onto the recirculation loops.

In the following section this sequence will be changed in favour of a chemical schematic representation. Both cobalt input and build-up have aspects of corrosion chemistry in common, whereas the activation of cobalt depends upon the deposition of the crud on the fuel elements as well as upon its release, which are controlled by colloid chemistry processes (see Section 6.3).

6.1 CRUD INPUT AND COBALT RELEASE BY CORROSION.

The largest part of the corrosion products are brought into the reactor with the feed water. Thus besides the corrosion behaviour of the recirculation loop material, the efficiency of the condensate clean-up system and the refeeding of the high pressure condensates determine the crud input (Table 3.1)

The corrosion behaviour of low alloy steels in neutral water is determined by temperature, oxygen content, ionic conductivity and flow rate (Fig. 6.1.1; 6.1.2) /45/. In various power plants the iron input was successfully reduced by an oxygen addition of 20 - 60 ppb in the feed water. A threshold value of 15 ppb, recorded in reference 46 would seem to be too low according to reference 34 (Fig. 6.1.3; 6.1.4).



Fig. 6.1.1: Corrosion Rate of Carbon Steel as a Function of Temperature, with and without Oxygen /3/.



Fig. 6.1.2: Influence of the Conductivity of Flowing Water Containing 5 ppm Oxygen on the Corrosion Rate of Carbon Steel /34/.



Fig. 6.1.3: Influence of Oxygen Content in 100 °C Water on the Corrosion Rate of Carbon Steel /34/.



Fig. 6.1.4: Influence of Oxygen Content on the Corrosion Rate of Low Alloyed Steels in Flowing Water (1 ra/s) at 35 °C and with a Conductivity of 0.15 μ S/cm /34/.

To keep corrosion of low alloy steels low during outage periods, recirculation of oxygen containing water is recommended. The beneficial influence of a flow rate in conjunction with low conductivity is shown in Table 6.1.

The corrosion rate of austenitic chromium-nickel steels at feed water heater temperature (190 °C) is approximately 12 mg \cdot m²·yr¹ /5, App. A; 47/. From experience gained under operating conditions, oxygen and flow rate have little influence upon the corrosion rate which becomes gradually smaller, and is roughly 0.15 μ m \cdot yr¹ after 8'000 h of operation /36/.

<u>Table 6.1</u>: Release of Corrosion Products from Unalloyed Steel at Different Flow Rates and Conductivities of the Water (52 °C, 5ppm Oxygen) /46/.

Flow Rate	Release Rate					
(m/s)	(mg/dm ² · mo)					
	$\sigma = 0,1 \ \mu$ S/cm	$\sigma = 3,6 \ \mu\text{S/cm}$				
0	278	515				
0,3	12	46				
0,9	3	52				
1,8	2	12				

temperature (C)



18 8 - Steel in Pure Water as a Function of Temperature /48/.

Among numerous publications a Japanese study is of interest /47; 48; 49/ concerning the temperature dependence of cobalt release, found it to be at a maximum at 240 °C, and decreasing again at higher temperatures (Fig. 6.1.5), for type 304 steel containing 0.22 % cobalt. This behaviour is said to be connected with the formation of a denser oxide layer above 250 °C.

The change in the layer formation raises the question of corrosion behaviour of steel under temperature transients. Probably the denser layer is formed after every temperature cycle, which would result in a temporary increase in cobalt release. However because the corrosion products on the recirculation loop often have a higher cobalt content than the base metal (Fig. 1.1; Table 5.1) the austenitic reactor components would seem to be a cobalt sink than a cobalt source.

Under the influence of radiation (500 Gy \cdot h⁻¹, Co-60, 250 °C, 20 ppb O₂) the release of particles is increased, whereas the release of ions is little affected /50/.

Cobalt release from austenitic feed water heater pipes would seem to be unimportant in the buildup of activity on the recirculation loops. The cobalt content of the heater pipes is 0.02 % in Oskarsharmn-1 and 0.2 per cent in Oskarsharmn-2, but both plants have low dose rates on the recirculation loops.

The cobalt release from Stellite is heavily dependent upon the oxygen content of the water /5, App. A/. For reactor conditions corrosion rates of $0.7 - 10 \,\mu\text{m} \cdot \text{yr}^{-1}$ are recorded in reference 38 (pp.5-24). However the considerable scattering of the values under similar reactor conditions /5/ ensures a difficult prognosis. Stellites are used as abrasion resistant alloys, in areas of possible high wear, and the cobalt may be from wear rather than corrosion. As with austenitic steels, gamma radiation causes an increase in crud release, and again the effect upon the ionic cobalt is negligable /50/. In reference 50, it is noticable that different oxygen contents do not significantly influence the corrosion behaviour, compared to Reference 5 (App. A).

6.2 COBALT BUILD-UP ON AUSTENITIC STEELS

The main portion of cobalt on recirculation loops is incorporated in the tightly adherent spinel layer. This occurs during corrosion of the material, and depends upon the concentration in the reactor water, and proceeds in parallel to the corrosion rate (Fig. 6.2.1.; 6.2.2) /51; 52; 53; 54; 55; 56/. At a certain temperature the influence of conductivity becomes important. The cobalt uptake is greatly increased when the conductivity of the water is increased from $0.1 - 0.5 \,\mu\text{S} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$ /51/. An inexplicable difference is seen between types 304 and 316 steels contrary to References 53 and 57.

A simplified model conception of the build-up of cobalt is shown in Figure 6.2.3. According to Lister /55/, cobalt is built up in a thin, growing, passive layer, and is transported in both, the presently formed fine grained spinel, and haematic layers by diffusion through pores. It follows from this model that the cobalt-60 release from the spinel layer occurs by solid state diffusion, a slow process compared to the build-up. A fast cobalt release from a spinel can only be achieved by an oxidizing reaction. The cobalt build-up in an already existing spinel layer by ion exchange is of secondary importance.



From the repeatedly observed connection between cobalt build-up and corrosion rate it may be concluded that the rate can be reduced by pre-oxidation (prefilming) of the steel surface As a precondition for this, the oxide layer must be stable under reactor operating conditions. After the pre-oxidation under similar conditions, oxygen content between 200 and 400 ppb, temperature



Fig. 6.2.4: Influence of Preoxidation (Prefilming) on Cobalt Uptake by Steel 304 at 280 °C. AR: As Received Condition Samples PF: Preoxidised Samples (280 °C, 200 ppb O₂, 500 h) /51/.

approximately 280 °C, the build-up of activity is greatly retarded (Fig. 6 2.4 /51; 58; 59/). Preoxidation with a low oxygen content and chemical passivation, for example with nitric acid, have shown no effect, or are even disadvantageous /52/. Alkalation of the reactor water by sodium ions gave a thirty per cent reduction in cobalt-60 deposition on type 316L in a Japanese reactor, even at a relatively low oxygen content of between 80 and 90 ppb at 285 °C (during 500 hours of the warm up-phase /60/). Figure 6 2.4 also shows indirectly that cobalt-60 build up is determined by the corrosion rate, not by ion exchange with the already existing spinel /23/. However a contrary opinion is held in Reference 61.

The presence of trace quantities of dissolved zinc, between 5 and 15 ppm in the reactor water greatly inhibits corrosion of chromium-nickel steels at reactor temperature. This reduction of the corrosion rate influences the cobalt uptake of the steel surfaces (Figs. 6.2 5; 6.2 6). Zinc and cobalt compete for the same lattice sites in the spinel, in the sense of ion exchange equilibrium. Thus the zinc suppresses the concentration of cobalt in the oxide. It is not yet clear though why zinc is distinguished from other divalent heavy metal ions. The benefits to be gained from zinc requires the constant maintenance of ionic zinc in the reactor water, it then limits the cobalt-60 build-up by a measured factor between 3 and 20. A pretreatment of the steel surfaces with zinc containing water is insufficient /62; 63/.

107



Fig. 6.2.5: Zinc Inhibition Effect on 304 Stainless Steel /62/.

6.3 ACTIVATION OF COBALT AND COBALT-60 TRANSPORT.

The critical parameter of influence for activity build-up is the residence time of cobalt-59 in the neutron flux. Theoretically the problem could be mastered if the residence time is kept short (towards zero), or as long as possible, that is some years so that cobalt-60 would be removed with the fuel elements.

Adsorption of ionic cobalt on zirconium oxide is only important with new fuel elements for a short time. The exchange process is irreversible and proceeds relatively fast /41; 64/.

In the reactor the cobalt activation occurs when cobalt in the crud (built into the structure or adsorbed) deposits on the fuel element. Crud deposition has to be looked at as well as the crud adhesion on the fuel elements, which are influenced by colloid chemistry /65; 66/, as is the mobile haematite in the recirculation loops. In neutral reactor water the spinel layer is negatively loaded, and the haematite particles are slightly positively loaded, these are ideal conditions for the adhesion of crud onto austenitic steel /14; 67; 68/.

After an initial phase, haematite deposition on the fuel rods can be regarded as homo-coagulation, this deposition is promoted by heat flux and predominantly by bubble evaporation. Under these conditions the crud deposition is given by:





Where: k constant; Q heat flux;

- L heat of vapourization;
- c crud concentration in water.

The quotient Q/L is the flow of the water to the wall, caused by the boiling process /69;70;71;72/.

Crud particles with diameters smaller than the bubble diameter (about 0.2 μ m in the reactor) are transported by the growing bubbles to the surface, where they frit together to form a tightly adherent layer. Larger particles, about 0.1 - 1 μ m, are deposited by whirl processes. They sinter together with the fine grained, tightly adhered material, having good adhesive properties /71/. Particles with larger diameters, in the range 1 - 10 μ m, adhere less well. Their residence time ranges from some days to weeks; they carry out the largest part of activity transport from the fuel elements to the recirculation loops. It is still an open question why the cobalt content in the fuel element crud is higher than in the circulating material. Possible causes are: neutron induced lattice defects; partial formation of spinels containing nickel and cobalt; increase in adsorption at elevated temperatures; and may also be the oxidation to trivalent cobalt /71/.

Until now the chemistry of colloid particles at reactor operating conditions has scarcely been investigated. Careful extrapolations are possible in the temperature range 25 - 80 °C. The adsorption of cobalt on haematite and magnetite up to 80 °C is well known, and some work has been done up to 200 °C /73; 74; 75/. The influences of silicate and organic material upon the properties of colloids is still unknown /23/, they are rarely determined analytically.

The activation products can be released from the fuel elements either together with the crud or in ionic form, it is unsure which is the predominant process for contamination transport. The cobalt content of the crud may be in equilibrium with that in the reactor water. The cobalt release with the crud is again a question of crud adhesion, which depends upon the particle size distribution, the age of the crud (because of sinter processes), and the thickness of the crud layer /23/.

7. ACTIVITY BUILD-UP MODELS

When drawing up a model describing the activity build-up, the state of knowledge of the different processes are to be taken into consideration. Initially the problem seems to be easily solvable, however upon further more detailed consideration there are in-consistancies and contradictions.

7.1 DETERMINING PROCESSES

In the relevant literature, there is no agreement on the parameters determining the activity buildup. It is worthy to note that the extreme points of view, activity build-up being a corrosion problem of the recirculation loops, or being a matter of crud behaviour, are both represented by a competent source, namely by co-workers of General Electric Company.

In a model Dehollander /71/ connects the activity build-up in a boiling water reactor primarily with the crud inventory (see also /76/). According to this, the residence time of cobalt in the neutron flux and the cobalt-60 transport are determined by the crud quality. For an understanding of this model one has to recall that, as observed in some power plants, the cobalt content in the fuel rod crud is higher than in the material circulating or deposited in the recirculation loops.



Fig. 7.1.1: Concerning the Deposition Mechanism of Fine Grained Crud on a Vapor Bubble. Under Reactor Conditions, the Bubble Diameter is about 0.2 μ m. Acccording to /71/.

The fine grained crud (< 0.1 μ m) is deposited on the fuel rods mainly by bubble vaporization (Fig. 7.1.1) and forms a tightly adherent sintered layer. The cobalt fixed in this fraction reaches, together with the crud, the long residence times desired, that is several years.

The crud fraction with 0.1 - 1 μ m diarneter will not be deposited by vapour bubbles. According to Dehollander these particles still have a good adhesion because they sinter together with the fine grained crud forming a "cement" on the fuel element surface. Particles in the fraction 1 to about 10 μ m do not sinter together, their adhesion on fuel element surface is only due to the attachment of a colloid following its collision with a surface by electrostatic and van der Waals forces between particle and surface. These physical effects govern the colloid chemistry. After a certain time they will be transported away by the flow. Nevertheless, their residence time in the neutron f.ux is long enough to take up additional cobalt from of the reactor water; this cobalt will also be activated during its stay on the fuel pin.

This particle fraction actually acts as a "conveyer belt" for cobalt-60 (Fig. 7.1.2): The activated particles will be transported to the spinel layer on the recirculation loops, where they will be deposited again due to the conditions of the electrical charges of the surfaces. When residing on the spinel layer the excess cobalt will be withdrawn again. The released cobalt-60 will be directly built into the growing spinel lay \cdot . These layers are fissured and have trench-like depressions along the grain boundaries of the bulk material /6; 33/. in which particles with diameters of a few μ m can settle. After a certain residence time these particles can be transported again back to the fuel rods. According to Dehollander, particles with diameters more than 10 μ m are less important because of their short residence time on the fuel elements due to their size, and because their specific cobalt activity corresponds to that of the reactor water. Taking into consideration,



Fig. 7.1.2: In the Reactor, the Crud Fraction 1 to 10 μ m Acts as a "Conveyor Belt" for Cobalt-60. τ : Residence Time. $\tau_3 \ll \tau_1 \cong \tau_2$. According to /71/.

however, that coarse grained particles may spall from solid crud and may get into the water /70/, their influence can be neglected. These split off particles have a high specific activity and, due to their size, can deposit in zones of poor flow, thus contributing to the generation of hot spots.

A summary of the rôle of the different particle fraction in the activity build-up is given in Table 7.1.

Table 7.1: The Roles of the Different Crud Fractions in the Buildup of Activity in Recirculation Loops. According to /71/.

1	D µm	Adhesion	Residence Time	Role	
	< 0,1	sintered	Years	Co-Fixing	
	0.11	Stuck Together	Years	Co-Fixing	
	110	Loose	DaysWeeks	"Conveyor Belt"	
	> 10	Spalling	WeeksYears	Hot Spots	

Large importance is attributed to the conductivity of the reactor water (Fig. 7.1.3), which should be as low as possible. Naturally, measures leading to a reduced crud input have also positive effects on the conductivity of the reactor water. These additional aspects have been, for example, taken into consideration in the General Electric model of activity build-up /76; 77/.

According to Marble et al. the cobalt build-up in the spinel layer is of greatest importance. As already mentioned in section 6.2, the cobalt build-up can be reduced by adding zinc to the reactor water /62; 63/. The motive for this is the correlation between the contamination of the recirculation loops and the zinc content of the reactor water, which was discovered in 1983. The zinc source was the brass tubes of the condensors. The lowest dose rates in the recirculation loops have been measured in plants with brass tubes and with a feedwater clean-up system containing Powdex-filters (Fig. 7.1.4). Because deep bed demineralizers are able to keep back dissolved ionic metals more efficiently than Powdex-filters, it is, according to reference /62/, plausible that the combination of brass tubes and deep bed demineralizer results in heavier contamination of recirculation loops.

It must be considered, that zinc-65 as an activation product, with a half-life of 244 days will also be deposited on the recirculation loops (Table 1.2). Together with zinc, copper will be released from brass. Under certain circumstances copper can precipitate on austenitic surfaces, so the corrosion rate will be increased by the formation of local galvanic elements. This is a footnote in reference 62.



Fig. 7.1.3: Correlation between Deposited Co-60-Activity in Recirculation Loops and Reactor Water Conductivity at 1 σ (σ : Average Square Error) /71/.

Fig. 7.1.4: BWR Radiation Behaviour for Generic Plants Differentiated by Condenser Materials and Condensate System Type /62/.

7.2 MATHEMATICAL MODELS

There are several attempts to describe the activity build-up in BWRs by mathematical models. In doing so, the influence of the variables of the system on activity build-up is hoped to be elucidated, and by comparing the predictions with the reactor data the critical quantities of influence will be recognized. Essentially the models are based on a materials balance for the iron transport and on a materials and activity balance for the cobalt transport. Such models are partly very complex. Even a high stage of development cannot obscure the fact that they are semiempirical. The reaction rates as well as the reaction orders needed for the calculation are mostly empirical or even just assumptions.

7.2.1 The General Electric Model

The model by General Electric /76; 77/ is one of the most comprehensive for the analytical description of the activity transport as well as of the activity build-up in the reactor water of BWRs (Fig. 7.2.1). It includes the following processes:

- 1) Fouling of metallic surfaces by ions, colloids and particles
- Impurities from the feedwater, from the condensate, and from the corrosion of the metallic surfaces of the reactor and recirculation loops



Fig. 7.2.1: Block Diagram of the General Electric Model for Cobalt Transport. Continuous Line: Co-60 Transport. Broken Line: Co-59 Transport /77/.

- 3) Interaction between solid particles and dissolved material
- 4) Different deposition mechanisms for dissolved impurities and for solid particles
- 5) Activation of the deposited layers on the fuel rod surfaces
- 6) Release of radioactive impurities from the core as dissolved and undissolved substances, in consideration of the hydraulic forces
- 7) Two-layer model of the corrosion product layers outside the core.

In this model iron and cobalt fouling is taken into account in separate equations of balance. The model requires many empirical transport coefficients, which can only be gained by aid of a large number of data sets from comparable reactor types. Therefore the model is scarcely applicable to BWRs other than built by General Electric. The model does not include the analytical mechanisms of the deposition and build-up of impurities into the corrosion product layer. The comprehensive transport coefficients contain all chemical-physical information /78/.

7.2.2 The Tsuruga Model

The Tsuruga Model /43/ is based upon data measured on the Tsuruga reactor (1070 MW, operation started in 1970) and takes into account the following transport processes in a mass and activity balance (Figure 7.2.2):



Fig. 7.2.2: Corrosion Product Transport According to the Tsuruga Model /43/.

- Corrosion products from the feedwater are deposited on the surfaces inside and outside the core, and are partly reduced by the clean-up systems
- 2) Corrosion products are activated during their time in the core
- 3) After a residence period, deposits are released again into the reactor water systems
- 4) The activated and inactive corrosion products are mixed homogeneously in the reactor water and will be carried into the other plant components.

The Tsuruga model has the following aims in view:

- Understanding the deposition mechanisms
- Prediction of the dose rate
- Testing of measures to reduce the amount of corrosion products.

This model is suitable to describe the activity build-up of a specific BWR, providing there are enough reliable measured data. The deposition and release mechanisms are not modeled but expressed by regressed transport data valid for the Tsuruga plant only. The determining transport rates in this model cannot be established by measurements in test loops or in laboratory experiments; such conversions would lead to wrong results. If the Tsuruga model could be supplemented with fouling models, a generally applicable model could be worked out, in which measured data from experiments could be used /78/.


Fig. 7.2.4.1: Block Diagram of the Toshiba Model for Mass Transport /5, App.D/.



Fig. 7.2.4.2: Block Diagram of the Toshiba Model for Activity Transport /5.App.D/.

7.2.3 The ASEA Model

The ASEA model /79/ is based on the following processes:

- Materials transport from the turbulent flow through the boundary layer to the upper deposition layer
- Adsorption to and removal from the upper deposition layer
- Build-up or reduction of activity in the growing lower oxide layer

In this model, all the activated, depositable corrosion products are regarded as dissolved, and a two layer model of the corrosion film is taken into consideration, an upper loose accumulated layer, and a tightly adherent, solid lower layer. The ASEA model is restricted to the deposition of radioactive corrosion products from turbulent flowing reactor water on metallic surfaces. By assuming a material transport coefficient based on diffusion, the depositing activity is postulated to be dissolved.

The two layer model with time depended build-up coefficients is of special interest. In this model the behaviour over the time can be executed elegantly, however, it requires reliable data measured over some time to calibrate the coefficients properly. The ASEA model also includes the behaviour of corrosion product layers on metallic surfaces with integral coefficients, which are calculated by regression analysis of measured data. However, like with other models, the mechanism of the layer build-up is neither explained nor understood /78/.

7.2.4 The Toshiba model

Out of a number of Japanese papers /43; 80; 81; 82/ only the Toshiba model /5, App. D/ will be mentioned; it postulates rather complex relationships of mass and activity transport (Fig. 7.2.4.1 and Fig. 7.2.4.2).

7.3 JUDGEMENT OF THE MATHEMATICAL MODELS

The existence of several mathematical models of activity build-up could lead to the opinion that the elementary steps are well known. However, such models are at least semiempirical. Moreover, very complex models may be misleading in that by conscious and unconscious calibration of coefficients, all results can be produced. The models mentioned, laboratory experiments and experimental loops can contribute very little to the calibration of a comprehensive transport process as too many conditions have to be varied compared to a power plant. To develop a causative model based on physico-chemical principles, some work is necessary to elucidate the mechanisms and the kinetics of the steps involved in activity build-up. Presently the state of knowledge is still incomplete /23; 78/. The situation as described by Shaw and Naughton 1980 /83/ has scarcely changed: "Modelling at its best for LWR plants remains semiempirical. There are too many aspects of corrosion product transport for which little is known. A few which could be cited are (1) the mechanism whereby corrosion products are deposited on fuel, (2) the nature at operating conditions of circulating corrosion product ions, colloids and particles, (3) the amounts and forms of cobalt released from various surfaces, both high cobalt alloys and those containing cobalt as a trace contaminant, (4) the effects of radiation on corrosion product forms and transport and (5) the influence of coolant chemistry on corrosion product deposition and incorporation in corrosion films. The challenge is before us to develop models that (1) adequately describe radiation built-up in present LWR plants and (2) reasonably predict the effect of design and operational changes on these build-ups. We are not yet there."

8. SCOPE OF CONTROL AND INTERVENTION

8.1 INTRODUCTION

Together with General Electric, the Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) has tried (within a grand scale program) to discover the influences of operation conditions and plant characteristics on the activity build-up. The results of this BRAC Program (BWR Radiation Assessment and Control) are put in an extensive report /5/. The report includes data from 28 BWRs with varying degrees of loop contamination (Fig. 8.1). From the analysis of the data from these BWRs critical parameters of influence upon the activity build-up were sought.



Fig. 8.1: Recirculation Line Dose Rates of Different Reactors /5/.

As the most essential result the EPRI report /5/ lead to the conclusion that, accumulation of data from different plants contributes little to the understanding of the activity build-up. However, operation experiences on individual plants with slightly contaminated recirculation loops demonstrates that the problem of activity build-up can principally be kept under control. As to the individual reactions participating, the phenomenon can be understood by physico-chemical fundamentals. Although many details for a quantitative understanding are still missing, the most important correlations are visible.

However, it cannot be expected that the activity build-up in the recirculation loops can be kept low by a single measure which is cost free. Rather a whole series of measures is necessary, which influences not only cobalt-60 deposition but also plant and operation costs.

In the single steps

- cobalt input into the reactor water,
- cobalt activation, and
- cobalt-60 build-up in the recirculation loops,

the cobalt behaviour in a reactor is closely connected to the crud inventory. So, the crud inventory should be primarily influenced. Therefore, the measures of radiation level reduction aim to:

- reduce of reactor water radionuclide concentration, and
- control of radionuclide deposition.

In the planning stage of new plants, the crud and cobalt input can be controlled by materials choice and also by the design of the water cleanup systems. Also special measures are important when a new plant starts up.

8.2 REDUCTION OF REACTOR WATER RADIONUCLIDE CONCENTRATION

In principle the contamination of reactor circuits, particularly by cobalt-60, can be reduced and kept under control by selection of appropriate materials for construction and for retrofitting, in association with good management of water chemistry both at power and during annual outages. The following aspects will be described in more detail:

- reduction of corrosion product (crud) input from the feedwater system
- reduction of cobalt containing materials
- corrosion product (crud) removal
- control of water quality.

8.2.1 Crud Generation Control

Corrosion product generation can be reduced by using corrosion resistant materials and by exposing them to the appropriate conditions.

a) Corrosion resistant materials for upstream condensate systems:

The main crud source in a reactor system is from the turbine side, which is almost completely made of carbon steel. To reduce the crud generation low carbon, low alloy steels should be used in the system lines. For example main steam pipes, extraction steam steam pipes, main condenser and feedwater pipes, feedwater heater shells, and drain pipes should be made of materials that are atmospheric corrosion resistant, that is, when left in a damp atmosphere or with wetted surfaces they should give little corrosion product input /85; 86/. Also titanium is used for condenser tubing /84/.

However at present there are no clear or definitive recommendations cited in published literature for specific replacement materials. Some comparative data are given in /86/ although not in full detail.

b) Feedwater oxygen control:

Oxygen injection into the feedwater line is applied at most BWR plants to reduce the iron release rate (corrosion rate) from carbon steel piping. Control of the oxygen content in the feedwater in the range 20 - 60 ppb has proved to be successful /3; 5, App. E; 7; 34; 84 - 88/.

c) Practises during start-up and outage:

The reduction of crud into the reactor can be achieved by reducing corrosion product generation during the plant outage. If, for example, carbon steel pipes on the turbine side are left in wet condition during this period there will be severe corrosion. To prevent corrosion certain 'lay-up' practises have been found to be an effective measure / 85; 86/ and in one cited case a decrease to one tenth of previous iron crud input has been observed. These 'lay-up' practises should be applied during the construction phase as well as at annual inspections and start-up. The following measures are applied in Japan /85; 86/:

- For condensate and feedwater systems: During the construction period the system should be filled with oxygen containing water controlled by hydrazine addition. For short 'layup' periods it should be drained completely. During annual inspection, an initial period of recirculation should be followed by complete drainage.
- For main steam, extraction steam and heater drain system: During the construction phase a dry 'lay-up' procedure by the application of a continuous supply of dry air should be followed. This method is also applied during annual inspections.

8.2.2 Low Cobalt Containing Materials

Cobalt is present in nuclear reactors as a low-level impurity in stainless steels (≤ 0.2 %). In some countries the authorities propose for new plants and for retrofitting a low cobalt content, e. g. for materials in the neutron radiation field of the core ≤ 500 ppm, for other materials less than 2000 ppm. The effect of such a reduction of the cobalt content for materials outside the neutron field of the core remains questionable.

Hardfacing alloys, e. g. Stellite, used in applications requiring resistance to mechanical wear, have cobalt contents of about 50 - 60 %. Apart from corrosion, wear of the cobalt-base alloys, used to hardface valves (particularly feedwater regulator valves) and as pins and rollers for control blades, were found to be the primary cobalt sources in many BWRs /84; 86; 89; 90/.

Presently some alternative low cobalt alloys are being tested in two commercially operating BWRs. For example, Nitronic-60/CFA and PH 13-8 Mo/Inconel X-750 are currently being used as alloys in pin/roller combinations, and measurements show that type 440 °C stainless steel has better wear characteristics than the cobalt-base alloys in BWR feedwater regulator valves (Table 8.2.2) /89/.

	Nı	Co	Cr	С	Si	Fe	Mo	B	Mn
Low-cobalt alloy								<u> </u>	
CFA	Balance	< 0 5	330.390	< 0 10	< 0 10	15		17	
Cobalt-free alloys	ł		1		ł		}		
Nutronic-60	8090		160.180	< 01	35 45	Balance		1	70.90
PH13 - 8MO	75 85		12 25 13 25	< 0.05	< 0.1	Balance	2025		< 01
Inconet X-750	Balance		140 170	< 0.08	< 0.5	50 90	ĺ	1	< 0.1
Type 440 C stainless steel			160 180	095.120	< 10	Balance	< 0 75		<1.0

The examples given in the preceding paragraph show that for certain specific applications commercially available alloys can be substituted for cobalt containing alloys without compromising components performance.

A considerable number of cobalt free hardfacing alloys have been developed; the responses to laboratory wear and corrosion tests of many of them suggest that they could replace the cobaltbase Stellite hardfacings. Their long-term behaviour under BWR operational conditions however is not yet proven. Therefore, definite recommendations for the replacement of cobalt-base hardfacings by particular cobalt free alloys cannot be given.

8.2.3 Improvement of Crud Removal Efficiency

a) Condensate treatment system:

To reduce crud input into the reactor from leakage of the condensate treatment system, a condensate filter demineralizer can be adapted up-stream of a deep bed type condensate demineralizer, called dual condensates treatment system /5, App. E; 7; 84; 85; 86; 88/. For economic reasons, the demineralizer plants have a small throughput, therefore high temperature filters with a high throughput would keep the heavy metal content of the water low. For this, reactive filters seem to be particularly qualified because they fix dissolved ionic metals irreversibly /5, App. A; 64/.

b) Optimization of reactor water clean-up system:

In order to eliminate an as large as possible part of the crud by the reactor water clean-up system, its throughput should be as large as possible, e.g. at least 2 - 4 %, or better about 7 %, of the water flow /7; 84/.

8.2.4 Water Quality Control

a) Reactor water quality control:

Results from section 6 show that the activity build-up in the recirculation loops can be kept under control if the corrosion rate of the austenitic steels is low. As a precondition for a low corrosion rate, the conductivity of the reactor water must be low. In practice the corrosion behaviour of the reactor components can only be influenced by the conductivity of the reactor water, as other parameters such as temperature and redox conditions cannot be chosen freely. Efficient feedwater cleaning leads to a lower conductivity of the reactor water, and consequently to a reduced corrosion rate of recirculation loop materials. For example, in the Tsuruga power plant a crud elimination of more than 90 % in the condensate clean-up system was coupled with a reduction of the feedwater conductivity to about 0.07 μ S cm⁻¹/43/.

b) Control of nickel to iron ratio in feedwater:

Although control of crud input from feedwater into reactor water is effective in the reduction of insoluble cobalt-60, there is an optimum feedwater iron concentration to maintain a low concentration of soluble cobalt. A clear correlation has been found between the ionic nickel to iron ratio in feedwater and reactor water concentration of cobalt-58 and cobalt-60. The optimum nickel to iron ratio was found to be ≤ 0.2 (Fig. 8.2.4). As a corrective action for mitigating the activity build-up in a reactor, a sufficient amount of iron should be fed into the reactor water, to suppress ionic cobalt-58 and cobalt-60 concentrations. A key process may be the reaction between nickel and iron, forming a nickel ferrite:

$$N_1^{2+} + Fe_2O_3 + H_2O \rightarrow NiFe_2O_4 + 2H^+$$



Fig. 8.2.4: Optimum N:/Fe Ratio for Reduction of (A) Co-58, (B) Co-60 and (C) Nickel in Reactor Water /84/.

Ionic cobalt also reacts with iron, forming cobalt ferrite. Thus ionic nickel and ionic cobalt are stabilized by iron. At present an increase in iron concentration is an acceptable method to control the Ni/Fe ratio, but in the long term a more satisfactory solution is to reduce nickel generation in future plants, as lower corrosion product input is desirable for total plant operation /16; 84; 86; 88/.

8.3 Control of Radionuclide Deposition

8.3.1 Water Quality Control

Radionuclide deposition is also controlled by the water quality. This was already dealt with in section 8.2.4.

8.3.2 Preconditioning of Material Surface

The fresh steel surfaces of new plants have a relatively high corrosion rate. That means on the one side an increased crud and cobalt input, on the other side, however, also an increased cobalt buildup rate in the recirculation loops. Therefore, the suppression of corrosion in reactor water containing cobalt ions should prevent its incorporation. Prefilming and polishing have been proved to be suitable methods for suppressing corrosion and deposition of radioactive ions.

a) Prefilming

Prefilming of austenitic steels in high temperature water (about 280 °C) containing dissolved oxygen (200 - 400 ppb) or of slightly alkaline pH at relatively low oxygen concentrations (80 - 90 ppb) for 500 hours can effectively suppress the corrosion and deposition of cobalt. Oxide films containing aluminium ions provide greater protection. (See section 6.2) /51; 58; 59; 60; 84; 88/.

b) Polishing

Cobalt deposition rates can be reduced by polishing the surfaces before start-up. This reduces the surface area available for cobalt pick-up. The deposition of cobalt and corrosion are suppressed to about one third by mechanical or electro-polishing compared with a pickled material /58/. Other authors find mechanical polishing alone not very effective because it leaves a surface of microscratches, which are good sites for deposition. Electropolishing, on the other hand, is highly effective because it leaves a smooth microstructure, and can reduce cobalt pick-up by a factor of 2 (whereas sandblasting increases pick-up). Moreover, electropolishing will probably increase longterm resistance to intergranular stress corrosion cracking (IGSSC). Almost all BWR plants that are replacing recirculation piping are now specifying electropolishing for new piping. Loop tests have shown that the benefits of electropolishing and air oxidation are additive /59/.

8.3.3 Inhibition of Reactor Water

Also a zinc concentration of between 5 and 15 ppm in the reactor water can inhibit the corrosion of austenitic chrom-nickel steel, and also the cobalt uptake is reduced by a factor of between 3

and 20 The constant maintenance of an ionic zinc concentration in the reactor water is necessary, a surface preconditioning with zinc containing water is not sufficient /62, 63/ It is still an open question whether zinc, according to /62/, decreases the activity build-up or whether, in the end, in plants with small cobalt input the activity build-up in the recirculation loops is determined by deposited Zinc-65

8.4 GENERAL REMARKS

It has been demonstrated at existing power plants, that the contamination of the recirculation loops could be kept low for years by controlling the crud input and the quality of the reactor water as well as by particular measures during the outage Moreover, one example (Tsuruga plant) shows that a contaminated plant can also be restored by a combination of measures, i.e. decrease of the iron input by oxygen injection into the feed water, forming filterable crud from iron (II) compounds, and by minimizing the corrosion in the feedwater system during outage by means of water circulation and drying respectively /43/.

9. REVIEW OF THE STATE OF THE ART

Using the text at hand, an extended summary was made to review the state of the art.

9.1 DEFINITION OF THE PROBLEM

In boiling water reactors (BWR) with external recirculation loops the dose rate to the service personnel is mainly due to the deposition of activated cobalt, - Co-58 and Co-60. Co-60 alone contributes 68 - 94 % to the total dose rate

The essential steps leading to the activity build-up are:

- Cobalt input into the reactor water
- Activation of Co-59 in the neutron flux
- Deposition of Co-60 in the recirculation loops.

The material input into the reactor water can be divided into two groups by filtration: dissolved and particulate. The standard classification by filters of 0.45 μ m pore size only permits the distinction between particles larger than 0.45 μ m ("particles") and material (particles, colloids, ions) below 0.45 μ m ("dissolved"). The particulate cobalt is mainly due to the feedwater, the soluble cobalt to cobalt-containing materials. Data from Muhleberg e.g. show a cobalt input of approximately 0.1 kg \cdot yr¹, 40 % with the feedwater, 50 % from incore Inconel and Stellite components and only a small portion from austenitic steel.

Corrosion product particles (mainly haematite) play an important role in the cobalt transport These crud particles can act as a "conveyor belt" for the activated cobalt between the fuel pin cladding and the surface layer of the recirculation loop. Data from Mühleberg show a crud deposition of approximately $10 \text{ kg} \cdot \text{yr}^{-1}$, the largest part originating from the feed water system

9.2 THE CORROSION OF AUSTENITIC STEEL AND THE COBALT BUILD-UP

9.2.1 Characterization of the Stable Corrosion Layer

The oxide layer after several thousand hours of operation on austenitic chromium-nickel steel (there seems to be little difference between 304 and 316 steel) can be characterized as follows:

- a) A tightly adhering film of nm-thickness of spinel grown on the base material
- b) A tightly adhering film of nickel-iron spinel $N_1Fe_2O_4$ of μ m-thickness containing most of the cobalt activity. This layer consists at least of two species.
 - a chromium depleted (1 3 % Cr), nickel rich Ni-Fe spinel with little Co-activity (corresponding to the corrosion product of austenites in oxygenated water).
 - a chromium rich (9 18 % Cr), nickel depleted Ni-Fe spinel with most of the Co-activity (corresponding to the corrosion product of austenites in oxygen depleted water).

The cobalt content in both species $(0\ 1 - 0\ 6\ \%)$ is significantly higher than in the stainless steel $(0.1 - 0\ 2\ \%)$. The ratio of nickel to cobalt is constant for the oxide layer which leads to the conclusion that only a limited number of nickel atoms can be replaced by cobalt The following possible limiting formula can be derived for the spinel:

$$(Ni_{05} Co_{001} Fe^{II}_{05}) (Fe^{III}, Cr)_2O_4$$

c) A loosely adhering film of haematite particles α -Fe₂O₃ (82 - 95 %) of μ m-thickness with a low cobalt content (0.1 %). This film is formed from mobile corrosion product particles present in a concentration of a few ppb in the reactor water ("conveyor belt")

9.2.2 The Cobalt Build-up in the Corrosion Layer

The cobalt build-up in the corrosion layer proceeds in parallel to the corrosion rate. Typically, following a logarithmic rate law, a maximum build-up is reached after 10'000 hours at 230 ° C.

The cobalt build-up is proportionate to the reactor water conductivity in the recirculation loop. Typically, a strong increase occurs if the conductivity increases from 0.1 to 0.5 μ S · cm⁻¹. Since the input of corrosion products directly affects the conductivity a reduced input of crud also reduces the cobalt build-up.

The cobalt release from the corrosion layer appears to be a slow process of solid state diffusion, therefore the austenitic corrosion layers can be considered as an efficient cobalt sink.

9.2.3 Electropolishing and Preoxydation of the Austenitic Steel Surface

Electropolishing leads to a reduction of the cobalt build-up by a factor of 2 over "as received" steel surfaces. Preoxydation at 280 °C and 200 - 400 ppb O_2 retards the cobalt build-up by a factor of 10 over "as received" steel surfaces.

9.2.4 Inhibition of the Corrosion Layer Formation and Cobalt Build-up by the Addition of Zinc.

Addition of 10 - 20 ppm ionic zinc to the reactor water retards the formation of the corrosion layer by a factor of 10. Typically after 300 hrs at 280 °C and 200 ppb O_2 the thickness of the corrosion layer is 0.03 µm instead of 0.3 µm. The cobalt build-up is reduced by a factor of 3 to 20 since cobalt and zinc compete for the same lattice sites in the spinel layer. Pretreatment with zinc alone is insufficient, a steady concentration should be maintained.

Low dose rates have been measured in plants with brass condensers (Cu-Zn) and Powdex filters. The disadvantages are that Zn-65 is an activation product ($\tau_{1/2}$ = 244 d) and also deposited in the recirculation loop, further that copper may precipitate on austenitic surfaces and increase the corrosion rate by the formation of local galvanic elements.

9.2.5 Control of the Nickel to Iron Ratio

Soluble cobalt and nickel react with iron to form cobalt- and nickel-ferrites. Since there is little control over the nickel input, it is recommended to feed sufficient iron into the reactor water to maintain the optimum Ni/Fe ratio ≤ 0.2 . Compared to higher Ni/Fe ratios a reduction of soluble cobalt by a factor of 5 is achieved.

9.3 THE DEPOSITION OF CORROSION PRODUCTS ON THE FUEL PIN CLADDING MATERIAL AND THE ACTIVATION OF COBALT

The corrosion products in the reactor water, mainly haematite particles (95 % Fe) with a higher cobalt content (0.2 %) are deposited on the fuel pin cladding material. The deposition occurs preferentially in the zone where nucleate boiling begins, - about 1 m from the bottom end of the pin -, and depends on the following factors:



Water vapour bubbles of typically 1 μ m size transport small crud particles (< 0.2 μ m) to the pin surface where they form a tightly adhering film. Medium sized particles (0.1 - 1 μ m) sinter with the tightly adhering film. Large particles (1 - 10 μ m) adhere less well and return after a residence time of days to weeks into the reactorwater ("conveyor belt").

The adsorption of ionic cobalt on the zirconium oxide is only important for new fuel elements for a short initial period. Little is known about the influence of silicic acid and organic materials on the adsorption of colloids on the fuel pin surface.

The residence time of Co-59 on the fuel pins is a critical factor. A long residence time of several years leads to the removal of the activated crud with the fuel elements, e.g. Oskarshamn-2, Tsuruga. Medium residence times, e.g. of 250 days as in Mühleberg, of the loosely adhering crud, leads to full activation, return into the reactor water and deposition in the recirculation loops.

9.4 THE QUALITY OF THE FEED WATER

9.4.1 Introduction

At steady state conditions the largest part of the corrosion products are brought into the reactor water with the feed water. At a feedwater temperature of 190 °C the corrosion rate of austenitic chromium-nickel steels is constant and low $(12 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \cdot \text{yr}^{-1})$. The corrosion rate of carbon steels depends on the corrosion resistance of the material, the oxygen content and the conductivity of the feedwater. The total input of corrosion products into the reactor water depends on the efficiency of the condensate clean-up system.

18

9.4.2 Reduction of the Corrosion Rate of Carbon Steels by Oxygen Addition

The maintenance of 20 - 60 ppb oxygen concentration in the feedwater reduces the corrosion rate of carbon steels by a factor of 100 and leads to a content of corrosion products in the sub ppm range.

9.4.3 Hydrogen Injection to Avoid Corrosion of Austenitic Steel in Recirculation Loops

The injection of 0.2 - 2 ppm hydrogen to the feedwater is recommended, - see 9.5.3.

9.4.4 The Efficiency of the Condensate Clean-up System for the Removal of Corrosion Products and Metal Ions

The efficiency of the condensate clean-up system determines the concentration of corrosion products in the feedwater and its conductivity. Maximum efficiency is achieved by a dual condensate treatment: deep bed demineralizers (to preferentially eliminate metal ions) and Powdex filters (to preferentially eliminate corrosion products), combined with high pressure condensate recirculation. The conductivity of less than $0.1 \ \mu\text{S} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$ is near the theoretical value (at 25 °C 0.055 $\mu\text{S} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$) and the corrosion product concentration less than 1 ppb.

Without high pressure condensate recirculation the corrosion products concentration increases by a factor of 10.

9.4.5 Practises during Outage Periods

During outage periods corrosion of the carbon steel in a damp atmosphere or by wetted surfaces should be avoided. This is either done by the recirculation (flowrate ~ $1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$) of oxygenated water (e.g. 5 ppm) with low conductivity (e.g. $0.1 \,\mu\text{S} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$) or by draining the system completely and maintaining a constant purge of dry air. At least in one case the input of iron crud was reduced by a factor of 10 through these "lay-up" practises.

9.4.6	a) Addition of zinc,	- see 9.2.4)
	b) Nickel to iron ratio,	- see 9.2.5)
	c) Organic carbon,	- see 9.5.6)
	d) Silicate,	- see 9.5.7)

9.5 THE QUALITY OF THE REACTOR WATER

9.5.1 Introduction

At steady state conditions the quality of the reactor water depends mainly on the quality of the feedwater and on the throughput through the reactor water clean-up system (RWCU). The corrosion products are mainly haematite particles (95 %), the concentration is in the order of 10 ppb.

9.5.2 The Influence of the Oxygen Concentration on Austenitic Steels

The oxygen content of the reactor water at power is determined by the water radiolysis; typical values are 200 - 400 ppb. The corresponding hydrogen value is far below the stochiometric ratio of 8; typical values for O_2/H_2 are 14 to 55.

The high oxygen concentration may cause intergranular stress corrosion cracking (IGSCC) in sensitized austenitic steels under tensile stress. On the other hand, if the oxygen content is below 1 ppb then the soluble iron concentration in the reactor water increases from 2 - 5 ppb to 6 - 10 ppb with a corresponding increase in the Co-60 concentration.

Ideally then, the electrochemical potential should be at or below - 230 mV (standard hydrogen electrode) corresponding to an oxygen content of about 2 ppb. In practice no crack growth has been observed at oxygen levels of 20 ppb.

9.5.3 Hydrogen Injection to Control the Oxygen Concentration

To maintain the oxygen level at a few ppb, the injection of 0.2 - 2 ppm hydrogen into the feedwater is recommended; hydrogen water chemistry (HWC).

9.5.4 The Efficiency of the Reactor Water Clean-up System for the Removal of Corrosion Products and Metal Ions

The throughput of reactor water through the clean-up system (RWCU) varies considerally from plant to plant; Mühleberg 0.7 %, Shimane 7 % of the feedwater. Evidently a high throughput is recommended.

To avoid power losses high temperature filters with high throughput appear a promising new development. Candidate materials are stainless steel, magnetite and titanium oxide.

9.5.5 The Effect of Transients on the Activity Transport

Start-up, shut-down and transients have a large effect on the activity mobilisation, transport and deposition. Typically, the conductivity of the reactor water may increase by a factor of 3 - 20. During these periods the corrosion rate of structural materials is increased and the corrosion products are redistributed.

9.5.6 The Rôle of Organic Carbon

Typically the organic carbon content in the reactor water is 700 - 900 ppb. It is not clear whether the organic carbon is brought in with the feed water or is a degradation product of the ion exchange resins. The rôle of organic carbon in the activity build-up is unknown.

9.5.7 The Rôle of Silicate

Typically the content of silicate (SiO_2) is between 100 and 300 ppb. The content apparently depends on the age of the filters in the clean-up system, RWCU. The rôle of silicate in the activity build-up is unknown.

```
9.5.8 a) Addition of zinc, - see 9.2.4)
b) Nickel to iron ratio, - see 9.2.5)
```

9.6 THE QUALITY OF STRUCTURAL MATERIALS

9.6.1 Introduction

The corrosion product input can be reduced by using corrosion resistant materials and by exposing them to the appropriate conditions. A low cobalt content in these materials is also desirable to reduce the cobalt inventory.

9.6.2 Carbon Steel

The feedwater system is essentially constructed from carbon steel. Severe corrosion occurs during outage periods, when the material is left in a damp atmosphere or in wet condition, - see 9.4.5. To reduce the crud generation low carbon, low alloy steels are recommended, however the published literature is not very explicite.

9.6.3 Austenitic Steel

Austenitic steel contains cobalt, typically in the order of 0.2 %. A low cobalt content (\leq 500 ppm) is recommended for materials in the neutron radiation field of the core. Whether or not a reduction of the cobalt content in the austenitic steel in other parts of the primary system is an effective measure, remains questionable.

9.6.4 Stellite

Although Stellite represents a negligible fraction of the surface area, it contributes to a large extent to the cobalt input. At reactor operating conditions a loss of 0.7 to 10 μ m per year is estimated.

The corrosion rate is high $(g \cdot m^2 \cdot yr^4)$ and depends on the oxygen content of the water. The cobalt is mainly released in ionic form. At feed water temperature, 190 °C, the Stellite corrosion rate increases by a factor of 2 if the oxygen content goes from 15 to 150 ppb. Since Stellite is used in areas of high wear, the cobalt release from abrasion, in particulate form, may be even more important than water corrosion.

A considerable number of cobalt free hardfacing alloys have been tested as a replacement for Stellite, however no firm recommendations are found in the literature. On the other hand there are reactors with Stellite, e. g. Shimane, with low dose rates in the recirculation loops.

REFERENCES

- /1/ COMLEY, G.C.W., "The Significance of Corrosion Products in Water Reactor Coolant Circuits", Progress in Nuclear Energy 16 (1985), 41.
- /2/ FERRET, D., COMLEY, G.C.W., "Deposition and Migration of Corrosion Products and Impurities", Fuel Cladding Interaction with Water Coolant in Power Reactors, IAEA TECDOC-356 (1985), 65.
- /3/ COMLEY, G.C.W., "Some Aspects of System Chemistry of BWRs", Progress in Nuclear Energy 2 (1978), 153.
- /4/ DOBREVSKY, I.D., "Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactors, Evaluation of Specific Water Quality", Fuel Cladding Interaction with Water Coolant in Power Reactors. IAEA TECDOC-356 (1985), 13.
- /5/ BWR Radiation Assessment and Control Program: Assessment and Control of BWR Radiation Fields. Vol. 1 (Executive Summary), Vol. 2, EPRI NP - 3114 (1983).
- /6/ ANSTINE, L.D., "BWR Decontamination and Corrosion Product Characterization", General Electric, NEDO - 12 665 (1977).

- (7) KOINE, Y. et al., "A Boiling Water Reactor Concept for Low Radiation Exposure Based on Operating Experience", Water Chemistry and Corrosion Problems in Nuclear Power Plants, Proc. Symp. Vienna, November 1982, IAEA - SM - 264 (1983), 3.
- /8/ Water Chemistry and Corrosion Problems in Nuclear Power Plants, Proc. Symp. Vienna, November 1982, IAEA - SM - 264 (1983).
- /9/ Fuel Cladding Interaction with Water Coolant in Power Reactors, IAEA TECDOC-356 (1985), 13.
- /10/ SILVENNOINEN, S., "Water Chemistry Experience at Olkiluoto", Water Chemistry and Corrosion Problems in Nuclear Power Plants, Proc. Symp. Vienna, November 1982. IAEA -SM - 264 (1983), 19.
- /11/ Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981.
- /12/ IVARS, R., ELKERT, J. "Experience of Water Chemistry and Radiation Leveis in Swedish BWRs", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, Paper 49.
- /13/ BLESA, M.A. et al., "Behaviour of Cobalt (II) in Aqueous Suspensions of Magnetite", Colloids and Surfaces 51 (1982), 197.
- /14/ FOX, M.J., "Uniqueness of Boiling Water Reactor Primary Water Chemistry", NUREG/CR-4602 (1986).
- /15/ JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. -22. April 1988.
- /16/ FEJES, P., LJUNGBERG, L., HALLDEN, E., "Development in Water Chemistry of BWRs", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. - 22. April 1988, 31 - 41.
- /17/ Water Chemistry for Nuclear Reactor Systems 4, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1986, Vol. 1 + 2.
- /18/ HALLDEN, E., ROOTH, T., "A Reactor Test for the Demonstration of Crack Arrest during Water Chemistry in BWR Forsmark-1", Water Chemistry for Nuclear Reactor Systems 4, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1986, Vol. 1 + 2, Paper 16.
- /19/ COWAN, R.L. et al., "Experience with Hydrogen Water Chemistry in Boiling Water Reactors", Water Chemistry for Nuclear Reactor Systems 4, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1986, Vol. 1 + 2, Paper 13.
- /20/ ROOTH, T., ULLBERG, M., "Response of BWRs to Hydrogen Addition", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. -22. April 1988, 210-214.
- /21/ COWAN, R.L. et al., "U.S. Experience with Hydrogen Water Chemistry in Boiling Water Reactors", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. - 22. April 1988, 191-198.
- /22/ KITABATA, T. et al., "Experience with Hydrogen Addition Water Chemistry in the Fugen Nuclear Power Station", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. - 22. April 1988, 199 - 204.

- /23/ GRAUER, R., "Zum Aktivitätsaufbau an den Umwälzschleifen von Siedewasserreaktoren", EIR-Bericht Nr. 613, Würenlingen, Mai 1987.
- /24/ Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 3, BNES, London, 1984, Vol. 1 and 2.
- /25/ SILVENNOINEN, S.M., "Experience with the Condensate and Reactor Water Cleanup Systems at TVO-1 and TVO-2 Power Stations", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 3, BNES, London, 1984, Vol. 1 und 2, 309.
- /26/ BWR Radiation Control Plant Demonstration, Vol. 1 and 2, EPRI NP-2752 (1982).
- /27/ GRENTHE, I., BRUNO, J., OLSSON, K.G., "Complexing Degradation Products from Organic Ion Exchange Resins", KBS AR 82-13 (1982).
- /28/ MELHUISH, K.R., WALLACE, D.M., "The Water Chemistry Problems of the Prototype Fast Reactor during Periods of High Organic Material in the Feed Water", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, Paper 20.
- /29/ PARSSONS, J.W. et al., "The Chemistry of the Soluble Organic Material in the Douneray Water Supply from Loch Shurrey", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, Paper 19.
- /30/ BWR Cobalt Source Identification, EPRI NP-2263 (1982).
- /31/ SHAW, R. et al., Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 3, BNES, London, 1984, Vol. 1 und 2, 125.
- /32/ Proceedings of the BWR Radiation Control and Radwaste Processing Seminar, EPRI NP-2417-LD (1982).
- /33/ Characterization of Corrosion Products of Recirculation and Bypass Lines at Millstone-1, EPRI NP-949 (1978).
- /34/ IZUMIYA, M. et al., "Corrosion and/or Erosion in BWR Plants and their Countermeasures", Water Chemistry and Corrosion Problems in Nuclear Power Plants, Proc. Symp. Vienna, November 1982, IAEA - SM - 264 (1983), 61.
- /35/ UCHIDA, S. et al., "Deposition of Cobalt-60 on the Stainless Steel Surface Used for the Primary Cooling System of a Boiling Water Reactor", Nucl. Sci. Eng. 77 (1981), 496.
- /36/ DEHOLLANDER, W.R., "A Model for Cobalt-60/58 Deposition on Primary Coolant Piping in a Boiling Water Reactor", Corrosion NACE 35 (1979), 147.
- /37/ BART, G. et al., "Corrosion Product Characterization in a BWR Primary System", Water Chemistry and Corrosion Problems in Nuclear Power Plants, Proc. Symp. Vienna, November 1982, IAEA - SM - 264 (1983), 35.
- /38/ Survey of Corrosion Product Generation, Transport and Deposition in Light Water Nuclear Reactors, EPRI NP-522 (1979).
- /39/ BWR Radiation Assessment and Control (BRAC), Interim Report EPRI NP-2333 (1982).
- /40/ PERSSON, B., MULTER, I., STENBERG, T.A., "BWR System Criteria for Man-Rem Reduction Based on Operation Experience", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, Paper 51.

- /41/ LISTER, D.H., "The Behaviour of Dissolved Cobalt in the Cores of Water Cooled Reactor", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, Paper 39.
- /42/ SOLOMON, Y., ROESMER, J., "Measurement of Fuel Element Crud Deposits in Pressurized Water Reactors", Nucl. Technol. 29 (1976), 166.
- [43] YAMAZAKI, K. et al., "Analysis on the Primary System Radiation Control at Tsuruga Boiling Water Reactor", Nucl. Technol. 52 (1981), 7-21.
- /44/ Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1978.
- /45/ TYZAK, C., BERRY, R., "Ferritic Versus Austenitic Steels in Boiling Water Reactors: Compatibility Aspects", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1978, 77.
- /46/ BRUSH, E.G., PEARL, W.L., "Corrosion and Corrosion Product Release in Neutral Feedwater", Corrosion NACE 28 (1972), 129.
- /47/ UCHIDA, S., KITAMURA, M., OZAWA, Y., "Estimation of Cobalt Release from Feedwater Heater Tubes of BWRs", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 3, BNES, London, 1984, Vol. 1 und 2, 133.
- /48/ KITAMURA, M., OZAWA, Y. UCHIDA, S., "Temperature Dependence of Cobalt Release from Stainless Steel in Neutral Water", Proc. Int. Symp. on Environmental Degradation in Nuclear Power Systems - Water Reactors, Myrtle Beach, South Carolina, 1983.
- (49) OZAWA, Y., UCHIDA, S., KITAMURA, M., "Temperature Dependence of Cobalt Release Rate from Stainless Steel in Neutral Water", J. Nucl. Sci. and Technol. 20 (1983), 1039.
- /50/ ISHIGURE, K. et al., "The Effect of Radiation on the Corrosion Product Release from Metals in High Temperature Water", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, Paper 43.
- /51/ BWR Cobalt Deposition Studies, Interim Report, EPRI NP-4236 (1985).
- /52/ HONDA, T. et al., "Inhibition of Radioactive Contamination of Stainless Steel in Boiling Water Reactors", J. Nucl. Sci. and Technol. 20 (1983), 871.
- /53/ HONDA, T. et al., "Radiation Buildup on Stainless Steel in a Boiling Water Reactor Environment", Nucl. Technol. 64 (1984), 35.
- /54/ LISTER, D.H., "Transport of Radioactive Corrosion Products in High Temperature Water I. Recirculating Loop Experiments", Nucl. Sci. Eng. 58 (1975), 239.
- /55/ LISTER, D.H., "The Transport of Radioactive Corrosion Products in High Temperature Water II. The Activation of Isothermal Steel Surfaces", Nucl. Sci. Eng. 59 (1976), 406.
- /56/ RICHARDSON, S.A. et al., "Deposition Processes on Stainless Steel Surfaces", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 3, BNES, London, 1984, Vol. 1 und 2, p. 53.
- /57/ YAMAZAKI, K., URUMA, Y., KAMATA, T., "Inplant Deposition Test of Radioactive Corrosion Products in BWRs", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 3, BNES, London, 1984, Vol. 1 und 2, p. 9.

- /58/ HONDA, T. et al., "Suppressing Effect of Surface Treatment on Radiation Buildup in a BWR", Water Chemistry for Nuclear Reactor Systems 4, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1986, Vol. 1 + 2, Paper 45.
- /59/ SHAW, R.A., OCKEN, H., WOOD, C.J., "Recent Progress in LWR Radiation Field Control", Water Chemistry for Nuclear Reactor Systems 4, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1986, Vol. 1 + 2, Paper 18.
- /60/ HONDA, T. et al., "Demonstration of Alkaline Prefilming Process for Primary Piping in a New Japanese BWR", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. - 22. April 1988, 239-243.
- /61/ ANSTINE, L.D., NAUGHTON, M.K., "Radiation Level Assessment and Control for Boiling Water Reactors", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, p. 359.
- /62/ MARBLE, W.J., COWAN, R.L., WOOD, C.J., "Control of Cobalt-60 Deposition in BWRs", Water Chemistry for Nuclear Reactor Systems 4, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1986, Vol. 1 + 2, Paper 42.
- /63/ MARBLE, W.J., COWAN, R.L., "Status of Zinc Injection Passivation at U.S. BWRs", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. - 22. April 1988, 284-288.
- /64/ KAWAMURA, F. et al., "Using Titanium Oxide for Cobalt Removal from High-Temperature Water", Nucl. Technol. 65 (1984), 332.
- /65/ Properties of Colloidal Corrosion Products and their Effects on Nuclear Plants, EPRI NP-2606 (1982), Vol. 1 + 2.
- /66/ GASPARINI, R., DELLA ROCCA, C., IOANNILLI, E., "A New Approach to the Study and Prevention of Deposits in Modern Power Stations", Combustion 41 (1969), Nr. 5, 12.
- /67/ KUO, R.J., MATIJEVIC, E., "Particle Adhesion and Removal in Model Systems III. Monodispersed Ferric Oxide on Steel", J. Colloid Interface Sci. 78 (1980), 407.
- /68/ HERMANSSON, H.P., ARVESEN, J., "Parametric Studies on Convosion Product Deposition in Reactor Systems", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, Paper 37.
- /69/ ASAKURA, Y. et al., "Deposition of Iron Oxide on Heated Surfaces in Boiling Water", Nucl. Sci. Eng. 67 (1978), 1.
- /70/ BURRIL, K.A., "Crud Deposition and Release of Nuclear Fuel Sheats in Boiling Water", Corrosion NACE 35 (1979), 84. See also: BURRIL, K.A., Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1978, 119.
- /71/ DEHOLLANDER, W.R., "Mechanisms and Philosophy of Cobalt-60 Buildup Control in BWRs", Lecture in Mühleberg Nuclear Power Plant (KKM), 29. Sept. 1981.
- [72] THOMAS, D., GRIGULL, K., "Experimentelle Untersuchung über die Ablagerung von suspendiertem Magnetit bei Rohrströmung in Dampferzeugern", Brennstoff - Wärme - Kraft 26 (1974), 109.

- /73/ TAMURA, H., MATIJEVIC, E., MEITES, L., "Adsorption of Co2+ Ions on Spherical Magnetic Particles", J. Colloid Interface Sci. 92 (1983), 303.
- /74/ TEWARI, P.H., LEE, W., "Adsorption on Co (II) at the Oxide-Water Interface", J. Colloid Interface Sci. 52 (1975), 77.
- /75/ WU, C.L., YANG, M.H., LIN, C.C., "Adsorption Studies of Co (II) on Ferric Oxide Particles in Aqueous Solutions", Radiochim. Acta 33 (1983), 57.
- /76/ LIN, C.C. et al., "Corrosion Product Transport and Radiation Field Buildup in the BWR Primary System", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, Paper 46.
- /77/ LIN, C.C. et al., "Mathematical Model of Corrosion Product Transport in the Boiling Water Reactor Primary System", Nucl. Technol. 54 (1981), 253.
- /78/ COVELLI, B., ALDER, H.P., "Zum Aktivitätsaufbau an den Umwälzschleifen von Siedewasserreaktoren: Grundlagen zur Modellierung der Transport- und Ablagerungsvorgänge", PSI-Bericht Nr. 2, Villigen/Würenlingen, März 1988.
- (79) LUNDGREN, K., PERSSON, B., "Test of a New High Temperature Filter Design", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 3, BNES, London, 1984, Vol. 2, 61.
- /80/ HEMMI, Y. et al., "BWR Cobalt Transport Model", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, 319.
- /81/ UCHIDA, S., et al., "A Calculation Model for Predicting Concentration of Radioactive Corrosion Products in the Primary Coolant of Boiling Water Reactors", Nucl. Sci. Eng. 67 (1978), 247.
- /82/ UCHIDA, S. et al., "Corrosion Product Release Rate from Structural Materials and its Effects on Shutdown Dose Rate in the Primary Cooling System of Light Water Reactors", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, 299.
- /83/ SHAW, R.A., NAUGHTON, M.D., "Radiation Control in Light Water Reactors", Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 2, British Nuclear Energy Soc. (BNES), London 1981, 225.
- /84/ NAGAO, H. et al., "Corrosion Product Behaviour in Low Crud Boiling Water Reactors", Water Chemistry for Nuclear Reactor Systems 4, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1986, Vol. 1 + 2, Paper 12.
- /85/ USUI, N. et al., "Procedures for Reducing Shutdown Dose Rate at No. 1 and No. 4 Units of Fukushima, Daiichi Nuclear Power Station and Current Experience with Dose Rate and Occupational Exposure at the Plants", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. - 22. April 1988, 273-278.
- /86/ SUTOH, Y. et al., "Operation Experiences on Onagawa Unit 1 for Reduction of Radiation Sources", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. - 22. April 1988, 255-260.
- /87/ OSHUMI, K. et al., "Operation Experience with Water Chemistry in the No. 2 Unit of Fukushima - Daini Nuclear Power Plant", Water Chemistry for Nuclear Reactor Systems 4, British Nuclear Energy Soc. BNES, London, 1986, Vol. 1 + 2, Paper 10.

- /88/ OSHUMI, K. et al., "Operating Experience on Radiation Reduction in the Latest BWRs", JAIF International Conference on Water Chemistry in Nuclear Power Plants, Tokyo, 19. -22. April 1988, 261-266.
- /89/ OCKEN, 'L., "Reducing the Cobalt Inventory in Light Water Reactors", Nuclear Technology 68 (1985), 18-25.
- /90/ FALK, C.F., "BWR Cobalt Source Identification", EPRI NP-2263 (1982).

CORROSION PRODUCTS, ACTIVITY TRANSPORT AND DEPOSITION IN BOILING WATER REACTOR RECIRCULATION SYSTEMS Review of the state of the art, May 1990

H.P. ALDER Paul Scherrer Institute, Würenlingen, Switzerland

Abstract

In September 1989 a review of current practices to reduce the radiological exposure of the personnel in BWR's was made. Since then additional information especially from Japan and General Electric was presented and it seemed timely to update the review of the state of the art.

Introduction

In September 1989 a review of current practices to reduce the radiological exposure of the personnel in BWR's was made [1]. Since then additional information especially from Japan and General Electric was presented and it seemed timely to update the review of the state of the art. Not considering improvements in equipment and working conditions (automation of inspection and operation, improved design, shortened worktime and radiation shielding) the following topics are of particulat interest:

Iron crud reduction in the feedwater

- Prefiltration of the condensate water
- Dual condensate polishing system
- Corrosion resistant materials
- Oxygen injection
- Nickel to iron ratio control
- Practices during outage periods

Low cobalt alloys

Cobalt reduction in the reactor water

- The efficiency of the reactor water clean-up system
- Practises during reactor shutdown

Cobalt deposition in the corrosion layer of austenites

- Alkaline prefilming of the primary piping
- Zinc addition
- Hydrogen water chemistry

Since the Japanese have a large family of new and old BWR's and a wealth of information is available, it seemed appropriate to devote a special chapter to the progress made in Japan.

1 Iron crud reduction in the feedwater

1.1 Prefiltration of the condensate water

Already in Shimane-1, 1974, a prefilter was installed to clean the condensate water. Typically the condensate water contains 20 to 30 ppb iron, at the prefilter inlet, at the outlet 1 to 3 ppb [12] mostly in the form of crud. Prefilters are used in modern Japanese reactors, e. g., Shimane-2, 2F-1, 2F-2, 2F-3, K-1 [2].

1.2 Dual condensate polishing system

Powdered resins (Powdex) are excellent particulate filters, but only 70 to 90 % effective at removing ionic impurities:

< 2 ppb iron in feedwater, 5 - 15 ppb Zn, 10 - 30 ppb Cu with brass condenser

Deep bed demineralizers eleminate dissolved ions more efficiently

< 5 ppb iron in feedwater [5]

The best efficiency is achieved by a dual condensate treatment: Deep bed demineralizers to preferentially eleminate metal ions, Powdex filters to preferentially eliminate particulates, combined with high pressure condensate recirculation [1]

Conductivity < 0.1 μ S/cm corrosion products, < 1 ppb

Without high pressure condensate recirculation the corrosion products concentration increases by a factor of 10.

Already in Shimane-1, 1974, a dual condensate purification system was installed resulting in an iron concentration of less than 1 ppb at the outlet. Dual systems are used in modern Japanese reactors, e. g. Shimane-2, 2F-1, 2F-2, 2F-3, K-1 [2].

1.3 Corrosion resistant materials

In modern Japanese reactors, e. g. Shimane-2, 2F-1, 2F-2, 2F-3,K-1 corrosion resistant steels are used to reduce the iron crud concentration in the feedwater system [2] [4].

Upstream of the condensate prefilter for condensor internals and heater drain pipes atmospheric corrosion resisting steels to at least 70 % are used.

Iron in the condensate water (ppb)

Old BWR, carbon steel30Modern BWR, corrosion resisting steel10

Downstream of the dual condensate polishing system low alloy steel for the heater body (instead of carbon steel) and low cobalt stainless steel (<0.05 % Co) for heater tubing is used [2] [4].

Iron in the feedwater (ppb)

Old BWR, carbon steel 1 Modern BWR, low cobalt stainless steel 0.5

1.4 Oxygen injection

"Oxygen injection into the feedwater to prevent corrosion of carbon steel piping has been one of the most successful counter measures for shutdown dose reduction" [4]. 20 to 60 ppb oxygen injection into the feedwater before the condensate polishing system reduces the corrosion rate of carbon steels by a factor of 100 and leads to a content of corrosion products in the sub ppb range [1].

Oxygen injection was introduced already in Shimane-1, 1974 and subsequently in Japanese BWR's [2],[4], 1981 in KKM and today 84 % of the US-plants use it [3].

1.5 Nickel to iron ratio control

In the reactorwater at p_H 6 and 300 °C Ni-ion in its stable form NiO is deposited on nucleate boiling sites on the fuel cladding surface. NiO reacts with deposited iron crud, α - Fe₂O₃:

$$NiO + Fe_2O_3 \longrightarrow NiOFe_2O_3$$

The chemical behaviour of cobalt is similar to nickel.

If the iron crud concentration in the feedwater reaches a practical minimum of e. g. 0.1 ppb an increase in the ionic Co-60 concentration in the reactor water is noticed. This is due to the high dissolution rates of the monoxides (NiO, CoO), which is about 3 to 10 times faster than of the iron spinel oxides. Therefore the Ni/Fe ratio schould be kept at least at the theoretical value of 0.5, in practice e. g. at 0.2.



Fig. 1: Deposition of Ni- and Co-ion from the reactor water on the fuel cladding surface as iron oxide spinels [4].

Especially during the early stages of plant operation up to several thousand hours a high concentration of nickel-ion up to 1 ppb is due to the corrosion of austenites, later the level in the reactor water is constant and low, typically 0.1 ppb. To form iron spinel oxides the feedwater iron concentration is adjusted by condensate by-passing some of the condensate filter units e. g at 2F-2, 2F-3, K-1 or by electrolysis of pure iron steel, at a maximum rate of 15 g/h, e. g. at 2F-4, S-2. Adjusting the Ni/Fe ratio in the feedwater to 0.2 reduces the ionic Co-60 content in the reactor water by a factor of 5 to about 10 pCi/ml [2],[4], [12].



Fig. 2: The effect of nickel to iron ratio control in the feedwater on the ionic Co-60 concentration in reactor water. At 2F-3 and K-1 a sharp drop is noticed as the ratio reaches 0.2 [2].

For GE reactors no application of Ni/Fe ratio control is known, this may be due to the fact that GE reactors operate in general at higher iron crud levels in the feedwater.

1.6 Practises during outage periods

During outage periods the corrosion of the carbon steel in a damp atmosphere or by wetting should be avoided by

- recirculation of oxygenated water (e. g. 5 ppm)
- complete drainage and drying
- cleaning before reactor start-up

Through these lay-up practises at least in one case the input of iron crud was reduced by a factor of 10 [1], [2].

These practics are followed in modern Japanese reactors e. g. 2F-1, 2F-2, 2F-3, K-1 but also in old BWR's e. g. 1F-3 [2].

2 Low cobalt alloys

To decrease the cobalt inventory in LWR's a large number of Co-free or Co-poor alloys are proposed [11], [1]. Little is known about the in-plant application and long-term behaviour in plant operation.

For modern Japanese BWR's e. g. 2F-1, 2F-2, 2F-3, K-1 the following low cobalt alloys were used [2]:

Feedwater heater tubing

Low cobalt stainless steel (< 0.05 %)

Springs in fuel

Inconel X 750 with a cobalt content of 0.05 % instead of 0.22 %.

Control rods

Nitronic 60 for pins CFA for rollers (Co < 0.2 %) Stainless steel for sheaths, cobalt content 0.03 % instead of 0.2 %.

For valve seats Stellite is still in use.

Table 1: Low cobalt alloys in modern Japanese BWR's

	Ni	Co	Cr	C	Si	Fe	Mn	В
Nitronic-60	8.0 - 9.0		16.0 - 18.0	< 0.1	3.5 - 4.5	Bal.	7.0 - 9.0	
CFA	Bal	< 0.5	3.0 - 39.0	< 0.1	< 0.1	1.5		1.7
Inconel X750	Bal	0.05	14.0 - 17.0	< 0.08	< 0.5	5.0 - 9.0	< 0.1	

Experience in modern Japanese BWR's with these low cobalt materials indicates a reduction of the relative contribution of Co-60 to radiation by a factor of 4, compared to old BWR's. In old BWR's the Co-60 radiation is to 70 % attributed to crud and 30 % to ionic Co-60. In modern plants this ratio is reversed [2],[4].



Fig. 3: Effect of low cobalt materials on the contribution of Co-60 to radiation, a comparison of old and modern Japanese reactors [2].

- A Stellite in reactor
- **B** Stainless steel in reactor internals
- C Inconel in reactor core
- D Stainless steel in feedwater heater
- E Stellite of turbine blades
- F Carbon steel, other

3 Cobalt reduction in the reactor water

3.1 The efficiency of the reactor water clean-up system

A special feature already of Shimane-1, 1974, is a high throughput through the reactor water clean-up system (RWCU). The ratio of clean-up to the feedwater flow rate is 7%. This high capacity as compared to current operating BWR's is also a special feature for Shimane-2, 1988, 5% [12]. For comparison Mühleberg 0.7% [1].

3.2 Practises during reactor shutdown

a) Experience in Japanese reactors

Extensive tests were made in Japan in the old BWR's 1F-3, 1F-5 and in modern BWR's 2F-2, 2F-3, K-1 [7].

During reactor shutdown a peak in the radioactive crud concentration in the reactor water occurs. This crud is partly deposited in low flow areas. The peak height depends on the shutdown procedure. Following, an example of the Japanese 1100 MW Fukushuma-Daini No. 2 plant, 2F-2 [7].

Cooling Rate (°C/h) *	Holding Time at 50 bar (h)	Total Crud release (Ci Co-60)	
35/13	-	5.7	Conventional
<15/<15	3	0.4	Modified
* First half, se	cond half		

For a conventional shutdown the crud concentration peak is in the order of $10^{-2} \,\mu$ Ci/ml, compared to an operational level of 10^{-4} to $10^{-5} \,\mu$ Ci/ml at 280 °C [7]. For a modified shutdown this peak is depressed by one to two orders of magnitude.



Steps of reactor shutdown procedures

Fig. 4: Maximum Co-60 crud concentration in reactor water at each step of shutdown procedures [7].

During the conventional and the modified shutdown procedure an increase in the ionic radioactivity (Co-58, Co-60) and metal ions (Ni⁺², Co⁺²) occurs. Between 160 °C and 80 °C a maximum value in the order of $10^{-3} \mu$ Ci/ml ionic Co-60 is reached, one to two orders of magnitude above normal operation at 280 °C. This is due to the fact that the metal oxides from fuel crud and from structural materials have a maximum solubility at around 100 °C. The increase of ionic radioactivity in the reactor water is a desireable phenomenon since it will not redeposit on low temperature surfaces and is removed by the RWCU system. On the RWCU piping the Co-60 deposit in the order of 3 mCi/cm² is reduced after a period of 20 to 30 hours by about 10 % [7].

b) Experience in European reactors

At Gundremmingen Plant C [6] the total Co-60 concentration in the reactorwater is at 10^7 Bq/m³ (10^{-3} to $10^{-4} \mu$ Ci/ml) at 270 °C. During the shutdown, similar to the modified Japanese procedure, the Co-60 concentration increases by one order of magnitude from 70 to 45 bar (280°C to 240 °C) in about 2 hours. During a holding period of a few hours the Co-60 concentration decreases slightly faster than would be expected from the clean-up rate alone, meaning some deposition takes place. After this holding period the cooling rate is about 15 °C/h and the Co-60 concentration does not exceed $4 \cdot 10^8$ Bq/m³ ($10^{-2} \mu$ Ci/ml).



Fig. 5: Total Co-60 release during the modified shutdown at Gundremmingen Plant C [6]

In the Leibstadt Plant the total Co-60 concentration in the reactor water is at 10^{-3} to $10^{-4} \,\mu$ Ci/ml during normal operation. During the shutdown the total Co-60 concen-



Fig. 6: Co-60 concentration in the reactorwater during the shut-down at Leibstadt [9]

tration increases by one to two orders of magnitude. In contrast to Gundremmingen during the cooling period, 30 to 60 hours, the Co-60 concentration in the reactor water stays high $(10^{-2} \ \mu\text{Ci/ml})$, even increases [9].

4 Cobalt depositon in the corrosion layer of austenites

4.1 Alkaline prefilming of the primary loop

To control the activity deposition on the primary piping surface preoxidation treatment at $p_H 8.0$ to 8.6 at zeropower for 400 hours was carried out at 2F-4 before startup of the new plant. Test specimens were inserted into the primary loop and for 3000 hours exposed to 25 to 100 % power [4].

Cobalt deposition (µCi/m²)

	as is	alkaline prefilming
unpolished	4	3
polished	1.8	1.3

Alkaline prefilming is applied for currently constructed Japanese BWR's to reduce shutdown dose rates, e. g. 2F-2, 2F-3, 2F-4, K-1.

4.2 Zinc addition

a) Basic Data

- A review of GE BWR plant experience shows an apparent correlation between the material of the condenser tubing, the condensate treatment system and activity buildup. A powdered resin condensate treatment system appears to have a lower activity buildup in the recirculation lines than other combinations.
- Reactors with this combination contain 5 to 15 ppb zinc in the reactor water. Corrosion films of austenitic steel samples from a limited number of plants indicate that the Co-concentration in weight percent is the same for all plants but that the thickness of the film is lower at plants with the mentioned combination. 10 to 20 % zinc were incorporated in the corrosion film of austenites.
- A series of autoclave tests on 304 stainless steel samples at 288 °C for 300 hours showed a decrease in the oxide thickness by a factor of 10 at 10 ppb ionic zinc.

Without zinc = 0.3 μ m, 10 ppb zinc = 0.03 μ m

ionic zinc acts as a corrosion inhibitor for stainless steel surfaces.

- Inhibition of the corrosion translates into a reduced Co-60 buildup. In a loop 304 stainless steel samples at 288 °C for 2000 hours showed a decrease in Co-60 buildup by a factor of 3.5

Without zinc = 1.0 μ Ci/cm², 10 ppb Zinc = 0.3 μ Ci/m²

- For oxide layers grown under "non-zinc" conditions, a transformation of the existing oxides is postulated. Lab tests indicate that zinc infiltrates these films and causes a restructuring of the crystals followed by sloughage of some fraction. This transition is belived to be slow [5].

b) Review of plant experience

Not considering Leibstadt Plant, 5 GE plants are injecting zinc:

- Hope Creek, 1170 MW, startup 1986, zinc injection since startup.
- Nine Mile Point 2, 1214 MW, startup 1987, zinc injection since startup.
- Millstone Point 1, 690 MW, startup 1970, zinc injection since 1987 after decontamination

- James A. Fitzpatrick, 821 MW, startup 1975, zinc injection and hydrogen water chemistry after decontamination in 1989
- Perry plant 1, 1252 MW, startup 1986, zinc injection since 1989. Zinc is added as sub-micron zinc oxide powder into the suction side of the feedwater pumps.
- For the Leibstadt plant a passive system is foreseen, as the hot feedwater at 214 °C passes through a bed of compressed zinc oxide pellets.





c) Experience with new plants

- Hope creek, 1170 MW, startup 1986, with zinc injection shows a dose rate of the recirculation system piping of approximately a factor 2 below other new BWR's started up in the same time frame. During the first shutdown 1988 a significant release of Zn-65 from the fuel deposit to the reactorwater occurred, probably due to the high iron concentration in the feedwater of 11 ppb and enhanced by the non-availability of the RWCU system. The plant decided to reduce the zinc input to 2 ppb which is not adequate for full protection [8].

EFPY	0.75	1.02	1.81
Co-60 (µCi/cm ²)	1.0	1.2	2.3
Zn-65 (μCi/cm ²)	5.6	9.7	13.8

- Nine Mile Point 2, 1214 MW, startup 1987, uneventful zinc injection [8]

d) Experience with old plants

Millstone Point 1, 690 MW, startup 1970, decontaminated the recirculation loop in 1984 and measured the subsequent recontamination. After a second decontamination in 1987 zinc was injected. Therefore a direct comparison between the period 1984 to 1987 without zinc and 1987 to 1989 with zinc addition can be made. The contact dose rate with zinc addition is by a factor of two lower and of logarithmic shape instead of parabolic, therefore a stabilization in two years is expected [5].



Fig. 8: Primary system radiation buildup, with and without zinc addition, at Millstone Point 1 [5]

An unexplained benefit is that the zinc injection suppresses the soluble Co-60 concentration in the reactor water by a factor of 5 to 10 below the base value of about $10^{-4} \mu$ Ci/cm². It is speculated that zinc decreases the release rate of cobalt from the fuel cladding surface.

e) Advantages and disadvantages of zinc addition

- The injection of 5 to 15 ppb ionic zinc reduces the contact dose rate by at least a factor of 3, in combination with HWC (see 4.3) by a factor of 10.
- Zn-65 is the activation product of the stable isotope Zn-64, which is 48 % of the naturally occuring zinc. It has a half life of 243 days and contributes a dose of 4.6 lower than Co-60 on a per Curie base. To overcome this disadvantage
 - the Zn-65 inventory should be minimized
 - Zinc source material depleted in Zn-64 should be used.
- Zinc accumulates in the loose crud on fuel rods, is activated and can be set free during transients in particular if the iron oxide concentration in the feedwater is high. Powdered resin condensate systems are recommended to reach the goal of < 2 ppb total iron.

4.3 Hydrogen water chemistry

The oxygen concentration in the reactor water is typically 200 to 400 ppb. The high oxygen concentration may cause intergranular stress corrosion cracking (IGSCC) in sensitized austenitic steels under tensile stress. On the other hand, if the oxygen contentration is below 1 ppb then the soluble iron concentration in the reactor water increases from 2 - 5 ppb to 6 - 10 ppb with a corresponding increase in the Co-60 concentration. To maintain the oxygen level at a few ppb the injection of 0.2 - 2 ppm hydrogen into the reactor water is recommended; hydrogen water chemistry (HWC), [1].

In a series of autoclave tests on 304 stainless steel samples at 288 °C for 2000 hours it was shown that there is a synergy between zinc addition and HWC in the reduction of the Co-60 buildup [5]:

		HWC in addition
Without zinc	1.0 μCi/cm ²	0.7 μCi/cm ²
10 to 15 ppb zinc	0.3	0.1

Zinc reduces the contact dose by a factor of 3, in combination with HWC by a factor of 10 [5].

An open question is how much more hydrogen would be required to protect in core components vulnerable to irradiation assisted stress corrosion cracking (IASCC) and whether the larger hydrogen concentration required will increase turbine radiation fields by increasing N-16 volatility by converting dissolved nitrate to gaseous ammonia [10].

References

- H.P. ALDER, D. BUCKLEY, R. GRAUER, K. H. WIEDEMANN "Corrosion Products, Activity Transport and Deposition in Boiling Water Reactor Recirculation Systems", PSI-Bericht Nr. 45, 47 pages, September 1989
- [2] "Japanese reduce BWR dose rate to PWR levels", Nucl. Eng. Int., page 31 33, February 1990
- [3] T.A. KHAN, B.J. DIONNE, H. ZHENG, J. W. BAUM

"Brookheaven monitors ALARA efforts in the United States", Nucl. Eng. Int., page 42 - 44, February 1990

[4] Y. ASAKURA et al.

"Current operating experience with water chemistry in crud concentration suppressed boiling water reactor", Water chemistry of nuclear reactor systems 5, page 115 - 122, Bournemouth, 23. - 27.10.1989

[5] W.J. MARBLE

"Control of Radiation Buildup in BWR's Using Zinc Injection Passivation" SVA-Kurs "Wasserchemie im Kernkraftwerk", Seite B-3.1 - B-3.12, Winterthur, 22. -24.11.1989

- [6] "Keeping dose rates down during outages at Gundremmingen" Nucl. Eng. Int., page 37 - 38, February 1990
- [7] K. OTAHA, S. YOSHIKAWA, O. AMANO

"Data survey on radionuclides during BWR-shutdown", Water chemistry of nuclear reactor systems 5, page 315 - 316, Bournemouth, 23. - 27.10.1989

[8] C.J. WOOD, W.J. MARBLE et al.

"Experience with zinc injection passivation at BWR plants in the USA", Water Chemistry of nuclear reactor systems 5, page 114 - 115, Bournemouth, 23. -27.10.1989

[9] D. BURNS

"Brennstoffverhalten in einem Siedewasser-Kreislauf", SVA-Kurs "Wasserchemie im Kernkraftwerk", Seite B-2.1 - B-2.20, Winterthur, 22. - 24.11.1989

[10] Ch. WOODS

"How the water chemistry revolution is reducing exposure", Nucl. Eng. Int., page 27 and 30, February 1990

[11] K.H. WIEDEMANN

"Kobaltfreie und kobaltarme Werkstoffe für die Kerntechnik", PSI-interne AN-43-90-14, 9 Seiten, 23.02.1990

[12] Y. TAKASHIMA et al.

"Water chemistry experience at the No. 2 Unit of Shimane nuclear power station and application to the No. 1 unit", Water chemistry of nuclear reactor systems 5, paper No. 27, Bournemouth, 23. - 27.10.1989

MAIN TRENDS IN INVESTIGATIONS OF CORROSION PRODUCTS TRANSFER PROCESSES IN NPP CIRCUITS

V.V. VERSIN, V.P. BRUSAKOV, I.L. RYBALCHENKO,
V.G. KRITSKIJ, A.S. KOROLEV
All-Union Scientific Research and Project Institute of Complex Power Technology,
Leningrad, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

Abstr..ct

Numerous attempts have been made to develop models of activated corrosion product mass transfer. The great number of such models demonstrated the lack of the general model, which would properly reflect the operational experience with the transport of corrosion products, especially activated.

This report discusses two theoretical approaches to understanding corrosion products transport processes in NPP circuits.

Safe and reliable operation of a nuclear power unit is closely connected with successful solution of the problems caused by corrosion of constructional materials, mass transfer and deposition of corrosion products in the plant technological circuits.

In the summary report on CRP CCI / 1 / it was mentioned, that maintaining water chemistry within the specified limits eleminated the possibility of streight corrosion attack and provided for faultless perfomance of fuel cladding during reactor operation.

In connection with the observed trend to increase burnup and fuel heat flux a stady is carry out in the USSR of the effects of fuel surface crudding on the reliability of fuel operation. However a steady growth of radiation exposures due to corrosion product deposits on the inner surfaces of the equipment remains quite a serious problem. This becomes most urgent in the periods of reactor shutdown for maintenance and repair.

Numerous attempts have been made to develop models of activated corrosion product mass tfansfer. The great number of such models demonstrated the lack of the general model, which would properly reflect the operational experience with the transport of corrosion products, especially activeted.

ŤΑ	RI	LE.	2.
	~		

Steel grade	Deposit val	ue, mg	Corrosion rate, mg/(m ² .h)		
	expt.	calcul.	expt.	calcul.	
08X14MD	0,7	1,1	17	15	
12X 181110 T	0,3	0,4	5	5	
Steel 20	0,2	1,4	18	22	

TABLE 1. VERIFICATION OF THE MECHANISMS BASED ON THE OPERATING EXPERIENCE OF POWER PLANTS

-					r		• کہ حال سے خد خذ حد من محد محد م	و بين الله عله إراد شين خير عن عن الله الله الله ال	ارا های برده وروانش از		، کارتی بودوارک کا خانوی به داده بو
	Designa- tion	Heat-	nli	đ	Q	Gr		Deposits			
		ge con-		₩/m ²	1117	mg/l	Local, C.	/(m ² .h)	Summariz	sed, g/h	Note
							Actual	Calculated	Actual	Calculated	
c	CVIDO	Under pressure	10•7	8° 10 ⁴	135	11 ^{r C1} /1 (Co ⁶⁰)	n ³ 4.2.10 ⁻⁷ Ci/m ²	4 4.6.10 ⁻⁴ Ci/m ²	-	0.8Ci/an	C.P. Mobility. $U_{T}^{\pm} -3.6 \cdot 10^{-4}$ $m^2/(V \cdot h)$ Deposition cooling sur- face
:	2011er 7.14-75	Foiling	-	5•10 ⁵	21	र्यूग्व) 0.160 (Cu)	0.13 5.1.10 ⁻²	0.2 4.3.10 ⁻²	10–15 2	9 1•9	U _{Cu} = 2.7.10 ⁻⁴ M ² /(V.h). Meta copper release
- - 2.	uel ele- ent BK-50	Boiling	7	8.5-10	5_	0.06	1•10 ⁻²	ז' 10 ⁻²	-	-	er = 17000h
-	.301.7A	Boiling	7	-	150	0.05(Fr)	-	-	19600 13000	19000	*Cleaned by dec. tamination;*en red with feed water

This report discusses two theoretical approaches to understanding corresion products transprt processes in NPP circuits.

The first one was reported in detail at IAEA specialist's meeting on "Influence of water chemistry on fuel element cladding behaviour in water cooled power reactors" held in Leningrad in 1983.

To describe the formation of corrosion products in the plant circuits, a theoretical model based on electrochemical nature of the occuring processes is suggested.

It's been experimentally found that in systems with heat transfer the thermoelectromotive force is of the primary impotance for the processes of deposit formation and corrosion /2, 3/.

Comparison of calculated values of deposition rates on the heat transfer surfaces with those actually observed in power plants /Table 1/ shows that the deposition process caused by thermoemf is a significant component of the mass transport over a wide range of conditions.

In the circuits without heat transfer the processes of corrosion product formation and deposition proceed under the action of electromotive force of microgalvanic couples /3/. The test and calculated values of corrosion rates and deposit amounts are given in/table 2/. In most cases these are in good agreement.

TABLE 3. COMPARISON OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CALCULATED VALUES OF STATION-ARY CONCENTRATIONS IN DIFFERENT WATER CHEMISTRY CONDITIONS

Water chemistry Conditions	pll	pH C _{max} - C _{min}		ry, mg/kg
		mg/lcg	exp.	calcul.
lieutral	7,0	0,380- 0,070	0,180	0,180
Acid	4,5	5,280- 0,490	1,900	3,200
Alkaline	9,7	0,093-0,007	0,01 <u>9</u>	0,007

In terms of electrochemically equivalent mass transfer a conclusion about corrosion product equilibrim concentration attainment is made. This concentration depends only on the mobility and concentration of a potential-forming ion **as** on the electrophoretic properties of corrosion product particles. The experiments in a wide concentration range confirm this conclusion quantitavely /Table 3/.

In table 4 the calculated values of corrosion product stationary concentrations are compared with those measured during long-term operation the systems with different sets of constructional materials.

The values of corrosion rates, deposition and stationary concentration calculated with the proposed model agree well with data measured in various plants.

However this approach is not the only way of understanding the corrosion product transfer processes in NPP circuits. At present attempts are undertaking to work out a semi-quantitative physico-chemical model of corrosion product transfer based on the thermodinamic principles. The results of applying this approach to the corrosion and corrosion product release processes are presented below.

				* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	
System and reactor type	Surface material	pll at 25°C	C _{II} at specified g - eq/1 g - eq/1	Actual stationary concentration of corresion pro- ducts, mg/Kg	Calculated sta- tionary concent- ration of corro- sion products, mg/kC
Suippingport NPS (pressure-water reactor)	Stainless steel	10	3.6.10 ⁻⁸ (285°C)	0.003 - 0.005	0.004
Dynamic loop	Stainless steel, aluminium	5-5	3.6.10 ⁻⁶ (260)	0.1 (A1)	0.1 (AL)
liovovoronezh 1195	Stainless steel	6:	1.8·10 ⁻⁶ - 2.1·10 ⁻⁷ 2.6·10 ⁻⁶ (260°C) 2.6·10 ⁻⁶ - 1.8·10 <mark>2640</mark>	0.09 - 0.11 3.28 3.3 - 0.1	0.2 - 0.02 0.28 0.28 - 0.19
SI: 1 1	Stainless steel	6.4 - 8.5	(2.1-1.6)·10 ⁻⁶ (230°C)	0.2	0.23 - 0.17

TABLE 4. COMPARISON OF CALCULATED VALUES OF CORROSION PRODUCT CONCENTRATIONS WITH THOSE ACTUALLY OBSERVED IN DIFFERENT CONDITIONS

134

Direct obsrevation of the morphology and phase composition of steel corrosion products allow to expect the physico-chemical connection between the oxide film characteristics and water chemistry parameters.

Fig.1 shows carbon steel oxidation rates as function of temperature in neutral water with different salt and oxygen contents.

Fig.1b shows calculated values of iron oxides solubilities in the same conditions. The first thing that attracts attention is similarity of the plots on the right and left hand sides of the fig.1.

The upper curves describe steel corrosion in water containing large concentrations salts /a/ and oxygen and total equilibrium $Fe(OH)_2$ solubility /b/ respectively. Carbon steel in this medium_icarbon steel, is covered with a loose film of ferrous oxide and hydroxide.

The middle curves describe steel corrosion in demineralized water with oxygen content about 3 ppb and solubility of the Fe(OH)₃ up to 423 K and magnetite > 423 K at the same conditions.

The lower curves describe steel corrosion in demineralized feed water with oxygen concentration about 200 ppb and the hematite solubility at the same conditions.

Despite the difference in water chemistries there is almost full similarity in temperature plots of corrosion kinetics and phase solubilities of some iron-based corrosion products.

Many investigators mention strong effect of dissoved chemically active gases on corrosion processes.

Fig.2 compares plots of experimentally measured steel corrosion rates /4/ and Fe_2O_3 -, Fe_3O_4 equilibrium solubilities in neutral demineralized water us dissolved H_2 and O_2 contents. A symbatic character of the kinetic and thermodynamic plots is clearly seen. Furthermore a sharp drop in the corrosion rate with oxygen injection to the coolant correlates with the change of corrosion product phases, which control



Fig.1 Change of steel corrosion and iron oxide solubility vs temperature a) Experimental data [4] $\mathbb{T}_{test} = 5000 \text{ h.}$ I - Tap water 2...11 ppm 0₂. II - desalt water 3 ppb 0₂ MI - desalt water 200 ppb 0₂ b) results of our calculations for pH = 7,0 [5] I - Fe(OH)₂ 3...30 ppm 0₂ II - Fe(OH)₃ 0,1...3 ppb 0₂ MI - Fe₃0₄ 0,1...3 ppb 0₂ IV - Fe₂0₃ 30...300 ppb 0₂

the corrosion process. Certainly, the value of oxygen passivation threshold remains, though the fact of it existance is quite obvious.

A similar comparison of calculated and experimental data but for acid and base environments has also demonstrated

35



correlation between the kinetic and thermodynamically equilibrium processes.

In accord with the above veiw point it's been suggested that the carbon steel corrosion is controlled by the thermodynamic equilibrium of the surface oxide film with the environment. The initial stage of metal oxidation is connected with the topochemical reaction of forming the surface oxides. The latter being completed or definite oxide thickness achieved the oxidation kinetics becomes limited by reagent transport through the oxide layer or corrosion product release into the coolant.

In a common case with two interfaces the integral equation for gaseous oxidation takes the form:

$$\frac{e^2}{K_D} + \frac{2e}{K_C} = 2C_0 \tau + B \tag{1}$$

where e - film thickness;

Co - reagent concentration on outer oxide surface interface;

 K_c^r - average rate of film formation on phase boundary;

- K_D diffusivity;
- T time;
- **B** integration constant.

As the film grows in thickness the diffusion component becomes more significant. The film thickness e, metal dencity in the oxide film f and mass of metal ionized per unit area - Δm relate as:

$$\Delta m = e \cdot \rho \tag{2}$$

Then with the diffusion controle eg.(1) becomes:

$$\Delta m = \rho \sqrt{2C_0 K_0 V_0 \tau}$$
(3)

where K_{p} - rational oxidation constant;

 V_{o}^{-} - specific volume of corrosion product layer.

In case of water corrosion a simultaneus corrosion products release take place and the oxide surface in covered by the corrosion products wich are thermodynamically stable in the specific water chemistry conditions.

The results obtained have led to a correlation between the corrosion parameters (rational oxidation constant, iotal corrosion lose, ets) and equilibrium solubility of the corrosion phase that is stable in specific corrosion tests conditions (Fig.3). This relationship may be expressed as a function of

$$I_g \Delta in = A + \frac{1}{2} I_g m_{Fe}$$
 (4)

It generalized practically all the data on corrosion and solubility independent of conditions in which they are obtained and is equivalent to eg.(3)

The suggestes thermodynamic approach may be also spread on other mass transfer processes and become the basis for

REFERENCES

I. Reactor water chemistry relevant to coolant-cladding interaction JAEA - TECDOC 429

2. В.П.Брусахов, В.М.Седов, И.Л.Рьбальченко, Н.В.Рыбальченко, В.В.Версин. Захоножерности образования и стложения продуктов коррозии в кондурах атомных энергетических установок под действием гальвано- и термоэлектродвижущих сил. Ленинград, ЛТИ им. Ленсовета, 1931 г.

3. V. P. Brusakov et al. Mechanisms govering the physico-chemical processes of transfer in NPP circuits JAEA, Leningrad, USSR, 1983.

4. Коррозисная стойкость реэкторных материалов. Справочних под ред. В. В. Герасимова, М., Атомиздат, 1986.

5. Heilman H.G., Kastuer W., VGB, Kraftwerkstechnick, 1982, Heft 62, 13.



- Fig.3 Correlation between solubilities of iron oxides and total steel corrosion at different water chemistry parameters.(For convinience the experimental data have been recalculated for single test time 5000 h using eq.2.
- O×▲ data from Fig.1
- ⊙ _ data from fig.2
- + data with pH variation

formulation a new corrosion product transfer model for NPP's circuits.

At present we can't give preference to any of the concidered above theoretical approaches. Each of them has some difficulties which we should get over in the process of modelling the total mass transfer of activated corrosion products.

TRANSFER OF CORROSION PRODUCT PARTICLES IN REACTOR CIRCUITS Quantitative evaluation of corrosion product deposition on fuel elements

V.P. BRUSAKOV, Yu.A. KHITROV,
V.N. FEOFANOV, V.V. VERSIN
All-Union Scientific Research and Project Institute of Complex Power Technology,
Leningrad, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

Abstract

In this paper a mechanism of corrosion product transport is proposed. The model gives a quantitative description of deposition and distribution of radioactive corrosion products on the surface of power reactor circuit. The model is based on the existence of difference of potential in thermal gradients.

Some applications of the model are discussed.

The theoretical basis of the transport processes governed by thermoelectromotive force was described previously. Once the temperature gradient exists, the thermo-emf arises between different temperature areas. The main temperature gradient is observed in the coolant region directly adjuining the heat-transfer surface. The flow of charged particles forced by the thermo-emf is expressed by:

$$a_{\mu} = \frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} r C_{\mu} q \qquad (1)$$

where $C_{\mathbf{r}}$ is the particle concentration, g-eq/m²;

$$\lambda$$
 is the heat-conductivity coefficient, W/(m•K);

d is the specific heat flow, 1/m²;

E is the specific thermo-emf, V/K;

 U_{p} is the electrophoretic mobility of particles, $m^{2}/(V \cdot h)$. The "r" descriptor indicates that the values it refers to are calculated for colloidal and suspended particles present in the coolant.

The charge value and sign \mathcal{E} depend on the nature and concentration of the potential-forming ion (agent). \mathcal{E} is negative with hydrogen or cuprum potential-forming ions and it is positive with oxygen potential-forming agent.

In a closed system with heat transfer at negative specific thermo-emf, the beating surface is a cathode on which potentialforming ion reduction is taking place (e.g. $Me^+ + \bar{e} \rightarrow Me^\circ$) and the cooling surface is an anode on which metal dissolution is taking place (e.g. $Fe^\circ - 2\bar{e} \rightarrow Fe^{2+}$); at positive \mathcal{E} the heating surface is an anode and the cooling surface is a cathode.

When the metal ion concentration corresponding to the sollubility limit is achieved, the formation of colloidal particles of corrosion products (CP) is taking place. Under the action of thermo-emf solid particles, depending on their charge sign, deposit on heating or cooling surfaces.

The total flow of solid particles on the whole heat-transfer surface is described as follows:

$$A_{r} = \frac{\varepsilon l}{\lambda} r C_{r} Q \qquad (2)$$

where Q is the total thermal capacity, W.

The discharge rate of the potential-forming ion is expressed by the following formulae:

$$a_{\kappa} = \frac{\varepsilon U_{\kappa}}{\lambda} C_{\kappa} q \tag{3}$$

$$A_{\kappa} = \frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} \kappa C_{\kappa} Q. \tag{4}$$

where "k" index refers to the potential-forming ion.

The calculation of the steady-state value \mathcal{E} using the method from nonsteady thermodynamics with the hydrogen potential-forming ion (the most usual case at nuclear power plant), gives the value $\mathcal{E} \approx -1 \cdot 10^{-3}$ V/K. For power plant conditions with pH of the medium up to 10, the mobility of colloidal and suspended particles U_r may be assumed equal to $\sim 1 \cdot 10^{-4} \text{ m}^2/(\text{V}\cdot\text{h})$. The mobilities of hy drogen and cuprum ions at high parameters (subcritical temperature) obtained by the table values extrapolation with regard to temperature change of water viscosity and dielectric permeability constant, may be expressed as:

$$U_{H} = 3,6 \cdot 10^{-4} \text{ m}^{2} / (\vee \cdot \text{h});$$

$$U_{L} = 2,7 \cdot 10^{-4} \text{ m}^{2} / (\vee \cdot \text{h}).$$

with the hydrogen ion mobility (U_{H^+}) assumed to be equal to its axonic form mobility $H_{3}O^+$.

In a closed circuit with heat transfer there must be reached the steady state at which the velocity of corrosion product entering the water (Σ RiFi) is equal to the velocity of a potentialforming ion discharge as well as to the velocity of the corrosion product deposition on the heat-transfer surface:

$$A_{\kappa} = A_{\mu}$$
(5)

substituting A_k and A_r from (2,4) into (5) we have: from where : $\frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} \kappa C_{\kappa} Q = \frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} r C_{\mu} Q$

$$U_{\kappa}C_{\kappa} = U_{\mu}C_{\mu}$$
(6)

$$C_{r} = \frac{U}{U_{r}} C_{\kappa}$$
(7)

From the formula (7) it follows that the equilibrium concentration of CP depends on the mobilities of the potential-forming ion and CP solid particles as well as on the potential-forming ion concentration, but does not depend on the structural material type.

Thermo-emf action is the determining factor for heat-transfer surfaces. In case with non-heat-transfer surfaces or with heat flow action ignored, electromotive force of microgalvanic couples is of major importance. The transfer processes under the action of galvano-emf result from the interaction of a potential-forming ion and charged particles with the electric field in the boundary diffusion layer created by galvano-emf.

The flow of charged particles under the action of galvano-emf is described as:

$$a_{r} = \frac{\Delta E}{x + \delta} U_{r}C_{r}$$
(8)

where ΔE is the galvano-emf part accounted for the diffusion layer, V;

 $y = x + \delta$ is the diffusion layer thickness, x is the thickness of the resulting deposit layer, m; and $\delta = \delta_{in.ox} + \delta_{lam}$ is the thickness of the initial deposit layer, m; $\delta_{in.ox}$ is the thickness of the initial oxide layer, m; δ_{lam} is the laminar layer thickness, m.

The value & E is the metal specific characteristic.

 $\Delta E_{B,S,\bullet} = 7-10 \text{ mV}$ is the stainless steel and $\Delta E_{C,S,\bullet} = 100-300 \text{ mV}$ is for carbon steel. In the most cases $\Delta E_{C,S,\bullet} = 160 \text{ mV}$. The physical meaning of ΔE is the averaged value of the existing potential difference between microcathodes and microanodes per unit surface:

$$\Delta E = \frac{S_c}{S} \Delta E_{ex}$$
(9)

where S_c is the cathode area per unit surface S, m²; ΔE_{ex} is the existing potential difference, V; The deposit thickness change is equal to:

$$dx = \frac{\alpha_r}{\chi} d\tau \tag{10}$$

where \mathcal{T} is the time, h; \mathcal{F} is the CP content in the unit of volume of the amorphous deposit layer, which includes the structural-bound water, g-eq/m³ or g/m³ in terms of iron, and in the majority of cases is equal to 10⁴ g/m³. This value is characteristic of coagulated deposit of colloidal particles.

In the power plant conditions this layer is compacted in the course of time forming a dense protective film with the iron specific content up to 4 g/cm³. According to (8), the layer compaction will lead to the material flow increase; however, when the dense structure is being formed, probably the reduction of the total area of through pores from surface to metal occurs, which results in corresponding compensation, with the total flow per the unit surface remaining invariable in the whole. Therefore may be assumed without taking into consideration the CP layer compaction on the metal surface. In salt containing media porous deposits without protective properties are formed and in this case χ is assumed to be equal to 2.10⁶ g/m³. After the integration of (10) we have:

$$x + \delta = \sqrt{\frac{2\Delta E U_{P}C_{P}\tau}{\gamma}} + \delta^{2}$$
(11)

For nuclear power plants, where \mathcal{T} represents tens thousands of hours, the term Δ may be ignored; substituting the value from (11) into (8) we obtain:

$$a_{r} = \sqrt{\frac{\Delta E \mathcal{Y} U_{r} C_{r}}{2\tau}}$$
(12)

From this equation it follows that $a_p \rightarrow 0$ at $\tau \rightarrow \infty$ i.e. the deposition process on the heat-transfer surface is ceased with time. Integrating the expression

$$dm_{r} = a_{r} d\tau \tag{13}$$

the deposit amount may be determined for the time

$$m_{\rm r} = \sqrt{2\Delta E \, \mathcal{V} \, U_{\rm r} C_{\rm r} \, \tau} \tag{14}$$

where m_r is the deposit amount, g-eq/m² or g/m².

The discharge rate of a potential-forming ion, in particular, of hydrogen ion is equal to:

$$a_{\kappa} = \frac{\Delta E}{\chi + \delta} U_{\mu}C_{\mu}$$
(15)

Substituting $(x + \delta)$ from (11) into (15), we have:

$$a_{\kappa} = \sqrt{\frac{\Delta E}{2 U_{\mu} C_{\rho} \tau}} U_{\mu} C_{\mu}$$
(16)

where "H" index refers to a hydrogen ion.

Due to the retaining of neutral electrical conditions, the rate of a hydrogen ion discharge is to be equal to that of the anodic dissolution of metal.

The quantity of the hydrogen released during τ time (g-eq) or that of the metal dissolved during the same time is equal to

$$dm_{fe^{2+}} = dm_{\mu} = d_{\mu} d\tau$$
(17)

or after integration:

$$m_{Fe^{2+}} = m_{H} = \sqrt{\frac{2\Delta E \, \Im \tau}{U_{r} C_{r}}} \, U_{H} C_{H}$$
(18)

where m_{Fe}^{2+} is the quantity of the corroded metal in \mathcal{T} time, g-eq/m²; m_{H} is the quantity of the atomic hydrogen released in \mathcal{T} time, g-eq/m². For the closed system with mixing, in which the main motive force of corrosion and CP deposition processes is the galvano-emf of micropairs (isothermal dynamic loops) the equilibrium condition may be written as:

$$a_{\mu} = a_{\mu}$$

i.e. the rate of the potential-forming ion discharge must be equal to that of CP deposition. Substituting the corresponding expression for a_r and a_H from (12) and (16) into this equality we obtain:

$$U_{\mu}C_{\mu}\sqrt{\frac{\Delta E \mathcal{F}}{2 U_{\mu}C_{\mu} \mathcal{T}}} = \sqrt{\frac{\Delta E \mathcal{F} U_{\mu}C_{\mu}}{2 \tau}}$$
(19)

(20)

(21)

 \mathbf{or}

<u></u>

from where
$$C_{\mathbf{p}} = \frac{U_{\mathbf{H}}}{U_{\mathbf{p}}}C_{\mathbf{H}}$$

 $\|C = \|C\|$

The obtained expression (21) means that the average concentration of CP particles depends only on the potential-forming ion concentration and on the electrophoretical mobilities of these ions and CP particles.

According to (20) for the closed system $U_r c_r$ in (16) and (18) is to be replaced with $U_H c_H$, then we obtain:

$$a_{\mu} = \sqrt{\frac{\Delta E Y U_{\mu} C_{\mu}}{2\tau}}$$
(22)

$$m_{Fe^{2+}} = \sqrt{2\Delta E X U_{H}C_{H}\tau}$$
(23)

Thus, it follows from the equations (16) and (22) that in the flow with constant concentration of CP the corrosion rate is directly proportional to the hydrogen ion concentration; in a closed system, where the CP concentration is established spontaneously, the corrosion rate is proportional to the square root of the hydrogen ion concentration. In the general case the CP transport processes depend on the joint action of thermo- and galvano-emf; however in various periods of the plant operation the action of the forces may be prevailing. In the initial period of a NPS operation the determining are the processes, occurring under the action of galvano-emf. In due course the rates of these processes are decreased and the determiningbecome the processes, occurring under the action of thermo-emf. The time to attain such state depends on the potential-forming ion concentration, the corrosion resistance of structural materials and the rate of CP removal by the use of purification systems. For different NPS types this time may vary from some hundred hours (pressure-water circuits at the neutral water chemistry) to some thousand hours (boiling water reactors).

For the closed circuits with the ideal mixing, i.e. when concentrations of ions in the coolant in any parts of the circuit are equal (e.g. circuit I WWER), the corrosion product equilibrium concentration is achieved - equations (7) - (21) under the action of galvano- and thermo-emf.

The above expressions characterize the universal property of a closed system with mixing, which is the result of the conditions considered; the uniform concentration of CP solid particles depends on the potential-forming ion concentration only and does not depend on either the material nature or the surface area of the closed circuit. The necessary condition is the thermodynamic stability of corrosion product solid particles.

The proposed mechanism of CP transport enables a quantitative description of the deposition and radionuclide distribution of radioactive corrosion products on the surfaces of power reactor circuits. In the following some applications of the model are discussed. As it has already been noted, with H^+ -ions as potential-forming ions (which is the most frequent case), the thermo-emf, caused by the temperature gradient will have a negative sign. The sign of the CP particle charge, however, can be either negative or positive, depending on the solution pH.

The CP particles which are positively charged (at $pH \leq 10$), deposit on the fuel surfaces under a combined effect of thermo- and galvano-emfs. The profile of the CP deposition is in fact proportional to the heat flux (Fig.I).

The behaviour of the negatively charged particles (pH > 10) in the diffusive layer at the heating surface is governed by opposite electrical forces; thus, the galvano-emf causes attraction while the thermo-emf causes repultion.

This situation is typical for pressurised water reactors and will be discussed in detail.



FIG. 1. Distribution of the deposits along the fuel elements in the case of negatively charged particles.

As is seen from (22), initially the rate of deposition which is governed by the galvano-emf, exceeds that of the process, governed by the thermo-emf $(a_{rg} \rightarrow \infty)$, at T = 0.

Later on, when the amount of CP, accumulated on the fuel achieves a certain value (m_{eq}) the counter-fluxes of charged particles will become equal:

$$A_{rg} = A_{rt}$$
 (24)

Hence

$$\frac{\Delta E \delta}{m_{eq}} U_r C_r = \frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} r C_r q \qquad (25)$$

and

$$m_{eq} = \frac{\Delta E \delta \lambda}{\epsilon q} , 8/m^2$$
 (26)

Then the deposited layer on the fuel remains constant and has a convex-concave profile (Fig.2).



FIG. 2. Distribution of the deposits along the fuel elements in the case of positively charged particles.

The average residence time of the CP on the fuel is defined as

$$\mathfrak{T} = \frac{\mathfrak{m}_{eq}}{\mathfrak{a}_{rt}}, h \tag{27}$$

$$\mathfrak{T} = \frac{\Delta E \chi \lambda^2}{\epsilon^2 U_{\rm p} C_{\rm p} q_{\rm p}^2} \tag{23}$$

Hence it is apparent that once m_{eq} is achieved the corrosion product residence time on the fuel surface becomes constant.

Therefore, the radionuclide concentrations in the CP layer are also constant.

The nuclide flux towards the coolant is defined by

$$A_{f}^{*} = C_{dep}^{*} A_{rt} , Ci (m^{2} \cdot h)$$
(29)

or

43

$$A_{f} = C_{dep}^{*} \cdot \frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} r C_{p} Q.$$
(30)

where c_{dep} is the specific activity of CP deposits on the fuel surface, Ci/g.

The deposition of CP and radionuclides on the cooling surfaces is governed by the thermo- and galvano-emfs, while on the non-heat transferring surfaces the process is governed by the emf of galvanic microcouples alone.

Usually the non-heat-transferring surfaces make a small portion of the total PWR circuit surface. Therefore, in the balance calculations deposits on these surfaces can be neglected.

At high pH-values the equilibrium concentrations of corrosion products in the coolant are small $(3-15 \text{ mcg} \cdot \text{cg}^{-1})$, and the heat flux toward the cooling surface is much lower $(70-100 \cdot 10^3 \text{ W} \cdot \text{m}^{-2})$ compared to that in the reactor core. In this case the deposition of corrosion products on the cooling surface, dominated by the galvano-emf of microcouples is similar to that, dominated by the thermo-emf. Besides, in the first 2-5 thousand hours the first process prevails.

In the long-term predictions the effect of the galvano-emf can be neglected. The radionuclide concentration in the coolant is calculated from the balance of activated products release and removal

$$A_{f}^{*} = A_{c.S.}^{*}$$
(31)

where $A_{c.s.}$ is radionuclide flux towards the cooling surface, $Ci/m^2 \cdot h.$

or

$$C_{Jep}^{*} = \frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} C_{p} Q = C_{p}^{*} = \frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} C_{p} Q$$
(32)

Thus, with long-term reactor operation the specific activity of CP particles in the coolant becomes equal to that of the fuel deposits.

$$C_r^* = C_{dep}$$

The accumulation of a nuclide on the cooling surface is defined as

$$m_{r}^{*} = C_{dep}^{*} \frac{\varepsilon U}{\lambda} \dot{r} C_{r} q \tau$$
(33)

The accumulation of a radionuclide on the non-heat transferring surface is described by

$$m_r = C_{dep}^* \sqrt{2\Delta E \, \mathcal{V} \, U_r C_r \, \tau} \tag{34}$$

Then in case of the long-term operation the time dependence of the specific activity of long-lived isotopes (60 Co) is defined for cooling surfaces as:

$$m_{r} = \kappa_{1} \mathfrak{V} \tag{35}$$

and for non-heat-transferring surfaces as

$$m_{\rm p} = \kappa_2 \, {\rm ev}^{0.5} \tag{36}$$

In case of the positively charged CP particles (pH < 9,5) the time dependence of the specific activity of the long-lived isotopes on the out-of-core surfaces is described as

$$\mathsf{m}_{\mathsf{p}} = \mathsf{K}_3 \mathfrak{T}^{1,5} \tag{37}$$

Then the release of radionuclides from the fuel element deposit layer will be diffusion-controlled.

The results of the calculation of corrosion products and their radionuclides transport and deposition are in good correspondence with the operational data.

INVESTIGATION ON ELECTROMIGRATION CHARACTERISTICS OF CORROSION PRODUCTS

V.M. SEDOV, V.A. DOJLNITSYN, A.I. OVSYANNIKOV, D.S. GASANOV, S.A. MEDVEDED Leningrad Institute of Technology, Leningrad, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

Abstract

The investigation of migration under the electric field influence was carried out for magnetite and oxide mixture ~ hematite and goethite - in water media of different acidity, as well as the influence of amine polycarbonic complexons (IDA, NTA and DTPA) on oxide migration. The electromigration mass flow values determined. An additive of complexons results in were disappearance of positive charge iron forms over a wide pH range for magnetite and in a more narrow pH range for oxide mixture. Also the extent of EDTA influence on the deposition and electromigration characteristics of iron(+3) hydroxide and magnetite was determined. It was showned that the complexon changes the sign of corrosion product (CP) particles charge from positive to negative. This exchange is accompanied by essential decreasing of deposition resulting rate.

A considerable attention was given to electromigration behaviour of real CP presented in main circuit of reactor RBMK-1000 in different reactor operating regimes. During the reactor shutdown the transition from positive to negative CP was observed. It may be connected with increase of radiolytical hydrogen peroxide concentration in coolant. To verify this assumption, some laboratory and test loop experiments were carried out. The results obtained suggested this proposition.

At present a number of models describing the transference of the corrosion products (CP) and their radionuclides in atomic power plant (APP) circuits was suggested /1-5 e.a./. According to those models both soluble — and insoluble CP can take part in the process of deposit formation, the role of insoluble CP being more essential. The solubility of CP depends on coolant pH value, temperature, presence of ovygen and other impurities and technogolical additives in coolant and is not more than from units to tens mcg of iron per kg of coolant /6,7/. The size of CP dispercial particles ranges from 0,001 to 10 mcm. The colloidal and small dispercial particles with the size not more than 1-5 mcm are the main components of CP. The behaviour of these particles is governed by surface propeties, specifically by the sign and the quantity of the surface charge. For larger particles these properties are not so important because not volumemechanical but surface propeties are determinating factors for them.

The models for calculation of the main contribution of colloidal and small dispercial CP in deposit formation /8-10/ are based on classic theory of colloid interaction that was given by Deryagin, Landau, Verwey and Overbeek (DLVO). It assumes two types of interaction between the particles: Van-der-Waals attraction and the electrostatic interaction of double layers. To carry out calculations in the range of models in question, it is nesessary to know such characteristics as the size of CP particles and the charge of their surface (\int -potential).

Zeta-potencial and its equivalent characteristics i.e. CP particles electroforetic mobility are used in calculation of the rate of CP deposits in the theoretical approaches by V.P.Brusakhov as well /11-13/. The electroforetic CP transport to the metal surface under thermoelectromotive and galvanoelectromotive forces in the system "coolant - circuit surface" is the main thought in the base of this approache.

Many experimental works were carried out to study the CP electrolinetic characteristics /14-17 e.a./. The properties of real CP have been studied less extensively.

It has been shown that for all investigated systems "metal oryde (hydroxyde) - water medium" the strong dependence of the surfacecharge on pH value is typical: when medium is changed from acidic to alkaline the surface charge is changed from positive to negative. For different iron compounds the pH values corresponding to the isoelectric points (IEP) and points of zero charge (PZC) lie in the range of pH=5,0-8,5 /14,18,19/. The IEP and PZCvalues depend on the way of oride and hydroride formation, on sample pre-treatment and on some other factors. The temperature essentially influences zeta-potential: when temperature rises from 20 C to 235 C its value increases approximately twice /20/.

The technological additives and impurities in coolant can strongly influence the CP electromigration behaviour. The amine polycarbonic complexons, for example ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid and its salts, can be used as such additives /21,22/.

We carried out the investigation of migration under the electric field influence for magnetite ($Fe_{3}O_{4}$) and oride mixture - hematite ($\int -Fe_{2}O_{3}$) and goethite ($\int -FeOOH$) in water media of different acidity, as well as the influence of amine polycarbonic complexons: immodiacetic (IDA), nitrilotriace-tic (NTA), ethylenedinitrilotetraacetic (EDTA) and diethyle-netrinitrilopentaacetic (DTPA) acids on oride migration. The methods of investigation were discussed in /23/.

We used electromigration mass flow (EMMF) as a criterion by which one can judge about CP electromigration. Its G value is defined by the following equation:

$$G = P/S.T.H$$
, Mole/(m.V.s),

where β is CP quantity in terms of iron transferred by electric field, mole;

S is transverse section area of CP accumulating capillary, sq.m;

 \mathcal{T} is continuance of CP accumulation, s;

H is electric field intensity, V/m.

EMMF is connected with electroforetic (electromigration) mobylity as follows:

$$6 = \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i} c_{i} = C \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i} \lambda_{i}$$

where UL is mobylity of i-form of iron in investigated system "iron oxide - coolant", sq.m/(V.s);

 C_i , L_i is concentration (Mole/cub.m) and mole part of *i-form* of iron respectively;

C is total CP concentration in coolant in terms of iron, Mole/cub.m.

So, G characterizes the electromigration not only oxides dispersed in water medium, but and all the other iron compounds in investigated system. The dissolving iron forms in equilibrium with solid phase are estimated by G.

The experimental data are shown in Table 1.

The values obtained show that electromigration behaviour of iron oxides in the presence of complexons has complete nature

Table 1

THE INFLUENCE OF COMPLEXONS ON IRON OXIDES ELECTROMIGRATION

ین میں بیرہ اینا ہے۔ میں بین این این ایر ایر ایر		- 1999 - 1999 - 199		د وی دی و بر اور می می و در ۵۰ دی در اور در ۲۰ در د				
Complexon	G.10, Mole/(m.V.s)							
	pH=3	pH=5	pH=7	pH=9	pH=11			
Magnetite								
DTPA	-/34,6	~/40,9	-/37,4	-/32,4	-/17,5			
EDTA	-/12,4	-/13,3	-/32,5	-/23,5	~/16,3			
NTA	5,7/-	-/3,5	-/4,4	-17,7	-/9,1			
IDA	12,0/1,3	6,0/4,5	-/6,1	-/7,6	-/4,0			
Without complexon	31,2/-	20,4/-	-/-	-/7,0	-/8,6			

Oxide mixture (hematite + goethite)

DTPA	-/4,9	-/4,9	-/7,5 4,5/7,5 4,9/7,6
EDTA	-/3,2	-/3,2	-/7,2 5,6/7,0 5,6/4,4
NTA	11,9/4,7	1,9/1,9	The region of coagulation
IDA	11,4/2,7	3,3/0,2	The region of coagulation
Without complexon	17,9/-	14,9/1,4	-/8,8 2,0/14,7 6,7/8,4

The numerator is EMMF of CP positive charged forms (+G); The denominator is EMMF of CP negative charged forms (-G)

and is governed by the same processes including dissociation of DH-surface groups and complexon sorption on oxide surface. An additive of complexons forming a very stable complexes with iron results in disappearance of positive charge iron forms over a wide range of pH for the magnetite and in a more narrow pH range for the oxide mixture. NTA and IDA forming less stable complexes decrease the quantity of charged forms and displace FZC and IEP of co-ides to more acidic region.

It is known that the complexon additives in coolant cause the decreasing of CP deposition on the heating circuit surfaces. This positive effect was used in so-called complexon coolant technology /24/. We made the experiments to find the dependence of the rate of CP deposition on surface-charging characteristics of CP particles (sign of charge, EMMF) and so to determine the extent of EDTA influence on the deposition and electromigration characteristics of model CP - iron (+3) hydrovide and magnetite. The method of investigation suggested by K.N. Brusov /25/ is based on CP deposition on the platinum wire heated by electric current. The heat flow was 1,5-2,0 MW/sq.m.

To study the contribution of small dispersed CP particles in deposit formation the deposition of model CP was developed from suspensions with different concentration of magnetite and hydrovide and also from solutions obtained by filtration of suspensions after nucleonic ultrafilter with porous size 0,15 mcm. The pH value of water media was in the range of 5,5-6,0.

The experimental data given in Table 2 show that the compleyon change the sign of CP particles' charge from positive to negative. This exchange is accompanied by essential decreasing of CP deposition resulting rate:

$$V_{dep} = 10^3 m_{Fe} / C_{Fe} T$$
, cm³/s

where

THE DEPOSITION OF MODEL CP ON THE HEATING SUPFACE

Corrosion products	CP concentra- tion, mg/l	10 G.10 , Mole/(m.V.s)	Deposit mass, mg	V , dep cub.sm/s
Magnetite	5,44	17,4/0	9,40	0,72
Magnetite	0,26	3,7/0	0,93	1,49
Magnetite filtrate	0,21	4,3/0	1,09	2,16
Magnetite + EDTA	à 5,44	0/4,2	3,60	0,28
Magnetite fil- trate + EDTA	0,21	0/3,7	0,31	0,48
Iron hydroxide	7,39	11,8/0	7,32	0,41
Iron hydrovide	0,41	5,0/0	0,46	0,47
Filtrate of iron hydrovide	0,41	5,4/0	0,69	0,70
Iron hydroxide 4 EDTA	- 7,39	0/6,7	5,00	0,28
Filtrate of iror hydro>ide + EDTf	n 0,41 A	0/5,8	0,25	0,20
Iron (+3) chlor: in HCi solution (pH=1,0)	de 90,0	-	0,60	0,002

1. The numerator is EMMF of CP positive charged forms (+G);

the denominator is EMMFof CP negative charged forms (-G).

- 2. The ratio of iron and EDTA molar concentrations is 1,0:1,2.
- 3. The interval of time changing is 2400-3100 s.

Most easily this effect is observed in the case of filtrates consisting of small dispersed CP.

The analysis of table data shows that for investigated systems the following law is held: the greater EMMF, the more is the mass of CP deposits. However, there is no the correlation of this kind between G and V values.

dep

One can infer from obtained data that the positive charged CP forms give the main contribution in deposit formation. If one takes into account a small rate of ionic form deposition (the conditions for the last line in Table 2 are agreement with ionic form of iron with a little probability for the polymeric forms /26, 27/) it may be stated that small dispersed, colloidal and maybe composite CP polymeric forms mainly take part in deposit formation. By changing these forms we can control the intensivity of the deposit formation rate.

In our investigations a considerable attention was given to the study the electromigration behaviour of CP presented in the main recirculation water circuit of APP with reactor PBMK-1000. The CP particle charge and CP EMMF were determinated with the aid of three-camera flowing accumulating diafragmed cell through which a coolant at 25-30 C was passed. The investigations were carried out at different reactor operating regimes.

The results of investigations are given in Fig.1. From the data presented it follows that during the reactor shutdown succeeded by temperature decrease from 270 C to 60 C, the transition from positive to negative CP was observed. At this moment CP concentration and iron-59 activity of coolant highly increased. It is possible that an increase in radiolytical hydrogen peroxide concentration registed at the reactor shutdown, is responsible for the negative CP concentration increase. The heating of a coolant at the reactor power increase causes the hydrogen pero-



Fig. 1. Fe-59 activity of coolant (1), $H_2 O_2$ concentration in coolant (2) and relation of positive and negative charged forms EMMFs (3) during reactor operation at full power (I), at the time of shutdown and scheduled maintenance (II) and at power rising (III).

xide thermal decomposition that may give rise to predominance of CP positively charged forms in a coolant.

It can be expected that hydrogen perovide absorped on the CP surface balances the CP positive charge and may even so recharge the surface. As a result, the removal of the slightly fixed CP particles from the heating surfaces takes place.


Fig. 2. pH and $H_2 O_2$ influence on the electromigration of iron oxides ($\lambda - Fe_2 O_3 + \lambda - Fe_2 OH$) 1,1' - iron oxides; 2,2' - iron oxides in the present of $H_2 O_2$ \square - coagulation region of iron oxides in the present of $H_2 O_2$; $C = 5 \cdot 10^{-4} \mod /1$; $C = 10^{-3} \mod /1$; t = 20 C; H = 10 V/cm. Fe

To verify this assumption, the additional laboratory and test loop experiments were carried out. The data of laboratory investigations represented in Fig.2 show that at pH=3-7 the



Fig. 3. Removal of the corresion products from the heating element during $H_{g_{a}}^{0}$ injection. 1 - CP concentration in the coolant after the heating element;

2 - CP concentration in the coolant in front of the heating element.

injection of hydrogen peroxide in a coolant may greatly reduce the electromigration mobility of iron oxides, the mobility of positively charged forms being reduced to a greater extent.

During the loop experiments CP were accumulated for a long time (about 100 hours) on the heating element from the coolant containing 10-50 mg/l of the real CP. After CP accumulating the temperature was dropped from 100 C to 30-50 C and then hydrogen pero ide was injected in the coolant up to concentration of 5,0 mg/l. The heating element was not turned off. The injection of hydrogen peroxide in a coolant produces the recharging of the most corrosion products and causes CP removal from the surface of the heating element (Fig.3).

Results presented show that the control of CP electromigration characteristics provides valuable information not only about CP deposit process but about CP removal from circuit surfaces as well.

In conclusion one should stress the importance of CP electromigration behaviour's study under the mincuit conditions as well as the need for carrying out investigations of the influence of different technological additives such as zinc compounds additives in GEZIP - process /28/ on CP electromigration and CP interaction with circuit surfaces.

REFERENCES

- S.Uchida, M.Kikuchi, Y.Asakura, H.Yusa. Nucl.Sci. Engng., 1978, V.67, N.1, PP. 247-254.
- 2. Ю.А.Егоров, Л.А.Носков, В.П.Склеров и др. Радиационная безопасность и защита АЭС. М.:Атомиздат, 1985, вып. 5, С.10-18.
- 3. C.C.Lin,C.K.Rao,J.S.Wiley, W.R.Dehollander. Nucl. Technol., 1980, V.S4, N.9, PP. 253-265.
- 4. K.A.Burrill. Canad. J. Eng., 1977, V.55, PP. 54-61.
- 5. P.Beslu, G.Frajaville, A.Labet. BNES Int. Conf. on Water Chem. of Nucl. Reactor Syst./ BNES, London, 1980, PP. 157-164.
- F.H.Seton, C.F.Baes. J.Chem. Thermodin., 1970, V.2, N.4, PP. 479-500.

- 7. В.И.Зарембо, А.А.Слободов, В.Г.Крицкий и др. Журн. прикл. химии, 1986, т.59, N.6, С.1030-1036.
- 8. A.Maroto, G.Urrutia, R.Fernandes-Prini, M.Blesa. IAEA/ Specialists Meeting on "Influence of Water Chemistry on Fuel Element Cladding Behaviour in Water Cooled Power Reactors" Leningrad, 1983, PF. 191-199.
- 9. K.Ishigure, M.Kawaguchi IAEA/ Specialists Meeting on "Influence of Water Chemistry on Fuel Element Cladding Behaviour in Water Cooled Power Reactors" Leningrad, 1983, PP. 82-91.
- К.Н.Брусов, Н.Г.Крутиков, В.С.Осминин, А.М.Чекмарев. Проду/ты коррозии в контурах атомных станций. М.:Атомэнергоиздат, 1989.
- 11. В.П.Брусаков. Атомная энергия, 1971, т.30, вып. 1, С.10-14.
- 12. В.П.Брусаков, В.М.Седов, И.Л.Рыбальченко и др. Исследования по химии, технологии и применению радиоактивных веществ.Сб. трудов.Л.: ЛТИ им. Ленсовета, 1979, С.32-42.
- В.П.Брусаков, В.М.Седов, И.Л.Рыбальченко и др. Исследования
 по химии, технологии и применению радиоактивных веществ. Сб.
 трудов.Л.: ЛТИ им. Ленсовета, 1981, С. 17-35.
- I.A.Davic,R.O.Janes,I.O.Leckie. J.Coll. Int. Sci., 1978,V.63,
 N. 3,PP.480~499.
- P.H.Tewarı, A.B.Campbell. J.Colloid Int. Sci., 1976, V.55, N. 3, PP.531-539.
- F.Dumont, D.V.Tan, A.Watielon. J.Colloid Int. Sci., 1976, V.55,
 N. 3, PP.678~687.
- 17. E.Matijevic. Langmuir, 1986, V.2, PP.12-20.
- 18. G.A.Parks Chem. Rev., 1965, V.65, n. 2, FF. 177-198.
- A.E.Regazzoni, M.A.Blesa, A.J.G.Maroto. J.Colloid Int. Sci., 1983, V.91, N. 2, PP.560-570.

- 20. О.И.Мартынова, А.А.Громогласов, А.Ю.Михайлов, М.Л.Насыров. Теплоэнергетика, 1977, N.2, С.17-19.
- 21. E.Matijevic Pure and Appl. Chem., 1972 ,V.50, N. 9-10, PP.1193-1210.
- 22. J.Rubio, E.Matijevic. J.Colloid Int. Sci., 1979, V.68, N. 3, PP.408-421.
- 23. Р.А.Домльницын, В.В.Станкевич, В.Ю.Карякин,Ю.Б.Соловьев. Исследования по химии, технологии и применению радиоактивных веществ.Сб. трудов.Л.: ЛТИ им. Ленсовета, 1985, С.118-124.
- 24. Т.Х.Маргулова. Применение комплексонов в теплоэнергетике. М.: Энергоатомиздат, 1986.
- 25. К.Н.Брусов,В.С.Осминин,Ю.А.Хитров,Д.А.Щербаков. Химия теплоносителей и физико-химические процессы АЭУ. М.: ЦНИИатоминформ, 1984, С.35-36.
- 26. Atlas of metal-ligand equilibria in aqueous solution. J.Walley & Sons Publ., New-York, 1979.
- 27. R.M.Smith, A.E.Martell Critical stability constants. V.4. Inorganic complexes. Plenum Press, New-York, 1976.

28. Nucl. Eng. Intern., 1987, V.32, N. 399, PP.26-27.

TECHNICAL-ECONOMIC ASSESSMENT OF LOW COBALT CONTENT IN STRUCTURAL MATERIALS

Yu.N. ANISKIN, Yu.A. KHITROV All-Union Scientific Research and Project Institute of Complex Power Technology, Leningrad, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

Abstract

The paper shows that the materials used at present and the elements they contain as the basic components and admixtures differ by the level of their potential radiation risk in activation in a neutron flux. The use of materials of a certain composition may strongly reduce ecological risk of a NPP. As for steels which are the main materials used in NPPs, radiation risk reduction of different NPP units may be reached by limiting cobalt content within the range of 2 10 to 2 10 % and the use of nickel-free chromemanganese steels instead of nickel steels. These procedures do not increase significantly the plant cost.

Introduction

Demands for NPP ecological safety have enhanced in recent years all over the world. One of the ways to increase safety of NPP is to find a special class of materials of lower activation in a neutron flux.

Material activation and radioactive contamination of circuits due to activated corrosion products carry over by coolant is just the specific feature of NPPs. Gamma-radiation induced by these processes is not significant for power operation of the plant. However, this radiation is determining factor for NPF components repair or change time and cost. Another feature of activation of structural materials is significant volume of radioactive wastes. Radioactive contaminations make difficult solid waste processing for material recycling, being the reason of waste accumulation in the process of plant operation and accological risk after its decomissioning, preventing the plant complete dismantling.

The use of low activation materials is the most reasonable way out of the problem. The paper gives main approach we used for such materials working out and some technical/economical aspects of their utilization in the USSR conditions with due account of the home industry capabilities.

Materials activation ris

High intensity of activation gamma-radiation and reducactive contamination of materials is attributable to the use of materials in nuclear power engineering which are specific for the common power engineering of no special requirments to decrease activation levels in a neutron flux.

To create a special class of materials for nuclear power industry, diffrent from those of activation level in a neutron flux, limits are to be imposed on certain element content in them. Diffrent elements may be contained in the materials created as the basic component or admixtures. For this reason, the problem may not be solved without a sistem permitting to classify elements by their activation risk. As long-lived radionuclides formation, which are basic ecological risk, is due to activation of certain elementsonly, with only several of these elements forming radionuclides in activation process, which are of radiation risk in meintaince, all these elements may be classified into three groupe by their activation risk:

1. Ecologically dangerous elements (long-lived gemma- and beta-radiating elements).

2. Radiation dangerous elements (long-lived gamma-radiating elements).

Not dangerous elements.

In selection NPP materials, it is first of all necessary to compare stable nuclides as potential gamma-sources after their activation in a neutron flux. It is usial to assess the potential radiation risk of stable nuclides by the absolute intensity of daughter radionuclide gamma-radiation. This comparison needs matching to particular number values of neutron fluxes. As for spacial -energetic distribution of a neutron flux for NPP, it is rather a complicated problem.

The problem solution may be simplified if to refuse from gamma-radiation absolute intensity calculation with nuclide activation risk being made in respect to a certain parent nuclide. This allows while comparing nuclides which are of greatest radiation risk in the existing NPP to exclude dependence upon the neutron flux level.

As a reference parent nuclide, it is convenient to use ""Co which under thermal neutron activation gives long-lived ""Co. For nuclides, elements and materials to be compared the idea of activation risk coefficient is introduced.

The activation risk coeffitient, k_d, for an isotope (nuclide) is referred to the ratio of gamma dose-rates in similar geometry condition by all radionuclidis formed in activation of a stable nuclide taken in a quantity corresponding to its content in 1 gram of nutural isotope mixture by neutrons of the given energy group and saturated activity of enco formed as a result of 1 g enco activation in thermal neutron flux equal to the neutron flux of the given energy group.

According to this definition Fig. Figure elements activation risk coefficient is $\sum F_{ij}$ and that of materials activation risk, Km, is $\sum B_{k,K_{kj}}$, where E_{k} is a respective element content (weigh) in material.

Table 1 shows activation risk coeffitients for elements, calculated for NPF maintenance condition with equal fluxes of thermal, intermediate and fast neutrons. Activation risk coefficient were determined for 25 years activation time.

TABLE 1. ELEMENTS ACTIVATION RISK COEFFICIENTS

N	Element	r of l	Main parer	nt Active	Half-lıf∈
		element	isotope	isotope	
1	Eu	2.3	EU-151	EU-152	13 years
2	Ir	1.2	1-191	1192	74,4 Gays
3	Co	1.0	Ca-59	Co-50	5.25 years
4	Ag-	0.54	Ag~109	Ag-110M	270 days
5	ระ	0.54	Sc-45	Sc-46	84.1 day#
5	Cs	0.39	Cs-133	Cs-134	2.08 years
7	7a	0.15	Ta-181	Ta-182	115.1 days
3	ть	7.2+10	Tb-159	Tb-160	73 days
¢,	Sp-	3.2*10-2	55-123	Sb-124	60.1 days
10	Yb	1.4*10-2	Yb-168	Y6-169	30.6 days
11	Ht	5.5+10-3	HF-180	HF-181	46 days
12	ln=	1.5+10-3	[n-113	In-114	50 days
10	r.j_ ++++	1.4*10-3	Ni-58	Co-58	72 days
14	Zn	1.2*10-*	Zn-64	Zn-65	245 days
15	Se	6.6+10-4	Se-74	Se-75	128 days
16	Hg	6,5*10	Hg-202	Hg-203	46.9 days
17	2 -	2.3+10++	2r-94	2r-95 1Nb-95	65 days
18	<u>۲</u> ۰	</td <td>Cr - 50</td> <td>Cr -51</td> <td>27.8 days</td>	Cr - 50	Cr -51	27.8 days
19	Ru	8.6*10-9	Ru-102	Su-103	3º.4 days
20	Fe**	3.6*10-	° ~∈-54	Mn-54	291 days
21	63	8.2+10-7	6d-152	Gd~157	230 days
22	Û≡	7.3*10**	0s-184	Os-185	94. % days
27	Ce	6.3*10-7	Ce-140	Ce-141	32.5 days
24	Sn	5.8*10-*	Sn-112 \$	Sn-113`Sn-11	150 days
25	Te	2,9*10-7	Te-122	Te-123	104 days
26	6	2.2*10-5	Cur63	Co-50	5.25 years
27	Sa	1.2#10-7	Sm-144 9	Sm-145`Pm-14	5 240 days
28	5-	1,7*10-0	584	Sr-85	65 days
29	71 +	1.4*10-0	Ti-46	Sc-46	94.1 days
30	w	1.1*10-7	¥-184	W-185	74.5 days
31	Cæ	S.9#10-2	Ca-114	Ca-115	43 days
32	ND	4.6*12-2	Nb-93	Nb-94	5#104 years
33	Bæ	4,1*10-*	8a-132	Ba-133	10 years
34	Mrs	S.6+10	Mn-55	¶n-54	291 days
35	Na	7.4*10-7	Na-22	Na~23	2.6 years
36	Mo++	9.5+10-6	Mc-95	Nb-95	75 days
37	Tì	7.8+10-14	11-203	Hg-203	45.9 days

 elements with a determinig activation commitment from intermediate neutrons.

** elements with a determining activation commitment from fast neutrons. Table 2 shows activation risk coefficients for elements composing the materials used in nuclear energetics as basic components or admixture.

TABLE 2. ACTIVATION RISK COEFFICIENT FOR ELEMENTS USED IN NPP MATERIALS

Element	r
Co	1.0
Ag	0.54
Ta	0.15
NI	1.4*10-3
Zn	1.2+10-3
2-	2.2*10**
Cr	ዮ.8*1© ^ອ
Fe	8.6*10-7
Cu	2.2*10-0
Ti	1.4*16-0
NB	4.2*10-*
Mn	ዎ₊6 *1 ₽ ^{~~}
MG	9.5*10-9

Table 3 shows comparison of NPF materials by their activation risk.

Material	Determination elements	Element content in the material,%	8. *K.	к _т
08X19H10T	Co	0.1	10-3	
steel	Fe	70	6*10-9	
	Ni	10	1.4*10-*	1.4*10-3
	Cr	18	2*10-0	
Steel 22	Co	3#10~~	3*10-+	
	Fe	78	8.6*10-0	3.9*10
	NI	0.3	4.2*10-*	
Stellite	BBr Co	60	0.6	0-63
	NI	2	2.8*10-9	
Aluminium	Co	6×10	5*10-7	
allov	Fe	0.2	1.7*10-7	i.1*10 ⁻ ⇔
,	Zn	0.07	3.6*10-7	
715500100	Co	2*10-+	2+10	
allov	Fe	0.7	4.2*10-*	2.3*10-*
	Zr	78	2.3+10-4	
Titanium	Co	9*10-7	9#1Ø=7	
allov	Fø	0.3	2.6*10-7	1+10-5
	Ti	91	1+10-0	

TABLE 3

Table 1. 2 and 3 snows:

1. Only 36 elements are potentially dangerous sources of activation gamma-radiation. Activation risk coefficients for these elements range within 2.5 for Eu to $9.5*10^{-6}$ for Mo. The most undesirable elements the contents of which is strictly limited in the materials are: Eu, Ir, Co, Ag, Sc, Ta.

2. The largest activation risk of all elements which may be contained in NPP materials are Co, Ag, Ta, Ni, Fe. All these elements compose the materials used as the basic components. The most dangerous of this elements, cobalt, is the most widely used in these materials. And only stellite (cobalt-based alloy) it is the basic component. In all other cases it is an unregulated admixture.

3. Materials used in nuclear power engineering are significantly diffrent by their activation risk. The most dangerous are stellite and X18H10T grade steel. The least dangerous are aluminium and titanium based alloys. In interspaces between these materials carbon steel and zirconium-based alloys are found. Various grade steels are significantly diffrent by the activation risk level. Activation risk of both nickel containing and nickel-free steels depends their cobalt admixture content. The least dangerous are nickel-free steels.

4. Of the elements contained in materials used the most long-lived radionuclide is formed as a result of cobalt activation in neutron flux. Due to this, considering maintaince works, change or removal of equipment after sufficiently long cooling the activation ability of all materials depends upon cobalt concentration in them.

As it follows from all mentioned above, radiation condition improvment in maintaince due to introduction of materials of lower activation in a neutron +lax than that of existing ones, may be reached in the following way:

I. The use of the materials of lower activation risk coefficients in NPP. As aluminium based allovs in main reactor water cooling circuits are no corrosion stability required, then titanium-based alloys are to be considered as most promising.

2. Limitation of the materials used by allowable cobalt content.

5. Creation of mickel-tree corrosion resistant steels sufficiently close by their main characteristics to X18H107 steels with standardized cobalt content.

4. Stellite change for by another material sufficiently close to it by the characteristics requared but not containing cobalt.

Steels with standardized cobalt content.

At present, stellite is not used either in the plants being operated or in those under construction in our country. At the same time, different grade steels will, evidently, remain for a long time the main construction material of NPP. In this connection, the problem to reduce activation risk of steels by cobalt content reduction is one of actual in solving

the problem of NPP ecological safety and radiation condition improvment in maintenance.

The creation of this steels is connected with the determination of physically reasonable, operationally required, technically teasible and economically justified leves of steel cobalt content reduction.

The phisically reasonable level of cobalt content reduction depends upon "Co formation from "Ni in fast neutron reaction and "Co formation in nuclear reactions and nuclear conversions from stable nuclides of nickel and iron.

The level of cobalt content in steel reduction required operationally shows possible radiation condition improvement in repeir works and NPP assembly change as a result of cobalt elimination in steels. This level is determined by relative for commitment into the total gamma-dose created from NPF and depends on intensity of gamma-radiation.

The physically possible and operationally necessary level of lowering ^{++}Co commitment in the activated gamma-radiation intensity is different for NPF components and depends on the NPF design requirements. For NPF's with water coolant the permissible level of cobalt admixtures content is in the range from $2*10^{-2}$ % up to 10^{-4} %. To solve the problem of improving the radiation situation under repair conditions, the decrease of cobalt admixture contents in steels celow $5*10^{-3}$ % seems to be not reasonable.

As result of work carried out in our country, steel making process was found practically teasible with cobalt admixture content below 2 10^{-4} % for X18H10T steels. Steels with such cobalt content are made using commercially produced cold-change materials.Disadvantage of the cirrent steelmaking practice is a significant increase in steel production cost with higher purity when cobalt content in X18H10T steels is less than 0.03%. With the above practice, 08X18H10T steel is commercially produced, while those with cobalt content under 0.005% being on a small scale production.

To cut the production cost of steel with high purity in cobalt and other admixtures, a special technique for commercial steel making has been developed in our country. Relative increase in costs of making 03X18H10T steels of higher purity in cobalt using conventional and special techniques, is seen in table 4.

The above data (table 4) demonstrate that with a conventional steelmaking practice, cobalt content reduction from 0,03% to 0,0002% brings about over 6-fold cost increase for 08X18H10T steels, as compared to only 40% increase when using a special technique.

Increase in maintenance costs, due to the influence of radiation conditions, is proportional to increasing gamma-radiation intensity. Thus, the major economic effect in nuclear power engineering is from applying with cobalt content not exceeding 0.005%. Although, becouse of a slight cost increase for lower-cobalt steels melted by a special technique

TABLE 4. RELATIVE INCREASE IN COSTS OF 08X18H10T STEELMAKING BY DIFFERENT TECHNIQUES

diffrent techni	que					
Steelmaking	Increase	in cost	: with	lowering	cobalt content,	%
practica	0.1	G. 01	5	0.005	0.0002	
Current	1	1.1		2.3	7	
Special	1	1.1		1.3	1.5	

and taking into consideration that the use of steels with 0.0002 % cobalt contents reduces the cost of NPP safety provision when decommissioned, it is advisable to use steels with this cobalt contents for a number of NPP components (reactor vessel, surfacing, screens etc.), because of shot-term cooling the units before their dismantling.

To cut or eliminate the cost rise in NPP construction resulted from decrease of cobalt content in steels, it is advisable:

1. To determine the necessary cobalt admixture for different components considering the plant arrangement and the components mass at the NPP design stage.

2. To replace 08X18H10T steel with cheaper corrosion-resistant nickel-free chrom-hanganeze steels or chromium steels for units calling for higher cobalt content.

SUPER-PURE STEELS FOR NUCLEAR POWER (Summary)

Yu.A. KHITROV All-Union Scientific Research and Project Institute of Complex Power Technology, Leningrad, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

In recent years the problem of fabrication and using steels with the low actiwation lewels (in particular, low Co-steels) have received considerable attention, which is due to the worldwide growing stringency of nuclear power safety regulation. We have commercialized a technology of fabricating steels of any type with the extremely low Co-and other impurity levels for use in nuclear installations.

Both the application of these materials and progress in radiation field control during the reactor shut-down periods ensure the nucliar plant operational reliability, environmental safety and energy cost redution.

Using steels produced by the above technology result in:

 reduction of the plant shut-down periods caused by steam generator failing (due to corrosion cracking) and the need of additional radiation field reduction previous to plant component repair or replacment;

- reduction of the volumes and srecific activities of solid and liquid radwasters, which accumulate during plant operation or decomissioning;

- development of installations, which can be disassembled after decomissioning, and the most of the metal mass can be reused.

The mechanical and strength properties, and compositions of super-pure steels are highly persistent, which greatly simplifies the plant component fabrication from these, materials, and makes needless to control Some properties of metal products during their manufacture. Nickel steels of X18H10T type with <0.001 wt% Co and low-alloy steels with about 0.0001 wt% Co can be produced by this technology. Due to new technical solutions the technology of fabrication super-pure steels is ecologically safer then the conventional one. The use of this technology for X18H10T steels production causes, however, the growth of metal product costs: in case of < 0.005 wt% Co-steel these were 1.3 times as much, while in case of 0.0002 wt% Co-steel -1.5-2 times as much.

To make newly-built and operating plants ecologically safer and more cost-effective by using Co- and other impurityfree steels the following services are offered:

i. Development of the technological standards of the steel purity, which can be applied in manufacturing different reactor components, delivery of the product range (sheets, bars, tubing, a.o.) of the required quality and alloying content.

Delivery of metal products at the consumer's request.
 Sale of know-hows and production of super-pure steels.

USSR EXPERIENCE IN DECONTAMINATION AND WATER CHEMISTRY OF VVER TYPE NUCLEAR REACTORS

V.I. PASHEVICH

All-Union Scientific Research and Project Institute of Complex Power Technology, Leningrad, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

Abstract

A safety operation of nuclear power plants and level of the radioactive contamination of the heat-transfer medium and equipment are determined by interrelated factors the main ones of which are as follows: design, constructional materials, water-chemical regime, processes of decontamination, emount of radioactive waste.

The distinctive feature of operation of the reactor-type equipment of the nuclear power plants is a presence of radioactive contamination on the equipment surface that causes a considerable rise in the cost of repair work in comperison with the common thermal power. The radioactive contamination levels vary over wide limits, hilr both the scope of decontamination and amount of radioactive waste formed in this case vary respectively. An improvement of radiative situation requires an execution of the decontamination operations that regults in an increase of the radiactive waste amount. With allowance made for these factors the criteria have been developed that lead the radioactive contamination level, depth of decontamination and waste amount to one denominator. This in turn isdetermined bylabour consumption of the repair or other work and the contamination level is determined by a design, type of the constructional materials and water-chemical regime to be used.

S

156

Cost-benefit of decontamination

At operation of slugs BB3P-440 and BB3P-1000 in the USSR a different rediactive situation arose for the same time. The mentioned condition leads to different scopes of decontamination operations and formation of some liquid radiosctive waste (LRW) concerned with. Depending on a value of the taken doses a necessity of performance of decontamination operations is determined having regard to the required coefficient and liquid radioactive waste emount obtained. Thus, using the proposed method of calculation with consideration for the system of indices and norms active for the nuclear power plants in the USSR, calculate the coefficient of ratio of reduction of y-rediction dose from the equipment during decontamination (K_d) with allowance for a tolerable regation of the personnel during the repair operations and inspection of different types of equipment BB3P-440 and BB3P-1000.

A need for performance of decontamination is determined by correlation of the operation scope planned for the given equipment and labour consumptions concerned with this scope and dose loads of the repair personnel and expenditures concerned with the planned scope of decontamination operations. In this case a saving of decontamination measures should be provided.

A number of workers required for performance of repeir and inspection of an unit of a certain type of equipment mey be preliminarily planned knowing:

- a scope of repair;

- a standard labour consumptions for repair;

- a radiation situation on the working areas.

A radiation situation forecast is based on the experience of power -generating unit operation and tendency of an increase of radioactive contamination specific for the given power-generating unit which should be taken into account.

Based upon the number of units of the given ecuipment served by the repair service and annual repair schedule, a total required number of the repair workers may estimated for the given type of equipment.

The normal number (organic table) of repair personnel (N_{T}) does not take into account an influence of the radiation situtation on the working stations.

1. The number of workers required for performance of the repair work is:

(a) without performance of decontamination:

$$p = \frac{3.6 \cdot 10^{-3} \cdot T\bar{P}}{D}$$
 (1)

where T is labour consumption at performance of the separate repair operations (men/h);

 \overline{P} is mean rate of operation dose measured in the working stations, $\mu r/s$.

$$P_1 = -\frac{I}{n} \quad i \stackrel{n}{\searrow}_n P;$$

3.6.10⁻³ is factor of conversion of µr/s into r/h;

- D is total permissible annual dose (5 rem).
- (b) with performance of decontamination:

$$N'p = \frac{3.6 \cdot 10^{-3} \cdot T \bar{P}}{D} + N_{dec.}$$
 (2)

where P_{1} is mean dose rate in the working stations after decontamination, $\mu r/s;$

N_{dec.} is number of workers involved for decontamination. Labour requirements concerned with the repairs, inspection of equipment are specified in the standard repair documents acting for the nuclear power plants and do not depend on the rediction situation in the repair zone.

2. A rise of the repair work cost due to involvment of the additional number of personnel and additional charges and privileges concerned with.

$$C = N_p T (C_p M_h + K_1 C_{d.w.}) (K_{s.i.} + 1) + C_f M_d$$
 (3)

where C are costs concerned with additional charges and pri-

vileges of the workers for the work cerried out in the strict regime zone (SRZ), (rubles);

Np is an increase of personnel numper for performance of the work in the radiation-hazard conditions, (men); Cp is base hourly rate of the workers working in the radiation-hazard conditions (roubles/h); Cf is a cost of special food (roubles/day);

Kl.. is number of days of additional leave for one month of work in the strict regime zone;

C_{d.w.} is a day wage of worker (roubles/day); M_h is average monthly number of working hours; T is time of work in the zone (months);

M_d is average monthly number of working days, (day/ month) in the strict regime zone (days);

K_{s,i} is coefficient of deduction for social insuarance.

3. Operational expenditures for decontamination $C_{dec.}$ is total expenditures for decontamination, (roubles); $C_{dec.} = C_m + C_e + C_w + C_a + C_{r.r.} + C_{c.d.}$ (4)

where C_is cost of chemical agents and materials, (roubles);

- C is energy expenditure , (roubles);
- C_w is wage of the workers involved in decontemination, (roubles);

C_ is amortization expenditure , (roubles);

C_{r.r.} is expenditure for running repair, (roubles);

C_{c.d.} are expenditures concerned with convertion and disposal of radioactive waste of decontemination, (roubles).

Savings from performance of decontamination of the equipment may be calculated from the following equation:

$$S = C - (C_{dec_{a}} + E K)$$
(5)

where S are savings, (roubles);

C are expenditures concerned with involving of saditional personnel for repair work, (roubles);

Cdec. are expendures for decontemination;

- K are capital investments for production of the accontamination equipment and units, (roubles);
- E is normal coefficient of savings from the capital investments.

For the operations concerned with decontamination and which do not require great expenditures:

$$C_{dec.} = C_m + C_w + C_{c.d.}$$
(6)

Let us consider an example of quantity estimation of requirements of personnel for overhaul of a primary circulating pump (PCP).

For the purpose, use the following data:

- man-hours per job for the overhaul in the zone of higher than usual radiation situation is 450 man/hours;

- including 50 man/hours for unsealing and sealing of the removable part of the primary circulating pump;

- end 400 men/hours for repair of the removable part of the primary circulating pump on the rack.

Rediction situation without conducting of deconteminetion:

- in the joint of PCP is 20 µr/s;

- in the repair zone of PCP is 100 µr/s.

The personnel quantity required for repair without $p \in r$ formance of decontamination on formula (1) accounts for:

 $p = \frac{3.6 \cdot 10^{-3} \ 20 \cdot 50 \ + \ 100 \cdot 400}{5} = 30 \ (men)$

Redistion situation after decontamination:

- 20 µr/s in the main joint of PCP;

- 15 µr/s in the repair zone of PCP.

The personnel to be required for overheal of the glandles circulating pump after decontamination calculated on formula (2) amount to:

$$p = \frac{3.6 \cdot 10^{-3} \ 20 \cdot 50 \ + \ 15 \cdot 40}{5} \ + \ = \ 5 \ + \ 2 \ = \ 7 \ (men),$$

including two decontamination operators.

The savings and necessity of performance of decontamination in this case are obvious. Decontamination processes

If the decontamination operations correspond to the speciified conditions, a formation of the liquid radioactive waste is minimum and decontamination procedures are effective and ecologically advisable.

The features of a design and the used constructional materials for the acting slugs are unvariable therefore an interrelation: radioactive contamination - constructional materials - design features is the constant value. Consequently, it is necessary to improve a water-chemical conditions which would ensure such levels of equipment contamination which expressed in decontamination coefficients ($K_{dec.}$) amount to a value close to $K_{dec.}$ = 1. An implementation of these condition makes it possible to solve the problem of the BB3P slugs that meet the requirements of maximum radiation safety without performance of the decontamination operation and considerable reduction of the liquid radioactive waste formation.

The experince of operation of nuclear power plants showed that the following equipment is subjected first to contamination with radioactive products:

- the first loop and pipe-lines;

- the pumps and valves of auxiliary systems;

- the parts of mechanisms of control system and reactor protection;

- the assemblies of transfer equipment;
- the transport containers and fuel assembly covers;
- the vessels, basins and wells;

- the rooms accommodating the euxiliary equipment and service lines and also transport corridors, store-lases for the used fuel assemblies.

The processes of washing of the specified equipment may be aivided in three main groups:

- decontemination of the first loop and its equipment without dismounting;

- decontemination of the removable loop equipment;

- decontamination of the suxiliary rooms and outer surfaces of the equipment.

Decontemination of First Loop of Nuclear Power Plant with Reactor of Type BB3P

A process of decontamination of the loop systems consists in the controlled removal of radioactive deposits and oxide layers of metal from the loop internal surfaces.

Three main variants of decontamination of the loop systems of the nuclear power plants may be used: decontamination of whole first loop together with active zone; decontamination of whole loop with the active zone spart; decontamination of the separate loops.

In case of necessity of performance of a large scope of repair work and inspection, the equipment of the first loop may be subjected to decontemination with the first loop assembled. In decontaminating the first loop withough active zone, a large scope of work on discharging of the zone should be carried out that considerably increases the time for inspection and repair of the power plant. In order to save time, whole loop may be decontaminated together with the active zone. This decreases the scope of preliminary and mounting work, makes it possible efficiently to use the organic equipment of the power plant, decreases the plant idle time, save the equipment reliability due to less number of operations on its opening and scaling. However, this decontamination is possible only at absence of considereble damage to the fuel element sheath.

The decontamination of whole first loop is carried out periodically or continously. When the periodical method is used, the loop is filled with accontamination solution which is heated and circulated with the use of the primary circulating pump for a certain time, then the used solution is drained. A cease of circulation during decontamination procedure is undesirable due to deposition of slime which is removed with difficulty.

When the loop is deconteminated jointly with the active zone, a discharging of reator is intolerable because of hazard of fuel overheating. In this case the solution in the reator is levelled to the branch pipes connecting it to steeam generators. Every operation of charging should be simultaneously accompanied with removal of gas from the loop that is required for a normal operation of the pumps.

When the continuous method is used, the solution is cischarge by forcing it out with washing water and simultaneously washing the used solution during continuous operation of the pumps. The decontamination solution is circulated during whole process of decontamination. After a drop of the

reagent concentration to the required value, a draining of the loop and supply of water are ceased and the binding decontamination solution is fed without stopping of the pumps. During supply of the solution into the loop, an excess volume is discharged either in the draining system or fed into the volume compensator. In the course of decontamination a maximum level should be maintained in the volume compensator to decrease an amount of decontamination solutions that get into the compensator during verificient of pressure in the reactor because these solutions are removed from the compensator with alfficulty. The decontamination of the volume compensator is advised to be carried out separately from the loop.

The continuous method is more efficient especially at removal of slime from the loop but in this case it is alfficult to maintain a certain pressure in the loop to ensure a trouble-free operation of the pumps at simultaneous delivery and drainage of the solutions and vashing water.

The systems which are not used during decontamination procedure should be securely separated from the loop areas to be decontaminated. The packings and ocaring assemblies of the pumps should be replaced after decontamination or clean water should be pumped continuously through the specified assemblies at a pressure exceeding the pressure in the loop.

The instrumentation sending units which are not used during decontamination should be removed from the loop. At decontemination jointly with the active zone of the reactors operating in a boric control mode, all decontarination solutions and washing water should contain boric acid.

At a complex decontamination of the first loop, the accontemination solution is continuously circulated with the primary circulating pumps. Simultaneouslt a part of the wasning solution is taken from the circulated flow through the orgenic blowing-off system and delivered into the evaporator where the solution is evaporated to a maximum concentration. The formed steam is condensed in the heat exchanger and the distillate is returned in the loop with the use of makeup pumps. The evaporated concentrated alkali or acid solution is cleared from radioactive corrosion slime in the settlers and collected in the special tanks.

The continuous circuit design of the loop decontamination permits multiple employment of the cleared solution with corresponding saving of chemical reagents. A process of decontamination of the first loop of the reactor with elternsuse of several types of washing solutions, for example, elkaline solution of potassium permanganate and solution of oxalic orchromotropic at decontamination by reduction-oxidation method when after gradual discharge of one solution and delivery of the other is repeated many times until a required degree of decontamination is optained.

The first loop of the nuclear power plant with the type BB3P reactors differs by presence of depositions on the internal surfaces; these depositions contain primarily magnetite and considerable amount of oxides of chromium and nickel. Such a composition of the depositions limits the use of oxalic acid as a main component of the decontamination solution and causes a necessity of oxidizing treatment for removal of chromium oxides.

The problem of removal of deposition at simultaneous reduction of radioactive waste was solved with the use of complexing agent-complexones. The compound based on trilon B and citric acid and EDTA.

A regulation of pH is most often accomplianed by adding ammonia. The two-basin decontamination compoundings are added with such agents as KMnO_4 , H_2O_2 , N_2H_4 and the others. To obtain a required pH, use organic acids and as alkali use KOH because even a slight impurity of sodium remained in the water heat-transfer medium increases its activity due to formation of 24Ne at operation of the reactor.

At decontamination of the systems including the assemblies made of carbon steel, the passivation of the surfaces should be carried out as a final operation. For this purpose, use the solution of hydrogen peroxide, hydrazine, ammonium nitrate, corrosion inhibitors, for example, 2 merceptobenzothiazole.

Heavy demands are imposed upon chemical purity of the reagents used for decontamination of the loop systems in this a special attention is paid to presence of corrosion-active impurities of helogen ions, sulphate ions. The loop decontamination is usually started from a treatment with an acid solution; in this case the friable depositions are washed and a lot the radioactive slime gets into the circulated solution; the slime is not dissolved completely and it may deposit again in the dead zones of the loop.

A great amount of slime is particularly formed during decontamination of the loop jointly with the active zone. In this case a filtration of the decontamination solution is required.

Rate of dissolution of hematite in the solutions of ethylenediaminetetracetic acid (EDTA) and oxalic acid is described by the following equations:

$$V = K_{2}[H^{+}] \stackrel{0.1}{[H_{3}Y^{-}]} \stackrel{0.5}{[H_{2}Y^{2}]} \stackrel{0.15}{[H_{2}Y^{3}]} \stackrel{0.5}{[H_{2}Y^{2}]} \stackrel{0.15}{[H_{2}Y^{3}]} \stackrel{0.5}{[H_{2}Y^{3}]} \stackrel{0.5}{[H_{2}Y^{2}]} \stackrel{0.15}{[H_{2}Y^{3}]} \stackrel{0.5}{[H_{2}Y^{3}]} \stackrel{0.5}{[$$

For decontemination, it is worthwhile to use the combined solution containing an organic acid, compexones because in this case the optimum value of pH is easier maintained during dissolution procedure. In the combined solutions of trilon B and organic acids, the maximum rate of dissolution of hematite occurs at pH equal to 2.5, in this case a character of dependence of dissolution rate on pH does not depend on a type of the acid added. Anreaction of hematite with trilon B is the determining factor in this case the additions of reducing agents (hydrazine, hydroxylamine and the others) increase the rate of dissolution of hematite in the solutions of trilon B. The spinel oxides are dissolved in the solutions of mineral and organic acids with great difficulty. For dissolution of such oxides use the two-basin reduction-oxidation treatment with alkaline solution of potassium permanganate and acid (pickling) solution dissolving the formed manganese dioxide.

An oxidizing effect of alkaline solution of $KMnO_4$ is primerily conditioned by reaction:

$$MnO_{4}^{-} + 2H_{2}O \implies MnO_{2} + 40H^{-}$$

= 1.692 - 0.078 pH
Oxidation of Cr(III) and magnetite occurs on reaction:
 $3Fe_{2}O_{4} + MnO_{4}^{-} + 2H_{2}O \implies 3FeOOH + 3Fe_{2}O_{3} + MnO_{2} + 0H^{-}$
 $Fe_{2}O_{4}/Fe(OH)_{3} = 1.20 - 0.059$ pH
 $Cr_{2}O_{3} + 2MnO_{4}^{-} + 2OH^{-} \implies 2CrO_{4}^{2-} + 2MnO_{2} + H_{2}O$
 $Cr^{3+}/O^{2-}_{4} = 1.335 - 0.1162$ pH

Alkaline solution of KMnO_4 oxides Cr(III) to the dissolved one in alkaline medium of chromate-ion and Fe(II) to Fe(III). A leaching of chromium from the oxide film surface and oxidation of Fe(II) loosen up the film and increase of free energy of crystal lattice of oxide and impurities contained in it. Besides, at treatment with an oxidizing solution, a layer of MnO_2 is formed often on the metal surface. In this case a part of the dissolved radioactive contamination may be absorbed with manganese dioxide and remains with it on \sim the steel surface.

In the scid oxidizing solution, the rate of dissolution of chromium dioxide is 1.5 to 2 times less but in this case iron is simultaneously leached out of the oxide layer surface what does not take place in the alkaline medium. A radioactivity of the acid oxidizing solution is usually higher. After the oxidizing treatment, the decontaminated surface is subjected to effect of alkaline reducing solution that results in a sharp change of the surface electrochemical potential.

Thus, the oxidizing treatment contributes to more effective dissolution of the oxide layer in the sold solution.

The research results showed that at the alkaline-permenganate treatment the chromium is predominantly dissolved while in the acid solutions containing the oxalic acid, nitric acid or trilon B or citric acid the iron and nickel are predominantly dissolved. The combination treatment with both solutions ensures the most effective removal of oxide film. Thus, if the surface layers of radioactive depositions are inriched with iron, first carry out the treatment by means of acid solution and further on perform the reducing treatment. The decontamination efficiency is affected by cyclic alternating of oxidizing and reducing treatments.

The sharp variation of potential, successive oxidation, reduction, leaching increase a defectiveness of oxide layer, increase its reactivity and intensify a dissolution procedure.

A decrease of the liquid radioactive waste volume may be obtained at one-basin decontamination at the expense of transfer of one decontamination solution into the other by putting the required chemical reagents into the first solution. By this means the alkeline solution of permanganate is converted into the acid reducing solution by adding a mixture of nitric and oxalic acids or citric acid and EDTA in the solution. In this case an effectiveness of decontamination remains similar to that obtained at the usual two-basin method. But the conversion of the acid solutions into the alkaline ones with the use of the same procedure is indesirable due to formation of great amount of radioactive deposits of hydroxides of iron, chromium at increase of pH.

Presently for decontamination of the equipment of the nuclear power plant first loop, mainly the two-basin decontamination is used in the USSR.

The experience of industrial employment of complexones for washing the corrosion depesitions in the thermel power engineering at decontemination of nuclear power plant showed that a considerable result was obtained at the use of chelation agents and compounds based on them. It takes place due to a high efficiency of diposition dissolution and tendency to passivating effect on metals.

One of reagents used in the reducing-complexing solution at the two-besin method of decontemination is disodium selt of chromotropic acid (DCHA).

An increase of decontamination effectiveness at the use of DCHA is predetermined by the fact that strontium with DCHA forms quite stable complexes (stability constant of $(8.91\pm0.22)10^6$) while axalic acid with strontium does not form complexones. Besides, an ionizing radiation influence on the water solution of complexone of DCHA and in particu-

TABLE 1. EFFECTIVENESS	OF	DECONTAMINATION	SOLUTIONS
------------------------	----	-----------------	-----------

Composition of decomposition	Decontam conditio	instion ns	Redio µr	activity, /s	Deconta-
solution	tempers- ture C ^o	dura-'- tion, h	ini- tial	resi- duel	coeffici- ent
Oxalic acid	100			0.0	
Trilon B	100	1	2.2	0.3	7.3
Sulphuric acid					
Sodium nitrate	100	1	2.2	0.3	7.3
Sodium chloride					
Potassium hydroxide					
Potessium permanga- nate (step I)	100	1	1.5	0.3	5
Oxalic acid (step 2)					
Trilon B					
Citric acid	100	1	0.8	0.35	2.3
2-Mercaptobenzo- thiazole					

lar on complexes of chromotropic acid with Sr^{90} increases the complex molecule stability because bond of metai-ligand becomes stronger in these conditions.

The rates of corrosion of structural materials in the decontamination solutions are presented in Table 2

Decontamination of Removable Equipment of Nuclear Power Plant with Reactors of Type BB3P

A long-duration operation of the nuclear power plant equipment results in a constant accumulation of radioactive contamination on the internal surface of radioactive loops and also external surfaces of the equipment.

						_	
Decontamination	Tempe-	Material					
solution com- ponents	ratu- re, ^o C	steel 1x18H 97	steel 2x13	steel 3	ni- ckel	cop- per	2irco- nium
Axalic acid Trilon B	100	0.007	7.0	10.0	0.12	0.8	0
Potassium hydro- xide Potassium perman- ganate Oxalic acid	100	0.014	19.0	21.0	0.12	0.5	o
Trilon B Citric scid 2-mercsptobenzo- thiszole	100	0.016	0.15	102.0	0.23	0.6	0

TABLE 2. RATE OF CORROSION OF STRUCTURAL MATERIALS IN DECONTAMINATION SOLUTIONS (g/m² h)

A practice of operation of the nuclear power plants shows that the removable equipment to be subjected to decontamination on the specialized areas is as follows:

- removable part and rotor of the circulating pump;
- rods of control linkage and reactor protection;
- stop valves and different parts;
- tools, sending units and the others.

Depending on the equipment dimensions, constructural features the removable equipment may be decontaminated by different methods: by immersing, spraying, ultrasonics, electrochemical and vapor-emulsion and other methods.

The immerse-type besins are equipped with meeters and solution mixing appliances, ventilation suction, instrumentation. The solution is heated with electrical heaters, steam coils, steam jacket or live steam; the solution is mixed mechanically or by bubbling.' The basin body mounts pipe connections for supply and draining of solution and water. The basin is equipped with sealing cover, the decontamination is carried out at slight force (1.3 to 4 kPa) created with the ventilation suction. The basin volumes may be different, they depend on type of the equipment to be decontaminated.

For decontemination of some parts with complex configuration use the spraying-type basins in which the parts are treated by spraing the decontamination solution in the sealed circuit.

As example of decontamination of the removable equipment, the decontamination of the removable part of the primary circulating pump may be taken. The pump removable parts are delivered to the decontemination areas and instelled into the special basins: for decontamination of the PCP lower part which directly came in contact with heat-transfer medium and is the most contaminated one and for decontamination of the primary circulating pump rotor which is decontamineted in the vertical and suspended position to avoid a rotor deformation. The decontamination solution is prepared in the special tanks. The solution is fed and circulated in the decontamination basin with the use of a circulating pump. The decontamination basins are provided with the solution steam hester. To increase a speed of a solution flow, a compressed air is supplied in the basins. The design circuit ellows for washing whole system with clean condensate and also multiple employment of the solutions. If the chemical agent after a

cycle of decontamination does not reach its saturation (the sample is analysed), it is advise to the agent again (in this case the agent is pumped in the tanks for storage of the decontamination solutions). After the decontamination y-beck-ground of the primary circulating pump is decreased by 30 times. A total amount of the liquid radioactive waste accounts for 5 m³. The design of decontamination basins makes it possible to decontaminate not only the PCP removable parts but the other equipment. Usually the obtained coefficient of decontamination vary from 10 to 100.

Taking into consideration the fact that the removable equipment of the first loop is primarily made of stainless steel, the most efficient method of its decontamination is the two-basin reduction-oxidation method with subsequent treatment with alkaline solution of potassium permanganate and then with pickling-oxalic acid with different additions. To increase efficiency of the washing solution , heat it to a temperature of 85 to 95 °C and also mix intensively what farours a faster removal of depositions.

A development of the decontamination systems in the USSR tends to avoiding, where it is possible, decontamination of whole equipment of the radioactive loop and making the independent systems for decontamination of separate elements of the loop. For decontamination of steam generators (SG) an independent system has been produced in the Novovoronezhsky and Kolsky nuclear power plants. For production of this system the following equipment has been mounted: the stoppers in pipe-line fly 500 on the side of primary circulating pump

165

that exclude getting decontamination solutions into the pipe-lines: flanges on the steam generator collector for entry and circulation of decontamination solutions: tank for preparation of decontamination solutions which is simple teneously used as surge tank; pump with capacity of 45 m^3/h . The solutions are heated in the steam generator located on the side of the second loop by supplying a steam (P = 8 to 12.10⁵ Pe) in the line of continuous blowing of the steam generator. The decontamination procedure included: treatment with alkaline solution (KOH - 30 g/kg, KMnO4 - 3 g/kg) at circulation of the solution at 90 °C maximum (alkaline washing is made simultaneously with heating of steam generator), water washing: treatment with the solution of oxalic acid (15 g/kg) and nitric acid (1 g/kg), final washing: first with a slightly elkeline water and then with pure water. Decontamination coefficient is equal to 8 to 10.

For increase of decontamination efficiency the use was made of an installation ellowed to get a consumption of the solution of 1600 m³/h through the steam generator. The table presents technological processes and conditions of the steam generation decontamination with the use of this installation. A use of two cycles of decontamination at increase of rate of solution flow of up to 0.5 m/s made it possible to decrease a level of power of γ -radiation in the hot collector by 25 times, over the pipe still (through the second loop) by 82 times, in the cold collector by 49 times. Simultaneously, 11.9 kg of iron in terms of Fe₂O₃, 3.5 kg of NiO and 1 kg of Cr₂O₃ were removed.

Decontamination operation	Solution used	Tempe- rature, C	Durati- on, h	Pump opera- tion time, h
First cycle:				
Alkaline washing	KOH+KMnO4	43 - 70	3.0	1.0
Weshing	condensate	80	2.25	0.25
Acid step	H2C204 HNO3	70 - 83	3.0	1.0
Doubled weshing Second cycle:	condensate	70	4.5	0.5
Leaching	KOH KMnO4	74 - 84	3.0	
Weshing	condensate	72 - 75	2.25	0.25
Acid washing	H2C204 HNO3			
Washing with weak alkaline	кон	78	2.5	0.5
solution Weshing	condensate	75	2.25	0.25

TABLE 3. TECHNOLOGY AND CONDITIONS OF SG GENERATOR

For decontamination efficiency, 3% disodium salt of chromo-Tropic acid is used occasionally. K_{dec.} equal to 25 to 50.

<u>Note</u>: 1. A complex of operations on alkaline washing and acid treatment includes: filling of the steem generator with the solution, circulation of the solution and its drainage.

> 2. The solutions based on citric and ethylenediemiaminetetracetic acid.

3. A washing-off is carried out by filling the steam generator with condensate, short-time circulation and draining the condensate.

At decontamination by the above-mentioned methods, some local difficulty soluble contaminations are sometimes not removed. In this case use an electrochemical method of decontamination based on the fact that at anodic polarization the surface oxide layer is dissolved together with radioactive contaminations contained in it. The electrochemical decontamination is conducted by two methods. At the first method a part to be decontaminated is immersed into electrolyte or electrolyte is poured into the part (for example, sleeves of of main cut-off valves of circulating loops of the first loop). In this case the part is used as anode. The cethode shape should approaches, if possible, the shape of the deconteminated surface. Duration of decontamination is 15 min, DC voltage is 12 to 50 V, current density is 10 to 20 A/dm², a distance between the cathode and anode is 30 mm.

The second-method electrochemical decontamination is cerried out with the use of distant cathode; in this case the part is immersed into electrolyte. The decontaminated surface is used as anode. The cathode is made of lead or aluminium. Duration is 1 to 2 min. When the unflat surfaces are decontaminated, the electrodes are bent according to the surface curvature. A felt spacer saturated with electrolyte is fitted to electrodes. An acid solution with current density of 10 to 20 A/dm² is used as electrolyte.

At decontamination use the following electrolytes:

- 10% aqueous solution of orthophosphoric acid H2PO4;

- aqueous solution of oxalic acid, 20 to 30 g/kg;

- squeous solution containing sulphuric acid or 15% squeous solution of sodium sulphate.

For decontamination and brightening of stainless steel, use electrolyte prepared from aqueous solution of orthophosphoric scid (H_3PO_4) and squeous solution of subburic acid (H_2SO_4) .

The electrochemical method is advisable for use for accontamination of the following equipment:

- parts and units of primary circulating purp;

- units of linkages of fuel assemblies of control system and reactor protection;

- sleeves of mein cut-off velves of circulating loops;
- external surfaces of covers for storage of fuel assemblies,

- sections of pipe-lines, packing surfaces, volute chambers of the primary circulating pump and other areas accessible for decontamination with the use of distant cathode;

- steel walls of discharge ponds.

For decontamination of the equipment surfaces and rooms, the vapor-emulsion method and steam-ejection sprayers (SES) are widely used. The principle of the sprayer action is based on the use of kinetic energy of one flow (of steam or compressed gas) for pumping under pressure of the other flow (liquid). A decontamination solution is sucted into the jet of vapor exhausting from the nozzle; the solution is mixed with vapor in a certain ratio. Temperature of the vapor-emulsion jet is 50 °C at a distance of 0.2 m from the nozzle. The sprayer is removable and connected to the vapor line. The steam-ejection sprayer may be provided with one or several nozzles and may be equipped with a circular brush. Vapor pressure is 0.3 to 0.5 MPa, vapor consumption, 0.5 to 0.7 kg/min, solution consumption, 1 to 1.5 litr./min, optimum distance from the treated surface, 0.2 m. As decontamination solutions you may use one-basin or two-basin compoundings or aqueous solution of oxalic sold, surface-active substances, complexing agent of type of sodium hectophosphate. A rate of treatment of the surface is $1 \text{ m}^2/\text{min}$. This methos is highly competitive with the immersing method.

Decontamination of Lxternal Surfaces and Rooms

The suxiliary equipment and rooms are subjected to contamination due to absorption of radioactive serosols and gases, precipitation of dust containing radioactive substances, direct contact with liquids containing radioactive nuclei.

As lining materials for the nuclear power plant rooms use is made of easy-decontaminated and chemically resistant plastic materials, enemals, paints and stainless steel.

For washing the paint-and-varnish coatings use the solutions of surface-active substances. Carry out decontamination oy spreying a mixture formed during mixing steam and chemicel agents in the special steam-ejection sprayer.

At the present time in the USSR the easily removable polymeric coatings show considerable promise as a means for decontamination and also isolation of room surfaces in the nuclear power plants.

These costings are applied before performance of repair work to the surfaces and serve as protection against possible reductive contamination of the surfaces. After the repair work completion the costings are removed. Such the costings may securely isolate the surface for 30 to 60 days.

TABLE 4. EFFECTIVENESS OF DECONTAMINATION OF EQUIPMENT AND ROOMS B	Y
DIFFERENT METHODS	

Equipment or surface	Decontamina- tion method	Decon- tamina- tion coeffi- cient	Remarks
Drive of fuel as- sembly of control and protection system (CPS):			
drive motor)	reduction-	20	Efficiency is
rod and threaded	oxidation	5 - 10	determined by
link assembly			measuring X-ac-
ball-screw pair J		15 - 20	tivity of equi-
Rotor of primary			pment
circulating pump:			Efficiency is
smooth surfaces	reduction-	10 - 50	determined by
bearing mounting)	oxidetion	1.5 - 2	measuring &-ac-
seats fittings:			tivity of equi- pment
parts of main	electroche-	400	seme
cut-off valves	mical		
CPS fuel assembly	same (with	2 - 3	same
drive assembly	distant ca- thode		
reactor stud	electroche-	10	Efficiency is
	mical		determined by
			measuring y -ac-
			tivity of smear
steinless steel	same (with	50 - 100	same
transfer basin	distant ca-		
wells	thode		
fuel assembly sto-	seme	100	sane
rage cover			
stailess steel	steam-emul-	5	same
transfer basin	sion		
walls			
stainless steel floor	same	30	
carbon steel floor	same Same	10 60	
walls coated with oil paint	88me	10	

Using the costings you may efficiently decontaminate both metallic and nonmetallic surface. The compound is applied with a brush or by spraying. After a time (4 to 8 h), the dried elestic film is removed (mechanically) and decontaminated as solid wasts. The decontamination is obtained due to reaction of chemical components of the polymeric solution with radiactive contaminations with subsequent inclusion of contamination in the solid film which fixes and localizes the contamination, prevents its spreading over the surface and increases the decontamination effect.

In the USSR, many compounds for "dry" decontamination have been produced and used. The compounds are based on polyvinyl alcohol with addition of complexing agents, polyvinylacetate emulsion, latex, polyurethane dispersions. Application temperatures from +25 °C to -50 °C, decontamination time from 4 to 8 h to 30 min. Recently, the coatings have been developed and used which have simultaneously isolating and properties without addition of nonorganic acids that does not cause corrosion of the matal surface under decontamination.

Application of such the costings makes possible abandoning a cleaning method that results in formation of great amount of liquid waste.

Water-Chemical Regime of Nuclear Power Plant with Reactor of Type BB3P, USSR

At present an ammonium-potassium water regime at varying concentration of boric acid and normalized content of hydro-

Indices	BB 3P-44 0	BB3P-100
рН 25 ⁰ С	6.0	5.7 - 10.2
H ₃ B0 ₃ , mg/kg	0 ~ 8000	0 - 13000
Potessium, mg/kg	2.0 - 16.5	$(K_{+} + a)$ 0.05 - 0.35
Ammonia, mg/kg	5.0	mmol/kg 5.0
Hydrogen, mg/kg n.ml/kg	2.2 - 4.5 30 - 60	2.2 - 4.5 30 - 60
Oxygen, mg/kg	0.01	0.01
Chlorides, mg/kg Fluorides, mg/kg	0.10 0.05	0.10
Corrosion products in term of Fe, mg/kg		
At normal operation	0.20	0.20
At starting	2.00	

TABLE 5 NORMS OF WATER-CHEMICAL REGIME OF LOOP AT NORMAL OPERATION

gen is used in the first loop of the nuclear power plant with the BB3P reactor acting.

A salt-free water with boric acid dissolved in it the latter is used as neutron absorber for controlling a fuel reactivity is used as heat-transfer medium in the first loop of the BB3P reactor. To keep pH optimum value varying due presence of the boric acid, the heat-transfer medium is alkelified with potassium hydroxide.

The water regime in the first loop provides for suppression of radiolysis of water by adding the compounds formed under effect of ionizing radiation of hydrogen, for example ammonis into the heat-transfer medium.

The deposits consiting of two leyers at the water-chemical regime are formed on the internal surfaces of the first loop power equipment due to processes of corrosion, washing, migration and deposition of corrosion products of the constructional materials. These deposits are solid, tightly adjoned to metallic surface and chemically bonded to it; porous deposits which are formed during migration of corrosion products activated in the active zone with neutrons. The radioactive isotopes owing to diffusion are introduced into the internal layer available on the equipment surfaces out of the active zone.

At stable operation of the power-generating units, the first layer is tightened in the boundry of the external and internal layers. The process is caused both by chemical structure of the layers and defects available in the their structure: on the one hand, from the viewpoint of solubility of the components of alloys (on metal surface), on the other hand, from the viewpoint of introduction of the components of alloys (delivered by heat-transfer medium) isotope layers.

As a rule, isotopes 60 Co, 58 Co, 51 Cr, 54 Mn, 59 Fe contribute y-radiation dose rates from the power equipment of the first loop of nuclear power plant with the BB3P reactor; the contribution of isotope 60 Co is dominant. The operation experience shows that 30 to 50% of radioactive contaminations are contained in the external "porous" layer of the deposits. This is caused first by formation of the "porous" layer on the power equipment surfaces out of the active zone at the expense of the activated corrosion products located inside the heat-transfer medium in the dispersed condition. Thus,

a removal of the deposit external layer, that is a washing of corrosion product from the surfaces and their further removal from the heat-transfer medium by means of a special water cleaning units and prevention from its subsequent formation by keeping the certain physico-chemical properties of the heat-transfer medium enables a considerable decrease and stabilization of the power equipment -radiation dose rates at low level with advantages resulted from this condition.

As a fission product contamination may be limited by a certain level tolerable with the operation norms, improvement of production technology and strict control of integrity of the fuel element sheathes, the corrosion activity, in contrary, can not be limited by unchangeable level because the accumulation of radioactive products of corrosion in the heat-transfer medium of the first loop is closely related with corrosion processes inevitable at contact of metal with water. Because of this, in the course of the reactor operation, the amount of the activated products of corrosion in the loop increases constantly and at the limited degree of the sheath seal feilure the corrosion products are the main sources of radioactive contamination of the loop.

The preposed improvement of redistion situation at the expense of increase of the medium reducing properties served as the basis for creation and assimilation of the water-chemical regime with the use of hydrazine.

The optimization of water-chemical regime of the first loop through the medium reduction-oxidation state was first used in 1980 in the Kolskey nuclear power plant (units 3 and 4). In this case the **X**-radiation dose rate from the first loop equipment was considerably lower than at the organic boric-ammonium potassium regime. Figs 1 and 2 correlete the dose rate from the collectors of steam generators of three nuclear power plants with reactors BB3P-440. The Novovoronezhskaya nuclear power plant (units 3 and 4) operates in the organic regime, the first unit of the Rovensky nuclear power plant operated in the organic regime till 1985 and then changed over to a modification of the hydrazine regime. Unit 3 of the Kolskaya nuclear power plant operated in the hydrazine regime since the starting (1981) and unit 4 also since the starting made in 1982. An estimation of dose rate levels has been made both on the cold and hot collectors.

At ammonium-potassium water-chemical regime, χ -rediation dose rates for both in the average are within 4 to 8 r/h



FIG. 1. Dose rates in Kolskaya unit 3 steam generator, 1984-1987.



FIG. 2a. Dose rate vs time for VVERs in the USSR (effect of hydrazine addition).



FIG. 2b. Dose rates in the steam generator of Rovenskaya VVER.

(BB3r-440) and 3 to 10 r/h (BB3P-1000). For the units operating according to the technology of the hydrazine water-chemical regime these values are lower and vary from 0.2 to 1.25 r/h at average level of 0.5 to 0.7 r/h.

Such a decrease of radioactive contamination coefficient at use of the hydrazine water-chemical regime may be explained by the results of investigation of composition of oxide films and corrosion products. When the water in the first loop comes in contact with sustenitic steel, the oxide films and corrosion products practically consist of mixed spinel FeCr₀O₄ in which nickel is, except for the upper leyer contacting with water, 50 nm thick, in metallic (elementary) state and isotope Co^{-60} is gradually distributed over whole thickness in the shape of ions of Co^{2+} . In the requcing medium even of ammonium-potassium water regime. nickel is really in the elementary state and standard potential of $^{2+}$ = -0.25 V. If the reductionreduction-oxidation pair oxidation potential is further decreased by, for example. dosing the hydrazine into water, then cobalt whose reduction-oxidation pair standard potential is more negative $(Co/Co^{2+} - 0.277 V)$ then the nickel one and the concentration is lower, also in the metallic (elementary) state and can not be oxided, form oxides or ions of Co²⁺ and doing so it does not take place in the mass transfer of corrosion products, their activation and in the long run, has no influence on the equipment dose rate. This is verified by measured value E in the heat-transfer medium of the Kolskava and Rovenskaya nuclear power plants. In the Rovenskaya nuclear power plant operated in the poric-ammonium-potessium regime for five years, -background is decreased by 4 to 6 times efter changeover to the hydrazine water-chemical regime and the equipment decontamination is not required. In the Kolsey

nuclear power plant, units 3 and 4, **X**-radiation dose rate does not exceed 1.0 r/h due to operation of the plant units in the hydrezine regime since the starting. The equipment is also not decontaminated, as a result a great amount of radinactive liquid waste is not formed.

Methods of Treatments and Volume of Waste Obtained in Nuclear Power Plants of Type 333P

172

A selection of system of processing and removel of radioactive waste directly depends on many factors main of which are: characteristic of waste (specific activity, state of aggregation, chemical and radiochemical composition); amount of waste to be decontaminated; required level of cleaning with allowance for acting sanitary rules; method of final storage of concentrate.

In the two-loop nuclear power plants with boric control, considerable volumes of waste are formed during draining of coron-containing heat-transfer medium from the first loop.

Overall, the following main types of liquid radioactive waste are formed in the nuclear power plants: the water got after draining, leakage of the circulating loop and separate equipment; the water of loosening and washing of absorbers of the heat-transfer medium cleaning system; the water got after arsining of the fuel assembly holding basins; the water got after washing of the rooms; decontamination solutions; the solutions obtained after regeneration of ion exchangers of steam cleaning; shower water; waste of regionnemicel leboratory. In chemicel and rediochemicel composition these waters may differ considerable and the technology of prossing of these waters differ respectively.

The solid radioactive waste in the nuclear power plants of all types are formed during repair of fittings, pipe-lines, equipment, primary sending units of instrumentation, replacement of filters for cleaning of water and air and replacement of filtering materials. Among them are the used leboratory utensils, protective cloth, tools, paper, regs and the like.

The liquid redioactive concentrates and slime (cement and bitumen plocks) after conversion into solid state during technological treatment are also the solid waste.

Cleaning of Liquid Redioactive Weste by Method of Evaporation

The eveporation method has gained wide acceptance due to possibility of processing of waste practically of any salt content, type and level of radioactivity, independence of the process from variation of composition of impurities in the waste that is significant for processing of the laboratory weters, possibility of production of concentrated precipitation for disposal.

The evaporation process is characterized by the following parameters: coefficient of solution cleaning (ratio of specific activities of solution and condensate of secondary steam), coefficient of evaporator cleaning (ratio of specific activities of bottoms precipitation and condensate of secondery steem), evaporation degree (ratio of quantity of correg waste and giving concentrate).

The eveporator system with final eveporator operates in the following way. From a receive vessel the solution is purped into a heat exchanger where it is heated to a temperature of 90 to 98 °C. The heated solution is fed into a circulating pipe of the evaporator. The secondary steam is supplied from separator into condenser.

The solution under evaporation is delivered from the evaporator into the final evaporator where it is evaporated to the required concentration. The still bottoms are sent for storage. The secondary steam got from the evaporator is cooled and fed to the ion exchangers.

Bituminizing the Still Bottoms

The pituminization is a method of inclusion of radioactive substances into a solid inert material based on aspheltites and bitumens that ensure a long-term storage of radioactive waste. The main steps of the process are: (1) evaporation of moisture contained in pulp or concentrate and production of the dried powder; (2) preparation of initial pitumen compound by softening or melting bitumen; (3) mixing the liquid oitumen compound and dried material or concentrated solution to uniform distribution of solid particles in the bitumen; (4) cleaning of gases carried from a bitumen maker and condensation of liquid vapors; (5) pouring of pitumen compound into the plocks and their cooling. When a rotor pitumen makers are used, the water is evaporated from the thin film of mixture of liquid weste end oltumen which run down over the apparetus cylinarical well neated with steam (the preliminary drying of the concentrate is not required).

The main advantages of bitumenizing are decrease of volume of the blocks in comparison with the volume of licuid concentrate and postibility of their storage in the simple and cheep storenouses. A rate of leacning of radioact_ve nuclei is $10^{-4} - 10^{-6}$ g/cm²·day⁻¹. Ine specific activity of the waste solidified by bitumenizing is limited with recistion stability of hydrocerbons because at the absorbed doses of more than 10⁸ Gy, the chemical structure of material _s disturted, retio C/H veries, electicity increases, ignation temperature accreases and due to formation of gas Duppies. the compound volume increases by 14 to 30%. That is vry the concentrates with an activity level not exceeding 3.7.10¹¹ Bg. The industrial employment has been brought to a commercial level in the Leningreaskays nuclear power plant and the equistment and alignment are being carried out in the holskays nuclear power plant.

The solid waste of lower and measurm activity levels are usually puried into the concrete trenches.

At the present time, the solicification of lique recidetive veste in the nuclear power plant with the BBBP reactor is being brought to a compercial level and waste bulk is stored in the vessels for liquid radioactive waste located in the nuclear power plant territory and placed into the special protective constructions. The solid radiactive waste is stored in the storehouses of any waste. Brighetting of the

solid waste is used for waste compaction in the shape of
approve "Briquet-1" and "Briquet-2". In the USSR, the work
on substantiation of possibility of construction, feesibility study and designing of regional storehouses for the solid redioactive waste formed in the nuclear power plants is being carried out.

174

Summarizing the above material you may estimate the planed total dose expenditures reasoning from the forecasting of radioactive situation on the basis of the scope of the planned repair work.

The experience of operation of the nuclear power plant showed that the prerepair decontamination of separate types of equipment sometimes is not advisable and because of this it is concerned with additional requirements.

Tables 6, 7 present the proposed standard coefficient for steam generators and primery circulating pump.

TABLE 6. STANDARD DECONTAMINATION COEFFICIENTS (K_{dec}) FOR STEAM GENERATORS

Recietion situation in	Stenderd K _{dec} .				
eree of repeir (µr/s)	medium repair	overheul			
1000	10.8	14.4			
800	8.64	11.52			
600	6.48	8.64			
500	5.4	7.2			
300	3.24	4.3 2			
200	1.0	2.0			
	<u> </u>	}			

TABLE 7. STANDARD DECONTAMINATION COEFFICIENTS (K_{dec}) FOR PRIMARY CIRCULATING PUMPS

Radiation situation	Stenderd K _{dec.}			
in eres of repeir (yr/s)				
1000	25			
800	20			
600	15			
400	10			
200	5			
100	2.5			

In terms of standard $K_{\dot{\alpha} \in C}$ the following data have been used:

	Steam ge- neretor	Primery cir culating pump
labour consumption for medium	375	-
repair, (man/h)		
labour consumption for overhaul,	500	700
(man/h)		
repair personnel number, (man)	25	200
limited tolerable (annual) dose,	5	5
(Bq).		

For this reason, since the moment of introduction of the hydrazine regime in the Kolskaya nuclear power plant at y-radiation dose rate of up to 1.2 r/h the decontamination operations have been not carried out.

The given experience is also used in the Rovensky nuclear power plant.

PWR ACTIVITY TRANSPORT WITH REFERENCE TO SOLUBLE AND PARTICULATE CORROSION PRODUCTS Chemical and radiochemical analysis of PWR

particulate material

K.R. BUTTER UKAEA/Atomic Energy Establishment Winfrith, Dorchester, Dorset, United Kingdom

Abstract

This paper presents the results of recent studies that have examined the nature and behaviour of particulates in PWR coolant with emphasis on their chemical and radiochemical analysis. The contribution of particulates to the total coolant burden of cobalt-58 and cobalt-60 is examined in detail both during steady full power operation and during shutdown and start-up associated with refuelling outages.

The samples examined in this report were obtained from the Belgian Doel 4 PWR; the station being a 3 loop Westinghouse design of 1000 MWe capacity.

The proportion of total cobalt activity represented by particulates during steady full power operation averages 50%. During shutdowns and start-ups this proportion changes markedly and is dependent on coolant temperature and pH.

The dominance of the corrosion release rate of Inconel 600 observed during the commissioning period of Doel 4 shows the importance of good chemistry control during this period. Good chemistry control during the commissioning period as well as normal operation is necessary if out-of-core doserates are to be kept to a minimum.

1 INTRODUCTION

In order to obtain an insight and understanding of activity transport and build-up in a PWR primary coolant circuit it is necessary to study the behaviour of both soluble and insoluble material.

Previous studies undertaken at AEEW and reported elsewhere (ref 1) have examined soluble elemental and activity levels in PWR coolants. These studies have shown that during steady state operation both nickel and cobalt elemental levels are low (circa 200 ng dm⁻³ and 10 ng dm⁻³ respectively) and are dependent on the pH of the coolant. The concentration of both increase many orders of magnitude upon temperature reduction and peak at ~ 120°C. Soluble cobalt-60 and cobalt-58 activity levels rapidly attain steady levels upon the reactor reaching power and these levels decrease with reactor cycle. They are also dependent on the pH and temperature of the coolant.

During steady state operation particulate levels are constant and their concentration is low circa 10 μ g dm⁻³ (ref 1) although the levels vary widely from reactor to reactor with little correlation with age. There is, however, evidence to show that although smaller (2 - 5 μ m) particles are dominant (~ 90%) early in reactor life, the percentage of the larger particles increases with plant age.

This paper presents the results of recent studies that have examined the nature and behaviour of particulates in PWR coolant with emphasis on their chemical and radiochemical analysis. The contribution of particulates to the total coolant burden of cobalt-58 and cobalt-60 is examined in detail both during steady full power operation and during shutdown and start-up associated with refuelling outages.

The samples examined in this report were obtained from the Belgian Doel 4 PWR; the station being a 3 loop Westinghouse design of 1000 MWe capacity.

2 EXPERIMENTAL TECHNIQUES

All samples were taken employing the installed isokinetic modification to the existing W sampling system which has been described elsewhere (ref 1). Insoluble species were collected using 0.1 µm Nuclepore polycarbonate membranes while soluble species were collected on Acropor Ion Exchange membranes. The membranes were mounted in a common holder, one Nuclepore membrane being followed by two cation membranes and two anion membranes. Following separation of the membranes, soluble and insoluble cobalt-58 and cobalt-60 were measured by γ -spectrometry. To obtain information on the contribution of the total particulate population to chosen size ranges together with mean composition of the material within that size range samples were analysed using the TRACOR/EDAX particle characterisation and recognition system. In addition some samples were examined using X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) Spectrometry. Precise elemental analyses of the particulate material collected during steady state operation were obtained by ashing nuclepores at 700°C, the particulate material fused with lithium borate, solubilised and analysis carried out on the resulting solution using Dionex transition metal ion chromatography.

3 RESULTS

3.1 ANALYSIS OF PARTICULATE MATERIAL DURING THE DOEL 4 COMMISSIONING PERIOD

Analyses were carried out for a range of elements and the results are normalised to 100%. These analyses take no account of oxygen and therefore do not represent true percentage composition.

DOEL 4: HOT FUNCTIONAL TESTING

COOLANT	CONCENTRATION	OF IN	SOLUBLE	MATERIAL	(µgdm ⁻³)	FROM XRF
		ANALYS	IS OF F.	LTERS		
	(3) = NORM	ALISED	ELEMEN'	TAL COMPOS	SITION	

	Sample No	Iron	Chromium	Nickel	Manganese	Cobalt
Steady High Temperature Operation	1	2.1 (33)	0.11 (1.7)	4.2 (65)	0.02 (0.3)	0.01
	2	1.3 (41)	0.05 (2.0)	1.8 (59)	0.05 (2.0)	0.01 (0.5)
	3	0.53 (14)	0.11 (2.8)	3.3 (34)	0.05 (2.0)	0.01 (0.3)
Cooldown	4	36 (12)	7.1 (2.4)	256 (85)	0.35 (0.12)	0.12 (0.04)
	5	16 (13)	3.1 (2.5)	104 (85)	0.05 (0.04)	0.01 (0.01)

3.1.1 Hot Functional Testing

Table 1 shows the results of XRF analysis of filters collected at the end of the hot functional testing period. Table 2 shows TRACOR analysis of a sample during this period and indicates the variation in elemental composition between different size ranges.

During this stage of plant operation nickel was the dominant insoluble metallic element and was clearly associated with the smaller particles. Particles greater than 5 μ m in diameter were richer in iron, chromium and silicon. The smaller nickel rich particles had a compact crystalline appearance whereas the larger particles were more irregular suggesting they were agglomerates. A number of needlelike particles were observed with a high iron content.

3.1.2 Hot Commissioning Post-Fuelling and Approach to Full Power

Analysis of particulate material was carried out for iron, nickel, chromium, zirconium and silicon, both within chosen size ranges and as an overall composition.

The main constituents of all particles throughout the commissioning period are shown in Figure 1 together with reactor power and temperature profiles. Figures 2 and 3 show a more

TABLE 2

TRACOR-EDAX	ANALYSIS	OF	MATERI	IAL CO	LLECTEI	PRIOR	TO	COOLDOWN -
	ANALYSI	SI	NITHIN	CHOSE	N SIZE	RANGES		

Particle	Normalised elemental composition/(wt%)							
Size Range	Iron Chromium Nickel		Manganese	Silicon				
<l td="" µm<=""><td>4.1</td><td>0.8</td><td>94</td><td>0.1</td><td>1.0</td></l>	4.1	0.8	94	0.1	1.0			
1 ~ 2 µm	20	13	62	1.2	0.9			
2 – 5 µm	44	0.8	50	0.8	1.2			
5 - 10 μm	54	5.8	13	4.0	0.6			
µm 10ډ	21	49	12	6.9	9.9			

detailed analysis of two of the samples, one of which was taken pre-initial criticality and one following achievement of steady full power operation. The timing of these samples is indicated in Figure 1.

The most noticeable feature from Figure 1 is the decrease in nickel concentration which fell from over 30% in the initial sample to less than 20% in the sample taken at the first achievement of steady full power operation. This results in a relative increase in the other four elements with iron as the dominant element, followed by zirconium, whilst chromium and silicon are present at relatively low levels.

Examination of data from the two samples taken pre-criticality and following initial full power operation and analysed in greater detail throughout the size ranges show interesting comparisons. In each case the majority of the particles are found in the $0.5 - 1.0 \mu m$ diameter size range, but the latter sample shows a greater percentage contribution in this range at the expense of the larger size ranges. In the first sample (Fig 2) it is clear that nickel was the dominant species in the smaller (1 μm) size range, zirconuim being a major constituent of the larger particles. In the second sample (Fig 3) iron dominance was apparent in the smaller size ranges and again zirconium was a major constituent of the larger particles.

3.2 ANALYSIS OF PARTICULATE MATERIAL DURING STEADY STATE OPERATION

Table 3 shows the analysis of coolant particulates during steady power operation for Doel 4 during cycles 1 and 2. The percentage of nickel present in the particulates increased from cycle 1 to cycle 2 and is accompanied by a corresponding decrease in iron.



FIG. 1. Elemental analysis of particulate material during initial approach to full power at Doel 4.

177



FIG. 2. Percentage of numerical contribution and composition of particles in chosen size range determined using the TRACOR-EDAX system (Doel 4 commissioning pre-criticality).

This trend has also been observed on Doel 3 for cycles 1, 2 and 3 (Table 3). The increase in the percentage of nickel present in particulates implies that the corrosion release rate of the Inconel is increasing with time or that the corrosion release rate of stainless steel 304L is decreasing with time. This observation is the opposite to that made during the commissioning of Doel 4 (Section 3.1.2) where during the approach to full power the nickel concentration of particulates decreased over a 140 day





period from 80% to 20%. Cobalt averages between 0.1 and 0.2% and the data from Doel 3 showed no increase in the cobalt percentage with reactor cycle.

3.3 THE CONTRIBUTION OF PARTICULATES TO THE TOTAL COOLANT BURDEN OF COBALT-58 AND COBALT-60

3.3.1 Doel 4 Commissioning

The approach to full power operation was accompanied by many power fluctuations, trips and two cold shutdowns. These are

TABLE 3

ANALYSIS OF COOLANT PARTICULATES DURING STEADY POWER OPERATION

		COOL	ANT CONCEN	TOTAL AS OXIDES		
		(% <u>COMP</u>	DSITION W	µg đm ⁻³		
PLANT	CYCLE	NICKEL	COBALT	(CALCULATED)		
Doel 4	1	0.04 (10.0)	0.001 (0.25)	0.23 (59)	0.01 (2.5)	0.4
Doel 4	2	0.29 (14.5)	0.002 (0.08)	1.10 (55)	0.05 (2.5)	2.0
Doel 3	1	0.10 (4.8)	0.002 (0.12)	1.4 (71)	0.08 (3.4)	2.3
Doel 3	2	0.06 (8.3)	0.001 (0.12)	0.41 (57)	0.03 (4.0)	0.8
Doel 3	3	0.32 (16.0)	0.002 (0.11)	1.02 (52)	0.04 (2.4)	2.0

reflected in the particulate activity and the contribution of particles to the total coolant cobalt-58 and cobalt-60 activity levels (Figures 4 and 5 respectively). Cobalt-58 and cobalt-60 activity associated with particulates showed a steady increase during the initial 25 days when power was increased from zero to 50%. During the following 60 days taken to achieve full powe. particulate activity varied by at least two orders of magnitude about a mean value of 0.1 kBq dm⁻³ for cobalt-60 and 10 kBq dm⁻³ for cobalt-58. Throughout all periods of power operation the proportion of total cobalt activity represented by particulates averaged 50%.

3.3.2 <u>Shutdown and Start-Up Associated with the First Refuelling</u> Outage

The particle contribution to the total cobalt-58 and cobalt-60 activity together with reactor parameters are shown in Figures 6 and 7 respectively for the shutdown and Figures 8 and 9 respectively for the start-up.

During steady full power operation at the end of the first cycle the particulates represented between 40 and 50% of the total coolant cobalt activity. The particulate activity levels were 0.1 kBq dm⁻³ cobalt-60 and 1.0 kBq dm⁻³ cobalt-58. This represents a change in the cobalt-58/cobalt-60 ratio from 100:1 at the first achievement of full power to 10:1 at the end of the first cycle. The change in ratio was due to a decrease in the cobalt-58 activity level.



FIG. 4. Doel 4 commissioning (February–July 1985) — particulate contribution to total cobalt-58 activity in coolant.



FIG. 5. Doel 4 commissioning (February-July 1985) - particulate contribution to total cobalt-60 activity in coolant.





FIG 6 Doel 4 first shutdown (1986) - particulate contribution to total cobalt-58 activity in coolant

FIG 7 Doel 4 first shutdown (1986) --- particulate contribution to total cobalt-60 activity in coolant



FIG. 8 Doel 4 second startup (1986) --- particulate contribution to total cobalt-58 activity in coolant.



FIG. 9. Doel 4 second startup (1986) — particulate contribution to total cobalt-60 activity in coolant

Lithium removal from the coolant prior to the shutdown had virtually no effect on the particulate activity levels. However, there was a significant change in the percentage of the total activity associated with particles, falling from approximately 60% to < 20%. Soluble elemental and radiochemical species showed a sharp increase concurrent with the lithium reduction. Following shutdown, particle levels increased by two orders of magnitude but at this stage they represented < 5% of the total coolant cobalt activity.

During the start-up period the percentage contribution of particulate activity to the total showed wide variations. During dynamic degassing the particulate cobalt activity was an order of magnitude higher than the maximum observed at shutdown and represented up to 90% of the total activity. Increase in coolant temperature to ~ 120°C produced conditions which promote maximum crud solubility and the contribution from particulate activity fell from ~ 90% to < 20% of the total cobalt activity. Subsequent increase in coolant temperature to ~ 300°C and addition of lithium produced a steady increase in the proportion of total activity attributable to particles despite a decrease in net particulate activity.

4 DISCUSSION

8

Analysis of particles by XRF and TRACOR/EDAX techniques during the hot functional test period showed the particles to be nickelrich and that the nickel was clearly associated with the particles in the smaller size ranges. The nickel-rich particles were crystalline and clearly originated from corrosion of the Inconel 600 steam generators. Laboratory studies under PWR conditions (refs 2 and 3) have shown that stainless steel 304L and Inconel 600 have similar corrosion and corrosion release rates, the rates being proportional to (time)ⁿ. Assuming congruent release, due to the greater surface area of the Inconel steam generators one would expect the particles to be nickel rich. However, as the commissioning period proceeded the nickel concentration decreased and by the approach to full power the nickel concentration had decreased from a high of 80% to less than 20% of the particle composition. Nickel being replaced by iron as the dominant insoluble element. The behaviour of nickel is obviously related to the corrosion rates of Inconel 600 and stainless steel 304L and has been observed and commented on before (ref 4). Measurements made on plant components indicate that the corrosion rate of stainless steel is circa lox higher than Inconel components. The reason for the discrepancy between the corrosion rates of stainless steel and Inconel as measured in laboratory studies compared to examination of plant specimens is unknown. Surface finish may well provide an explanation, laboratory studies tend to employ polished specimens and rough surfaces are known to corrode faster than smooth ones (ref 5). The heat transfer properties of the Inconel steam generators may also be shown to be a factor in determining corrosion and corrosion release rates. Zirconium was also present in the

particles; being concentrated in the larger size ranges, the zirconium would arise from the new fuel present which would inevitably have surface traces of Zircaloy micro swarf as a result of polishing, individual particles were found to contain up to 80% zirconium.

The percentage of nickel present in the particulates has been shown to increase with reactor cycle (at least up to cycle 3). This implies that the corrosion release rate of the Inconel 600 is increasing with time or that the corrosion release rate of stainless steel 304L is decreasing with time. This observation is the opposite to that made during the commissioning period and is difficult to both understand and interpret solely in terms of corrosion release rates.

Particle measurements at both Doel 3 and 4 have indicated a correlation with lithium levels and hence pH_{300} (ref 6). Soluble species and hence the proportion of insoluble activity to the total have been shown to follow closely addition or removal of lithium from the borated coolant. The level of particle activity itself does not show such an instant response but nevertheless changes in the concentration of soluble species must have long-term implications in the formation of active deposits and subsequent particle concentrations.

A steady cobalt-60 activity level is attained within days of the reactor reaching full power operation and the soluble cobalt-60 activity level decreases with reactor cycle whereas the insoluble cobalt-60 level increases with reactor cycle (ref 7). The fact that the distribution of cobalt-60 activity changes with time provides no insight into the activity transport mechanism. Initial specific activity measurements indicate that the cobalt-60 specific activity of the particulates increase with reactor cycle. The increase in specific activity was not mirrored in a similar increase in out-of-core doserates and this may imply that particulate transport is not the major activity transport process but they are simply continually deposited and resuspended in the reactor circuit i.e. reirradiated.

The role of soluble species will be treated in Part 2 of this study.

5 CONCLUSIONS

Analysis of particulate material during the hot functional test period showed the particles to be nickel rich and that the nickel was associated with the smaller (> 2 μ m) size ranges.

By the time of approach to full power at the end of the commissioning period the nickel concentration had decreased from a high of 80% to less than 20% of the particle composition. Nickel being replaced by iron as the dominant insoluble element. This implies that the corrosion release rate of Inconel 600 is initially high but rapidly decreases and the corrosion release rate of stainless steel then becomes dominant. Analysis of particulate material during steady state operation has shown the percentage of nickel present in the particulates increases with reactor cycle (at least up to cycle 3). This implies that either nickel is preferentially released from the stainless steel or that the corrosion release rate of the stainless steel becomes less dominant with time.

The proportion of total cobalt activity represented by particulates during steady full power operation averages 50%. During shutdowns and start-ups this proportion changes markedly and is dependent on coolant temperature and pH.

The dominance of the corrosion release rate of Inconel 600 observed during the commissioning period of Doel 4 shows the importance of good chemistry control during this period. The absence of lithium and hence a low pH at this time will result in higher corrosion release rates. Thus a greater quantity of nickel and more importantly cobalt will be released to the coolant which could have a significant influence on future out-of-core doserates. Good chemistry control during the commissioning period as well as normal operation is necessary if out-of-core doserates are to be kept to a minimum.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The work was carried out under the UK Thermal Reactor Agreement and was funded by the Central Electricity Generating Board.

REFERENCES

- Bird, E. J., Bridle, D. A., Amey, M. D. H., Roofthooft, R. and De Ranter, K. 1986, Procs. Int. Conf. on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 4; Bournemouth, 1986, pp 21 - 27, ENES, London.
- 2 Lister, D. H., EPRI NP-3888, 1983.
- 3 Lister, D. H., EPRI NP-3460, 1984.
- 4 Bodine, G. C. and Carter, J. W., 1975, Materials Performance, Nov., pp 22 - 28.
- 5 Polley, M. V. and Pick, M. E., 1986, Procs. Int. Conf. on 'Water Chemistry of Nuclear Reactor Systems 4', Bournemouth, 1986, pp 63-70, BNES, London.
- 6 AEEW unpublished data.

20

7 Comley, G. C. W., Campion, P, De Ranter, K. and Roofthooft, R., 1988, Coolant Chemistry Studies at the Belgian PWRs, Doel 3 and Doel 4. JAIF Water Chemistry Conference, Japan, April, 1988.

METHOD FOR pH CALCULATION

E.W. THORNTON Berkeley Nuclear Laboratories, Central Electricity Generating Board, Berkeley, Gloucestershire, United Kingdom

Abstract

In this paper a method for the calculation of pH at high temperature in water reactors is described.

The PWR primary circuit contains boric acid, base (potassium hydroxide and/or lithium hydroxide) and dissolved corrosion product oxide. The coolant also contains dissolved hydrogen and, in the case of VVERs, ammonia. For the purpose of calculating coolant pH, the presence of the dissolved corrosion products and ammonia can be neglected. Ammonia is a very weak base at primary circuit temperature and boric acid exerts a strong buffering influence.

pli is defined as $-\log_{10}(\text{proton molality})$ and is calculated by solving the charge balance equation and the boron balance equation simultaneously:

$$H^+ + M^+ = OH^- + B1^- + B2^- + B3^-$$
 A.1

$$B(Tot) = BH + B1 + 2.B2 + 3.B3$$
 A.2

where: H⁺ is the proton molality,

M⁺ is the base cation molality, OH⁻ is the hydroxyl ion molality, B1 is the B(OH) \overline{z} molality, B2 is the B₂(OH) $\overline{\overline{z}}$ molality, B3 is the B₃(OH) $\overline{\overline{10}}$ molality, BH is the molality of unionised boric acid, B(OH)₃ B(tot) is the total boron molality.

The base cation molality is the sum of the lithium and potassium cation molalities. The dissociation of bases and the formation of base cation/borate complexes or ion pairs are not very well characterised. It is reasonable to assume that LiOH and KOH are fully ionised and that borate complexes are not formed.

The boric acid monomer, dimer and trimer are produced by reactions of the following general type (Mesmer, Baes and Sweeton, 1971):

$$n \cdot B(OH)_3 + OH^- = B_n(OH)_{3n+1}$$

and their concentrations are given by:

$$A.3$$
 A.3

$$B2 = Q_{21}BH^{2}OH^{-1}$$

$$B3 = Q_{31}BH^{3}OH^{-}$$
 A.5

The equilibrium quotients are given by:

$$log_{10}Q_{11} = \frac{1573.21}{T} + 28.6059 + 0.012078T - 13.2258log_{10}T + f(I)$$

$$log_{10}Q_{21} = \frac{2756.1}{T} - 18.7322 - 0.00033T + 5.835log_{10}T - f(I)$$

$$log_{10}Q_{31} = \frac{3339.5}{T} - 7.850 - 0.00033T + 1.497log_{10}T - f(I)$$

where T is absolute temperature and

$$f(I) = (0.325 - 0.00033T)I - 0.0912I^{3/2}$$

I is the solution ionic strength.

The proton and hydroxyl ion concentrations are related by the ionisation constant of water:

$$K_{\omega} = H^+ O H^- y^2 \qquad A.6$$

where y is the mean ionic activity coefficient for univalent ions. $K_{\rm W}$ is given by (Marshall and Franck, 1981):

$$\log_{10} K_{W} = -4.098 - \frac{3245.2}{T} + \frac{2.2362.10^{5}}{T^{2}} - \frac{3.984.10^{7}}{T^{3}} + \left(13.957 - \frac{1262.3}{T} + \frac{8.5641.10^{5}}{T^{2}}\right) \log_{10}\rho_{W}$$

where ρ_W is the density of water (g cm⁻³). The density of water is given by (Keenan and Keyes, 1936):

$$\rho_{W} = \frac{1.0 + 0.1341489t_{1}^{1/3} - 3.946263.10^{-3}t_{1}}{3.1975 - 0.3151548t_{1}^{1/3} - 1.203374.10^{-3}t_{1} + 7.489081.10^{-13}t_{1}^{4}}$$

where t_1 is (374.11 - t) and t is the Centigrade temperature. The mean ionic activity coefficient is given by a simple Debye-Hueckel expression:

$$\log_{10} y = \frac{-z^2 A I^{1/2}}{1 + 1.5 I^{1/2}}$$

where z=1 for univalent ions and the Debye-Hueckel limiting slope is given by (Mesmer, Baes and Sweeton, 1971):

$$A = 3.28377 - 0.031264T - 1.264.10^{-4}T^{2}$$
$$- 2.2151.10^{-7}T^{3} + 1.49321.10^{-10}T^{4}$$

The equations A.1 and A.2 can be solved for the two unknown quantities H^+ and BH by successive iterative approximations using computer algorithms for solving simultaneous non-linear equations after appropriate substitution from A.3 to A.6.

Figs A.1 to A.3 show the coordinated chemistry bands currently adopted by a number of utilities and countries. In each case the abscissa can be taken as a (non-linear) time axis from around 1200 ppm B at the beginning of the cycle to approach 0 ppm B at the end of the reactor cycle. The upper and lower lines of each pair give the pH values of the upper and lower LiOH or KOH specifications and define the operating band.

The Westinghouse operating band is defined by:

Lower Li = $0.186 + 1.2.10^{-3}B + 2.10^{-7}B^2$ Upper Li = Lower Li + 0.3



FIG. A1. Co-ordinated chemistry regimes.


FIG. A2. Co-ordinated chemistry regimes.



FIG. A3. Co-ordinated chemistry regimes.

The VVER 440 and 1000 operating bands are defined by:

Lower K =
$$2.00 + 7.6.10^{-3}B$$

Upper K = Lower K + 4.0

anđ

```
Lower K = 2.00 + 3.37.10^{-3}B
Upper K = Lower K + 4.0
```

where B, Li and K are in ppm.

The KWU operating band is defined as operation at 2.0 + -0.2 ppm Li until the pH obtained with 2.0 ppm Li reaches 7.4 and then coordinating at pH 7.4 to zero boron but operating in a +/-0.2 ppm Li band in this range.

The coordination band recommended for Japanese plant was supplied as a table of upper and lower recommended values (M. Yamada, private communication).

The EdF recommended band was recalculated from the graph in Berthet (1985),

REFERENCES

Berthet, J.P., 1985, Report from EdF plants; Paper 20 presented at KWU Seminar on man-rem reduction, Darmstadt, April 1985.

Keenan, J.F. and Keyes, F.G., 1936, 'The thermodynamic properties of steam', John Wiley.

Marshall, W.L. and Franck, E.U., 1981, Ion product of water substance, O-1000°C, 1-10000 bars, new international formulation and its background; J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, 10, 295.

Mesmer, R.E., Baes, C.F. and Sweeton, F.H., 1971, Boric acid equilibria and pH in PWR coolants; Proc. 32nd Int. Conf. on Water Chem., Pittsburg, Nov 1971, p55.

PARTICIPANTS IN THE CO-ORDINATED RESEARCH PROGRAMME

ARGENTINA		CHINA	
Ablesa, M.	Departamento de Química de Reactores, Comisión Nacional de Energía Atómica, Avenida del Libertador 8250, 1429 Buenos Aires	Fan Junfu	Reactor Structure Materials and Water SWCR Chemistry Experiment Research Division Chengdu, Sichuan Province
Corti, H.R.	Departamento de Química de Reactores, Comisión Nacional de Energía Atómica, Avenida del Libertador 8250, 1429 Buenos Aires	CZECHOSLOVAKIA Burclova, J.	Radiation Safety Department, Nuclear Power Plants Research Institute, Okruzná 5, CS-918 64 Trnava
Maroto, A.J.G.	Departamento de Química de Reactores, Comisión Nacional de Energía Atómica, Avenida del Libertador 8250, 1429 Buenos Aires	Kysela, J.	Department of Radiation Experiments, Nuclear Research Institute, CS-250 68 Rez/Prague
Piacquadio, N.H.	Departamento de Química de Reactores, Comisión Nacional de Energía Atómica, Avenida del Libertador 8250, 1429 Buenos Aires	FINLAND	
		Aaltonen, P.	Technical Research Centre of Finland, Vuorimiehentie 5, SF-02150 Espon
Regazzoni, A.	Departamento de Química de Reactores, Comisión Nacional de Energía Atómica, Avenida del Líbertador 8250, 1429 Buenos Aires	Aho-Mantila, I.	Metals Laboratory, Technical Research Centre of Finland, SF-02150 Espoo
BELGIUM		FRANCE	
Blanpain, P.	Belgonucléaire SA, 25, rue du Champ de Mars, B-1050 Brussels	Beslu, P.	Centre d'études nucléaires de Cadarache, Commissariat à l'énergie atomique, Saint-Paul-lez-Durance
BULGARIA		GERMANY	
Dobrevsky, I.	University of Chemical Technology, 8010 Bourgas	Hickling, J.	Siemens AG, KWU Group U9 23, Hammerbachstrasse 12/14, D-W 8520 Erlangen
Litovska, G.	University of Chemical Technology, 8010 Bourgas	Hüttner, F.	Institut für Energietechnik, Technische Universität Dresden.
Vassilev, R.	University of Chemical Technology, 8010 Bourgas		Mommusenstrasse 13, D-0 8027 Dresden
CANADA		Riess, R.	Siemens AG, KWU Group U9 23, Hammerbachstrasse 12.14,
Lister, D.H.	Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd, Chalk River Nuclear Laboratories, Chalk River, Ontario KOJ 1JO	Winkler, R.	D-W 8520 Erlangen Institut für Energietechnik, Technische Universität Dresden,
Speranzini, R.A.	Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd, Chalk River Nuclear Laboratories, Chalk River, Ontario KOJ 1JO		Mommsenstrasse 13, D-8027 Dresden

186

HUNGARY		RUSSIA	
Horvath, G.L.	Nuclear and Thermal Power Plant Division, Institute for Electrical Power Research, P.O. Box 233, H=1368 Budepost	Antipov, S.A.	VNIINM, Rogov St. 5, 123060 Mogcow
Matus, L.	Department of Chemistry, Central Research Institute for Physics, F.O. Box 49,	Khitrov, Yu.	VNIPIET, Dibunovskaja St. 55, 197228 Saint Petersburg
INDIA	H-1525 Budapest 114	Pashevich, V.I.	Minatomenergoprom, Zotatomenergo, Kitajskij P27, Maaaru 74
Mathur, P.K.	Water Chemistry Division, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Bombay 400 085	Rybalchenko, I.L.	MOSCOW K-74 VNIPIET, Dibunovskaja St. 55, 197228 Saint Potersburg
Narasimhan, S.V.	Water Chemistry Division, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Bombay 400 085	Sedov, V.M.	Institute of Technology, Saint Petersburg
Venkateswaran, G.	Water Chemistry Division, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Bombay 400 085	Versin, V.V.	VNIPIET, Dibunovskaja St. 55, 197228 Saint Petersburg
		SPAIN	
Venkateswarlu, K.S.	Water Chemistry Division, Bhabha Atomic Research Centre, Trombay, Bombay 400 085	Martín, L.	Nuclear Safety Council, Justo Dorado 11, Madrid 28040
JAPAN		SWITZERLAND)	
Ishigure, K.	Department of Nuclear Engineering, University of Tokyo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo	Alder, H.P.	Materials Technology, Paul Scherrer Institute, CH-5303 Würenlingen
KOREA, REPUBLIC OF		INTERD KINCDOM	<u>.</u>
Yang, Jae-Choon	Department of Physics, Chungnam National University, 220 Gungdong, Yousung, Taejon 300-31	Brookes, I.	Plant Chemistry Branch, CEGB Berkeley Nuclear Laboratories, Berkeley, Gloucestershire GL13 OPB
POLAND Ostyk-Narbutt, J.	Department of Radiochemistry,	Butter, K.R.	Winfrith Atomic Energy Establishment, United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority, Dorchester, Dorset DT2 8DH
	Institute of Nuclear Chemistry and Technology, U. Dorodna 16, PL-03195 Warsaw	Campion, P.	Chemistry Division, Winfrith Atomic Energy Establishment, United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority, Dorchester, Dorset DT2 8DH

UNITED KINGDOM (cont.)

Comley, G.	Plant Chemistry Branch, CEGB Berkeley Nuclear Laboratories, Berkeley, Gloucestershire GL13 OPB
Pick, M.	Plant Chemistry Branch, CEGB Berkeley Nuclear Laboratories, Berkeley, Gloucestershire GL13 OPB
Thornton, E.W.	Plant Chemistry Branch, CEGB Berkeley Nuclear Laboratories, Berkeley, Gloucestershire GL13 OPB

INTERNATIONAL ATOMIC ENERGY AGENCY

Chantoin, P. Division of Nuclear Fuel Cycle and Waste Management, International Atomic Energy Agency, Wagramerstrasse 5, P.O. Box 100, A-1400 Vienna

Consultants Meetings

Vienna, Austria: 23-25 November 1987, 18-20 October 1988, 6-8 November 1990

Consultants Meeting on Decontamination

Berlin, Germany: 26-27 April 1990

Research Co-ordination Meetings

Heidelberg, Germany: 31 May - 3 June 1988 Vienna, Austria: 20-23 November 1989, 6-9 May 1991

.